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Abstract

This dissertation charts the rise, corruption, and attempted restoration of the Colectividad
Boliviana de Escobar (CBE) as a way to examine ethics of solidarity and terms of human
recognition among Bolivian immigrants in Escobar, Argentina. While founded to cultivate
Bolivian community, and indeed standing in for it, the revenue-generating CBE shaped a socially
divisive complex of envy that frustrated its mission, undergirded an internal ‘usurpation’, and led
to the reflexive critique that Bolivians in Escobar have lost their humanity. Against this
corruption, and through this moral crisis, | chart an emergent ethics of humility that recruits
ethical kinship among immigrants who are otherwise ethnically and socio-economically
polarized. Through these discussions I reveal the generative matrix of envy and track its
‘explosion’ in Escobar by illuminating a zero-sum politics of progress. | show how ideas and
pursuits of progress depend upon esteem configured through Bolivian and Argentine regimes of
otherness, and reproduce the latter. 1also show how achieving progress is a function of changes
in cultures of production wrought through the immigration and shaped by the CBE and its
Horticultural Market. Through analyses of face-to-face engagements | show how envy is an
inter-event dialectics of exclusivity, differentiation, and competition that is politically and
ethically consequential. By tracking envy’s effects across different contexts of interaction,
including the ways it figures into the mechanisms of corruption and gets objectified in moral
discourse, I illuminate orders of practice off of which one may model processes of world-
building. At the same time, | show how Bolivian ethical dynamics and imaginaries play out on
terrain established by the Argentine state. This includes the terms through which the CBE was
founded and subsequently regulated by the Argentine Ministry of Justice. These discussions,
had through an analysis of the legal proceedings over the ‘usurped’ CBE, do more than cast
Bolivian framings of community, and efforts to exploit it, in critical relief. They reveal that,
while created through the regime of rights, and despite both shortcomings and manipulations of

this regime, the CBE has become a space for the cultivation of virtue,

Vi



Introduction

On April 4, 2007 a shot rang out and echoed across the barrio. This one, however, did not come
from the barrel of a .22 caliber pistol—the weapon Argentine thieves use to extract savings, and
sometimes life, from the Bolivians that live there. Rather, it came from the Bolivian radio
program that chronicled the “usurpation’ of the Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar (CBE), the
largest Bolivian Civil Association in Argentina. This shot was not loud; it left no-one dead. But
the voice carried a message that pierced the hide and nicked the bone, if only to leave its targets
living and everyone else knowing. “We have to go back to the beginning,” the voice said. “We
have to return to our humility.”

While humility seemed to capture everything that had been lost, there was something else
that stuck in the ribs of the public—i.e. those who were implicated in the turmoil of the CBE and
the ways it spilled over into the barrio’s dusty streets. It wasn’t so much the idea of'a return. For
idealizing the homeland was not uncommon among this diaspora, even as they stated their
reasons for leaving it. Rather, it was the idea of' a ‘we’. Where the Bolivians in Escobar were
diverse and rivaling—Qollas, Qochalos, and Chapacos among them—this was a new ‘we’. It
was a horizontal, ethical we, sought in the absence of any primordial solidarity. It wasa
proposal for rivals thrust in a common crucible that asked: How ought we be toward one
another? What do we owe one another—as fellow immigrants, as Bolivians, and as human
beings?

Set in the Province of Buenos Aires, Argentina, this dissertation is about the relationships
that provoked this call for humility among Escobar’s Bolivians, and why moral community
among them remains frustrated. It is organized around the idea that world-building initiatives
respond to a ‘problem’ in the world. What I illuminate through the following chapters is a set of
interlinked problems that grounds this powerful, yet hamstrung, call for mutual recognition.
While the ‘usurpation’ of the CBE is the central issue for all—not least because it threatens or

enhances their livelihoods—the problem to which this call for humility responds is, more



fundamentally, a socially-divisive problem of envy. Envy is what undergirds the “‘usurpation’ of
the CBE and the loss of humanity it has been said to engender. Envy, and the ‘progress’ over
which it is wrought, is what frustrates the horizontal identifications needed to sustain the CBE
and the ‘community’ it was meant to foster.

At its most basic level, this dissertation looks at how the ‘usurpation’ of the communal
CBE stems from envy, with a view toward understanding the nature of relations between diverse
and often antagonized Bolivians in Escobar, Argentina. It explores the possibility that an
“cthical kinship” capable of transcending ethnic rivalries and socio-economic hierarchies may

emerge through the very corruption of the CBE.

The Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar (CBE)

The CBE has always provided the frame for thinking about Bolivians’ groupness and solidarity,
even as—if not ultimately because—it became a space for discrimination, exclusion, and
exploitation among them. Located in Escobar, some 50 km north of Buenos Aires, the CBE isa
not-for-profit, though revenue-generating, “entity of the public good”. It is authorized and
regulated by the Argentine Ministry of Justice. The entity was originally formed in 1990 to stem
the xenophabic violence that commonly targeted the Qolla, Qochalo, and Chapaco immigrants
that labored the fields throughout the district. After providing for pan-Bolivian security in the
form of a specialized police patrol, the CBE came to serve its members with a wholesale
horticultural market. Indeed, if there is anything that has defined Bolivian-ness in Gran Buenos
Aires, it has been their increasing dominance of the horticultural sector.

Completed in 1995, this horticultural market has been one of the CBE’s most significant
achievements. Beyond enabling hundreds of families to ‘progress’ economically, the rents paid
by those operating in it financed CBE projects benefitting the public good. By law, this
redistributive, communal work is the CBE’s raison d’étre—not the private horticultural sales that
enable it. The successes stemming from this collective work ranged from developing the
barrio’s infrastructure to educational, health, and social programs. Because of the market’s
ability to meet an increasing, regional demand for produce, the CBE’s revenues, which were

augmented by a similarly-run textile fair, reached USD $1.5M by the year 2000. This was a



tremendous sum for humble immigrants, most of whom had faced great challenges meeting basic
subsistence needs in Bolivia. By December of 2001, these revenues, and the parent CBE that
managed them, became the object of what critics have called the entity’s ‘usurpation’ at the
hands of an internal mafia.

This ‘usurpation’, which has generated complicity and opposition in equal measure, has
reduced the CBE to an entity of the private good, in violation of its state-sanctioned mission. As
the founding and incumbent leaders pursued ‘justice’ through a mediation by the Inspeccion
General de Justicia (IGJ)—i.e. the arm of the Ministry of Justice charged with regulating entities
of the public good—the usurping mafia deployed a politics of patronage to shore up its hold over
the CBE and its revenues. Where the 1GJ’s mediation failed, owing to the bad faith of the
‘usurpers’, the Ministry of Justice later authorized a formal Regulatory Intervention of the CBE.
This consisted of an appointed Interventor assuming all administrative control over the CBE in
order to make the entity conform to its state-sanctioned statutes. Such institutional ‘regularity’,
however, was not to pass. By 2006, the ‘usurpers’ had succeeded in co-opting the Ministry’s
first Interventor, who as a result came to face charges of corruption. By 2007, a second
Interventor was forced to petition the Ministry of the Interior to deploy the National Guard to
dislodge the mafia. By the end of my fieldwork in August 2007, the CBE had yet to be retaken
on behalf of the public good.

As | show throughout this dissertation, the story of Bolivian relationships in Escobar is
inseparable from this story of the rise, “‘usurpation’, and attempted restoration of the Colectividad
Boliviana de Escobar. Indeed, the CBE has played a singular role in bringing the Qollas,
Qochalos, and Chapacos together under one roof—a roof that is both economic and civic. | thus
examine Bolivian sociality and institutionality together, and show the ways that they shape one
another. As I note in the Chapter Outline that follows, | analyze this conjunction from two
perspectives, one legal and one ethnographic. Where the former relies on documentary evidence
culled from the IGJ’s mediation of the CBE’s crisis, the latter relies on ethnography conducted

among Bolivian interlocutors in Escobar.



The Natural History of Envy

While my ethnographic work does many things, much of it is bent on tracing the natural history
of envy from the Bolivian highlands to Escobar, Argentina. | investigate envy’s conditions of
possibility, and show how changes to them result in an ‘explosion’ of envy in Escobar that has
great consequences. Among the latter are the corruption of the CBE and the view that envy has
become a social “sickness” that requires a collectivist cure.

In tracing the emergent ‘problem’ of envy, one finds that it concerns “progress”. Indeed,
many in Escobar define envy as a situation in which one does not want another to progress (from
the Spanish progresar). This of course begs the question of what progress is. As | show
throughout the following chapters, progress is itself complex. It is an ideology shaping, and a set
of practices comprising, both individual and collective pursuits of capitalization, economic
independence, and codes associated with ‘civilization’. The latter can be variously linguistic,
technological, religious, and/or aesthetic. As suggested by the term itself, progress has much to
do with modernity. The idea, or logic, of progress is that someone having roots in
‘backwardness’ can separate himself from—or otherwise overcome—them and attain the
attributes of ‘civilization’. In this way, progress is about aspirations and movement toward
modernity. Yet progress is also a status, and is thus relational. When seen in social extension,
one finds a configuration in which movements and negotiations are zero-sum: one’s progress
means another has been left behind. The ‘gaps’ created by progress are those over which envy is
felt, expressed, and consequential. As | argue, these gaps most often result from the acquisition
of exclusively held capitalizations—e.g. new pickup trucks. Moreover, such ‘things’ of progress
frequently afford performances of pride and status differences—themselves often ethnically
tinged—that exacerbate envy and further cultivate rivalries.

In tracing the natural history of envy, I argue that while envy existed up in the Bolivian
highlands, it ‘exploded’ in Argentina as a function of changes to the culture and contexts of
production. Beginning with the Bolivian highlands, envy there was always somewhat checked.
That is, the terms of the local ecology and those of the “ethnic economy” (Harris 2000) kept it
within limits. Indeed, individual, exclusive accumulation—to the extent this was even
ecologically possible—often had to be reconciled with cosmologically-oriented rationales of

production that privileged redistribution and the reproduction of social units. With the



emigration to Escobar, the checks on accumulation and differentiation were removed at the same
time that the logic of progress supplanted other logics of production. In Escobar, a family could
accumulate a surplus, market it, climb the ‘horticultural ladder’, and attain socio-economic—and
thus often ethnic—esteem that was not possible in Potosi. In this way, the emigration created a
series of changes, not just in the ‘physical’ circumstances of production, but in the ‘cultural’
modalities, purposes, and contexts of production. These changes allowed Bolivians, and
specifically Potosinos, to work on socio-economic and ethno-racial statuses in ways that were
not possible at home.

Yet the ‘explosion’ of envy in Escobar has not been without mediation. The second part
of my argument is that the CBE, by shaping the economic and social changes wrought through
the emigration, has helped produce and structure this proliferation of envy, both across and
within ethnic groups. | argue that by creating the horticultural market, the CBE has played a
crucial role in enabling and facilitating the accumulation, and thus the progress, over which envy
is experienced and expressed. Indeed, the market has shaped economic differentiation among
those who operate within it as growers and commercial resellers navigate the dynamics in the
regional horticultural economy. At the same time, the differentiation they achieve plays out
upon, and in some cases reworks, historical differences in occupation, wealth, and culture that
obtained between groups and individuals in Potosi. By bringing former ethnic and class rivals
together under one roof, and making their current differentiation visible, the CBE has intensified
competition. At the same time, it has helped solidify progress as the principal logic of
production. Indeed, progress has become the lingua franca between all Bolivians who, as former
outsider-others, come to negotiate status and relatedness in Escobar for the first time.

By creating this market, and in this way exacerbating envy, the CBE ultimately frustrated
its own work as an entity of the public good. As | argue, envy and its entailments directly
motivated the ‘usurpation.” At the same time, the ‘usurpers’ depended upon envious rivalries to
orchestrate their take-over. Indeed, they cultivated these sentiments to generate both
misrecognition of, and complicity in, their malfeasance. Yet the ‘explosion’ of envy that
undergirded the “usurpation’ was itself exacerbated by its dynamics. To wit: the ‘usurpation’
changed the mechanisms of accumulation, and thus the degrees to which players could progress
at one another’s expense. Where the CBE had initially shaped the political economy of

horticultural production, and thus envy’s conditions of possibility, the “‘usurpation’ only



sharpened access, competition, and success. Thus the envy that the CBE helped create, and that
the usurpation exacerbated, frustrated the horizontal identifications the CBE was designed to
foster and that it needed to pursue projects on behalf of the public good.

What this natural history of envy shows is that envy is much more than a ‘conceptual
apparatus’ or ‘language’ through which people make sense of the world. That is, while envy
among Escobar’s Bolivians can be apprehended as a ‘discourse’ or a form of knowing (see
Taussig 1987), it is far more than this. Envy is also a set of concrete practices and embodied
experiences that have consequences of their own. What I illuminate through the course of this
dissertation is an inter-event, practical ecology of envy that shows how acts of envy and the
ways they are signified shape Bolivians’ social and institutional worlds. Indeed, I show how the
corruption of the CBE, the largest Bolivian Civil Association in Argentina, is a function of envy.
At the same time, by illuminating envy’s conditions of possibility, which includes detailed
examinations of the economies of otherness—both Bolivian and Argentine—that give pursuits of
progress ethnic and racial valences, | am able to show that this envy-based corruption is

ultimately traceable to an ethno-racial politics of esteem.

Politico-Juridical Structuring of the CBE and its Usurpation

While the ‘usurpation’ of the CBE and its effects on identifications owes much to the ‘explosion’
of envy, itself set within the changes wrought through the emigration, none of this happens
outside the political field established by the Argentine state. Indeed, both the founding and
usurpation of the CBE are carried out on terms supplied by the state. Telling the story of the
intersection between Bolivian sociality and institutionality thus also means telling it from a
politico-juridical perspective.

As mentioned above, the Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar is a particular kind of
entity. It isa not-for-profit, though revenue-generating, “entity of the public good” that must be
authorized by the Inspeccion General de Justicia (IGJ). While such entities enjoy private
juridical personhood, their mission, as stipulated by Argentine law, is to serve the public good.
As Argentine jurists have argued, the raison d’étre of such entities is to cultivate solidarity within

the overarching political community; some have even argued that these entities are direct



manifestations of such community. Because they are not-for-profit service entities, the virtue
that undergirds them must be altruism on behalf of the community they also constitute. This
virtue and purpose must be clearly articulated in the entity’s founding statutes for it to acquire
juridical personhood—i.e. its authorization to function as such—from the 1GJ. Where this
original purpose is referred to as the affectio societatis, the overarching attachments that link
members in their communal work are known as afectos superadores.

Where the impetus for the founding of the CBE was to provide for collective security
against xenophobic depredations, the “entity of the public good” was the institutional frame
deemed most apt to achieve this. While the violence helped pose the question of Bolivian
‘community’ among diverse interlocutors, being that it begged a conjoint response from them,
the terms of Argentine Civil Code through which the CBE was created provided a language to
pursue ‘community’ in an institutional way. While the CBE’s statutes reflect the jurisprudential
ideology undergirding the provisions for such entities—i.e. that the objective of the CBE is to
“promote solidarity” among all Bolivians in Escobar—the founders also ‘indigenized’ these
terms through their own Andean idioms. As I show in Chapters 1 and 8, the affectio societatis
and afectos superadores proposed for the CBE, both in its founding and throughout its
usurpation, center on ideologies of reciprocity, proportionality, and the rotation of political
authority. Were it not for the legal being and tribulations of the CBE, such explicit framings of
Bolivian community—and indeed Bolivian-ness in Argentina—would not have arisen in the
same ways, nor have had the consequences they had for cultivating public life.

Yet conceptualizations and pursuits of Bolivian ‘community’ were not the only things
hewn upon the politico-juridical field established by the Argentine state. The mafia’s usurpation
was in great part orchestrated through an exploitation of the legal regime through which entities
of the public good are regulated. That is, to secure their hold over the CBE and its revenues, the
usurpers had to do more than just manage the relations inside the CBE, which they did through
inciting rivalries, signifying them through the envy complex, and deploying a politics of
patronage. The usurpers also had to manage their position before the IGJ in the legal contest
brought by the incumbents they had ousted. In engaging this opposition, the usurpers took
advantage of the IGJ’s ‘limited’ regulatory powers. To wit: given that entities of the public good
are private entities under Argentina’s Civil Code, the IGJ cannot find in favor of either side in a

dispute, or directly sanction transgressors. This, as per Argentina’s political liberalism, would be



state overreach into private affairs, if not also a burden on government itself. Thus the 1GJ, as an
administrative regulator belonging to the Executive—not the Judicial—Branch, can only require
that an entity (as a whole) follow the law and its statutes. This means that the CBE, despite 1GJ
oversight, must settle its own disputes internally, despite its internal strife. Indeed the law is
clear that such entities must self-regulate, and that one and all enjoy “functional autonomy”
before the state. This is not to say that entities lack the institutional capacities to do so. A
precondition for an entity’s authorization is to possess its own internal government, the organs
and procedures of which are to be enumerated in its statutes. Where the IGJ cannot punish a
transgressor within an entity—being that it is not a judge, and that it cannot replace an entity’s
own punitive body—its regulatory capacity stems from its power to declare administrative acts
taken by an entity “irregular and without effect”. These declarations place the entity in a state of
jeopardy before the 1GJ that demands proper self-regulation vis-a-vis its statutes and the law.
This demand is binding given the IGJ’s ultimate authority to revoke an entity’s authorization if it
fails to conform to code. Revoking such authorization, however, is a rare event and an
undesirable one if, as in the case of the CBE, there is a history of service to the larger
community. Moreover, such revocation can only happen if all other avenues, including a formal
Intervention by an appointed Interventor (one who replaces the entity’s own Executive
Commission in order to normalize the entity, a process that often includes holding elections to
determine a new Commission), have been exhausted.

As | show, the CBE’s usurpers have been adept at exploiting this juridical regime, long
before they co-opted the first Interventor, and resisted the work of the second. | argue that they
exploited the gap created by the requirement that entities self-govern, which includes the 1GJ’s
inability to sanction transgressors directly, and the expectation that entities’ members will govern
or work virtously. Indeed, the ‘usurpers’, who have the counsel of an Argentine lawyer known
for his ‘expertise’ in civil-associational law, work in and around this gap, knowing that ‘success’
can come in multiple forms. Through their politics of misrepresentation they may, on the one
hand, succeed in getting the I1GJ to recognize their Executive Commission as the rightful rulers
of the CBE. On the other hand, if their pretentions are laid bare by the founders they have
ousted, they can continue to maneuver under the guise of good faith, knowing that because the
IGJ cannot ‘take sides’ in a private matter, it cannot remove them. In both cases, the usurpers

remain entrenched to control the CBE’s revenues. So long as they do not provoke the 1GJ into



its ultimate sanction of revoking the CBE’s juridical personhood, they may play upon the IGJ’s
assumption that virtue yet obtains in the entity, and that it can be harnessed to ‘heal’ it. Indeed,
the IGJ’s stated approach to the antagonized factions in the CBE is that they must appeal to the
over-arching attachments (afectos superadores) that link them in their associational effort.
These over-arching attachments, which the 1GJ claims must have obtained in the founding of the
CBE as a service organization, must also ground a common effort to overcome their differences
and allow them to heal the CBE.

Yet this is precisely the rub: one of the key arguments of this thesis is that such
horizontal identifications among Bolivians in Escobar never obtained to the degree the IGJ—and
many founders of the CBE—imagined they did or would. In fact, such afectos superadores, as
well as more abstract identifications with the public good, have been frustrated at every turn.
This is not just because the heterogeneous groups that comprise the CBE have ethnic rivalries
and mistrust—or because many of them, as immigrants coming from great poverty are focused
on their own economic survival. As | stated above, over-arching attachments are, beyond these
factors, frustrated by the ‘explosion’ of envy—an intensification that, while already shaped by
the CBE’s market and the changes it mediated, became exacerbated by the entrenchment of the
‘usurpers’ because of their ability to manipulate this politico-juridical regime.

In the end, I argue that solidarity and moral community among Bolivians across the CBE,
and Escobar generally, must be understood as a project begging realization, rather than as an
existing condition. The ‘ethical kinship’ I explore at the end of the thesis responds to this
question, and raises another: that community may be recruited through a problem, in this case,
the envy-based corruption of the CBE.

Chapter Outline

In this dissertation I tell the related stories of the CBE and the Bolivian ‘community’ through two
kinds of evidence. The first is legal evidence obtained through the Inspeccion General de
Justicia (1GJ). The second is ethnographic evidence obtained through fieldwork in Escobar and
the CBE. The chapters that follow constitute a narrative that works between the two and from

which the above theoretical discussions may be pursued. The chapter lay out is as follows.



In Chapter 1, “The Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar: Mission, Crisis, and
Proceedings,” I introduce the over-arching problem of horizontal and collective identifications
among Bolivians in Escobar. 1 do this first by presenting the CBE’s state-sanctioned founding
mission and moral code. Through these I show how the CBE was designed to cultivate solidarity
and mutual aid among its members and within the larger Bolivian ‘community’. I then provide a
detailed account of the “usurpation’ and the subsequent conflict over the CBE to show how these
ideals have not obtained. This discussion relies on an exegesis of the complaints and petitions
presented by antagonized litigants in the legal proceedings over the CBE. These proceedings are
both maintained and mediated by the Inspeccion General de Justicia (I1GJ) in its efforts to
regulate the ‘irregular’ CBE.

This exegesis provides a number of foundational discussions upon which the subsequent
chapters rely. In the most immediate sense, the exegesis provides a chronological account of the
events of the CBE’s “usurpation’ and the ensuing fight to control it and its revenues. By
presenting the litigants’ own voices before the 1GJ, it reveals, despite rhetoric to the contrary,
which parties seek to pursue the inclusive, public good, and which pursue their own good at the
latter’s expense. Through respective petitions and arguments, it shows how the ‘usurpers’
manipulate the state in its regulation of the CBE to secure their de facto hold over the entity.
Finally, it reveals the nature of the regime of right (and the ways this regime assumes virtuous
conduct among those it comprehends) through which the 1GJ draws its competence and operates
with respect to the CBE. Indeed, the exegesis reveals how the ‘usurpers’ exploit the IGJ’s
assumption that the CBE’s members are united by ‘overarching attachments’ (afectos
superadores) as well as the IGJ’s inability to make the CBE ‘regular’ other than through
declarations that administrative acts taken by the CBE are ‘irregular’. As we’ll see, while the
IGJ has the ultimate power to revoke the CBE’s authorization to function as an entity of the
public good, its regulatory work up until that point requires that the CBE self-regulate as a
totality, despite the “usurpation’ and antagonized factions. I show how this requirement of self-
governance, which stems from a liberal respect for the private, opens the door for abuse cloaked
in good faith.

These various discussions are necessary for my ultimate project of illuminating an
emergent ethics of humility among Bolivians in Escobar. For the terrain upon which this ethics
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indirectly by the state, whether as a body of laws or as a regulator. Indeed, the complex of envy
that I argue both motivates and undergirds the ‘usurpation’ is itself exacerbated by the
“usurpation’, whose entrenchment and effects hinge on engagements with the state. Certainly,
the intractableness of the “usurpation’, which I reveal through the legal battle over the CBE, is
necessary for understanding ethical practice and imaginaries among Bolivians in Escobar.

With the problem of horizontal and collective identifications between Bolivians posed,
and the crisis of the CBE introduced, | turn the analysis toward an elaboration of the envy
complex that motivates and shapes the ‘usurpation’ and results in the common critique that
Bolivians in Escobar have lost their humanity. In Chapters 2 and 3 | provide necessary
foundations for this discussion by illuminating the politics of everyday interaction in the
Bolivian barrio of Escobar. In “The Bolivian Economy of Otherness” I show how not all
Bolivians are the same and that the ideals of Bolivian solidarity with which the CBE was
founded, and the ‘overarching attachments’ that the IGJ imagines obtain in its regulatory efforts,
are compromised by a politics of ethnic and racial difference brought from Bolivia. | analyze an
instance of ethnic banter to illuminate the diversity among Bolivians and the ways that ethnic-
national identifications (i.e. as Qollas, Qochalos, Chapacos, etc.) are powerful and hierarchical.
| argue that differences between these groups are constructed through the language of
‘civilization’ and ‘backwardness’, and that what is deemed ‘backward’, and thus ‘other’, is what
is Indian (indio). I show how Indian-ness, which is associated with the Qollas in particular, is a
source of shame and a set of markings over which one may be discriminated and humiliated.
Following this discussion of banter, | focus on an instance of ethnic bullying that involves lower
level denominations of Qollas. While this further illuminates the range of Bolivian diversity, it
more importantly reveals the way that this same politics of ‘civilization’ and ‘backwardness’
may be harnessed to cultivate shame over Indian-ness and specifically humiliate someone.
Together with the discussion of ethnic banter, this case of ethnic bullying reveals the Bolivian
terms that shape the ‘deep pains’ (dolores profundos) that | argue motivate the pursuits and
expressions of progress that in turn undergird the envy complex.

In Chapter 3, “The Argentine Economy of Otherness”, I show how Bolivians in
Argentina are conceived of and engaged through the Argentine category of negro (black), but
which are not reducible to it. | first provide a genealogy of this category to show how blackness

in Argentina, like Indian-ness in Bolivia, lies at the intersection of race, culture, and class, and is
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similarly a function of the discourse of ‘civilization’ and ‘backwardness’. I then show how
Bolivian-ness, while coterminous with blackness on some levels, also escapes it, giving rise to
the category of bolita. As the prejudicial designation for Bolivians in Argentina, | show how
bolita takes its impletion from what is regarded as Indian. On the basis of this semiotic
framework, | present my own ethnographic data on violence (i.e. beatings and homicides) to
show how Bolivians (and specifically Qollas) are made into bolitas in Argentina, most often by
Argentine negros. | show how these objectifications are humiliating for Qollas, and Bolivians
generally. Finally, through more face-to-face interactions, | show how Bolivians indigenize and
deploy the epithet of bolita to create otherness and discriminate between themselves. | argue that
Bolivians further implete this category with the image of Indian-ness, such that the Qollas are
disproportionately discriminated as bolitas and the Bolivian economy of otherness is reproduced
within the Argentine one. Being made into a bolita adds an Argentine-inspired, and often
Bolivian-rendered, dimension to the ‘deep pains’ that undergird pursuits and expressions of
progress.

Having illuminated the regimes of otherness through which Bolivian ethno-racial esteem
is configured in Escobar, | then focus on the logic and pursuits of progress. Indeed, as | argue in
Chapter 4, “Progress”, pursuits and displays of progress respond to the pains of being ‘othered’,
whether as indios or as bolitas. This includes the desires to overcome the hunger, suffering, and
material lack that characterize the lives of most in Bolivia, and the Indian Qollas in particular. |
begin the discussion with an individual’s critique of another’s pride over having progressed—a
critique the former makes through the idiom of a popular Bolivian dance called the caporales—
to set up a series of arguments. The first is that progress is conceived as achieving distance or
separation from the conditions of material lack and cultural ‘backwardness’ that mark one as
‘other’, and through which one may experience shame or be humiliated. The second is that
progress is most often achieved through capitalizations. | argue that the purchase of a truck or
acreage to farm can ‘trump’ ascribed statuses (as indios or bolitas) and attenuate the ‘deep pains’
that happen through them. A final argument is that progress is both relative and competitive;
that achievements of progress create a zero-sum politics of esteem in which one’s mobility
means another is ‘left behind’. These arguments are made through observations of interactions

involving the objects of progress—namely trucks. They further reveal that pursuits and displays
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of progress not only rely on terms of otherness, they reproduce them in the process. Indeed, one
who has progressed may actively cultivate or reinscribe Indian-ness in a rival.

In Chapter 5, “Envy”, I examine instances of envy and pride as practical expressions of
the logic and pursuit of progress. | argue that Bolivians conceptualize envy as a relation in
which one does not want another to progress, and as a concomitant desire to not be left behind.
Envy frequently amounts to a desire to rectify an emergent differential in progress. | argue that
when viewed in extension, inter-event experiences and expressions of envy, being so rooted in a
zero-sum politics of progress, amount to a social dialectics of exclusivity, differentiation, and
competition. This dialectics reveals an ethnic structuring, and my investigation of it further
illuminates the ecologies of otherness illuminated in previous chapters. | analyze a number of
ethnographic examples that highlight both the nature and consequences of envy. These range
from the cutting of social fellowship, to the ways that otherness is cultivated, and to the ways
that production and consumption are regimented. Through them, I not only show how practices
emerge through envy, but also reproduce envy and the politics of otherness upon which it is
based. Inthe end, I argue that the envy complex is socially divisive and agonistic, and that it
frustrates the kinds of horizontal identifications and solidarities the CBE was in part designed to
create. The chapter closes with a discussion of the origins of envy, and the extent to which those
caught up in its coils hold the CBE and its Market responsible for this ‘social sickness’.

Having illuminated the envy complex and the meanings and politics that shape it, | then
focus on its political-economic conditions of possibility. In Chapters 6 and 7 | examine the
demographic and economic changes wrought through the immigration to Escobar, and the CBE’s
mediation of these changes. My argument is that while envy and the logic of progress existed up
in Bolivia, the complex and its entailments have ‘exploded’ as a function of these changes and
the CBE’s role in shaping them. In this way, the CBE sharpens the divisive sentiments and
practices that compromise its mission and come to undergird both its ‘usurpation’ and complicity
init.

In Chapter 6, “Making a Living: Migration and the CBE’s Market”, I begin the
discussion with an analysis of the push and pull factors that led to the exodus from the Bolivian
highlands of Potosi to the horticultural belt of Buenos Aires, and to Escobar in particular. | chart
the Bolivians’ insertion into the horticultural sector and their economic trajectories through the

famed ‘horticultural ladder.” This includes a discussion of the ways the Argentine economic
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crisis and waves of violence against Bolivian horticulturists shaped economic trajectories and
achievements of progress. With regard to the CBE’s wholesale produce Market, I document the
range of types of operations to show how the CBE has shaped the economic differentiation of
those it serves, and separates operators from other Bolivians in the barrio. This discussion
grounds the later argument that, in enabling differential progress, the CBE contributes to the
intensification of envy and rivalry. With specific regard to the operations, I illuminate those that
are based on production, those that buy and resell goods secured at other regional markets, and
those that sell shipments received directly from producers across the Argentine Republic. | show
how the various types have different sizes, profit margins, and interlocutors, and the ways they
are ethnically structured. | stress how these Market dynamics must be understood within the
context of the juridical and not-for-profit nature of the CBE—i.e. how rents paid by operators are
to be collected by the CBE such that they finance projects benefitting the public good.

In Chapter 7, “Changes in Relations, Rationales, and Contexts of Production”, I pan back
out to contextualize these economic trajectories and differentials within a comparison of the
cultures of productivity that obtain between the highlands of Potosi and Escobar. This includes
their analysis in historical perspective. | begin the discussion by dispelling assumptions
frequently made about the Andean highlands. | then explore how the immigration has entailed a
range of changes. These include: changes in the logics and modalities of production, changes in
the ability to accumulate and deploy a surplus, changes in the social units of production (and in
socio-economic interlocutors generally), and changes in the ‘checks’ on differentiation. The
discussions then hone in on the socio-economics of the CBE’s Market to show how it shaped,
mediated, and in some cases, constituted these changes. In the process, | show how the Market
concentrated production, accelerated differentiation, and solidified ‘progress’ as the principal
rationale of production. 1 finally show how, as a function of these, it intensified competition and
exacerbated envy.

Having illuminated the ethno-racial and political-economic matrices through which the
envy complex has emerged, I then explore the ways it has shaped the CBE’s ‘usurpation’ and
widespread complicity in it. Where in Chapter 1 I provided a legal history of the ‘usurpation’, in
Chapter 8 “Envy, Usurpation, and the ‘Failure’ of the CBE”, I provide an ethnographic portrait
ofiit. After reflecting on how the CBE contributed to the culture and ‘explosion’ of envy, I begin

by recounting the events of the original coup from December 2001. | explore the extent to which
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histories of envious rivalry between ethnic factions of Qollas (e.g. Saropalkefios and
Pancochefios) were a necessary set of conditions for the ‘usurpers’ to effectuate the permanent
ouster of the founding and incumbent President, as well as to consolidate their hold over the
institution. Within this, I examine the extent to which the alleged architects of the ‘usurpation’
directly incited these historical rivalries to achieve their take-over. Indeed, I argue the ‘usurpers’
were keen to the power and potential of envy, and manipulated the complex to their own benefit.
This includes a discussion of the ways they engaged a highland Bolivian ethics of proportionality
and rotationality in collective governance. In the final section, I discuss what the ‘usurped” CBE
looked like and how the envy complex underwrote the forms and modalities of the new politico-
economic order. Discussions here range from the dynamics of patronage to strong-arm tactics,
and the ways these generated both complicity among those in the Market and critiques from
those excluded from its ‘racket’. Finally, I discuss how the relations and identifications that have
obtained within the ‘usurped’ CBE are at odds with what the CBE was designed to accomplish.
By illuminating the ‘failure’ of the CBE, I present an ‘is’ that can be contrasted with an ‘ought’
that critics believe should obtain. This is the ethical gap that comes to be addressed through a
critical rhetoric of humility.

In Chapter 9, “When Everything Else Fails, A Return to Humility” I explore different
solutions to the CBE’s crisis and, by extension, that of the larger Bolivian ‘community’. I do this
given popular laments of a lost humanity given the social sickness of envy. | begin by returning
to the legal proceedings of the crisis with which I began the thesis. | focus on what becomes the
last resort of the Argentine state to regulate the CBE: a formal Intervention by the Inspeccion
General de Justicia (IGJ). I show how it too ‘fails’ given the ‘usurper’s’ co-optation, and later
resistance, of the IGJ’s appointed officials. Where the state and the system of right are seen to be
part of the problem, I then turn to more indigenous solutions. The first is a plot among some of
the displaced to remove the “usurpers’ by a violent, vigilante justice. Framed as a ‘turning of the
CBE right (side up)’ I discuss what was to be a leg-breaking vis-a-vis the native Andean concept
of pachacutek. The second involves an emergent ethics of humility, one whose framing is
reminiscent of the pachacutek. | explore this through calls to return to common roots of
humility. In light of the excesses of envy and pride, I illuminate what humility is and can mean
for these diverse Bolivians in the context of the CBE and the challenges their immigration has

posed for them. I explore the extent to which a discourse of humility can recruit “ethical
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kinship” among diverse Bolivians where other rhetorics of inclusiveness (e.g. Bolivian
brotherhood) cannot. Vis-a-vis the socially divisive complex of envy, | conclude by asking
whether the virtue of humility can generate the ‘overarching attachments’ (afectos superadores)
that the CBE was designed to foster, and that are needed to restore it in service of the public
good. For in the end, an investigation of the world-building potential of humility given this
broader politics of otherness can help answer the question posed for all Bolivians in Escobar, and
perhaps other immigrants elsewhere: “What was, what is, and what ought to be—and for

whom?”

On Names and ldentifications

As any reader will know, ethnographic writing is a complex affair. For any representation is a
political and ethical matter. This is especially true when handling accusations—and even
evidence—of wrongdoing. How is an ethnographer to portray malfeasance and abuse when
there is no ‘official’ pronouncement on such practices—noting that even Court decisions, were
they to apply, also lack an Archimedean perspective? What responsibility does an anthropologist
have to those he represents if some of them, given a preponderance of the evidence, break the
law and exploit their fellows, sometimes violently? These are questions for which professional
codes of ethics are insufficient, and for which one must provide his own answers. The
discussions that follow are my answers. This dissertation is therefore not ‘the official story’ of
the social, political, and ethical life in Escobar, but rather my assessment of it. At the same time,
my view is not plucked from thin air; it is based on how those in Escobar present themselves—
not just to me, but to each other and to the Argentine state.

While mediated by my own editorial hand, the discussions that follow are an attempt to
assemble these presentations to shed light on the human condition in Escobar, viewed from
Escobar. While my voice is present on every page, so are the voices of others. And while some
individuals here stand thoroughly implicated in abuse, both legal and moral, I invite the reader to
consider how many around them, as well as I, have come to implicate them. Indeed, I have
supplied—verbatim—their own presentations to let the reader make her or his own judgments.

Moreover, | have illuminated the conditions that make people everywhere falliable; that make
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collective life and political organization messy and risky. While this work may be fraught with
complications, as any ethnography is, | believe it is worth writing. How will we know ourselves
unless we tackle our humanity in the most challenging of circumstances? How can we foster
understanding across cultures if we only write about ourselves? The history of humanity has
always been that of engagement, both at home and abroad. 1 do not intend to stem its tide, but
rather to add to it.

Capturing human challenges cannot be done in the macro alone, or otherwise through
‘structural’ analysis. One must apprehend the interaction all the way down. This means
illuminating social phenomena through the actions of the actors themselves. And here | confront
a key problem: these actors have names. To be exact, they have nombres y apellidos, as the
critics in Escobar are keen to note. Am | to include personal names in this analysis? What are
the stakes of doing so? Escobar is a place where people get their arms broken and their teeth
kicked in. Is the story | want to tell worth risking that? What about the ‘bad’ guys? If the
Argentine state can be co-opted, as it seems, why not name those who have done so at
everyone’s else’s expense? Shouldn’t people, in Escobar and beyond, know the extent of their
abuse? In my heart | believe they should. And in Escobar, those that feel the brunt of their
violent work believe they should. Yet if we have learned anything in anthropologyi, it is that
making sense in and of the world is a path laden with hazards; that there can be a gap between
practice and the representations of practice. As thorough as we may be, as preponderant as the
evidence is, and as critically as we parse one mediation from another, our truth may not be the
truth. Evidence may someday surface that sheds new light on old certainties.

Because what follows is my truth, my argument—and because | defer to future history—I
have decided to change the names of those who appear below. Critics of the ‘usurpation’ in
Escobar may not forgive me this transgression. For they seek nombres y apellidos, especially as
so many have already failed them. But I ask them to consider that the lessons they teach—and
that are woven through these discussions—can still be had; that their dignity before the public is
not tied to my decision for prudence at this stage of my discovery. The creation of meaning,
which here means linking people to actions to consequences, is a business that is never finished,
even as we are sure we have gotten the story right. What thus follows is an analysis whose

protagonists are known by pseudonyms. The only exceptions are Don Fidencio, whose torture
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and extortion made the national press in 2000, and Dofia Norberta and Don Ernesto, whose tragic

murder in 2007 became the subject of protests in Escobar.
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Chapter 1:

The Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar:
Mission, Crisis, and Proceedings

Locations and Orientations

I began my fieldwork in early August 2005, just in time for the CBE’s celebration of Bolivian
Independence Day—*“el 6 de Agosto”, as everyone refers to it. I had written research grants
proposing to connect structures of authority ‘indigenous’ to the Bolivian highlands to those
found in the CBE, which being born through Argentine Civil code would surely have ‘European’
features. In constructing the project, | had not known of the extent to which the CBE had been
mired in conflict, which dated to December 2001, nor was | prepared to meet in 2005 a CBE that
would be undergoing a formal Intervention by the Argentine Ministry of Justice. As | would
come to find out, the authorities inside the CBE had been officially disbanded by the Ministry,
and replaced by the sole figure of the appointed Interventor. Dr. Mendoza was the second of his
kind who had been charged with making the entity ‘regular’.

Not knowing what to expect, I went to the CBE’s Administration, which sat atop its
wholesale Horticultural Market, and looked to introduce myself. Noting that the Interventor
Mendoza was not present, | found those in charge. These figures, some of whose long-distance
trucks I would come to unload as a changarin (freight-handler), immediately parried me to the
long-standing Secretary of Culture, Sefior Jorgito. Indeed, if | were an anthropologist, | must be
interested in Bolivia’s folkloric traditions, and no better person to ‘orient’ me than Jorgito.
Certainly all newcomers, even their fellow immigrants, needed orientation. This was one of the
very things the CBE had been designed to do.

When | found Jorgito I learned that he had worked for years with those dedicated to
celebrating Bolivian ‘culture’ in Argentina—t0 keeping Bolivian traditions strong, especially

among the youth. One of the ways they did this was to promote the diffusion of Bolivian dances
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and music. For the 6 de Agosto celebrations, Jorgito had prepared and coordinated the entrada
of the various Collectives’ troupes and bands. I had already known that the CBE had been the
biggest and most widely known of its kind in Argentina, and that its name rang throughout
Bolivia. Thus it was no surprise that the CBE hosted the 6 de Agosto Celebrations on behalf of
many smaller Collectives, and drew thousands from the area, including Buenos Aires itself.
Jorgito certainly had his hands full, but he was happy to volunteer his energies. Indeed, he was
known by many as the most dedicated to serving the Comunidad (community).

Where Jorgito had given me a program of events and welcomed discussion as to how |
might collaborate in offering some tutoring in the barrio, |1 was fortunate to spend the day with
some of the other changarines | had met a few days earlier. As we toured the celebrations,
moving from the entradas, where they danced caporales and tinkus, to a friend’s food stand, I
learned many things: that Bolivians don’t salute each other with the beso as Argentines do (for
that was effeminate); that ¢4 'uiiu' accompanies all picantes de pollo in Argentina (as it rightfully
should); and that 6 de Agosto was the day that Potosinos were not Potosinos, and that Tarijefios
were not Tarijefios. The 6 de Agosto was the day that all were Bolivians.

While I would eventually come to understand the complex ways that Bolivians were
Bolivians in Escobar, and the ways that such claims of horizontality were in fact claims—i.e. that
they were not based on deeper fellowship—nothing drove home the latter more than what
happened to Secretary Jorgito that dawn. | had gone looking for him the next day such that we
might continue our conversations, and was met brusquely with the message: “no estd”. It would
be another day until I learned that Jorgito had been brutally beaten, and was slated to undergo
medical procedures. Eventually I caught up with him and a mutual friend, who eyed me squarely
and said: “Just look what they have done to him!—his own people for fuck’s sake.” Indeed,
Jorgito’s face had been pummeled, he was in a sling; when he moved he winced, and badly.
Though Jorgito would never confirm or deny it, everyone surmised that he had been attacked—
or rather “ubicado” (i.e. put in his place, literally “located”)—Dby those at the helm of the CBE
and its revenue-generating Market. It was believed that these individuals, whom their opponents

called the ‘usurpers’, attacked him because, as a public figure, he had shown public support for

! Freeze-dried potatoes. Like Bolivians themselves, It too makes the long haul from the Highlands to Escobar—and
beyond.
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the Ministry’s Intervention. This was an Intervention that the ‘usurpers’ blocked and thwarted,

often with similar tactics.

While this dissertation charts the conditions and processes through which ethical deliberations
among Bolivians in Escobar emerge and become consequential, there is perhaps no better place
to begin than with the Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar (CBE). For the CBE is that institution
which not only created the proposal for Bolivian “solidarity” in Escobar, it is that institution
whose crisis paradoxically produced the seeds of its realization. In this first chapter, I introduce
the ideals of Bolivian community as seen through the founding mission of the CBE, and detail
the crisis of the entity as manifest in the legal proceedings maintained by the Inspeccién General
de Justicia (IGJ). The IGJ is the arm of the Argentine Ministry of Justice charged with
authorizing and regulating entities of the public good. As will become apparent, detailing this
legal crisis is important for understanding the terrain upon which ethical deliberations, and even
certain conditions of their possibility, emerge.

This ‘orientation’ begins with a discussion of the CBE’s founding mission, as seen first
through its 1GJ-authorized Statutes, and as subsequently elaborated through a moral code. The
discussion then moves to address the question of afectos superadores (over-arching
attachments), as presented by the 1GJ, and a brief treatment of the division of labor between the
Argentine State and any entity of the public good as regards their (auto)regulation. Following a
brief discussion enumerating the reasons why the legal proceedings over the CBE must be
explored, | provide a detailed exegesis of those proceedings. | then conclude the chapter by
introducing the rest of the dissertation with a question: Where the CBE is caught in an
intractable conflict, what would it take to restore it in service of the public good? Following the
IGJ that afectos superadores must undergird any such effort, | provide through the body chapters
linked ethno-racial and economic arguments for why such over-arching attachments are
frustrated at almost every turn. As | hope will become apparent, while the legal dimensions to
the CBE’s conflict are crucial to understanding ethics among Bolivians in Escobar generally,

there are other stories that must be told as well.
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The CBE’s Mission and Crisis

As many Bolivians in Escobar were keen to point out, the CBE had once been the pride of the
Bolivian ‘community’, and the envy of all others. Despite its many successes, however, it had
come to be known for its infighting and extra-judicial acts, such as the attack on Secretary
Jorgito. Indeed, where the one who most represented and cultivated community had been so
brutally “located” by what some called the “mafia” in the CBE, what did it say about the entity
itself? What had it become? Many stated that the CBE had lost all purchase on community; that
it was all about greed and money. “They want everything for themselves”, was a common
refrain. “They don’t do anything for the community”, was another. For the many critics, the
CBE had lost its way. And they weren’t wrong. Indeed, while the CBE had stood for Bolivian
solidarity (or at least its possibility) in the past, it was, in August 2005, the most divisive
presence in the Barrio. It would be just a few months later that the IGJ’s Interventor petitioned
the Ministry of the Interior to dispatch the National Guard to dislodge the ‘usurpers’.

Yet things weren’t always this way. Like any asociacion civil (civil association), the
CBE had been granted juridical personhood by the Inspeccién General de Justicia (1GJ) to exist
as such. This meant that the CBE had been designed to serve the public good, and that it must do
so to maintain its charter. Revenues can be generated toward this end, but only toward this end.
Indeed, entities of the public good must never be sites for personal enrichment; rather, they must
evince an ethos of altruism and service, themselves known through redistributive works.
Writing on the nature of these “entities of the public good”, as asociaciones civiles are also
known, the Argentine jurist Santiago states that they are conceived as being structured by a
“proposal for life in common™ (2002: 38). This proposal is the project the entity must bring to
fruition—what he calls its “proyecto a realizar”. Such a project, he argues, is what ‘calls’ its
members to participation and to action; it is what, ultimately, provides social cohesion, not just
within the entity, but within the larger political community the entity is meant to serve (ibid).

In the exegesis of the legal proceedings that follows, I show how this vision of civil
associations is expressed through the IGJ’s language in regulating the CBE—specifically in the
terms of affectio societatis (i.e. an entity’s founding rationale or institutional purpose) and
afectos superadores (i.e. the over-arching identifications needed to bring such a project about).

One of the main arguments of this dissertation is that those who become the CBE’s members
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(socios) do not identify with the CBE’s mission to serve the public good (i.e. its affectio
societatis), nor do they have the horizontal identifications (afectos superadores) necessary to
realize the CBE’s goals. While the subsequent chapters show how the CBE’s ‘proposal for life
in common’ is frustrated by a number of factors, including the CBE’s own accomplishments
(specifically its creation of the revenue-generating Horticultural Market), this chapter delves into
the legal file to introduce the CBE and what ails it from the perspective of both the litigants and
the IGJ. First however, it serves to present what the CBE’s mission was conceived to be at the

time of its founding.

The CBE’s Statutes

While the CBE was founded in Escobar in 1990, it was not formerly recognized as an entity of
the public good until 27 August 1991. The IGJ’s recognition, and the provision of juridical
personhood that came with it, depended upon their approval of the CBE’s Statutes. In addition
to providing the necessary terms for the CBE’s internal government and the rights and duties of
its members, the Statutes were also required to state the CBE’s institutional mission—i.e. its
proyecto a realizar. That purpose was various. As contained in Article 2 of the Statutes, the
CBE would promote the cultural and intellectual development of its members. This would
include the celebration of popular festivals and the practicing of sports, as well as do so
according to the values of the dominant religion. To facilitate these ends, the CBE would
acquire the necessary means, including property and facilities. Yet perhaps the most significant
dimensions of its mission were to “welcome and serve all Bolivian brothers” residing in the area,
and to “cultivate cordiality and solidarity” among them.

There are two important things to note about this mission as it was conceived upon the
founding of the entity. First, the CBE was predicated upon an inclusivity that was framed in
terms of Bolivian national brotherhood. The CBE was precisely this: the Bolivian Collectivity
in Escobar. While all potential members shared membership in the Bolivian national and
political community (certain discriminations notwithstanding), this was a status that also
corporatized—and tended to homogenize—them in Argentina. Indeed, they were Bolivian

nationals who were ‘other’ in Argentina, as waves of xenophobic depredations would attest.
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Certainly, the very acquisition of juridical personhood for the CBE was motivated by a need to
stave off attacks against Bolivians in Escobar—a fact | return repeatedly throughout the
dissertation. For the moment, what must be stressed is that the CBE’s Statutes never mention the
diversity of these Bolivian brethren. Certainly, they were not a homogenous population. There
were “ethno-national” differences between the Potosinos (as Qollas), the Cochabambinos (as
Qochalos), and the Tarijefios (as Chapacos)—to name just the principal groups. And there were
differences within the Qollas that might rightly be called “ethnic”. For example, despite their
racial homogeneity, cultural and religious markers between Potosino comunidades of
Saropalkefios and Pancochefios make them, as many are wont to point out, as different as ‘black
and white’. As far as the CBE’s Statutes are concerned, this rich social ecology is unremarkable.
In this way, one can read “Bolivian brotherhood” as itself part of the “proposal for life in
common”, rather than any kind of relationship (afecto superador) that obtained in the flesh.

The second aspect to note is that the CBE, like all entities of the public good, was
founded with an eminently “social mission”—what its Statutes call an objeto social. As seen
above, this meant the promotion of intellectual and cultural development in which festive and
religious practices figured heavily, as did sport. What the original mission of the CBE was
specifically not, was economic. Indeed, while the vast majority of Bolivians in Escobar worked
in the horticultural sector, their economic well-being was not yet an object of interest. It would
be five years before the CBE grew enough to coordinate the construction of its wholesale
Horticultural Market, which was finished in 1995. While this was a project that benefitted many
of the CBE’s members in an economic-developmental sense, the revenues of this Market
(acquired through individual leases to operate there) were envisioned to finance further reaching
projects as per the entity’s original social mission. Indeed, they had to by law, lest the CBE
cease to be an entity of the public good (asociacion civil) and approximate a corporation
(sociedad anonima). As will become clear both below and throughout the dissertation, the CBE
saw its mission frustrated as the Horticultural Market and its commercial logic came to dominate
the interests of the members (or at least those operating in the Market). Not only did this logic
tear at the founding mission (affectio societatis) of the CBE; it tore at the very attachments

(afectos superadores) needed to sustain the entity itself.
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The CBE’s Moral Code

It was perhaps for this reason that, a few years into the Market’s success, those founders bent on
preserving the original social mission of the CBE saw it necessary to stress the entity’s founding
purpose, and to do so in a publically symbolic way. Where the Market and the exclusive pursuits
of ‘progress’ it facilitated came to dominate the institutional ethos, and where nefarious interests
in the entity’s booming revenues began to surface, the CBE’s founding President, Teodoro
Cahuana, had a moral code painted on the wall of the CBE’s Assembly Hall. It was written in
Quechua, reflecting a bias towards the Potosinos, for whom Quechua was their first language,
and who comprised the bulk of the CBE’s members and its Market’s operators. It was thus
unintelligible to the Tarijefios, who speak only Spanish, and who comprise the largest minority
of Bolivians in Escobar. Despite the fact that the CBE had by the late 1990s become something
of'a ‘Colectividad Potosina’, the message of the moral code nevertheless stressed inclusivity and

an ethos of solidarity and cooperation, if through highland idioms. It reads:
Yanapacunapac
In order to help ourselves

Churanacunapac
In order to keep for one another / contribute equally toward our collective maintenance

Mink’anacunapac
In order to host one another / collaborate festively in work

Ayninacunapac
In order to owe one another in kind / enter into obligations with one another

Jaiwanacunapac
In order to provide for / offer food to one another

Mafianacunapac
In order to borrow from / lend to one another

Tantanacusun.
Let us join one another / unite ourselves.

While the bias toward a Potosino ‘we’ is clear, Cahuana’s commissioning of the moral code as a

public banner shows that identifications with the CBE’s founding mission (affectio societatis)
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and among the members themselves (afectos superadores) were weak. | argue that the code
must be read as an attempt to pedagogically cultivate the “solidarity” mentioned in the entity’s
‘proposal for life in common’, and at a time when such identifications were crucial for the
entity’s survival.? Indeed, given the evolving ethos of the entity toward private gain, it would be
just a few short years until the CBE and its pursuit of the public good would grind to a halt
before an internal coup. The only institutions that would survive the coup, which happened

through the December 2001 election, and through the “usurpation’ that followed were its

2 While the sense of the message is semantically clear—mutual aid, inclusivity, and unity—it is also encoded in the
grammatical constructions themselves. To begin with, the moral code is to be read as a singular sentence that
concludes with the main verb clause “let us unite ourselves.” As seen through this clause, the subject of the entire
construction is noganchis, i.e. the inclusive ‘we’ (first-person plural). The dependent, relative clauses that precede
it bear a number of markings that reveal the ethos its authors desire.

To begin with, the relative clauses terminate with the verbal affix —na, which is an instrumental (future)
nominalizer, and the verbal suffix —paq, which is a benefactive suffix (Adelaar and Muysken 2007; see also Calvo
Pérez 1993). Adelaar and Muysken note that forms resulting from instrumental nominalization (-na) are everything
but subject-centered, in that they refer to events not yet realized. Such forms may variously denote a means (or
place or time) in the future, an object to be affected, the necessity of an event, or plainly that an event is to occur.
And while —na usually marks an obligation with a future orientation, it is frequently combined with the benefactive
suffix —paq, as here, to indicate a goal or purpose (Adelaar and Muysken 2007: 227-228, 247). Indeed, the
benefactive —paq in these cases indicates that there is an advantage which results from the action of the verb (Calvo
Pérez 1993: 333). For these relative clauses, one therefore reads the composition —na + —pagq as semantically
foregrounding the (future) realization of the verbs to which they attach, suggesting that this realization is purposive
or goal oriented. Indeed, the relative nature of the clauses constructs the practices of these verbs as goals or ends in
and of themselves.

What also marks all of these relative clauses but the first is the construction —naku, which helps us
understand just how this inclusive ‘we’ parses the moral action itself. Some scholars treat —naku as a singular suffix
and undifferentiated gloss for reciprocity. While on some level this is true, Faller (2007) argues that reciprocity is
an inherently complex operation that encompasses more basic aspects of plurality, distinctness of co-arguments,
reflexivity, and universal quantification (2007: 256). To understand these constituent aspects and how they combine
to derive reciprocity, one must disaggregate —naku and examine its components —na and —ku. In —naku, the verbal
affix —na is not the instrumental, future nominalizer described above, but rather a pluractional marker (Faller 2007).
Pluractionality means that the action of the verb is plural, either because several agents perform it, because it is
performed on several objects, or because it is performed several times. Faller argues that the defining condition of
pluractionality is that the overall action consists of multiple, separate events.

Where these multiple events are indicated by —na, —ku indicates that the participants in them are drawn
from the same group. There is certain debate over which —ku in such context functions as a ‘reflexive’ or a
‘mediopassive’—that is, whether —ku co-indexes the Agent and the Theme (i.e. the entity that undergoes the action)
or whether it co-indexes the Agent and the Beneficiary (i.e. the entity that benefits from it [see van de Kerke 1991:
80]). In a general sense, however, Faller argues that while the combination of —na and —ku does not by itself
constitute reciprocity, when it co-occurs—as it does here—with plural predication and the notion of plural agents
and themes, the necessary conditions for reciprocity naturally obtain (Faller 2007: 265-266). These include the
distinctness of co-arguments (i.e. the idea that there are distinct but mutually entailing entities participating in the
relation established by the predicate), and universal quantification (i.e. the notion that a particular relation holds for
all arguments—that is, for everything or everyone involved).

For all of these reasons, this moral code should be read as attempting to instantiate an ethos of mutual
engagement and regard. It not only specifies what the members of the CBE should be aspiring toward (in the sense
of an affectio societatis), it simultaneously specifies how they should relate to one another in such a project (that is,
their over-arching attachments, or afectos superadores).
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revenue-generating Markets—i.e. its wholesale Horticultural Market and its weekly textile Fair®.
As we saw above with the attack on Secretary Jorgito, the ‘usurpation’ was as strong as ever in
2005. And despite efforts of the 1GJ to dislodge its proponents (which some argue had only
become entrenched because of the 1GJ), it was still the de facto rule as I finished my fieldwork in
August 2007.

The CBE’s Crisis: Legal and Ethnographic Lines of Evidence

One of the main arguments of this dissertation is that the ethics of the Comunidad Boliviana de
Escobar are the ethics of the Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar. That is, that the CBE has not
only presented the proposal for community among the Bolivians of Escobar, but that, through its
growth and evolution, it has created the very conditions of possibility for its realization—if only,
and paradoxically, through its own corruption. In this way, telling the story of how and on what
terms Bolivians (come to) relate to other Bolivians as fellows (projimos) means telling the story
the CBE and its crisis.

The story of the CBE and its crisis can be told from two vantage points; or rather, using
two different kinds of evidence. A first account, which I begin below and return to toward the
end of the dissertation, relies on legal evidence. This evidence is that compendium of
complaints, briefs, Resolutions, statutes and code that comprises the IGJ’s file (expediente) on

the CBE. Because the CBE is an entity of the public good, any legal proceedings over it are

® The “Feria”, as it is known to all, is a major source of revenue for the CBE, and happens only on Sundays. The
operators (puesteros) that sell finished textiles there are, in contrast to those that sell in the wholesale Horticultural
Market, both Bolivians and Argentines. Much of what they sell are black market knock-offs acquired through a
much larger Feria in Buenos Aires called “La Salada”. While because of its size the Sunday Feria’s revenues
exceed what the Horticultural Market takes in all week (indeed, it has a few hundred more puestos for rent), it is
nevertheless secondary in importance to the Market. This is not just because it happens once a week, or because
competition between Bolivians is more diffuse given that one’s neighbors are often Argentines or other Bolivians
who are not from the area. Rather, it is for two other reasons. First, while the Feria’s revenues are large in
aggregate, no single operator can make the amount of money that can be made through the Horticultural Market (see
Chapter 6). Indeed, commerce in wholesale produce has exploited supply and involved capital investments in ways
that black-market textiles—at least among Bolivians in Escobar—has not. All the big players in the CBE’s crisis are
individuals who have become magnates in the Horticultural Market—and subsequently used their occupation of the
CBE to further grow their business. Second, the Feria takes place a few streets away in a separate facility that is
structurally unrelated to the CBE’s headquarters. Indeed, the CBE’s Administrative Offices and its Assembly Hall
sit above and adjacent to the Horticultural Market. These sites, in addition to the Market floor, are where the
‘usurpation’ has played out. For these social, economic, and political reasons, the Feria is far less significant than
the Market, and so appears here only intermittently.
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generally also public. While some documents (e.g. 1GJ Resolutions) are published, other
documents (e.g. litigants’ complaints [denuncias] and IGJ briefs [dictamenes]), require
authorization. Authorization can be obtained with the consent of any of the principal litigants.

A second account of the CBE and its crisis relies on ethnographic evidence collected
among those in the CBE and in Escobar’s Barrio generally. This data is more varied, and ranges
from documented interactions to personal accounts of events and processes, to indicators of
structures and patterns of migration, production, and consumption—and perhaps even to my own
somatic registrations, as | was taught to fear, desire, and experience pain and frustration in ways
common among Bolivians in Escobar. As indicated previously, the story of the CBE and its
crisis I tell through these lines of evidence, which might be characterized variously as racial,
ethnic, economic, etc., is that of the envy complex. Chapters 2 through 7 are dedicated to
illuminating the emergence, contours, intensification, and consequences of this complex. As also
indicated previously, one of my main contributions in this thesis is to show how the CBE
mediated the changes wrought through the immigration that intensified this envy complex, and
how this ‘explosion’ of envy came to compromise the very mission of the CBE—creating in the
process certain conditions of possibility for an emergent, world-building ethics.

Both of these accounts provide different dimensions to the story of the CBE and its crisis.
They are in fact complementary. Both are needed to properly understand the crisis and how it
has provided much of the terrain upon which this world-building ethics has emerged and become

consequential.

The CBE’s Crisis in Legal Perspective

What follows is the legal story of the CBE’s crisis as seen through an exegesis of its IGJ -
mediated regulatory proceedings. Yet before engaging the documents themselves, it fits to
mention what such a detailed account provides and reveals, and how it relates both to the
subsequent ethnographic account and within the overall framework of the dissertation.

There are many challenges in presenting a case of corruption for anthropological
analysis. Perhaps the biggest challenge is to address the difference between the acts that might

qualify as corruption and discursive representations of them. One might argue that what little
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anthropology exists on corruption centers on the discourse of corruption, without an illumination
of the acts that ground and afford such discourse. This of course has many causes: not all
anthropologists arrive in time to capture the acts; others will lack access to them; and yet others
will refuse to make the sacrifices necessary to apprehend them. In many instances, lives can and
will be threatened. And as those embroiled in the events can attest, costs can be great. Despite
these challenges, | contend that while discourse is crucial for any social analysis of corruption
and its effects (indeed, corruption is an eminently social phenomenon), an appreciation for the
acts ‘beneath’ such discourse is nevertheless necessary. How else are we to understand the
content of the discourse and the ways it becomes pragmatic? Certainly, without understanding
certain acts, one cannot appreciate the ways they can be purposefully misrepresented for
nefarious ends—misrepresentation of course being a key dimension to corruption and its
perpetuation.

This is precisely one of the issues those embroiled in the corruption of the CBE and its
effects face. Chatting about the events of the CBE one night while unloading trucks in its
Market, a friend put it to me squarely: “The challenge,” he said, “is to separate the dichos from
the hechos.” That is, to separate what is said from what is done. While anyone conversant in
the social analyses of language will note, language is itself social action. In this light, the
separation of dichos from hechos is perhaps a false one. But this misses the point. Those often
caught up in the coils of corruption struggle to know which end is up; they struggle to know who
is telling the truth. Where the truth is elusive, and shrouded in mystery, one lacks the rudder to
navigate the ethical seas. The court of public opinion becomes a kangaroo court. Scholars from
Dewey to Habermas to Chomsky have all lamented this in one way or another.

The exegesis of the CBE’s regulatory proceedings I provide below is thus dedicated to
illuminating certain acts of corruption in an attempt to separate the dichos from the hechos, and
explore the relation between them. The acts that make it into the legal file are of course only a
portion of the larger set that I make known over the course of the dissertation and through the use
of other lines of evidence. Yet the acts illuminated here are necessary for understanding those
acts | detail ethnographically. Indeed, I am convinced that, because of the politics of
misinformation swirling about the crisis of the CBE, one who merely does ethnography in and
around the CBE will never fully understand what happened, as the vast majority of the CBE’s

members (and even critics) do not. And while the acts contained in this file are represented, one
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can, through triangulation with other documents and ethnographic evidence, see the ways these
representations are motivated, and in some crucial cases, contrived. What precipitates through a
detailed reading of the file is thus an appreciation for the motivations and interests of the litigants
and protagonists themselves.

What does the exegesis of the regulatory proceedings look like? There are perhaps
different ways to communicate the legal story of the CBE and its crisis. In working through the
file, I have selected for analysis and partial reproduction only those documents that crystallize
the key events, maneuvers, dispositions and pronouncements of both the antagonized litigants
and the Inspeccion General de Justicia (1GJ). In this way | have reduced the entire file, whose
separate but linked proceedings (expedientes) approximate two thousand pages, into a single and
manageable account. The presentation is itself bimodal: on the one hand, there are partial
reproductions of key Spanish-language documents; on the other, these reproductions are
embedded within my own English-language analysis. This analysis not only narrativizes the
content of the documents, it contextualizes it within the proper juridical and ethnographic
frameworks. The English-language narrative can be read seamlessly from top to bottom, and
does not itself depend upon the entextualized Spanish-language reproductions. To preserve flow,
the narrative may not always attend to what immediately precedes it or follows it. Nevertheless,
the narrative and the reproductions it references are reconciled by the end of each section, such
that they keep pace throughout the exegesis. As for the selected documents themselves, | have
arranged, abridged, and in certain cases annotated them, as an historian might present documents
from an archive. While this might add a level of complexity to the relationship between the
dichos and the hechos, my reproductions let the litigants speak for themselves and in their native
language.

In addition to letting the litigants speak for themselves, a process that lets them render
their own manipulations, character, and interests visible to us (i.e. instead of having the
anthropologist impute these things to them), there are a number of other advantages that accrue
in providing a detailed exegesis of the file. To begin with, the file is the best source for
understanding the events surrounding the CBE’s Election of December 2001 and thus the means
through which the ‘usurpers’ (as they are called by their critics) came to power. Understanding

the crisis of the CBE is impossible without understanding these initial events. Indeed, they
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structured years of subsequent legal action that had its own structuring force on practices within
the CBE and among members and non-members.

Second, a detailed illumination of the proceedings allows us to see the role of the
Argentine State in this Bolivian affair. The documents (particularly the IGJ’s Resolutions) not
only allow us to see the legal regime that supports entities of the public good, including the
State’s ideology of this good, they allow us to see how such entities are required to self-govern
and self-regulate. Indeed, they show that the 1GJ, being of the Executive and not the Judicial
Branch, cannot decide matters between the litigants. Rather, they can only mediate them by
pronouncing CBE-internal acts “irregular and inoperative” (irregular y ineficaz). Working
through the proceedings not only allows us to see how those fighting to recuperate the CBE
repeatedly misunderstand this and expect the IGJ to “mete out justice” where by law it cannot; it
also allows us to see what kinds of expectations the 1GJ has of entities of the public good—
namely, that they are unified (through afectos superadores) around a common and virtuous
project (affectio societatis). Moreover, the documents allow us to see what kinds of
consequences this division of labor between the IGJ and the CBE’s internal government—and
between right and virtue—can have. One such consequence, as presentations by both litigants
reveal, is that those with nefarious interests (i.e. the ‘usurpers’) can tie things up such that the
CBE as a whole can never agree upon a single course of restorative action. The ensuing limbo,
in which the ‘usurpers’ manipulate the State through claims of virtuous effort (and manipulate
the CBE’s Market’s operators in the process), enables them to continue to (mis)manage the
entity and its revenues. As I show in the ethnographic chapters that follow, their ‘usurpation’
changes the configuration of capital that allows for a further intensification of the envy complex
(including its racial and ethnic dimensions), and thus further prepares the terrain upon which an
ethics of humility emerges. In this way, the action (and inaction) of the Argentine State creates
certain conditions of possibility for ethical practice among Bolivians in Escobar. Paradoxically,
State requirements that entities of the public good auto-regulate and settle their own problems
helps force the conflict through which world-building projects emerge.

While other insights will emerge through the course of the analysis, including the ways
the State is neither impersonal nor monolithic, there is a final advantage to illuminating the
proceedings as | have done. As seen through the various documents, the litigants and the I1GJ

comment on a range of motivations and relationships. But one thing they fail to capture are the
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politics of ethnicity and kinship. In fact, the conflict is never verbalized or accounted for in these
terms. Were this file the only account of the conflict (as one might find it in an archive hundreds
of years from now), one might think that events and processes in the CBE were simply about
money and power, without understanding how these are signified and pursued through the
politics of progress. Moreover, one would imagine that these struggles obtained between
Bolivians as such—and not between, variously, Potosinos (as Qollas), Cochabambinos (as
Qochalos), and Tarijefios (as Chapacos), or lower-level groups within them, e.g. the
Saropalkefios and Pancochefios as communities of Potosinos. And one would not understand
how these various groups of Bolivians can be, here again variously, truchos (fake Bolivians),
indios (Indians), burros (donkeys), salvajes (savages), bolitas (Bolivian racial and cultural
inferiors), elegantes (the elegant), despiertos (the enlightened), etc. The point to reiterate is that
while the file tells a crucial part of the story of the CBE and its crisis, it is not “what happened”,
but only part of what happened. As mentioned above, it is meant to complement and be
complemented by the chapters that follow. Those chapters, | have found, are best set up through

a presentation of the proceedings.

Setting the Scene: The CBE’s Election of December 2001

The crisis of the CBE erupted in 2001 with the yearly election for the entity’s Executive
Commission (Comision Directiva). That year—the CBE’s eleventh—the election was
scheduled for December 22. It pitted the Red Ticket (Lista Roja), led by the incumbent and
founding President Teodoro Cahuana, against the Green Ticket (Lista Verde), led by challenger
Raimundo Huanquiri. In the weeks prior, there had been serious disagreement between
Cahuana’s acting Commission and the Internal Regulator (Fiscalizador), Ceferino Gonzalez,
over just who was eligible to vote. With an Election Commission caught in the middle, there
were accusations of rigging by both sides. Certainly, much was at stake. Not only was the CBE
the most renowned Bolivian entity in Argentina—if not outside of Bolivia—it was also its
richest, with annual revenues exceeding USD $1.5M.

The CBE’s Statutes required that the roll of eligible voters (padrén) be both vetted and

publicized weeks before the election, guaranteeing a period of time for the formulation of any
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objections and their resolution. As per the Statutes, only registered and active members (socios)
who had paid their dues were eligible to vote. This, however, had not been enforced from year
to year. Dues were nominal, elections were not always hotly contested, and leeway regarding
member activity had always been granted. Certainly, where many of the CBE’s members lived
(and often precariously so) in the fields they worked, they were not always able to get to Escobar
to participate in CBE events and meetings. Moreover, others would be absent for times of the
year, traveling either to Bolivia for personal reasons, or elsewhere for economic reasons. While
the roll of eligible voters had not traditionally been a subject of debate, it had become so as the
CBE grew in wealth and influence.

By Election Day, an agreement between Cahuana’s Executive Commission and
Gonzalez, the Internal Regulator, had not been met. The result was the existence of two rolls of
registered voters. These separate rolls reflected a deeper issue. The Register listing all of the
CBE’s members (from which eligible voters would be drawn) was itself divided between two
separate books. The first, called the Registro de Asociados N°1, was granted to the CBE
following its authorization by the IGJ. In it were the registrations for the CBE’s founding
members and all others associated through at least 1999 (i.e. members 1-559). The second,
Registro de Asociados N°2, was granted to the CBE midway through the year 2000, and
documented the registrations of members numbering 560-796. As we’ll see shortly, it appears
that this second book, while rightfully obtained by Cahuana’s Commission, was kept quiet—or
at least inaccessible—by them because of their fears of a plot by some of the powerful operators
in the Market (comerciantes) to take over the CBE. Indeed, they believed that monied interests
had co-opted the Internal Regulator (who had been elected for a term of 3 years), as well as
others who could be ‘placed’ in influential positions. Where those close to Cahuana would claim
that these powerful operators first attempted to remove Cahuana through tampering with the roll
of eligible voters in 2000, it makes sense that they would keep the contents of this second book
quiet moving into the Election of 2001. While such a move was within their competence as the
Executive Commission, being that they—and only they—controlled new associations, it would
prove to work against them and their effort to maintain the CBE in service of the public good.

The two electoral rolls that were present on Election Day, December 22, 2001, were thus
drawn from these separate Registros de Asociados. Electoral Roll Number One (Padrén N° 1)

was drawn from the first, while Electoral Roll Number Two (Padréon N° 2) was drawn from the
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second. While Padron N° 1 had been vetted by the Internal Regulator and the Election
Commission, Padron N° 2, being withheld, had not. Despite this, on Election Day, Cahuana
insisted that those listed on Padrén N° 2 be allowed to vote. He argued that they were members
of the CBE and had rights like any other. Gonzalez and the powerful operators protested, but
ultimately consented to let them vote. The condition, however, was that the members listed on
the two rolls had to vote separately. Separate ballot boxes were created to ensure this. Those on
Padron N° 1 would vote in Ballot Box Number One (Urna N°1), while those on Padrén N° 2
would vote in Ballot Box Number Two (Urna N°2).

When the results from both ballot boxes were tallied, Cahuana and his incumbent
Commission had the majority. While they lost Urna N°1, they won Urna N°2 by such a margin
that they carried the overall election. Their victory, however, was immediately impugned by
Gonzélez and those powerful operators aligned with him. Events that day soon turned violent,
and the CBE was thrust into tumult. Cahuana and his Commission were physically ousted, and a
series of emergency meetings followed. Inthem, an ad hoc Interim Commission was elected.
Yet it was soon contested for siding with the powerful operators, who kept the Market running,
and thus generating revenue, both for the operators not also ousted and the entity itself.

Cahuana was unable to regain power, and soon Gonzalez, with Norman Koprivec* as
legal counsel, began a push to ‘legalize’ a new regime within the CBE. Their complaint, filed
with the 1GJ on March 1, 2002 contested the validity of Urna N°2. Their argument was that the
votes contained therein were emitted by members who should not have been eligible to vote
based on CBE protocol, and that Cahuana had lost the election based on the tally from Urna N°1

alone.

Having introduced the form that the CBE’s conflict originally took, let us move to the exegesis

of the proceedings themselves. As mentioned above, it is only through a detailed treatment that

* Koprivec is an Argentine lawyer versed in civil associational law, and for many years represented the Federation of
Bolivian Collectives in Argentina (FACBOL). As critics point out, he had already been in consultation with
Gonzélez and the Market’s powerful magnates a year before the election of December 22, 2001, and allegedly
helped them plan their take-over. For this he has been labeled ‘predatory’. 1GJ agents would ultimately agree,
though unfortunately for the CBE and the public good, this realization would take time. Critics also point out that
while those who became known as the ‘usurpers’ worked with Koprivec, an Argentine lawyer, Cahuana, around
whom those who sought to recuperate the CBE in service of the public good, worked with a Bolivian lawyer.

Indeed, one of the common refrains heard vis-a-vis the ‘usurpers’ is that they have become ‘Argentine’: “se han
argentinizados”.
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we can allow the litigants to speak for themselves, and thus reveal their motivations and

character.

Ceferino Gonzalez Files Formal Complaint (1 March 2002)

Sr. Inspector General de Justicia, Dr. Francisco Andriacchi:

Ceferino Gonzalez, en mi caracter de miembro titular de la Comision Fiscalizadora de la
‘Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil’, con el patrocino letrado del Dr.
Norman Koprivec, Abogado... me presento al Inspector General de Justicia y
respetuosamente Digo:

Que vengo a solicitar la impugnacion de la urna N°2 perteneciente a la eleccion del 22 de
Diciembre de 2002, por haberse realizado en base a un padrén que no cumplia con las
formalidades minimas requeridas por los estatutos sociales de la Entidad, contra la
Comision Directiva gestion 2001 presidida por Teodoro Cahuana...

In his complaint before the IGJ, Gonzalez argued that as Internal Regulator it was his duty to
verify that the Statutes of the CBE were followed and that the rights and duties of all members,
including the Executive Commission, were neither compromised nor transgressed. Gonzélez
based his impugnation of Urna N°2 on Article 29 of the CBE’s Statutes, which states that the roll

of eligible voters must be publically exhibited 50 days prior to the celebration of elections:

Cuando se convoquen comicios, 0 asambleas en las que deban realizarse elecciones de
autoridades, se confeccionara un padrdn de los socios en condiciones de intervenir, en el
que sera puesto a la exhibicion de los asociados con 50 dias de antelacion a la fecha
fijada para el acto, pudiendo formularse oposiciones hasta 15 dias del mismo.

Gonzélez argued that the first roll (i.e. Padron N°1) was not only ready for publication and
exhibition on December 3, 2001, that is, just 19 days before the election on December 22, 2001,
but that the second roll (Padrén N°2), insisted upond by Cahuana, was submitted just 48 hours
prior to the election. This second roll, he argued, was composed of “new members” and that

their inclusion in the election effectively duplicated the total number of voters.

Previamente, la Comision Directiva, comete una irregularidad al incorporar socios al
padron electoral, duplicando la cantidad de votantes habilitados y empadronados a 48
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horas de la eleccion (el afio anterior votaron solo 204 personas de un padrén de 214—el
padron nuevo incorpora 237 socios NUevos).

Moreover, Gonzélez claimed that such a roll was itself impossible because it was based on
associations for which there was no record. That is, according to Gonzélez, there was only one
official registry of members from which electoral rolls could be drawn—i.e. the Registro de
Asociados N°1, which was issued by the 1GJ on February 6, 1992, and whose last member was
numbered 559.

Que existe un solo libro de Registro de Asociados vigente y utilizable y que el tltimo
socio registrado en dicho ‘Libro de Asociados N°1’ rubricado el 6 de febrero de 1992 por
la Inspeccion General de Justicia bajo el N° 00046...[es] el N° 559... ...No habia ninguna
constancia de la existencia de las incorporaciones de los nuevos socios que en el mismo
acto queria hacer valer la Comision Directiva.

Vale decir que la Comision Directiva pretendid oficializar un listado de ‘Socios Aptos
para Votar’ numerados desde el N°560 hasta el N°796, es decir incorporaba
compulsivamente a 237 nuevos socios sin haber respetado el Estatuto Social, ni los
registros, ni en los plazos, ni en los tiempos ni en la forma.

That is, Gonzalez argued that Cahuana intended to associate 237 new members, numbered 560 —
796, on the eve of the election so as to pull off a victory.

On Election Day itself, Gonzalez describes a situation of intense discussion regarding the
legitimacy of these “new members”, and whether or not they should be allowed to vote. He claimed
that after hours of discussion, all members, both “new” and “old”, were allowed to vote, but that a
second ballot box (Urna N°2) was created for the votes from those composing the second roll. This,

he argued, was to keep the “real” election intact from what were Cahuana’s fraudulent machinations.

Ese mismo dia 22 de diciembre de 2001, dia de la eleccion, luego de horas de discusion
sobre el nuevo padréon y con la seguridad de que dicho fraude no prosperaria mas alla de
la anécdota, y ante la dolosa insistencia de la Comision Directiva, se les permitio votar a
los presuntos nuevos socios incorporados del padron cuestionado, en una urna aparte
numerado con el N°2, para garantizar que la misma no influyera en el resultado real de la
eleccion y manteniendo la fiscalia la impugnacion de la misma durante todo el acto.

Given such machinations, Gonzalez argued, the results were just as expected: Urna N°1, whose
votes were cast by those listed on the properly vetted and published Padron N°1, elected

Raimundo Huanquiri and the Green List. The tally was 132 to 69, with 6 abstaining. Urna N°2,
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whose votes were cast by those “new socios” associated by Cahuana’s Commission on the eve of
the election, elected him and the Red List by a margin of 98 to 5, with 3 abstentions. Gonzélez
claimed that upon observing this, the members present protested and insisted that Urna N°2 not

be counted in the final tally, and that a formal complaint be brought against Cahuana.

Al observar esto los socios presentes insisten en que se impugne la urna y no se tome en
cuenta el computo de esos votos en la decision final de la eleccién. Es alli donde se
solicité a los socios que protestaron, que formalizaran su denuncia por escrito, la cual es
motivo de las presentes actuaciones.

Gonzalez then recounts the events of an Emergency Assembly called on January 2, 2002 to
resolve the matter, and for which he as Internal Regulator called in monitors (veedores) from the
Federation of Bolivian Collective Associations in Argentina (FACBOL)® to observe the
proceedings. After a full day of discussion, Gonzéalez states that the Assembly resolved to elect
an Interim Commission composed of six members, none of whom could have been on the Red or
the Green Lists. One should note that this Commission was headed by Freddy Galan, as
President, and none other than Julio Gonzalez (his own relative) as Vice President. One should
also note that, as Internal Regulator, Gonzalez would be supervising them in their task of calling
new elections for February 9, 2002. This task included the preparation of a new roll of eligible

voters.

Luego de una reunion que durd casi todo el dia se resolvié elegir a una Comisién ‘Ad
Hoc’ transitoria, donde no participaran ninguna de las listas en litigio, sino una
compuesta por seis socios elegidos de la Asamblea, que supervisados por los
fiscalizadores, que debian convocar a nuevas elecciones para el dia sdbado 9 de febrero
de 2002 previa depuracién y confeccion de los padrones.

Moreover, Gonzélez states that at this Emergency Assembly, Cahuana surrendered his keys to
the exterior door to the Administrative section of the CBE. This was an act that Gonzalez claims

signified Cahuana’s resignation.

En dicha Asamblea, la Comisidn Directiva entregd las Ilaves a la nueva Comision
Directiva electa firmando esta acta el presidente saliente Teodoro Cahuana, lo que
significaria la aceptacion de la impugnacion planteada, la renuncia de [su] Comision
Directiva y la aceptacion de lo resuelto por la Asamblea, lisa y llanamente no

® Federacion de Asociaciones Civiles Bolivianas
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presentando ningun tipo de oposicion. Lo mismo hace la Lista Verde que era la
oposicion a la Lista Roja oficialista, los veedores, y luego firman todos los presentes.

According to Gonzalez, the Interim Commission, with the consent of both the Red and Green
Lists, then proceeded to lock this exterior door housing the Administrative Section so that during
the following days (January 3-4, 2002) the offices could be given over, and their contents and all

administrative effects inventoried by a notary public.

La nueva Comisidn electa procede conjuntamente con la saliente y la lista opositora en
presencia de los fiscalizadores a fajar las puertas de entrada a las oficinas, para que el dia
siguiente 3 de enero de 2002, se entregara por inventario la [Administracién].

On January 3, 2002, Gonzélez states that the office of the Secretary was handed over, with the
outgoing Secretary participating in the work of notarizing the contents. This, he claims, was
when the first “irregularities” arose concerning the CBE’s official books—a point he would
subsequently elaborate.

Gonzalez then claims that on January 4, 2002, when Cahuana was supposed to turn in his
keys to the President’s and Treasurer’s offices, he feigned illness and instead filed a police report

that locks had been changed.

El dia 4 de enero de 2002, cuando se deberia entregar la presidencia y la tesoreria, el
Sefior Cahuana, por la mafiana alega que esta enfermo y por la tarde realiza una denuncia
por el cambio de las cerraduras cuando el mismo habia entregado las llaves con
anterioridad en la Asamblea.

Con un grupo de gente ajena a la institucion, fuerza las puertas y cambia nuevamente las
cerraduras, previa amenazas y maltrato a los presentes. En actitud provocativa parte de la
documentacidn es sacada de la sede a la vista de varios socios, se rompen candados y se
le quita la administracidn, que habia sido entregada por actas y se realizan una serie de
amenazas, actos de provocacién y denuncias falsas contra varios miembros de la
sociedad.

Gonzalez further claims that later that day, Cahuana, with a group of people from outside the
Institution, forced open the exterior door housing the Administrative offices, and changed the
locks himself—all amidst a series of threats, provocations, and false charges against CBE

members.
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According to Gonzélez, the members of the CBE were in a state of permanent assembly
and that they continually denied Cahuana’s legitimacy, rather giving their support to Freddy
Galan and the Interim Commission. One should note here that by CBE ‘members’ Gonzélez is
referencing who were in reality the Market’s operators—who were just a fraction of the overall
CBE membership. One should also note that the Market’s operators were being aligned to

opposed Cahuana.

La sociedad se moviliza y permanece dia y noche en la sede social, los socios se niegan a
hacer los aportes a la Comision Directiva anterior y comienzan a hacer estos a la
Comision que se eligiera en la Asamblea presidida por Freddy Galan.

As a result of what amounted to a stalemate, Gonzalez then recounts that the parties involved
turned to the local Judicial apparatus (i.e. the Unidad Fiscal de Investigacion N°9 of the nearby
City of Campana) to mediate the conflict. Gonzalez states that after complaints from both sides
were heard, it was decided that another Assembly should be called to decide the future of the

CBE’s governing body. This assembly was scheduled for January 12, 2002.

El clima institucional se tensa y se solicita la participacion de la Justicia, las denuncias
habian recaido en la UFI N°9 de Campana, la cual toma intervencién primero
constatando hechos y luego citando a las partes en donde se acuerda mediante una
mediacion voluntaria el convocar a una nueva Asamblea Extraordinaria vinculante para
el dia sabado 12 de enero de 2002.

In that assembly, Gonzélez stated that those present resolved to uphold the decision from the
assembly held earlier on January 2, 2002 in which Freddy Galan was designated the President of

the Interim Commission.

En dicha asamblea la sociedad resolvié con mayoria absoluta de 99% de los votos,
confirmar la validez de la Asamblea del 2 de Enero de 2002 en todas las resoluciones,
designando al Sr. Freddy Galan como presidente de la Colectividad Boliviana de
Escobar. Esta votacion ‘in voce’ fue ratificada por escrito posteriormente con la firma de
los presentes en el Libro de Actas y en un acta notarial ante Escribano Publico.
Manifestando una vez mas la voluntad cada uno de los socios.

Gonzéalez recounts that, after what became a failed mediation at the 1GJ on January 18, 2002,
Cahuana’s Vice President agreed to surrender keys to the Presidency and Treasury to Freddy

Galan’s Interim Commission, and these Administrative offices were finally inventoried.
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To substantiate his formal complaint, Gonzalez included a number of documents he argued
supported his claims that Cahuana committed electoral fraud and illegally clung to power. With
his formal complaint thus composed, Gonzélez solicited the 1GJ to formally annul Padron N°2,
and by extension the vote comprising Urna N°2, in the election of December 22, 2001.
Additionally, he asked the 1GJ to require Cahuana to respect the will of the CBE’s membership
(a curious request given that Cahuana had won the original election) and abstain from interfering

in the institutional transition.

Por todo lo expuesto solicito a la Inspeccion General de Justicia que:

Se resuelva anular y rechazar ‘in limine’ el padrén utilizado en la Urna N°2 por ser la
misma...de nulidad absoluta, en subsidio impugnar el resultado y el contenido de la
misma, por estar la misma viciada desde todo angulo de apreciacion;

Se condene a la parte denunciada a respetar la voluntad de la Asamblea, con promesa de
abstencidn de interferir negativamente;

Ratifique todo lo actuado hasta el momento.

Teodoro Cahuana Files Formal Response (5 April 2002)

On April 5, 2002, Cahuana filed a pointed response with the 1GJ to refute Gonzéalez’s claims that
Padrén N°2, and by extension Urna N°2, were anything but legitimate. He insisted that he was
the rightful President of the CBE, and argued that Gonzalez and his supporters had taken the
entity by force. The CBE, he reminded the IGJ, was a not-for-profit entity of the public good,

and must not be used for private, commercial ends.
Sr. Inspector General de Justicia,
Teodoro Cahuana, Presidente de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, con domicilio
legal en la calle Beauchef 1370, Capital Federal...al Sr. Inspector General de Justicia, en
el expediente N° 32.160/ 1.520.370, me presento y digo:
Que en tiempo y forma vengo a contestar el traslado conferido, y a solicitar, desde ya, se

rechace la impugnacion impetrada por antijuridica y falaz. En efecto, el sélo hecho de
que se nos haya corrido el traslado como Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar a nuestro
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domicilio legal, nos exime de mayores comentarios acerca de quién es la autoridad actual
y legitima de esta entidad civil sin fines de lucro.

Cahuana argued that the very fact that he and his supporters were relegated to operating from the
CBE’s legal domicile in Buenos Aires, instead of from their Administrative offices in Escobar,

was proof enough that they had been violently ousted by Gonzalez and his followers.

El grupo minoritario...ha procedido a tomar la sede de la localidad de Escobar por la
fuerza y pretende, con ésta y otras maniobras seudo-legales, legitimar su delito y
quedarse con la Institucion...

Lo cierto es que, mediante amenazas de muerte y acciones de fuerza en contra de las
autoridades legitimamente elegidas, en la primera quincena de enero de este afio han
procedido a copar, mediante el uso de la violencia fisica, el importante predio de cinco
hectareas, que incluye dos pabellones de 2.400mz?, con oficinas, laboratorios, restaurante
con equipamiento industrial para 150 comensales, un salon de actos con todo el confort
para reuniones, asambleas y espectaculos de 200m2 de superficie, y demas instalaciones.

Cahuana argued that the hostile takeover, in itself violent and including death threats, was far
from insignificant. For the CBE was an entity whose capital comprised multiple administrative
buildings, a 4,800m? market structure, an assembly hall, a restaurant, a sports complex, and a
fairgrounds—all on a property of 5 hectares. One should note here that Cahuana refrains from
specifying the CBE’s yearly revenues.

Those who had taken over the CBE, he claimed, were nothing more than a faction of
operators (puesteros) who used the entity—or rather its Market—to sell produce from their own
fields or resell that from other markets. That is, they merely used the entity without contributing
anything to it or its mission. One should note that the Market, while not being part of the
original plan or design of the CBE, was nevertheless one of its greatest achievements. Indeed, it
generated much of the revenue from which the entity’s programs on behalf of the public good
were funded. The usurping puesteros, Cahuana argued, had no interest in these social and
cultural projects of the CBE, and had plotted to co-opt the entity to use it as a front for
developing their own commercial activity. That is, they had hijacked the juridical form of the

CBE, as an asociacion civil, to develop their own commercial activities.

Se trata de un grupo de ‘puesteros’ del mercado que forma parte de una de las actividades
de la Colectividad, pero que tienen fines de lucro en forma personal, pues alli tienen
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permitido comercializar los productos de huerta que producen en sus fincas y otros que
reciben en consignacion de grandes productores del interior. Esa es una de las muchas
actividades de nuestra Institucion, pero sus beneficiarios, lejos de pagar el canon
obligatorio a la Colectividad para poder usar las instalaciones, decidieron tomar por la
fuerza todo el predio y usar a la Institucion como ‘pantalla’ de sus actividades
comerciales. Han desbaratado todas las actividades sociales, propias de una asociacion
civil, tales como las de caracter cultural, deportivo, educativo, etc. para abocarse
exclusivamente a lo que les da rédito monetario, pretendiendo utilizar la forma juridica de
nuestra asociacion civil para generar un negocio, si bien licito en si mismo, no apto para
Ilevarse adelante con la pantalla de nuestra Institucion.

As if their coup were not bold enough, Cahuana argued that the usurpers were attempting to
deceive the very IGJ with completely fabricated evidence. Moreover, they were actually asking,
via their own request (petitorio), that the 1GJ ratify this illegal move. The IGJ, he argued, must

not be fooled.

Presentan una serie de hechos y actos perfectamente dibujados como legitimos y luego
tratan de que Ud. los avale ... han venido tratando de engafar a las mismisimas
autoridades de la I.G.J. a fin de lograr la convalidacion de sus negocios comerciales, a
través de presentacion de asambleas absolutamente ilegitimas y anti-estatutarias,
realizadas a puertas cerradas y exclusivamente entre ellos, para tratar de lograr el borrado
literal de la legitima comision electa el 22 de diciembre y la instalacion de nuevas
personas al mando de nuestra Colectividad.

As for the supporting documents that accompanied Gonzélez’s impugnation, Cahuana warned
the I1GJ that these materials pretended two things: first, they aimed to recast what was the
‘usurpers’ own wrongdoing as a defense of the CBE before what they made out to be an
incumbent unwilling to give up power; second, they aimed to dupe the 1GJ into thinking that the
‘administrative acts’ taken after the election of December 22, 2001 were in fact legitimate. The
latter, he argued, were everything but; they were decisions taken by a mere faction, made in
meetings behind closed doors, and contrary to the basic requisites of the CBE’s statutes. In no
way were Gonzélez’s claims the “will” of the “membership”. Rather, he states that they reveal

Gonzélez’s and his supporters’ own nefarious deeds.

Por lo expuesto, queda claro que todo el farrago de papeleria inatil que presentan los
impugnantes, tiene como objetivo limpiar su delito y generar la idea de que se esta ante el
hecho consumado de que existen ciertas ‘bases’ que han ‘decidido’ generar otro gobierno
para la Institucion.
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La propia presentacion impugnante contiene la prueba de los delitos cometidos.

In his response before the 1GJ, Cahuana argued that the heart of the proceedings should concern,
not what happened during the ensuing tumult of January of 2002, but rather the specific terms of
the election of December 22, 2001. That is, the matter at hand should be nothing more than the
legitimacy of Padron N°2 and therefore Urna N°2. Before addressing that issue, however,
Cahuana nevertheless moved to dispute the validity of Gonzalez’s claims regarding those events
of January. Broaching the ‘assembly’ of January 2, 2002, in which Freddy Galan’s Interim
Commission was elected, Cahuana claims that this assembly and all administrative acts therein
were illegitimate. Indeed, he appeals to the statutory requisites, and argues that this Assembly,
coming under the rubric of Administrative Act N°36, was signed neither by him nor his
Secretary. Moreover, the events of this Assembly were chronicled in Gonzalez’s own book
(Actas de Comision Fiscalizadora N°1) and not where they should have been—i.e. in the Actas

de Asambleas N°1.

El acta N°36 que presentan los impugnantes es falsa y carente de todo valor. No consta
en el libro correspondiente y tampoco cuenta con la firma del presidente Teodoro
Cahuana ni del Secretario Selmo Urufia. Pero, lo que es mas destacable, es que pretende
justificar que ‘no hay presidente ni comision electa’... ‘ya que, al estar impugnada una
mesa de votantes en las elecciones (urna N°2)...”. Es decir que, en lugar de respetar la
ley y lo que en su consecuencia dictamine la 1.G.J., se pretende generar la falacia de que
una impugnacion significa la inexistencia de un acto eleccionario y de su resultado.
Ademas, esa seudo-asamblea, no fue convocada en forma legal e incluye gente ajena a la
Institucion.

As for allegedly surrendering his keys to the Administration on January 2, 2002, Cahuana states
that he surrendered his keys to no-one. On the contrary, he claims that these locks were broken
by the ‘usurpers’, who physically appropriated the entity. This was a transgression for which

Cahuana states he has filed criminal charges.

El dia 2 de enero de 2002 el presidente Teodoro Cahuana no entreg6 ninguna llave de las
oficinas, sino que los sediciosos violaron las cerraduras, cambiaron las combinaciones y
se apropiaron de las instalaciones. Todo por la fuerza, cosa que también esta denunciada.

As for the legitimacy of Padrén/Urna N°2, Cahuana argues that the members in question were

not at all associated ‘compulsively’ on the eve of the election, as Gonzalez had claimed, and
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rather that they had been admitted six months prior. For this reason, he argued that Gonzélez’s

claim that these members lacked the antiquity to vote was simply false.

En los libros Registro de Asociados constan todos los socios que votaron en la urna N°2
y todos ellos tenian mas de seis meses de antigiiedad.

Cahuana argued that their admittance was legitimate, evinced by the fact that they had been
entered into the Registro de Asociados N°2, a book that had been issued by the IGJ on June 22,
2000. Moreover, he states that they were documented as Acta N° 59 in the book Actas de
Comisién Directiva N°1, though he provides no date for this entry. Finally, he reminds the IGJ

that the competence for admitting new members falls on the Executive Commission.

Tratan los impugnantes, muy habilmente, de confundir al Sr. Inspector General, al hablar
de una auditoria que reviso uno solo de los libros de Registro de Asociados (el N°1) que,
efectivamente, tenia los socios registrados hasta el N°559 y se cerr6 el 13 de enero de
1999. Es que, de hecho, no audit6 el Libro N°2. El Libro N°2 fue rubricado
debidamente en julio [sic] de 2000 y lleva los socios desde 560 en adelante.

Regarding the Election of December 22, 2001, Cahuana claimed that Gonzéalez’s tactic was to
limit the number of members allowed to vote by refusing to acknowledge the Padrén N°2, itself
drawn from the list of members documented in Registro de Asociados N°2. However, as | noted
above, it is not clear if Gonzalez and the Election Commission were ever presented with this
Padron N°2 for vetting, though it appears they both eventually knew of its existence, if at a late
date. Italso appears that Cahuana and his Commission’s rationale for potentially withholding
this second Padron was to counter what they believed was Gonzalez and his supporters’
malfeasance with regard to determining voting eligibility in general. Indeed, those close to
Cahuana would later argue that Gonzélez and those behind him had already removed some of the
names of Cahuana’s supporters on Padron N°1, and had similarly tampered with the Padron of
the previous year’s election—all in repeated illegal attempts to remove Cahuana through
‘official’ means. Where this appears to the be case, Cahuana’s decision to grow the CBE’s
membership with people interested in the CBE’s founding mission, and so drown out what he

and others saw as nefarious, compromising interests, makes perfect sense.

No se pretendera que la Colectividad tenga un numerus clausus de socios y que
justamente dicha cantidad coincida con los socios que caben en uno solo de los libros.

44



Esa idea seria no solamente absurda, sino que no estaria avalada por el Estatuto. Siempre
pueden asociarse nuevas personas.

Certainly, as Cahuana claimed before the 1GJ, this tactic of limiting who could vote was
pragmatic. By restricting the number of eligible voters to those contained on Padron N°1 (itself
culled from the members listed in Registro de Asociados N°1) Gonzalez planned to sway the
election in favor of the Green List. These were the members, Cahuana reiterated, who comprised
the bulk of the Market’s operators. Among them were those who sought to harness the CBE for
their own commercial and pecuniary gain. One should note that while Cahuana does not specify
this, the implication is that among this group were also those individuals who both understood

the sheer quantities of money that flowed through the entity and had designs on them.

La lista perdedora, que tiene méas adherentes entre los socios mas antiguos, por el
contrario, recluta a los socios con interés comercial en el Mercado de verduras y frutas,
que se desarrolla en el predio y que genera enormes sumas de dinero, tanto en la propia
comercializacion, cuanto en el alquiler de esos puestos. Es decir, los “puesteros”,
quienes hoy desean quedarse con la Institucion dejando de lado el verdadero fin social de
lamisma. Asi que, lejos de que las coincidencias sean expresivas de algun fraude, son
expresivas de las reales intenciones de cada grupo. Gracias a Dios, el grupo mayoritario
es el que desea una Institucion social y no una institucion meramente comercial. Sin
embargo, la mayoria no esta todo el dia en el predio, no maneja dinero ni influencias, no
tiene guardianes privados, no es violenta ni amenaza de muerte a sus paisanos.

Given the split between the tallies of the two ballot boxes, Cahuana argued that if there were any
relationship between how people voted and their antiquity as members, this was a function of the
increasing success and popularity of the CBE under his leadership. That is, his social and
cultural programming, which included Bolivian national and provincial celebrations, soccer
tournaments, a computer lab—not to mention the earlier successes of the entity he orchestrated
(i.e. Quechua-speaking police patrols to protect Bolivian farmers, Quechua-speaking medical
staff at the local clinic, regularization of the Market and the Feria, and the infrastructural
improvements these entailed)—were the principal reasons why there was an influx of new

members who supported him.

Si hubo una importante coincidencia entre el resultado de las urnas y la antigliedad de los
socios, eso no es materia de impugnacién ni de sospecha. Al contrario, se podria pensar,
y es lo que en realidad ha ocurrido, que la buena gestion de Teodoro Cahuana hizo que
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muchos integrantes de la Colectividad hayan tenido interés en constituirse en nuevos
socios de esta Institucion. Eso fue por la obra social, cultural y deportiva de Cahuana.

Cahuana concludes his formal response by claiming that Gonzélez and his supporters had taken
over the CBE through a violent coup that had violated the democratic principles of an asociacion
civil properly understood; that their transgressions have been no different in character than the

brutal military dictatorships that had gripped and stifled the Argentine Republic.

No esperan el resultado y toman de facto, cual gobierno militar, la Institucion. Nada mas
refiido con nuestra Democracia, que tanto nos ha costado recuperar a argentinos y
bolivianos.

In the end, Cahuana asks the Inspector General to reject the complaint presented by Gonzalez
and to disallow any accusation that did not focus on the heart of the matter—i.e. on the validity
of the election of December 22, 2001. He also asks the Inspector General to request the criminal
complaints filed by himself in the U.F.1 N°9 de Campana to corroborate his own charge of
usurpation against Gonzalez. In support of his own case, he appears to have presented the
following administrative registers of the CBE to the IGJ: Actas de Asambleas N°1, Actas de
Comisién Directiva N°1, Registro de Asociados N°1 y N°2. One should note, however, that he
does not formally submit these until April 26, 2002. We will see later that Gonzalez and those
behind him requested duplicate copies under false pretenses in an effort to legitimize their rule,
both before the IGJ and before the CBE’s membership.

Por lo expuesto solicito:
Que la prueba testimonial no procede para esta instancia, por lo que solicito se la
desestime sin mas.

Que el resto de las pruebas que presenta la parte impugnante y que no hace a la votacion
del 22 de diciembre de 2001 es inoperante y fuera de lugar, ya que no es materia de esta
litis. Por lo tanto pido se la desestime.

Que presento como prueba las causas penales referidas, las que deberan ser pedidas por
V. Autoridad. Asimismo, presento los libros de Actas de Asambleas N°1, Actas de
Comision Directiva N°1, Registro de Asociados N°1y N°2.

Que en su momento se desestime la impugnacion.
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IGJ Resolution 0628 (22 July 2002)

Before treating the content of the IGJ’s Resolution 0628, one should note that it is perhaps the
most important document in the proceedings. This is for a number of reasons. First, the
Resolution is where the 1GJ applies its juridical philosophy of entities of the public good to the
CBE. Init, one finds the IGJ’s working definition of the public good, which is itself taken from
an Argentine Supreme Court case. One also sees how the 1GJ imagines the CBE—i.e. asa
corporate body unified by over-arching attachments (afectos superadores). Second, this
Resolution is crucial to the rest of the proceedings; it serves as a kind of ‘footing’ for subsequent
positions and arguments. Indeed, Resolution 0628 is cited in most of the subsequent
presentations by the litigants, as well as in most of the subsequent 1GJ Resolutions. Its mention
of afectos superadores is invoked years later as the 1GJ ultimately decides to formerly intervene
in the CBE.

Finally, this Resolution is important both for when it was issued and for what
misunderstandings it inadvertently created. As seen in the formal complaints by Gonzalez and
Cahuana, the CBE was thrust into tumult following the December 22, 2001 election. This led to
a series of violent events and closed-door meetings in which the fate of the entity was being
decided. Where the 1GJ had been consulted to mediate between Cahuana’s and Gonzalez’s
camps in early January 2002, it had produced an internal brief (dictamen) on January 23 that
prepared this Resolution 0628. Indeed, this dictamen, authored by one of the Inspectors in the
IGJ, stated everything that this Resolution, signed by the Inspector General, confirmed not only
verbatim, but 6 months later. Itis not clear why this was the case. Perhaps it was because other
complaints had been filed in parallel proceedings that needed review®. Perhaps it was because
the 1GJ had a back-log of other problems in other civil associations. One does not have to
review the CBE’s case, however, to see that these months were crucial for the fate of the entity.
It was during this time that the ‘usurpers’ consolidated their hold over the entity and its revenues,
which approximated (ARS) ‘$750,000 for the period. That the IGJ delayed in issuing the

Resolution when its dictamen had been in-hand for months was not lost on Cahuana, who,

® In the present Resolution, the 1GJ finds that none of the associated proceedings merited review, being that the
present contained the heart of the matter.

’ In January 2002, and because of its economic crisis, Argentina abandoned the fixed 1-to-1 ARS peso—US Dollar
parity that had been in place through the 1990s.
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because of the ‘usurpers’’ strong-arm tactics, was never able to engage in the CBE’s politics
again.

Yet one also notes that despite the IGJ’s delay, Cahuana and his supporters also seem to
have misunderstood the very nature of the IGJ’s role as State-regulator. In subsequent
complaints, Cahuana and his counsel claim that the 1GJ should have declared in the present
Resolution who was the rightful President of the CBE—i.e. who should be calling and running
the meetings and the entity itself®. Indeed, Cahuana and his counsel repeatedly ask the I1GJ to
mete out justice (‘que se haga justicia’). What can be seen below is what the IGJ’s competence
with respect to civil associations truly is. As mentioned in the Introduction and in the foregoing
parts of this chapter, the 1GJ cannot rule in favor of one or another litigant; nor can it declare
who should be President of a civil association. This is because civil associations are private
entities, and, because of the functional autonomy they enjoy with respect to the State (given
State-authorization, that is), they must handle their own internal affairs. The 1GJ exists to ensure
that they, as their own agents, abide by their State-approved statutes and national law. Indeed, as
the Argentine civil court system has ruled regarding the functional autonomy of civil

associations:

It is not justified that the State’s regulatory body [the 1GJ] replace those bodies granted
competence by the entity’s own statutes, or to make itself into a court of appeals for an
entity’s disciplinary matters, or otherwise for matters of its own governance in pursuit of
its institutional mission. (Camara Nacional de Apelaciones en lo Civil, Sala C 6/5/82,
Fallo 32.009 ctd. in Cahian 1998: 198)

Seen from a different point of view, because the IGJ is part of the Ministry of Justice, and thus
part of the Executive Branch of government, it does not have Judicial competence®. Rather,
given its arbitrational competence and function with respect to administrative matters, the 1GJ
can declare acts taken by entities ‘irregular’ (i.e. infelicitous in form given the entities’ own
statutes or based on relevant law) and thus ‘inoperative’ (i.e. lacking in administrative effect)—

and this only when it is called upon by litigants to mediate.

® For example, Cahuana’s counsel Nuiiez in a later petition responding immediately to an IGJ dictamen from
February 13, 2003 blames the Inspector General for the entrenchment of the ‘usurpers’ for failing to state in this
present Resolution 0628 just who should be at the helm of the CBE: “...V.S. es unica y absoluta responsible, ya que
omitié intencionalmente en la Resolucion 0628 del 22 del Julio de 2002, expedirse sobre a cargo de quien debe estar
la administracion de la Institucion.”

° The 1GJ can, however, refer a matter over to the Judiciary when it has evidence and cause to do so.

48



Crucially, what ‘inoperativity’ means here is that the acts in question will lack effect with
respect to the 1GJ, which is ultimately what counts insofar as the entity’s authorization to
function as such is concerned™. That is, where the 1GJ has the ultimate power to revoke an
entity’s juridical personhood and reassign its patrimonies to another entity of the public good, the
issue of whether the entity is ‘regular’ or ‘irregular’ in the eyes of the IGJ is paramount. By
declaring an entity’s administrative acts irregular and inoperative, the IGJ works to guide the
entity back to institutional regularity, and thus institutional integrity with respect to the mission
for which it has been authorized to function.

One should note that when administrative acts taken by an entity are declared
‘inoperative’ (i.e. ‘without effect’), this is not to say that the acts do not have effects within the
entity itself. They do, as will be seen throughout the ethnographic portions of this dissertation.
Despite these consequences—and in fact attending to them, albeit in an indirect way—, 1GJ
declarations are binding as a correctional measure™. That is, when the IGJ declares an act
‘inoperative’, it changes the world in two ways. First, through such a declaration, the IGJ adopts
a posture with respect to the entity in question: i.e. it assumes a position of refusing to recognize
an entity as ‘regular’ until whatever ‘irregularity’ is remedied. Second, and related to the first,
the entity itself is thrust into a kind of juridical liminality in which its personhood (authorization
to function as such) is in jeopardy. This state of liminality will persist until the irregularity is
remedied. What this reveals is that the burden of proper governance and felicitous being (which
includes that of ‘meting out justice’) falls on the entity in the immediate sense. That is, the entity
must remedy its own irregularities. As mentioned both in the Introduction and earlier in this
chapter, this regime stems from a liberal respect for the separation of private from public, and
ultimately assumes (and indeed relies upon) the virtue of an entity’s members. As will become
further evident, this ‘order of things’—i.e. functional autonomy and self-regulation for entities,

and arbitrational functions for the State-regulators—can be easily exploited.

10 See Article 421 of Libro VIII, “Asociaciones Civiles y Fundaciones” contained in Resolucion General IGJ N°
7/05 which states: “La declaracion de irregularidad e ineficacia a los efectos administrativos priva a las decisiones
asamblearias de efecto respecto a la Inspeccion General de Justicia.” One should note that this Resolucion General
is of principal importance in the IGJ’s regulation of civil associations being that there is no single, comprehensive
legislation to date that specifically treats them. See Calcagno and Fourcade (1999: 38-39), Cahian (1998: 59-61),
Biagosch (2006).

1 As resolved by the IGJ in Resolution 749 (November 1985) in the proceedings of “Club Atlético River Plate”:
“La declaracion de ineficacia se torna imperativa a tenor de la posicion permanente sustentada por la Inspeccion
General de Justicia, siempre en salvaguarda de la absoluta correccién de todos los actos societarios, el cumplimiento
de las disposiciones estatutarias y particulares de los principios de respeto derechos individuales de los asociados.”
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After beginning with a summary of the complaints submitted by Gonzalez and Cahuana,
Resolution 0628 appeals to the larger juridico-political context. It argues that a resolution to the
conflict gripping the CBE is imperative—not just for the sake of compliance, or simply for the
sake of its own members—but ultimately because the CBE plays a significant role in the social
life of the City of Escobar.

Buenos Aires, 22 de Julio de 2002

VISTO: Los expedientes CN° 32.160, 32,486, 32.502, y 32.667/ 1.520.370, todos
correspondientes a la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil, del registro
de esta Inspeccidn General de Justicia; y

CONSIDERANDO: ...
Que en este estado, teniendo en cuenta los hechos invocados y las constancias obrantes,
corresponde resolver la impugnacion impetrada en el presente tramite.

Que no puede soslayarse que la importancia de los objetivos que despliega la Entidad
y su fuerte insercion social en la ciudad de Escobar, segin propias manifestaciones de sus
asociados, también es ameritado de modo especial por cuanto la solucién que finalmente
se propicia, se halla dirigida a solucionar los problemas que acucian a la Entidad y a su
pronta regularizacion institucional.

From the point of view of the Argentine State, the CBE has been authorized, through being
granted juridical personhood, to pursue activities whose ‘extension’ contributes to, and helps
secure, the good of the Argentine political community. As is true of all civil associations
(asociaciones civiles), the activities of the CBE, while of immediate benefit to its own members
(a good in itself) should be simultaneously oriented to help create the conditions of life through
which the public at large is able to flourish and perfect themselves—i.e. to fulfill their natural
telos as human beings, created ultimately by God. One should note that the juridical philosophy
shaping the legal regime for civil associations in Argentina owes much to Aquinas, who is
invoked directly in relevant law and Supreme Court decisions. For these reasons, the 1GJ sees
the resolution of the conflict in the CBE as necessary for the sake of the greater good, and for the

generation of ‘community’ itself.

...[P]ara las asociaciones civiles con personalidad juridica reconocida por el Estado, tal el
caso de la Asociacion que nos ocupa, constituye un elemento esencial ‘el cual se
exterioriza a través de su objeto y debe tender a lograr una satisfaccion de las
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necesidades del grupo primario de la comunidad o bien de la sociedad toda’ (conf.
‘Codigo Civil, Normas Complementarias y Analisis doctrinario y jurisprudencial’, Dr.
Alberto Bueres, T. 1, Depalma, p. 317). (Conf. Expte. CN° 1.702.477, Resolucion 1.G.J.
N° 0541 de fecha 28.06.02)

The 1GJ argues that to resolve the issue of the impugned election, and thus fulfill their (dual)
mission on behalf of themselves and the public at large, the members of the CBE—here taken as
an inclusive, corporate group—must overcome differences that the IGJ regards as ‘factional’.
That is, the members must transcend what divides them in a conjoint pursuit of the common
good. To concretize this, the IGJ cites a famous Supreme Court case (Nacion Argentina v.
Agustina Roca de Schroder) in which the Justices defined the common good as: “That complex
of social conditions that enables not only community, but each one of its members, to achieve

most fully and easily their own perfection (Fallos, 295: 157).”

Que también corresponde expresar que solo ello sera posible, en tanto los propios
asociados, superando intereses que podrian apreciarse sectoriales, orienten sus esfuerzos
en procura del cumplimiento de los objetivos de bien comin de la Institucion que los
nuclea y que segun la Corte Suprema de Justicia de la Nacion es el ‘conjunto de
condiciones de vida social que hacen posible tanto a la comunidad—como a cada uno de
sus miembros—, el logro mas facil de su propia perfeccion.” (Fallos, 295: 157)

Yet the 1GJ has its role and responsibility as well: it must regulate these entities when
irregularities arise such that they can properly function and pursue their institutional missions.
That is, the IGJ must make sure that these entities are following their own Statutes, by virtue of
which they have been authorized to function as legal persons.

Toward this end, the 1GJ sees two matters requiring pronouncement in the case of the
CBE. The first concerns the ‘antiquity’ of those members who voted in Ballot Box Number Two
(Urna N°2); that is, whether they had sufficient seniority to do so. The second concerns whether
Cahuana’s Executive Commission complied with the CBE’s Statutes in calling and preparing
elections—specifically with regard to the exhibition of the rolls of eligible voters for vetting and
any petitioning. One should note that what the 1GJ must ensure beyond compliance with the
Statutes is that the rights of individual members have not been compromised.

Regarding the alleged lack of antiquity, itself one of the principal arguments upon which
Gonzalez based his impugnation of Urna N°2, the 1GJ states that the CBE’s Statutes have no

provision for such. Only Article 14 of the Statutes requires that a member be ‘active’ and have 6
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months of seniority to be able to hold an elected position (e.g. on the Executive Commission,

Internal Regulating Commission, etc.).

Que con respecto a la falta de la antigliedad requerida por el Articulo 29 del Estatuto
Social, corresponde sefialar que dicho cuerpo legal no prevé como requisito para votar en
las asambleas, antigliedad alguna. Solo el Articulo 14 del Estatuto requiere pertenecer a
la categoria de socio activo con una antigiiedad de seis meses y contar con la mayoria de
edad, para integrar los 6rganos sociales, pero no hace referencia alguna al derecho a voto
de los socios en las asambleas.

As for the particular associations in question (i.e. those comprising Padrén N°2), the 1GJ states
that it has reviewed the CBE’s books, Registro de Asociados N°1 and Registro de Asociados
N°2. It acknowledges that the first contains members 1-559, with the last entry dating to January
16, 1999, and that the second, which was duly issued by the 1GJ on June 23, 2000, contains
members 560-796. All of the latter associations were registered on May 26, 2001. The 1GJ
states that, while it may be somewhat striking that such a large number of members were
admitted in just one day, it must nevertheless be noted that these associations were carried out by
Cahuana’s Executive Commission in an act duly documented in the Actas de Comision Directiva
N°1 (i.e. Acta N°59). It stands to reason that, even where the requirement of 6 months’ seniority
for filling political positions were applied analogously to the question of voter eligibility, the 6

months would nevertheless have been observed.

Que si bien resulta llamativo el ingreso de tal nimero de socios en un mismo dia, cabe
seflalar que dicha incorporacion fue efectuada por la Comision Directiva, segun acta
N°59 de fecha 26 de mayo de 2001 en la que se aprueban las solicitudes N° 560 a N°
796. Por tanto, corresponde concluir que, aun en el supuesto que se pretendiera aplicar
por analogia el Articulo 14 del Estatuto en cuanto a la antigiiedad para votar, de las
constancias del libro Registro de Asociados N°2 surge claramente que el plazo de seis
meses exigido estatutariamente, se encontraba cumplido.

On this same point of who should be allowed to vote, the IGJ also attended to Gonzalez’s claim
that Padrén N°1 should be the only one allowed on the grounds that it had been the same one
used in the previous year’s election. For the IGJ, such an argument should not be allowed; for on
its estimation, the number of members and/or their statuses in a civil association will fluctuate

from year to year. As aresult, rolls of eligible voters must change to reflect these fluctuations.
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Que no puede considerarse, como se pretende, que sélo deben revestir la calidad de
votantes aquellas personas que emitieron sufragio en la eleccion anterior, pues los
padrones se van modificando permanentemente por altas y bajas, por cuya razén éste
argumento impugnatorio cabe desestimarlo.

However, with regard to the statutory requirements concerning the exhibition of the rolls, the 1GJ
affirms that the terms of the articles in question have not in fact been followed by Cahuana’s
Commission. For Article 29 of the CBE’s Statutes states that the complete padrén must be
published 50 days prior to the election. A consideration of the materials submitted by both
litigants reveals that this was not the case. Not only was Padrén N°1 not exhibited until
November 24, 2001 (i.e. less than 30 days prior to the election), but Padron N°2 was not
exhibited until December 19, 2001 (i.e. 3 days prior to the election). Thus the issue is not that
the members in question lacked sufficient seniority to vote, but rather that Padrén N°2 which
listed them was not presented in correct statutory form. On this point, the 1GJ states that

Gonzélez’s impugnation is valid, and must be allowed.

Que con referencia a la falta de exhibicion del padrén integro, en tiempo y forma, se
advierte que efectivamente no se ha respetado el plazo establecido en el Articulo 29 del
Estatuto Social (cincuenta dias de antelacion a la celebracion de la asamblea). Ello,
atento que del acta N°35 obrante en el Libro de Actas de Asambleas N°1 surge que la
impugnacion al padron presentado por la Comision Directiva el 19 de diciembre de 2001
(tres dias antes del comicio) se mantiene, sin que ésta Gltima desconozca tal
circunstancia, insistiendo solamente en la incorporacién del nuevo listado. A mayor
abundamiento, del acta de la Comisién Directiva N° 72 del 24 de noviembre de 2001—
obrante en el Libro de Actas de Comision Directiva N°1 (fs. 167)—surge que recién en
dicha fecha el Sr. Selmo Urufia se compromete a publicar el padron.

Moreover, the IGJ affirms that the call for announcing the assembly at which the elections were
to be held was also not performed correctly by Cahuana’s Commission. Article 26 of the
Statutes states that flyers announcing the assembly be delivered to the members’ residences 30
days in advance. The IGJ affirms that there was no evidence submitted by the reigning
Commission that this ever happened, despite their claim that they had carried out the all the

election proceedings in proper form.

Que por otra parte, tampoco consta la realizacion de la convocatoria de la impugnada
Asamblea del 22 de diciembre de 2001 en legal forma, atento que el Articulo 26 del
Estatuto Social establece la obligacion de remitir circulares de convocatoria a los
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domicilios de los socios con treinta dias de antelacion a la celebracion de la Asamblea, no
existiendo en estas actuaciones constancias de que ello hubiere sido cumplido. Del legajo
de asamblea CN° 19.366 no surge la remision de las circulares y en cambio obra
agregada la publicacion efectuada en el diario ‘La Prensa’. Asimismo, del Acta de
Comisién Directiva N°73 de fecha 17 de diciembre de 2001, al referirse a las elecciones
del 22 de diciembre de 2001—punto 5—se expresa que ‘en cuanto a la convocatoria a
elecciones, se aclara que ya se encuentra fehaciente, tanto en la prensa, asi como en los
murales y el programa de radio de la Institucion. Se han cumplimentado todos los
tramites inherentes a la realizacion de la asamblea con eleccidn de autoridades en la
Inspeccion de Justicia’. De lo expuesto surge que no se ha respetado lo dispuesto por el
citado Articulo 26 del Estatuto Social, no siendo idonea la forma de publicidad adoptada,
para sustraerse al cumplimiento del precepto estatutario.

Citing juridical precedent, the IGJ states that a failure to follow statutory form in calling an
election assembly will have the consequence of affecting the numbers of members who show up
to vote. This in turn will affect the election results themselves. With specific regard to the
CBE’s election of December 22, 2001, the IGJ notes that of the 796 members listed across both

padrones, only 313 actually voted.

Que la falta de convocatoria en forma, comporta una irregularidad que afecta la
celebracion del acto asambleario y que se proyecta decididamente sobre el quérum, las
mayorias y la decision asamblearia finalmente adoptada (conf. Resolucién 1.G.J.
N°358/91, Expte: ‘Club Argentino del Afghano’).

Que a mayor abundamiento, tales irregularidades afectan la participacion de los socios y
el conocimiento que éstos pudieron tener respecto a la Asamblea de fecha 22 de
diciembre de 2001, dado que sobre un total de setecientos noventa y seis (796)
empadronados, asistieron al acto menos de la mitad, es decir trescientos trece (313)
socios, sumando los votos emitidos en ambas urnas, N°1 y N°2.

The 1GJ then moved to cite other irregularities which it believes marred the election of
December 22, 2001. The first concerned the existence of an Electoral Commission (Junta
Electoral) that, while not provided for in the CBE’s Statutes, nevertheless existed and played a
role in the election. A second concerned the Statutes’ provision for an Internal Regulatory
Commission. The IGJ states that according to Article 16 of the Statutes, this should be a body
composed of multiple actors, not just a single person, as was the case with Gonzélez as sole
Regulator (Fiscalizador). Both of these issues, the IGJ maintains, had an effect on the execution

and outcome of the election.
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Que deben sefalarse ademas otras irregularidades como la inexistencia en el Estatuto
Social de una Junta Electoral, érgano no previsto que actud en la practica, asi como
tampoco existe prevista una Comision Fiscalizadora—como se menciona y lo cual
supone la actuacion de un 6rgano colegiado—sino un drgano de fiscalizacion unipersonal
(Articulo 13 del Estatuto), todos ellos denunciantes en las presentes actuaciones. Tales
hecho tornan irrito el acto asambleario de fecha 22 de diciembre de 2001.

That the statues are keenly observed, the I1GJ states, is crucial for the social and political integrity
of the Association. Moreover, proper performance of the institution’s mission hinges on their
observance. Citing other proceedings, the IGJ states that the Statutes are nothing short of the
entity’s ‘Constitution’. In joining the entity, members agree to obey the terms of this

Constitution, and have a right to expect that they will be fully observed in turn.

Que el acatamiento al Estatuto Social, regla esencial de convivencia social e institucional,
constituye una obligacion de insoslayable cumplimiento por parte de los asociados y a
que representa ‘la organizacion fundamental de la asociacion, una suerte de ‘Ley
fundamental o Constitucion’ de la asociacion, pues, como decia Sanchez Romdn ‘en los
estatutos esta la entrania de la asociacion’ (Sofia de Salas Murillo, ‘Las Asociaciones Sin
Animo de Lucro en el Derecho Espaiiol’, Centro de Estudios Registrales, 1999, pig.
502), quienes ingresan en una asociacion, quienes lo pretende, y quienes desean
pertenecer en ella, ‘tienen derecho a que las reglas del juego en el que aceptan o
aceptaron participar se cumplan hasta el final’ (Pablo Salvador Coderch, ‘Asociaciones,
Derechos Fundamentales y Autonomia Privada’, Cuadernos Civitas, 1997, pag. 18).’
(Conf. Expte. N° 26921/351190/953—Club Atlético San Lorenzo de Almagro;
Resolucion 1.G.J. N° 1275 del 7.11.2000)

On its estimation, the 1GJ states that the existence of antagonistic factions at the heart of the CBE
has obstructed the observance of its Statutes and prevented its proper functioning. Indeed, 1GJ
sees the CBE as lacking proper authorities able to achieve institutional regularity. As a result,
and as the arm of the Ministry of Justice charged with faculties of regulation, the 1GJ sees its
duty as calling a new assembly through which to elect legitimate leaders of the CBE. To this
end, the 1GJ will also oversee both the preparation of an agreed-upon padron and the proper

execution of all pre-election proceedings, as per the CBE’s statutes.

Que ademaés y teniendo en cuenta la existencia de grupos de socios antagonicos que
impiden a la Entidad desarrollar su normal actividad y, por ende, el cumplimiento de sus
objetivos asociacionales, a lo que cabe agregar la inexistencia de autoridades legitimadas
que puedan lograr la regularizacion institucional, se hace necesario que este Organismo,
en ejercicio de sus facultades de fiscalizacién, disponga la convocatoria a una nueva
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asamblea al solo fin de elegir autoridades, con lo consecuente confeccion del padron de
asociados con derecho a voto y efectuar todos los controles preelectorales necesarios para
llevar a cabo el comicio, desde la convocatoria hasta la proclamacion de las autoridades
que resulten electas.

The 1GJ regards the proper election of authorities as the only task before it in the present
proceedings. Because the lack of legitimate authorities is the root cause of all of the contested
acts under consideration, all of the acts occurring within the CBE after the contested election of
December 22, 2001—themselves objects of formal complaints in proceedings (expedientes)
paralleling the present—are not to be the subject of adjudication. This is because the assemblies
at which these acts were pronounced themselves lacked the minimum requirements to be
legitimate as determined by the CBE’s Statutes. That is, they were called by groups of members
unauthorized to do so or were otherwise held without provisions to include all members. Asa
result, the IGJ states that these acts lack juridical effect and should be declared ‘irregular’ and

thus ‘inoperative’.

Que por lo expuesto y en orden a la medida que se adopta, resulta inconducente analizar
pormenorizadamente los hechos denunciados respecto de los actos llevados a cabo con
posterioridad a la Asamblea celebrada con fecha 22 de diciembre de 2001, esto es,
aquellos realizados desde el 2 de enero de 2002 a la fecha. En este sentido y en relacion a
los actos celebrados con posterioridad al de la Asamblea del mes de diciembre
impugnada, se parecia que no se han cumplimentado los requisitos minimos establecidos
estatutariamente para que tales actos tengan virtualidad juridica; asi, han sido auto-
convocados por distintos grupos de socios y/o autoridades no legitimadas, carentes de
facultades para ello y se ha omitido la participacién de las listas en conflicto, habiéndose
celebrado ademas una titulada asamblea, cuya autorizacién para ser realizada en extrafia
jurisdiccion, fuera denegada por esta Inspeccién General de Justicia (trdmite CN°
32.423). Todo lo cual conlleva indefectiblemente, a declarar que tales actos también
deban ser declarados irregulares e ineficaces a los efectos administrativos.

This decision to declare as irregular and inoperative the administrative acts of—and following—
December 22, 2001 includes those from March 23, 2002. On this date, an exclusive group of
members, with the guidance and participation of Gonzalez’s counsel Koprivec, resolved on their
own—and without authorization by the IGJ—to hold an assembly. At this assembly, which they
called “Asamblea Extraordinaria para elegir autoridades” (Acta de Asambleas N°38), this faction
(i.e. those whom Cahuana would call the ‘usurpers’) resolved not just to expel Cahuana and his

entire Commission from the CBE, but to elect by a show of hands their own authorities for the
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CBE. They named Freddy Galan President (once again), but this time with J. Gonzélez
(Ceferino Gonzélez’s relative) as Vice-President. The occurrence of this assembly and the
actions it took in defiance of the 1GJ became the object of a linked expediente (i.e. N°32.502),
with Fulgencio Esparza (Cahuana’s Vice President) figuring as one of the principal claimants.
Because this expediente and others related to similarly unauthorized assemblies/acts all devolve
around the fundamental contestation of December 22, 2001, the IGJ states that they are to be

settled by the present proceedings (i.e. N°32.160).

Que con respecto a los expedientes de denuncia CN° 32.486, N° 32.502, y N° 32.667 que
corren agregados sin acumular, habiendo analizado las presentaciones efectuadas,
corresponde resolver conjuntamente con la presente, por plantearse idénticas cuestiones a
las aqui analizadas.

Having thus considered the litigants’ presentations and taken account of the legitimation crisis
gripping the CBE, the IGJ states that although the antagonisms dividing the members are
notable, there is a need for a greater, more transcendent, and indeed conjoint effort between them
to restore the entity in service of its mission. The IGJ makes this call by appealing to what it
imagines are fundamental and overarching attachments (afectos superadores) linking the

members as Bolivians.

Que finalmente y tal como lo ha sostenido este Organismo en situaciones anélogas, las
diferencias advertibles entre los socios de la Institucion—todos ellos vinculados a la
colectividad boliviana en la Argentina y unidos por afectos superadores—amerita la
necesidad de realizar los mayores esfuerzos para alcanzar su pronta solucion y en cuya
procura se orientan las medidas que se adoptan por la presente. (Conf. Expte. CN°
1.695.891—Asociacion Italiana Rotondense en Argentina, Resolucion 1.G.J. N° 655/01,
Suplemento de la I.G.J. Afio Il, N°5, Rev. La Ley, 06.11.2001, pag. 5)

In the interest of restoring the CBE in service of its mission, and citing the provisions granted
him both by the Ley Organica de la Inspeccion General de Justica (Ley N° 22.315) and the
Normas de la Inspeccion General de Justicia (Resolucion I.G.P.J. (G) N° 6/80), the Inspector
General makes his resolutions. First, he declares both the General Assembly from December 22,
2001 and its election ‘irregular’ and without effect (i.e. infelicitous and thus inoperative). He
also declares the same for all subsequent assemblies including that of March 23, 2002. Second,

he resolves to call elections for the entirety of the Executive Commission and the Internal
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Regulating Commission (Organo de Fiscalizacion) within a period of 70 days, and not without
the prior preparation of a singular election roll (padrén). Third, he declares to designate two 1GJ
Inspectors to oversee this process (including the observance of all pre-election controls as per the

CBE’s statutes) and until legitimate authorities have been named.

Por ello, lo dispuesto por los Arts. 6°inc. f) y 10°inc. j) de la Ley N° 22.315; los
Articulos 99, 117, y sigtes. de la Resolucién I.G.P.J. (G) N° 6/80—Normas de la
Inspeccién General de Justicia—y lo dictaminado por la Sefiora Coordinadora de Area
del Departamento de Asociaciones Civiles a fs. 372/376, por la Sefiora Jefa de dicho
Departamento a fs. 377/384 y por la Sefiora Sub Inspectora General a fs. 384 vta.,

EL INSPECTOR GENERAL DE JUSTICIA
RESUELVE:

Articulo N°1: Declarar irregular y ineficaz a los efectos administrativos la Asamblea
General Extraordinaria de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil de
fecha 22 de diciembre de 2001, asi como todas las asambleas celebradas con
posterioridad hasta la efectuada el 23 de marzo de 2002, inclusive.

Articulo N°2: Convocar a eleccion de autoridades en la Colectividad Boliviana de
Escobar Asociacion Civil, a efectos de cubrir la totalidad de cargos de la Comisiéon
Directiva y el Organo de Fiscalizacion, a celebrarse en la sede de esta Inspeccion General
de Justicia, en el plazo de setenta (70) dias, contados a partir de la notificacion de la
presente y de conformidad con lo dispuesto por el Estatuto Social, previa confeccion y
regularizacion del padron de asociados.

Articulo N°3: Designar a los inspectores, Dres. Carola Durand y Adrian Covelli, a
efectos de dar cumplimiento a lo dispuesto en el Articulo 2° de la presente, debiendo
asimismo llevar a cabo los controles pre-electorales necesarios para la concrecion del
acto comicial y hasta la proclamacion de las autoridades electas.

Dr. Francisco Andriacchi
Inspector General de Justicia

Curiously, these Articles do not reflect the heart of the matter, which was the following: that
while the members contained in Registro de Asociados N°1 y N°2 were valid, and thus able to
vote in the election of December 22, 2001, the IGJ declared the form in which the election was
prepared ‘irregular’ and thus ‘inoperative’. Specifically, it stated that the rolls of eligible voters
had not been exhibited 50 days in advance of the election—as the CBE’s Statutes demanded—

and that a new election would have to be called. Toward this end, a single roll of eligible voters
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would have to be both configured and vetted by both sides, with the coordination of 1GJ
Inspectors. As mentioned above, the fact that this Resolution came 6 months after the dictamen
that had prepared it was in-hand allowed those that had physically taken over the CBE to
entrench themselves and consolidate their support among the CBE’s Market’s operators.

Through my subsequent ethnographic work I learned that this lag allowed the ‘usurpers’
to claim that the IGJ’s Resolution 0628 had ruled ‘in their favor’, which was not the case.
Indeed, in the presence of who were, at this point, just the CBE’s Market’s operatorslz, they
claimed that the 1GJ had declared the election ‘invalid’—which in a way it had. What the
‘usurpers’ argued, however, was that the IGJ had done so because Cahuana had committed fraud,
which he had not. That is, what the ‘usurpers’ did not communicate to the operators was that the
IGJ had ratified the members contained in both registries, and that all should have enjoyed the
right to vote, but that because the manner in which the election was prepared did not conform to
statutory form, it was declared ‘inoperative’. What they did not communicate to the operators
was that, if the election had been ‘felicitous’ in form, Cahuana—not them—would be at the
helm.

While the politics of misrecognition had begun well before December 22, 2001 (as
Chapter 8 demonstrates further), Resolution 0628 gave the ‘usurpers’ ample fodder to claim
state-sanctioned legitimacy. Indeed, while the IGJ did not—because by law it could not—
proclaim any victor in the election or any person to head up the CBE afterward, the ‘usurpers’
could claim they had been left in place by the State. Essentially, given the State’s respect for
entities’ functional autonomy, they had been. We’ll see below that this was a point that Cahuana
would raise, only to learn that precedent would declare that those who ‘perform the duties’ of an
Executive Commission in the absence of a standing mandate should be allowed to do so, in favor
of the rights of the entity’s members. Sadly, these were exactly what the ‘usurpers’ were
trampling on as they profited from the entity itself—a far cry from the ethos of altruism and
service that an entity of the public good was supposed to evince. As will become clearer, all the
“usurpers’ had to do to remain in control of the CBE and its revenues was work the system. And

work it they did.

12 This faction of the CBE membership now also excluded those operators that were allied with Cahuana. Indeed,
many of the latter were, like Cahuana, from Comunidad Saropalka in Potosi. This bloc collectively pulled out of the
CBE’s Market—allegedly under physical intimidation by the ‘usurpers’ to start their own Market in nearby Moron.
This Market, however, would not be part of a Colectividad, as in the situation of the CBE and its Market. Rather, it
would be a Cooperativa (cooperative), meaning any revenues would not be destined for the public good.
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IGJ Dictamen (1 November 2002)

As mentioned previously, a dictamen is an 1GJ-internal document written by one or more of their
Inspectors for the purpose of summarizing developments in a case. Most often, this is done with
an eye toward illuminating the proper course of regulatory action. For this reason, dictamenes
often result in Resolutions. One should note, however, that dictamenes do not make declarations
that affect the juridical status of an entity’s administrative acts. Only Resolutions do this. This
does not mean dictamenes are without their own effects; it means, rather, that these effects are
confined to 1GJ procedure.

The dictamen from November 1, 2002 is important for a number of reasons. First, it
illuminates the IGJ’s position on just who should be allowed to join a civil association, and under
what terms. Let us recall that Resolution 0628 declared that members contained in both Registro
de Asociados N°1 and N°2 were valid, and that all had the right to vote. Let us also recall that
Resolution 0628 declared that a new election would be necessary, and that a new roll of eligible
voters would be required. One would imagine that the process of configuring this roll would be
simple, particularly given that the IGJ had assigned three of its own Inspectors to coordinate it.

It was everything but simple. This was because the Interim Commission headed up by Freddy
Galan and Julio Gonzalez—and ‘regulated’ by Ceferino Gonzdlez—had, in the meantime,
admitted new members in an attempt to drown out the numbers of Cahuana’s supporters. Thus
by the time the IGJ attempted to coordinate the configuration of a new roll of eligible voters, the
CBE’s membership had changed.

Cahuana would argue that this was under a Commission that the 1GJ itself had not
recognized, being that it had declared the assembly in which it was chosen ‘irregular’ and
‘without effect’. He would therefore protest the inclusion of these new members on the grounds
that they were illegitimate. He would nevertheless lose this battle in that the 1GJ will always find
in favor of the rights of members, including potential members. They would argue that because
the Interim Commission acted ‘as’ a Commission on behalf of members, its acts were regular, if
it was itself not. Nevertheless, the issue would persist, not just because of this issue, but because
the IGJ would be duped by the “usurpers’ into failing to include those members contained on the

very Padron N°2 it had itself declared valid. Thus where the roll of eligible voters had always
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been a point of contention, the issue would persist. Certainly, it was not resolved in the 70 days
stipulated by Resolution 0628.

One might argue that where this Resolution had been issued in a timely fashion, this
paralyzing situation—which became a persistent one—could have been different. But it was not
just this. Other acts injurious to the CBE could also have been avoided. Indeed, it was during
the lag before Resolution 0628 came out (specifically in February and March, 2002) that the
Interim Commission obtained a duplicate set of Administrative books from the 1GJ. Not only
did the IGJ not realize this, it all happened under false pretenses. By obtaining their own books,
the “usurpers’ could make their own regime appear official before the 1GJ, as well as legitimate
before the CBE’s membership. And while the very IGJ mentions doubt about the books with
which Gonzélez and the Interim Commission operated, they never put two and two together.
Fortunately for the CBE, this was a situation that Cahuana and his counsel would uncover in
2004. Indeed, what is damning for the IGJ is that the CBE’s rightful books were in its own
possession since Cahuana had attached them to the proceedings before the issuance of
Resolution 0628.

The Dictamen has been prepared by Inspectors Montet, Vandenbosch, and Covelli, who jointly
form the Electoral Committee (Junta Electoral) designated by Resolution 0628 to call and carry
out the CBE’s elections. The purpose of the present is to meditate (dictaminar) on their work of

configuring the rolls of eligible voters in preparation for the CBE’s election.

Sra. Sub-Inspectora General de Justicia:

En nuestro caracter de integrantes de la Junta Electoral designada por Resolucién 0628,
informamos que...

A tales efectos [de configurar los padrones], debe tenerse en cuenta que con fecha 7
de agosto de 2002, se celebrd una reunidn en la sede de este Organismo a la que
comparecieron los Sres. Jenaro Moyano y Teodoro Cahuana por una parte, y Freddy
Galan y Ceferino Gonzalez, por la otra. Estuvieron presentes en la misma el Sr. Inspector
General de Justicia, Dr. Francisco Andriacchi, la Sra. del Departamento Asociaciones
Civiles y Fundaciones, Dra. Graciana Palomar y un Inspector del mismo Departamento,
Dr. Adrian Covelli.
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Toward the end of configuring these rolls, the 1GJ had called a meeting between Gonzalez and
Cahuana, and their respective counsels, on 7 August 2002. At this meeting, each side was called

upon to submit lists of CBE members they deemed eligible to vote.

En dicha reunion se requirié a las partes, que a efectos de confeccionar el padrén
electoral, cada una acompafie la documentacion o listados de asociados en condiciones de
votar (activos y vitalicios) el que debera contener nombre y apellido, nimero de
documento, domicilio y categoria de socio.

Ademas de ello, en la misma reunion las partes acordaron que para poder votar, 10s
socios deberan tener pagas las cuotas del afio en curso, que los socios podran pagar
dichas cuotas hasta el dia de la celebracién del comicio y que los inspectores designados
por la Inspeccién General de Justicia actuaran como Junta Electoral, atento a la falta de
disposiciones estatutarias al respecto en la entidad.

Also at this meeting, both sides agreed to have the aforementioned Inspectors continue to serve
as the Electoral Committee.

The Dictamen then recalls that each side submitted its list of eligible voters on August 14,
2002. One should note that these submissions are included in the proceedings, and evince
marked differences. Despite their discrepancies, the 1GJ does not investigate where they
converge and diverge—a glaring negligence.

In examining the respective submissions, one sees that Gonzalez’s proposed roll
consisted of two parts: “Padron de los socios 17 and “Padrén de los socios 2”. The first
consisted of the entire Registro de Asociados N°1, which contained members 1 —559. The
second contained a list of members numbering 560 — 1060, but which specifically excluded those
members numbering 560 — 796 in the aforementioned Registro de Asociados N°2. The exclusion
and replacement of these members is both notable and pragmatic. Certainly, Gonzalez and those
he represented attempted to quietly eliminate Cahuana’s support from what they hoped would
become the roll sanctioned by the 1GJ.

At the same time that Gonzalez attempted to eliminate Cahuana’s support, and replace it
with new members sympathetic to the cause he represented, he also attempted to represent this
cause as the side championing democratic inclusivity. Indeed, while he had actually excluded
them, he claims to have included them. And while claiming to not know them personally, he
states that he nevertheless trusts that they have the best interests of the CBE in mind. The

following is from a subsequent document in which Gonzélez pronounces on the configuration of
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the new roll (it is not dated, but titled “Sobre Padron Manifiestan”); it reveals his hypocrisy

clearly:

El limitar el padrén a nuestro listado solamente seria un acto de discriminacion con
respecto a socios que a pesar de no conocerlos, suponemos que tienen interés en el
bienestar y progreso de la Institucion. Consideramos que no es justo que socios bien
intencionados sean dejados de lado por culpa de dirigentes mal asesorados. Si la culpa es
del dirigente, no tenemos por qué castigar a los socios. Por otro lado hemos tratado de
ser lo mas amplios posibles, cuando se confeccion6 el padron acompafiado en soporte
magnético e impreso, se realizo un analisis minucioso de los libros, en consulta con los
directivos que en cada momento habian tenido la responsabilidad de conducir los destinos
de la entidad...

Thus, with respect to his original approach in December 2001, Gonzalez continues to attempt to
exclude, but now under the guise of inclusivity (and apparently without concern that the 1GJ
would note this change in outward posture). Indeed, in his original complaint, Gonzalez argued
that only the members listed on Padron N°1 (i.e. those drawn from Registro de Asociados N°1)
should be allowed to vote. This is why he and his supporters insisted that they vote in a ballot
box (Urna N°1) that was separate from those listed on Padron N°2, and who were accordingly
made to vote in Urna N°2. Thus where Gonzalez had previously argued for exclusivity (i.e. a
padrén consisting of only 207 eligible voters) not a year later he argues for overwhelming
inclusivity, submitting a two-part roll that boasts 1060 eligible voters (noting however that he
replaced members numbering 560 — 796 in the officially ratified Registro de Asociados N°2 with
others sympathic to the ‘usurpation’).

Cahuana’s proposed roll, which was submitted by his advisor, Jenaro Moyano, was far
more simple—and transparent. Indeed it was the same one they had submitted for the election of
December 2001, and that which was used in it. The first half was that Padrén N°1 that Gonzélez
had agreed upon and which voted in Urna N°1 of the election. The second half was that Padrén
N°2 used in the same and which voted in Urna N°2. Let us mark as well that Cahuana had
always argued for inclusivity in the configuration of the Padrdn. This was manifest in CBE
internal documents (contained in the proceedings) that pre-date the election of December 2001.
As one will recall, it was precisely Cahuana’s inclusivity that was the subject of Gonzélez’s

original complaint.
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In a subsequent meeting between the 1GJ and the two sides on 18 September 2002, the
IGJ presented both sides with its roll of eligible voters (“Padrén Depurado”) for consideration,
with the date of 25 September 2002 set for any impugnations. However, this officially
configured roll, which should have been a reconciliation of the two submissions (and which
most certainly should have included the members rightly numbered 560 — 796 in the CBE’s
Registro de Asociados N°2, and subsequently recognized by Resolution 0628), was nothing other
than Gonzalez’s submission. One is at a loss to understand how this could be the case. It
appears it was simple negligence, and not malfeasance. Nevertheless, with this act, one has the
reason why at the meeting of 25 September, Gonzalez does not impugn the 1GJ-authorized roll,
while Moyano does, on the grounds that it must contain those members listed in Registro de
Asociados N°1 and N°2, and only those members. Indeed, Moyano, here representing Cahuana,
argues that only those members belonging to the entity prior to the election of December 22,
2001 should be allowed to vote.

As stated in the dictamen:

A fs. 440 consta el acta labrada por el Inspector de Justicia actuante, Dr. Adrian Covelli
de la reunién en la que comparecieron las partes en cuestion en la que una de ellas,
representada por el Sr. Gonzalez, no efectlia impugnacion alguna y si lo hace la parte
representada por Jenaro Moyano quien verbalmente sefiala que el padron solo debe estar
integrado por los socios de acuerdo a los libros N°1 y N°2 del Registro de Asociados.

Corresponde destacar que a fs. 474/475 el Sr. Cahuana, en su calidad de Presidente de la
Entidad se presenta a efectos de “impugnar la confeccion y regularizacion del Padron de
asociados efectuada por la Inspeccién General de Justicia”. La solicitud efectuada en
esta presentacion, esta dirigida a que se excluya del padron de votantes a las personas que
no figuraban como asociados de la Institucion con anterioridad al 22 de diciembre de
2001.

Undergirding Cahuana and Moyano’s argument that only members belonging to the CBE at the
time of the December 2001 election should be allowed to vote is the claim that any membership
status granted during the CBE’s crisis will have been made under an authority whose legitimacy
has not been recognized by the IGJ. That is, since in Resolution 0628 the 1GJ declared all
administrative acts dating from the election of December 22, 2001 through and including the

assembly of 23 March 2002 ‘irregular’ and thus ‘inoperative’, any association made by the
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Interim Commission cannot be valid. They argue that only association conducted by a

legitimately elected and officially recognized Commission can be valid.

[Cahuana and Moyano] Fundamentan su solicitud en que no corresponderia ‘aceptar en
el padron a una cantidad singular de socios, todos ellos ingresados en un libro por
medio de actos declarados como ineficaces y por ende nulos y/o inexistentes’.

Before addressing the validity of these associations, the Inspectors take issue with Cahuana’s
claim that because the aforementioned administrative acts were declared irregular and
inoperative they are therefore “null and void”. The Inspectors state that Cahuana and his counsel
have confused the legal concepts of ineficacia and nulidad/inexistencia. Though both ineficacia
and nulidad entail the non-effects of an act because of some kind of original irregularity
pertaining to it or its antecedents (see Ghersi 2004: 141), the 1GJ, as an arm of the Ministry of
Justice (itself belonging to the Executive Branch) is only empowered to declare ineficacia. This
is a faculty granted by the Ley Organica de la Inspeccion General de Justicia (Ley 22.315). The
declaration of nulidad is not a faculty the 1GJ, as an administrative arm with jurisdictional

faculties, enjoys. Only the Argentine Judiciary can make a declaration of nulidad.

Con respecto a esta solicitud, corresponde sefialar ante todo que el presentante confunde
y equipara erréneamente los conceptos de ineficacia con nulidad y/o inexistencia. La
declaracion de irregular e ineficaz a los efectos administrativos de un acto sometido a
fiscalizacion de la Inspeccidn General de Justicia, es una facultad de este Organismo
expresamente fijada en la Ley N° 22.315, que no implica y por ende no puede ser
equiparada a la declaracion de nulidad de un acto juridico. Mientras la citada en primer
término es una facultad de un 6rgano administrativo con funciones jurisdiccionales, la
nulidad de un acto juridico es una sancion legal que se origina en algun vicio de dicho
acto y solamente puede ser declarada por un 6rgano judicial, perteneciente al poder
Judicial, es decir nunca podria hacerlo la Inspeccién General de Justicia, que es un
organo ubicado funcionalmente dentro de la esfera del Ministerio de Justicia, Seguridad
Y Derechos Humanos.

Moreover, the I1GJ states that it is not clear based on Cahuana’s impugnation just which act he
and his counsel are impugning. Even where the 1GJ might attempt to read into Cahuana’s
submission a formal complaint on his behalf (i.e. under the principle of ‘informalism’—i.e.
where the 1GJ recognizes that those within its sphere of jurisdiction might not always have the
means to properly formulate appeals, and so grants them certain leeway as per proper form), it is

still not clear if Cahuana’s impugnation is meant to solicit a review of Resolution 0628 or
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formally appeal it. On these grounds, the IGJ, on the opinion of the authors of this dictamen,

cannot hear Cahuana’s impugnation.

Ademas de ello, no surge con claridad cual es el acto administrativo que se impugna. No
obstante lo anterior, aun intentando hacer una interpretacion “forzada” del principio del
informalismo a favor del administrado (incorporado en nuestro ordenamiento juridico en
el articulo 1° de la ley 19.549), tampoco queda claro si la presentacion de fs. 474/475
constituye un recurso de reposicion (de reconsideracion o de revocatoria) de la resolucion
de la Inspeccién General de Justicia fechada el 22 de julio de 2002 [0628]. Por ello no
corresponde considerar viable ni hacer lugar a dicha presentacion.

As for the question concerning the validity of those associations made by Freddy Galan’s Interim
Commission—i.e. those socios which appeared on Gonzalez’s submitted electoral rolls, and
eventually on the IGJ’s official Padron—the 1GJ states that it will follow its own precedent of
respecting the will of those seeking to join the entity. That is, the 1GJ has historically privileged
the will of those seeking to join a civil association, even when the legitimacy of the Executive
Commission leading that entity has been impugned. Any potential member to a civil association

should not be denied, regardless of the politics of those leading, or aspiring to lead, the entity.

En lo que respecta al tema de fondo a resolver en esta etapa de las actuaciones,
corresponde determinar cual debiera ser el padrén de asociados en condiciones de votar
en el préximo comicio. A tales efectos debiéramos fijar—en primer término—el criterio
a seguir en cuanto a la incorporacion de socios aceptada por la comision directiva
cuestionada. Es decir que, corresponde dirimir la cuestion que se plantea con respecto a
los actos celebrados por una Comision Directiva, cuya legitimidad esta en discusién o
sujeta a interpretaciones encontradas en lo que a aquello se refiere. Para ello, es del caso
tener en cuenta, que la Inspeccién General de Justicia ya ha seguido desde un tiempo a
esta parte, un criterio que indicaria que: El hecho de asociarse a una entidad hace nacer
a favor de quien lo hace un verdadero derecho adquirido por parte de los socios
ingresados durante la gestion de una Comisién Directiva cuestionada.

Moreover, the 1GJ states that even though Galan’s Interim Commission lacks a valid mandate, it
is still performing the functions of a valid commission with regard to associating new members.
As such, the case merits the application of the rule of “apparent mandate” (mandato aparente) as
per Article 1967 of the Codigo Civil.

Segun este criterio, debe aplicarsele en sus relaciones con terceros las reglas del mandato.
Con lo cual si este 6rgano ha actuado dentro de la esfera de sus funciones, atn sin
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mandato valido (Art. 36 Codigo Civil), procede aplicar las reglas de ‘mandato aparente’
(Art. 1967 Codigo Civil).

Thus, the new memberships granted by Galan’s Interim Commission (and with the oversight of
Gonzalez as Internal Regulator) should be valid for two reasons. First, these members should
enjoy their full status as members because they, acting presumably on good faith (buena fe),
should not be denied their rights to join and benefit from a civil association. And second,
because the Commission that associated them was, as per the requirements of mandato aparente,

performing this role in proper form.

Si adherimos a este criterio del Organismo, debiéramos concluir que los terceros que se
incorporaron ‘de buena fe’ como asociados de la entidad ‘Colectividad Boliviana de
Escobar’ y la comision directiva los admitio en tal calidad, mas alla de la discutida—y
aun no resuelta—Ilegitimidad o ilegitimidad de dicha comision, estariamos en presencia
de verdaderos derechos adquiridos por parte de aquellos asociados, (también puede
aplicarse a este hecho la teoria de la apariencia). Es decir—bien podemos sefialar—que
han adquirido los mismos la calidad de asociados de la entidad basicamente por dos
razones fundamentales: En primer lugar por haber actuado de buena fe en la celebracion
del acto juridico que les permitid acceder al ‘status’ de socio; y, en segundo lugar—
relacionado con lo anterior—por haber adquirido ese derecho, justamente por haber
obrado de buena fe y por la aplicacion de las reglas del ‘mandato aparente’ a dicha
relacion contractual.

On this basis, the Inspectors authoring the dictamen conclude that all members who figure into
the entity’s books (i.e. the official Registro de Asociados)—regardless of when or by whom they
were associated—should be incorporated into the official electoral roll for the upcoming

election.

Respetando este criterio y adaptandolo para analizar la cuestion que debe resolverse en
estas actuaciones, la solucidn sera la de aceptar la posibilidad de que integren el padréon
electoral todos los socios que se incorporaron segun consta en la totalidad de libros
existentes en el seno de la entidad de donde habra surgir el padron definitivo a
conformarse.

However, as we’ll see later on, the ‘official’ book into which these new members were entered
by Galan’s Commission, and by virtue of which they enjoy their status and rights as members,
was none other than Registro de Asociados N°3. This was a book that Gonzalez requested of the

IGJ—and which was issued to him—under false pretenses. Indeed, he had claimed that its
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predecessor, required for the issuance of its sequel, Libro N°2, had been lost, when in reality it
was in Cahuana’s control, and later in the IGJ’s control.

For the moment however, the IGJ makes clear that in the spirit of democratic inclusivity,
which it calls a sine qua non of civil associations, it seeks to grant suffrage to as many members
as possible. For being that the fundamental conflict over the CBE concerns just who should be
its proper authorities, it fits to have the members themselves decide, with as many as possible

participating in the election.

La solucidn en este sentido, ademas de respetar el criterio anteriormente citado que ha
sido el seguido por este Organismo desde larga data, resultara determinante a los efectos
de posibilitar la participacion de la mayor cantidad de socios en condiciones de votar,
quienes se manifiestan—precisamente—a traves de su voto. Ello trae aparejada la
posibilidad factica de garantizar no solamente el efectivo cumplimiento del derecho
politico de voto, esencial de toda asociacion civil, sino que ademas permitira la mayor
participacion de los asociados traduciéndose ello, en la toma de decision por los propios
interesados. De esta forma, seran ellos mismos quienes determinen en el 6rgano
soberano de la asociacion civil (asamblea de socios) quienes estardn a cargo de la
administracion de la persona juridica mediante un mecanismo altamente democratico.

Concluding that the official roll should include the greatest number of members who have been
admitted to the CBE in good faith, these Inspectors—who once again comprise the Electoral
Committee for the election—conclude that this roll is that listed as pages 420-436 of the
proceedings. Once again, this is none other than the original two-part roll submitted by
Gonzalez (i.e. his Padrén de los socios 1 and Padron de los socios 2). It is that which
purposefully excludes those members legitimately figuring into Registro de Asociados N°2 (i.e.

members 560-796) and who were officially validated by Resolution 0628.

Por lo expuesto, es decision de esta Junta Electoral que deberdn respetarse los padrones
que contemplen la mayor cantidad de asociados que se hubiesen incorporado de buena fe
a la entidad ‘Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar’. En tal sentido, corresponde estarse al
padron que consta en las presentes actuaciones a fs. 420/436.

Ademas de ello, en anexo que se acompafia se detalla el cronograma que contempla los

diferentes pasos y fechas a efectos de poder efectuar los comicios en la forma mas regular
y razonable posible.

Thus, in spite of their argument favoring democratic inclusivity, the Inspectors conclude by

effectively ratifying Gonzalez’s roll while failing to recognize that it has replaced the members
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legitimately numbering 560-796 with new ones bearing the same numbers. As for dealing with
Cahuana’s impugnation of this roll (and indeed of their own work), let us recall that the
Inspectors dismissed it for its form, failing to see that its content pointed directly at the legality of
Gonzélez’s move. Failing to recognize Cahuana’s valid complaint, the Inspectors proceed by
establishing the schedule for the upcoming election—set for 27 December 2002—with the issue

of the roll of eligible voters considered settled.

Cahuana Contests 1 November 2002 Dictamen (7 November 2002)

On November 4, 2002, both sides were presented with the dictamen from November 1 and
learned of its conclusion to ratify the reigning roll of eligible voters for an election scheduled for
December 27, 2002. Three days later, on November 7, Cahuana attempted to lodge an appeal of
these decisions and request a formal review of the actions taken by the Inspectors serving as the
Electoral Committee. As will become evident in two subsequent dictamens (dating to the 11th
and 22th of November 2002), the juridical status of this attempt and request is interpreted
differently by different Inspectors. That is, it becomes a subject of debate within the 1GJ whether
or not Cahuana’s appeal constitutes a formal request for ‘recurso jerdrquico’. This is a right
which when exercised entails the elevation of the matter to at least the Minister of Justice
himself, if not its referral from the domain of administrative regulation to the Civil Appellate
Court for judicial consideration®. Before addressing this issue, let us briefly consider the
allegations in Cahuana’s appeal.

In his submission before the 1GJ, Cahuana alleges that the Inspectors comprising the
Electoral Committee have not been impartial in their consideration of the matter gripping the
CBE. Rather, he charges that the Committee has shown prejudice in favor of Gonzélez and the
‘usurpers’ he is said to represent. Indeed, as we saw above, the roll of eligible voters they have
sanctioned was none other than Gonzélez’s, and it specificially excluded members the very IGJ
had earlier ratified. As such, Cahuana argues that the scheduled election has no value, as it

pretends to legitimize an Interim Commission that has been illegitimate all along. As a result, he

13 See Agustin Gordillo’s (2004) Tratado de derecho administrative (Tomo 4, Capitulo X) for a discussion of the
debates concerning what recurso jerarquico should entail.
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demands the election be suspended. For all this, and on behalf of those who “await justice”,

Cahuana requests the replacement of the Electoral Committee with impartial Inspectors.

El Sr. Inspector General debera revisar lo actuado por la ‘Junta Electoral’, toda vez que
las resoluciones emanadas de dicha junta cercenan los derechos de mis compatriotas que
tan pacientemente esperan se haga justicia...

Vuelvo a remarcar que con el estudio total del expediente, el Sr. 1.G.J. observara que el
propésito final buscado por la contraria no es otro que continuar al frente de la
institucidn, no ya en forma ilegal, como hasta ahora, sino con el aval de la reparticion a
su cargo...Pues bien, con la resolucion del 1° de noviembre de 2002 no se hace otra cosa
que tomar partido por los usurpadores, dejando de lado el objeto de la convocatoria a
elecciones, que no era otro que colocar las cosas en su justo medio para que los socios
avalen con su voto a la Comision Directiva que surja...En concreto, toda la actividad
burocréatica en el presente expediente, que estamos sobrellevando durante el afio 2002,
frente a la violencia, usurpacion e injurias de la gente que ocupa las instalaciones, se
trasforma en absolutamente inutil, por obra de los Sres. Inspectores actuales, quienes ya
pretenden dar el triunfo a los propios ilegales. En esta forma, las elecciones de diciembre
de 2002 carecen de sentido...

Por tal motivo, recuso por parciales a los tres inspectores y solicito que...se desafecten y
se nombren otros, imparciales, en su reemplazo.

IGJ Dictamen (11 November 2002)

This dictamen contends with the nature of Cahuana’s appeal of the decisions taken by the IGJ’s
Electoral Committee in their dictamen from November 1, 2002 (i.e. to ratify what amounted to
Gonzélez’s roll for the scheduled election). Its purpose, according to its author, is to rectify

certain of Cahuana’s mistaken assumptions about the jurisdictional process and apparatus.

Sra. Sub-Inspectora General de Justicia:

A los efectos de evitar futuras confusiones y erroneas interpretaciones juridicas del
presentante, corresponde aclarar algunas cuestiones a través del presente dictamen.

As seen above, Cahuana frames his appeal as a request for a formal review of the proceedings
(interposicion de recurso jerarquico). As such, the matter should be elevated to the Ministerial

level, or, if constructed as a direct appeal (apelacion directa), to the relevant Camara Nacional
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de Apelaciones en lo Civil. However, as the present clarifies, Cahuana’s submission cannot be
considered a proper request for recurso jerarquico because his appeal concerns decisions that
have not been formally issued as an 1GJ Resolution. That is, only Resolutions (e.g. Resolution
0628) can become the subject of a formal appeal (i.e. recurso jerarquico). Decisions emanating

through dictamens cannot be.

El dictamen emitido en un expediente administrativo (como lo constituye el firmado por
los integrantes de la Junta Electoral, fechado el 1 de noviembre de 2002) esta
erroneamente denominado [por Cahuana] como ‘Resolucion’, ya que en realidad el
mismo no constituye una resolucion administrativa dictada por este Organismo. En todo
caso—jpara una corriente doctrinaria—podria ser considerado como un ‘acto preparativo’,
pero de ninguna manera ser considerado como un acto administrativo definitivo que
pueda ser recurrido como se pretende.

However, beyond noting Cahuana’s appeal of the decisions communicated through the
November 1 dictamen, the present recognizes that he has also called for the designation of a new
Electoral Committee based on the allegation that the current Inspectors lack impartiality.

Because the designation of this Committee was in fact a product of Resolution 0628 (as per its
third Article) it can be formally appealed. Indeed, such a right for ‘sufficient judicial control’
has been recognized in the Argentine Supreme Court’s decision “Fernandez Arias ¢/ Poggio”
(1960). However, to have the matter of the designation of the Committee come before the
relevant Camara Nacional de Apelaciones en lo Civil, Cahuana’s submission would have to have
proper form. Because it lacks such form, the author of the present deems it inadmissible as a

direct appeal (apelacién directa).

Dicha resolucién [0628], que si corresponde a lo que en el derecho administrativo
argentino y continental europeo se conoce como un ‘acto administrativo de alcance
particular’, al haber sido notificado a las partes...se ha tornado un acto administrativo
eficaz, tal como lo establece el articulo 11 de la Ley 19.549. Pero, no obstante elloy a
tener las partes garantizado el derecho de presentar el recurso de apelacion—Io que
implica un ‘control judicial suficiente’ en los términos expresados por la Corte Suprema
de Justicia de la Nacion en el fallo ‘Fernandez Arias ¢/ Poggio’ del afio 1960—en el
articulo 16 y ss. de la ley 22.315, el Sr. Teodoro Cahuana no ha presentado en estas
actuaciones el recurso de ‘apelacion directa’ para que se expida la Camara Nacional de
Apelaciones en lo Civil de la Capital Federal.
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In all this, the author of the present reprimands Cahuana for failing to understand the 1GJ’s
proper functions and faculties as per Argentine law (principally Ley 22.315). The author infers
that where Cahuana has stated that he and his compatriots “await justice”, he has wrongfully
attributed judicial powers to the 1GJ, as if it were a court of law. As we saw above in discussions
of ‘functional autonomy’, the IGJ is rather an administrative body with regulatory faculties; its
position before civil associations is, through their declarations, to get them to auto-regulate vis-a-

vis their own statutes and the law. Being this the case, the IGJ cannot ‘dispense justice’.

Al senalar: ‘que tan pacientemente esperan se haga justicia’, pareciera denotar una
manifestacidn equivocada (o cuanto menos poco clara) de las funciones que por ley le
corresponden a la Inspeccidn General de Justicia y las facultades que a efectos del
cumplimiento de las mismas, la Ley 22.315 y Decreto 1493/82 expresamente le tiene
asignadas a este Organismo administrativo en el ordenamiento juridico argentino. La
Inspeccion General de Justicia, actUa en este expediente como 6érgano de fiscalizacion y
control de las asociaciones civiles. Dentro de este contexto y facultades es que debe
interpretarse el Dictamen y el cronograma electoral que consta en el dictamen de la Junta
Electoral designada e integrada por los Inspectores de Justicia designados por resolucion
interna del Inspector General de Justicia.

Having thus intimated the rightful functions of the 1GJ, and seeing the matter of associations and
the concomitant preparation of the official roll already settled by the dictamen from November
1, the present concludes with the following: 1) to reject Cahuana’s request for a formal review;
2) to reject Cahuana’s request to replace the Electoral Committee, citing a lack of substantive
cause™®; 3) to ratify the dictamen from November 1 and its schedule for elections; 4) to inform
Cahuana that this election will not be suspended; and 5) to demand that Cahuana refrain from
impugning the personal character of public officials, and that his presentations otherwise
conform to the standards referenced in the “Normas de la Inspeccion General de Justicia” (i.e.

Res. (G) 1.G.J.N°6/80).

' The 1GJ here mentions Cahuana lacks proof that the Election Committee has shown partiality. Had the 1GJ
reconciled the proposed lists of eligible voters both Gonzalez and he supplied, they would have realized that
Gonzélez had replaced the rightful members numbering 560 — 796 (which Resolution 0628 had ratified) with others
associated by him and the Interim Commission. They would have realized that using Gonzalez’s proposed roll for
the official one based on the premise that Gonzalez’s totaled 1060 members, and was therefore the most ‘inclusive’,
demonstrates—if not partiality—then a failure to perform the work with which they were charged.
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IGJ Dictamen (22 November 2002)

Like that above, this Dictamen also deals with the nature of Cahuana’s presentations and
requests. However, it interprets them differently. Rather than reading Cahuana’s submission as
an attempt—as he himself intended it—to lodge an appeal (recurso jerarquico) with the 1GJ, and
which, as we saw above, was otherwise infelicitous given that one cannot appeal the conclusions
of a dictamen, the present allows Cahuana’s submission to be read rather as an impugnation of
the Electoral Committee’s decisions, where this Committee is itself understood differently. That
is, the present dictamen states that if the Electoral Committee is seen as an “ad hoc” arm of the
CBE given that both sides in the conflict consented to accept it (which they did on 7 August
2002), then Cahuana’s submission, read as an impugnation of an administrative act of the CBE

itself, can be heard, rather than dismissed outright for its infelicitous form.

Sr. Inspector General:

Del andlisis del presente surge que la Junta Electoral integrada por Inspectores del
Organismo actua como organo ‘ad hoc’ de la asociacion, habiendo sido aceptado por
todas las partes que participan en este expediente en la realizacion de los actos
preelectorales...Que siendo asi, lo resuelto a fs. 480/482 [el dictamen del 1 de
noviembre] constituye un decisorio de dicho 6rgano y no una actuacion interna del
Organismo Administrativo... Asi la cuestion, entiendo que entiendo que sobre el citado
acto resolutorio no puede interponerse recurso alguno ante esta Inspeccion General de
Justicia, sino efectuarse una accion administrativa de impugnacidn del acto del érgano
comicial, lo que asi debe considerarse.

As for the substance of Cahuana’s ‘appeal’ (reconsidered here as an impugnation), the Dictamen
states that the matter has already been resolved. Moreover, the author states that the decisions
made by the Electoral Committee follow all statutory requirements, violate no rights, and seek to
include the greatest number of members possible in the election. One should note, however, that
rights have in fact been violated. Specifically, those members numbering 560 — 796 that were
rightfully admitted through Registro de Asociados N°2 are still not contained on the IGJ’s
officially sanctioned roll of eligible voters. They have been replaced by others Gonzalez and the
Interim Commission admitted during the lag before Resolution 0628 was issued, and registered
them in an administrative book (Registro de Asociados N°3) that they acquired from the 1GJ

under false pretenses. As noted, the latter would not be fully realized until 2004.
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Entrando ahora al fondo del cuestionamiento cabe analizar la regularidad del acto. Al
respecto, corresponde sefialar que el mismo ha sido resuelto en tiempo y forma, que no
contraria norma estatutaria alguna, ni viola derechos adquiridos; sino por el contrario se
admite la posibilidad de participar en el futuro acto eleccionario a todos los asociados sin
cercenar derecho alguno.

Por todo lo expuesto considero que—de compartir el criterio—procedera dictar
resolucion disponiendo: (1) Recalificar al recurso jerarquico interpuesto y a la recusacion
efectuada como impugnacion de acto de la junta electoral, conforme al principio iura
novit curia; (2) Rechazar la impugnacion por carecer ella de sustento juridico, declarando
valido el acto de fecha 1 de noviembre de 2002; (3) Ratificar el cronograma electoral.

Sra. Sub-Inspectora General de Justicia

The Sub-Inspectora concludes that, where the Inspector General shares her view, he issue a
formal Resolution declaring the following: (1) that Cahuana’s ‘appeal’ be reconsidered an
impugnation, and thus heard; (2) that this impugnation be rejected for lack of substance; that the
dictamen from 1 November 2002 be ratified; and (3) that the election schedule as given also be

ratified.

IGJ Resolution 1183 (5 December 2002)

Because dictamens do not constitute formal administrative acts bearing juridical effects for the
entity in question—i.e. acts that have ‘operativity’ (eficacia) and what the Ley de Procedimientos
Administrativos calls ‘fuerza ejecutoria ™— Resolution 1183 was issued to settle Cahuana’s

‘appeal’” from November 7, 2002.

Buenos Aires, 5 de diciembre de 2002

> Ley 19.549: Ley de Procedimientos Administrativos

Eficacia del acto: Notificacion y publicacién.

Articulo 11: Para que el acto administrativo de alcance particular adquiera eficacia debe ser objeto de notificacion al
interesado y el de alcance general, de publicacion. Los administrados podran antes, no obstante, pedir el
cumplimiento de esos actos si no resultaren perjuicios para el derecho de terceros.

Presuncién de legitimidad y fuerza ejecutoria.

Articulo 12: El acto administrativo goza de presuncion de legitimidad; su fuerza ejecutoria faculta a la
Administracion a ponerlo en practica por sus propios medios—a menos que la ley o la naturaleza del acto exigieren
la intervencion judicial—e impide que los recursos que interpongan los administrados suspendan su ejecucion y
efectos, salvo que una norma expresa establezca lo contrario.
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VISTO el expediente N° 32.160/1.520.370 de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar

CONSIDERANDO:

Que a Fs. 488/491 se presenta el Sr. Teodoro Cahuana e interpone recurso jerarquico
contra la actuacion, que denomina resolucion, efectuada en fecha 1° de noviembre de
2002 por la Junta Electoral integrada por los inspectores Adrian Covelli, Elena Montet, y
Fabian Vandenbosch, solicitando asimismo la suspension del procedimiento eleccionario
en curso y que ‘se desafecten a los tres inspectores designados y se nombren otros,
imparciales, en su reemplazo...” Formula ademas otros planteos que ya fueron resueltos
oportunamente por Resolucion 1.G.J. N°0628 de fecha 22 de julio de 2002, la que se
encuentra en etapa ejecutoria.

After briefly summarizing the events pertinent to Cahuana’s ‘appeal’, the Resolution addresses
the issue of the form of his submission. Here the Inspector General follows the rationale of the
dictamen from 11 November 2002 in stating that Cahuana mistakenly sought to lodge a recurso
jerarquico when in fact what he was ‘appealing” was merely a dictamen, and not a Resolution.

As such, Cahuana’s request is deemed untimely and inadmissible.

Que lo que el presentante denomina resolucion no lo es en cuanto no constituye un acto
administrativo de alcance particular emanado de esta Inspeccion General de Justicia y
susceptible de ser recurrido.

Que consiguientemente, la presentacion de fs. 488/491 resulta extemporanea e
improcedente, sin perjuicio de la eventualidad de ulteriores vias recursivas futuras que
pudieren quedar habilitadas por lo que aqui se resuelve y por lo que pudiere corresponder
que se resuelva en su oportunidad, una vez realizado el acto eleccionario cuya
preparacion se halla en curso.

However, though Cahuana’s ‘appeal’ is not allowed here, the Resolution affirms that this does
not prevent him from appealing future matters where circumstances permit.

As regards Cahuana’s request for the dismissal of the Electoral Committee and their
replacement with ‘impartial’ Inspectors, the Resolution states that Cahuana has not provided any
legal proof of such impartiality. All he has done, the Inspector General states, is express his

dissatisfaction with the dictamen of 1 November 2002.

Que con respecto a la pretendida separacién de los integrantes de la Junta Electoral cuya
actual integracidn resulta de la Resolucion 1.G.J. (1) N°29 de fecha 10 de octubre de
2002, el presentante no alega ni prueba causal legal al efecto, advirtiéndose Gnicamente
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su disconformidad con la actuacion de fecha 1° de noviembre del corriente afio, llevada a
cabo por dicha Junta en el cumplimiento de sus funciones.

Moreover, upon reviewing the record, the Inspector General states that the Electoral Committee
has worked to allow the greatest participation in the scheduled election. And this, he states, isin
consonance with the principles of democracy, themselves essential for the flourishing of entities

of the common good.

Que a los fundamentos expuestos, cabe agregar que dicha actuacién, sin infringir norma
estatutaria ni derecho adquirido alguno, aparece claramente orientada a permitir la mas
amplia participacién de todos los asociados, en consonancia con principios democraticos
esenciales para el mejor desenvolvimiento de las entidades de bien comdn.

Finally, the Inspector General disallows Cahuana’s contest on the grounds that it seeks to prevent
from participating in a democratic election new members (i.e. those associated by Gonzalez and
the Interim Commission) who have in good faith sought membership in the CBE. In this way,
the Inspector General ratifies the precedent mentioned in the dictamen from November 1,
2002—i.e. that of privileging the will of those who seek to join an entity of the common good,

even when that entity is governed by a Commission that has been impugned.

Que consiguientemente se advierte que la pretension articulada resulta también
inadmisible desde este punto de vista, en cuanto viene en pugna con los principios
apuntados al dirigirse a impedir la participacion en el acto eleccionario convocado para el
27 de diciembre de 2002, de aquellos asociados que de buena fe ingresaron a la
Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar con posterioridad al 22 de diciembre de 2001.

For all of the above, and according to the faculties and functions granted the 1GJ by the Ley

Organica de la Inspeccion General de Justicia, the Inspector General resolves to:

Article 1: Reject Cahuana’s appeal and his requests to suspend the election and replace the
Electoral Committee;

Article 2: Ratify the election schedule as given;

Article 3: Inform the litigants and have the matter returned to the Department of Civil

Associations and Foundations for the implementation of the pre-electoral process.
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Por ello y lo dispuesto por los articulos 6°, inciso ¢) y 10, incisos b) y f), de la Ley N°
22.315,

EL INSPECTOR GENERAL DE JUSTICIA
RESUELVE:

Articulo 1° - Rechazar el recurso jerarquico y las solicitudes de suspension del
procedimiento eleccionario y separacion de los integrantes de la Junta Electoral,
planteados a fs. 488/491.

Articulo 2° - Ratificar el cronograma electoral que corre como anexo a fs. 483, vta.

Articulo 3° - Registrese...Cumplido, vuelva al Departamento de Asociaciones Civiles y
Fundaciones, a fin de que se continue el proceso preelectoral.

Cahuana Attempts to Re-lodge Appeal and Block Election Proceedings (10 Dec. 2002)

The month of December 2002 was a time of heightened activity in the CBE. As per Resolution
1183, which upheld the election scheduled for December 27, Gonzalez and Cahuana were
required to submit their lists of respective candidates, which they did on 4 and 6 December,
respectively. The Red List (Lista Roja) was headed by Cahuana for President, and listed Jenaro
Moyano as the apoderado (authorized representative). The Green List (Lista Verde) was led by
Bonifacio Corihuanca, and listed Eusebio Huari as the apoderado. As we’ll see here and in the
ethnographic chapters, Huari is one of the largest operators in the CBE’s Market and has been
called the ‘mastermind’ of the ‘usurpation’ by Cahuana’s supporters and other critics. One
should note as well that on December 8, 2002, Cahuana changed his legal counsel from Dr.
Carlos Naveda to Dr. Gerardo Mufioz, a Bolivian-born lawyer then operating from Liniers in the
Federal Capital.

Though Resolution 1183 declared Cahuana’s attempt to lodge an appeal and suspend the
election inadmissible because the matter concerned what had been concluded through a
dictamen—and not a Resolution—Mufioz, in his first action as Cahuana’s new counsel,
attempted to re-lodge the appeal to block the election. This time, the attempt concerned not
specific actions of the IGJ’s Electoral Committee as in the case of those communicated through
the dictamen of November 1, 2002, but rather the overall work of the Committee—and once

again, of the Committee itself. In the present attempt, Cahuana and Mufioz argue that the

77



Election Committee cannot guarantee an impartial election, and that their activities evince clear
bias (enemistad manifiesta). Though this attempt is, like the prior one, ultimately unsuccessful—
though here not because of its form but rather because of its ‘merit’ (see Resolution 1264
below)—it is nevertheless worthy to include because of the insight it provides into how Cahuana
and Mufoz view the situation of the CBE (and the performance of the 1GJ) a year in to the
conflict. As we’ll also see, the accusations they make further strain their relationship with the

Election Committee.

Sefior Inspector General de Justicia:

Que mediante esta actuacion procesal, en legal tiempo y forma vengo a recusar a todo el
Comité Electoral, designado por Ud. en forma arbitraria e inconsulta, en razon a los
argumentos de hecho y de derecho que a continuacién expongo.

Que como es de conocimiento de Ud., Covelli, Montet, y Vandenbosch, durante todo
este tiempo, han mostrado una parcialidad evidente con los usurpadores de la institucion,
situacion que ha sido percibida, no solo por Ud. sino por todos los miembros de la
Inspeccion General de Justicia, una muestra de esto, es la extension deliberada del
proceso electoral, sin causa o0 motivo que lo justifique, contrariando, incluso los plazos
fijados por Ud. para resolver la cuestién planteada (plazo de 70 dias para regularizar la
situacion—Resolucion 0628 del 22-07-02), plazo que se encuentra plenamente vencido,
esto solo se dio asi para favorecer a los usurpadores, ya que finalmente concluyé el afio
que dura la gestion, habiendo liquidado practicamente los usurpadores de la institucion
todos los bienes y el patrimonio de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, cuestion de la
que Ud. también es complice y responsable, por avalar a admitir a los usurpadores en
largas audiencias el mes de Enero del presente afio, en vez de aplicar la ley y finalmente
por designar funcionarios inescrupulosos (Covelli, Montet, Vandenbosch), para resolver
un conflicto en contra de quienes hemos sido siempre respetuosos de la Ley.

Cahuana argues that throughout the proceedings the Electoral Committee has shown favor to
what he calls the ‘usurpers’. He states that the IGJ has been delinquent in calling elections in the
70 days as established by Resolution 0628 (dating from 22 July 2002)—a situation which has
only enabled the ‘usurpers’ to entrench themselves and consolidate their de facto power. Along
with the latter, Cahuana claims that the “‘usurpers’ have liquidated much of the capital of the
entity at the expense of the membership—all under the eye of the IGJ who should otherwise be
enforcing the law (i.e. “aplicar la ley ). Let us note that, here again, Cahuana presumes that the
IGJ has powers which are in reality reserved only for the judicial branch. We will recall that the

IGJ is rather an administrative body that has jurisdictional faculties; and that as such, its
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authority is only regulatory within the confines of the faculties and functions it enjoys as per Ley
22.315. The IGJ is not authorized to dispense justice; this is a burden the entity must itself bear.
Nevertheless, one should also note that Cahuana is not without cause, being that the 1GJ has
ratified a roll of eligible voters that itself violates the rights of a few hundred members.

With regard to the overall work of the Electoral Committee, Cahuana informs the
Inspector that he has filed a formal charge in the Federal Courts (case No. 82.837), accusing the

IGJ Inspectors of failing to fulfill their duties as public officials.

Manifestamos y ponemos en su conocimiento la enemistad manifiesta de estos personajes
con el represente de nuestra lista el Sr. Jenaro Moyano, la causa penal seguida en contra
de estas personas en la Justicia Federal, por incumplimiento de los deberes de
funcionarios publicos y otros delitos, mas actualmente en tramite, causa No. 82.837.

IGJ Dictamen (17 December 2002)

The 1GJ responds to Cahuana and Mufioz’s attempt to re-lodge an appeal to block the decisions
taken by the Committee in two separate dictamens. The first, from 17 December 2002 and
treated here, addresses Cahuana’s accusation that the Committee has shown partiality to
Gonzalez and the ‘usurpers’, and that the Inspector General ultimately holds responsibility for
their usurpation of the CBE and its capital. The Committee, who has authored this dictamen,
warns Cahuana and his counsel that their accusations, crystallized in terms like ‘partial’,
“unscrupulous’, and ‘complicit’, are grounds to be brought up on charges of calumny against

public officials. This, they state, is an offense punishable by the Argentine Penal Code.

Ante las imputaciones de ‘favorecer a los usurpadores ya que finalmente concluyo el afio
que dura la gestion habiendo liquidado practicamente los usurpadores de la institucion
todos los bienes y el patrimonio de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar’ y de ‘complice
y responsable por avalar y admitir a los usurpadores’ que el presentante le efectuara al
Sr. Inspector General de Justicia, corresponde sefialarle lo siguiente: [Que] EI Cddigo
Penal Argentino en su Libro Segundo, Titulo II, ‘Delitos contra el honor’, articulo 109
tipifica como delito a la calumnia o falsa imputacion de un delito que dé lugar a la accion
publica...Por lo tanto cuando el Sr. Cahuana se dirige al Sr. Inspector General de Justicia
en los términos de: ‘complice y responsable por avalar y admitir a los usurpadores’ antes
transcriptos, podemos estar en presencia de un desafortunado exabrupto propio de una
alteracion inimputable al manifestante o—por el contrario—podriamos estar en presencia
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de una imputacion del delito de usurpacion, tipificado en el Codigo Penal, en calidad de
coautor o complice...

Se efectlia a través de la presente un severo llamado de atencion al Sr. Teodoro Cahuana,
haciéndole saber que debera abstenerse de dirigirse a los integrantes de la Junta Electoral,
al Inspector General de Justicia u otro Inspector o funcionario de la Inspeccion General
de Justicia utilizando adjetivos calificativos como ‘inescrupulosos’, ‘parciales’ o
imputando acciones delictivas como lo es el ‘incumplimiento de los deberes de
funcionario publico’, bajo apercibimiento de iniciar las acciones penales a que den lugar
tales imputaciones.

As for Cahuana’s charge that the IGJ has deliberately extended the convocation of elections, and
thus aided the “usurpers’ in the consolidation of their de facto hold over the CBE, the Inspectors
state that they have worked within the bounds established by Article 2 of Resolution 0628 from
22 July 2002. That is, where this Resolution required the call for holding elections to be made
within 70 days, this should not be taken to mean that the election must itself be held within that
period. The Inspectors state that this call for holding elections was made on November 4, 2002
and was thus within this period. As a result, Cahuana’s charge that the IGJ has ‘deliberately

extended’ the convocation of elections has no merit.

Que en lo que respecta a los plazos que considera vencidos, corresponde sefialar que...el
plazo fijado en el articulo [2 de la Resolucion 0628] hace referencia en realidad a la
convocatoria del acto eleccionario, pero no al de su celebracion. Asimismo, bien
podemos afirmar que la convocatoria efectivamente fue notificada en forma personal el 4
de noviembre de 2002, es decir dentro de los setenta dias habiles administrativos que son
los contemplados en la Resolucién dictada por el Organismo (Res. 1.G.J. N° 628/02). Por
lo tanto mal puede hacerse referencia a ‘extension deliberada del proceso electoral.’

IGJ Dictamen (23 December 2002)

The second dictamen that responds to Cahuana’s attempt to re-lodge an appeal comes from
December 23, 2002. Here, the Electoral Committee takes issue with Cahuana’s charge of
enemistad manifiesta—i.e. his claim that the Committee has let personal prejudice color its

engagement with his representative, Jenaro Moyano, and unlawfully affected the proceedings.

[Cahuana and Mufioz] indican la que consideran causal especifica de la recusacion: la
enemistad manifiesta del Sr. Jenaro Moyano con los inspectores Dres. Covelli, Montet, y

80



Vandenbosch, contra quienes ha iniciado—dice—una causa penal N° 82.837 por
incumplimiento de los deberes de funcionario publico y otros delitos.

The Inspectors state that while Cahuana and his counsel claim such ‘enemistad manifiesta’
toward Moyano, they offer no substantive account of such. Moreover, for such an allegation to
even be considered, it must be made by the one who alleges the effects of such prejudice. In this
case, that would have to be Moyano, and not Cahuana. The present then supplies ample

jurisprudence to substantiate its dismissal of this charge.

[La] enemistad manifiesta se encuentra regulada en el art. 17 inc. 10) del Cddigo Procesal
Civil y Comercial que dice ‘Tener contra el recusante enemistad, odio 0 resentimiento
que se manifieste por hechos conocidos’; [Cahuana y Mufioz] no sefialan ningin hecho o
situacion puntual que pudiera encuadrar en la normativa mencionada. Sin perjuicio de
ello se aclara que la enemistad debe ser contra quien la alega, no respecto de una tercera
persona como es el Sr. Jenaro Moyano.

En cuanto a la oportunidad para interponer la recusacion debemos remitirnos a los arts.
14 y 18 del C.P.C.C., resultando—en consecuencia—extemporanea la presentacion
efectuada.

Finally, because this attempt at re-lodging an appeal is redundant in that the first attempt was
already addressed by Resolution 1183, the IGJ is able to consider it ‘malicious’, and thus

punishable by the aforementioned Cédigo Procesal Civil y Comercial (C.P.C.C.).

De lo expuesto y teniendo en cuenta que esta es la segunda oportunidad en la que se
recusan a los Inspectores, habiendo ya sido desestimada la recusacion anterior (Res.
1.G.J. N° 1183/02) corresponde considerar a la presente como recusacion maliciosa,
conforme lo dispuesto por el art. 29 del C.P.C.C.

Gonzalez Contests Cahuana’s Candidacy (13 December 2002)

During this time of heightened activity, Gonzalez, his counsel Koprivec, and the authorized
representative of the Green List, Eusebio Huari, were far from idle. Emboldened by Resolution
1183, which not only ratified their version of the electoral roll as the official IGJ Padron but
which also struck down Cahuana’s request to designate new Inspectors for the Electoral

Committee, Gonzalez formally impugned Cahuana and his Red List (Lista Roja) as candidates
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for the upcoming election. The grounds upon which he made his argument ranged from the
criminal charges Cahuana allegedly had pending against him (and his cabinet) regarding the
original events of December 2001 (which had all been filed by Gonzélez himself), to a host of
alleged transgressions pertaining to Cahuana’s Presidency in 2001. Electoral fraud, financial
malfeasance, usurpation, retention of the entity’s political and economic logs, and a failure to
submit end-of-term reports and balances figured chiefly among his allegations. All of these,
Gonzéalez argued, should prevent Cahuana and his ticket from running for election on December
27,2002.

Que venimos a impugnar a Teodoro Cahuana, Fulgencio Esparza, Selmo Urufia, Daniel
Churata, Bernardo Villamontes, Gerardo Garza, Samuel Paucara, quienes se han
presentado como candidatos para las elecciones integrando la Lista Roja cuando los
mismos tienen impedimentos legales surgidos de gestiones anteriores, por fraude
electoral (denuncia que motivara la apertura del presente expediente), estafa a la sociedad
(denuncia radicada en el Juzgado en lo criminal de Instruccion N. 5, expediente N°
41932/02), deudas que mantienen con la entidad, denuncias por usurpacion, todos
tramitados ante la UFI N°9, falta de rendicion de cuentas de su gestion anterior...por
retencion de la documentacion, todo esto tramitando en la justicia. En resumen, el tener
causas pendientes en la justicia referidas a su gestion anterior los inhabilita a participar en
las nuevas elecciones.

Yet Gonzalez went much further than alleging administrative malfeasance. His submission
directly impugns the character of those on the Red ticket. As the leaders of the CBE, Gonzalez
states that Cahuana’s cabinet systematically violated not just the entity’s statutes and the law, but

also the entity’s moral code and ethics, with due repercussions for the public good.

...fueron Dirigentes que han violado sistematicamente los estatutos, leyes, la moral y la
¢tica han cometido una serie de delitos...de hacer lo que quisieran con la sociedad, la
justicia y el orden publico....

The portrait of Cahuana that Gonzalez paints is one of criminality. He even alleges that Cahuana
and his supporters had attempted to hold the entity by violence—and backed by hit men—in the
days following the impugned election of December 22, 2001.

....el 2 de enero de 2002...para luego entrar por la fuerza a las oficinas con un grupo de
matones.
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Gonzélez finishes his diatribe with a rhetorical move. Were the 1GJ not to sanction Cahuana and
his cabinet, and disallow their candidacy, they would be endorsing or otherwise rubber-stamping
corruption itself. That is, were the IGJ not to sanction Cahuana, they would be encouraging

honest members to believe that there were some kind of back-door dealing going on.

Por que se impugnan: porque el no impugnarlos es como avalar la ilegalidad, la
corrupcion y la falta de justicia, porque el no impugnarlos llevaria a pensar a la sociedad
que hay connivencia, ocultacion y hasta negociados detras de esto...

All of this is quite rich, given that those at the helm of the CBE had not been elected, obtained
duplicate administrative books under false pretenses, operated in bad faith, and continued to
collect the CBE’s revenues. Yet where they had the IGJ’s Inspectors focused on Cahuana,

whom they had successfully made out to be the villain, why wouldn’t they go for the throat?

IGJ Dictamen (18 December 2002)

The 1GJ addresses Gonzélez’s impugnation of Cahuana and his Red List’s candidacies for the
upcoming election in a dictamen from December 18, 2002. In this dictamen, the Inspectors
comprising the Electoral Committee state that having mere charges filed against one is not
sufficient cause to deny him candidacy for a position on the CBE’s Executive Commission,

especially given that no judicial sentence in those proceedings had been issued.

Con respecto a las impugnaciones para ser candidatos de la Lista Roja a los Sres.
Teodoro Cahuana, Fulgencio Esparza, Selmo Urufia, Daniel Churata, Bernardo
Villamontes, Gerardo Garza y Samuel Paucara, debe sefialarse que el hecho de tener
causas pendientes en la Justicia, no es impedimento para que los mismos sean candidatos
a integrar la Comisidn Directiva, maxime teniendo en cuenta que en las causas a que se
hace referencia no ha recaido atn sentencia definitiva... Atento que no ha recaido
sentencia definitiva en tales causas penales, no existen para los suscriptos razones por las
cuales se pueda impugnar a las personas antes mencionadas.

As for the other allegations Gonzalez makes concerning the financial reckoning outgoing
presidents of the CBE must make, the Committee states that such matters are beyond their

purview. Reflecting the overall disposition taken by the 1GJ with respect to civil associations—
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i.e. that they have functional autonomy and must auto-regulate according to their own statutes—

the Inspectors state that such matters are to be resolved by the entity itself.

Debe sefialarse ademas, en relacion a que dichas personas no presentaron rendicion de
cuentas de su gestion, que no es facultad de esta Junta Electoral resolver sobre esa
cuestion, ya que la misma debe resolverse internamente en la esfera de la propia
Asociacion, mediante el procedimiento que a tal efecto estableciera el estatuto.

For all of the above, the Committee concludes that Gonzéalez’s impugnation be rejected.

Cahuana Calls to Suspend Election (17 December 2002)

On December 10, 2002, both sides in the conflict were again presented with the IGJ’s official
roll of eligible voters (Padrén depurado) containing those members allowed to vote in the
election scheduled for 27 December 2002. The sides were given until December 18, 2002 to
contest anyone’s inclusion on this roll, whose eligibility the IGJ’s Electoral Committee would
then resolve. Since this IGJ-authorized roll was none other than that submitted by Gonzalez
back on August 14, and subsequently ratified through the dictamen of November 1, 2002,
Gonzélez did not challenge it. Cahuana and his representative Moyano, who had contested its
ratification by the November 1, dictamen through multiple submissions, challenged it once again
in two separate presentations dating to 17 December 2002.

Moyano filed his appeal in person. Fs. 549 of the proceedings documents his appearance
before the 1GJ and that he continued to insist that only those members contained in the Registro

de Asociados N°1 and N°2 should be allowed to vote.

A los 17 dias del mes de diciembre de 2002, se hace presente el Sr. Jenaro Moyano en su
calidad de apoderado, a los fines de impugnar el padron de asociados de la Colectividad
Boliviana de Escobar. Asimismo, presenta el listado de asociados correspondiente a los
Registros de Asociados N°1 y 2 que segun el dicente son los tnicos en condiciones de
votar conforme las ultimas elecciones.

Cahuana, perhaps because he was out on his strawberry farm in the Province, submitted
his challenge of the IGJ’s roll by certified mail (Carta Documento). In this notice, Cahuana

called for the suspension of the December 27, 2002 election on the grounds that the roll
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authorized by the Committee does not include those members numbering 560 — 796 and which
are contained in the properly issued Registro de Asociados N°2. Both these members and their

eligibility to vote, he reminds the 1GJ, were validated by the Resolution 0628 from 22 July 2002.

Uds. deberan suspender el acto eleccionario debido a que el padrén electoral elaborado
por Covelli, Montet, y Vandenbosch no se encuentran los socios consignados en el Libro
N° 2 (Registro de Asociados) que van del nimero 560 al 796, los cuales fueron admitidos
por la comisidn directiva que presido y convalidada dicha admision por la resolucion
dictada por el Sr. Inspector General de Justicia Dr. Francisco Andriacchi, No. 0628 de
fecha 22 de Julio de 2002.

Surprisingly, this is the first time in the proceedings where mention of the exclusion of those
rightfully numbering 560 — 796 (versus those illegitimately bearing the same numbers in
Gonzalez’s ratified proposal) is made explicit. Based on the proceedings it is not fully clear
when Cahuana and Moyano realized that Gonzalez had substituted those members properly
numbering 560 — 796 for his own. Indeed, their prior challenges of the 1GJ-authored roll were
based on sole the fact that Galan’s Interim Commission (whose legitimacy they of course
challenged), had, under the guidance of Gonzalez as Internal Regulator, associated new members
that the IGJ deemed eligible to vote. As we’ll see shortly, this issue became clearer (and indeed
came to a head) when it became known that Gonzalez and his counsel Koprivec had requested
and obtained a duplicate set of administrative books for the CBE under false pretenses.

Yet Cahuana’s call to suspend the election was two-pronged. Not only would the
election be illegitimate if an entire Register of members were excluded from the IGJ’s roll (an
exclusion that would also directly contradict the IGJ’s finding that all members who had desired
to join the CBE in good faith, even under an Interim Commission that had itself been challenged,
should be allowed to do so); Cahuana also argued the election would be illegitimate because he
had been prevented access to the CBE to properly campaign. In his submission, Cahuana states
that in the time leading up to the election he had been verbally and physically aggrieved—a
hostility that came to a head on December 14, 2002 when he and his Red List were physically
prevented from holding a campaign rally in the CBE’s sports complex. This further evinced, as

he had been claiming all along, that the CBE had been completely “usurped’.

[Que se] suspenda el proceso electoral para la renovacion de la comision directiva y
comision revisora de cuentas previsto el 27 de diciembre de 2002, en razon de las
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agresiones verbales y fisicas de la que hemos sido victimas durante todo este tiempo por
parte de los usurpadores de la institucion, llegando al extremo que el dia sabado 14 de
diciembre de 2002 se nos impidi el ingreso al polideportivo de la institucion donde
teniamos previsto realizar el lanzamiento de la campafia electoral. Dicha intimacion se
efectla bajo prevencion de accionar por la via del amparo constitucional.

One should also note that this is the first time in the proceedings where Cahuana raises the issue
of seeking protection for his individual rights under “Constitutional Protection” (amparo
constitucional). This recourse, which is a right provided for in the Argentine Constitution®®,
entails a judicial review of one’s case and culminates in a court-issued sentence. As we’ll see,
where the 1GJ fails to recognize Cahuana’s challenge, he pursues this end, although ultimately

without success.

IGJ Dictamen (23 December 2002)

This dictamen from December 23, 2002, which is authored by Inspectors Covelli and
Vandenbosch, addresses the recurrent issue of who should be eligible to vote, and thus figure in
the IGJ’s official roll. Let us remember that both sides in the conflict must consent to this roll
before any election can be held. What is fascinating about this dictamen is that although both
Moyano and Cahuana have challenged the IGJ’s configuration of the roll (Moyano insisting that
only members registered in the Registro de Asociados N°1 and N°2 be allowed to vote, and
Cahuana finally arguing that those members from Registro de Asociados N°2 have been left off
of the roll), the 1GJ addresses only Moyano’s side of the challenge. That is, in this dictamen, the
IGJ only ever reiterates that the issue of associations that Moyano continues to challenge has
already been settled in the dictamen from November 1, 2002—stating once again that the IGJ’s
position is to allow anyone interested in joining the CBE in good faith to be granted membership,

and thus the right to vote.

1¢ Constitucién Nacional Argentina, Primera Parte, Capitulo Segundo, Articulo 43: Toda persona puede interponer
accion expedita y rapida de amparo, siempre que no exista otro medio judicial mas idéneo, contra todo acto u
omisién de autoridades publicas o de particulares, que en forma actual o inminente lesione, restrinja, altere o
amenace, con arbitrariedad o ilegalidad manifiesta, derechos y garantias reconocidos por esta Constitucion, un
tratado o una ley. En el caso, el juez podra declarar la inconstitucionalidad de la norma en que se funde el acto u
omision lesiva.

" This is the second Dictamen from this date. The first, as noted above, addressed Cahuana’s allegation that the
Junta Electoral’s engagement with his apoderado Jenaro Moyano was colored by ‘enemistad manifiesta’.
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Sra. Inspectora Jefe:

Con fecha 17 de diciembre de 2002 se presenta el Sr. Teodoro Cahuana en su calidad de
candidato a Presidente por la Lista Roja de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar,
Asociacion Civil, a través de su apoderado Jenaro Moyano a efectos de impugnar la
inclusién de socios en condiciones de votar en el proximo comicio del dia 27 de
diciembre. En esta oportunidad se labro un acta de la que surge dicha presentacion.
Fundamenta las impugnaciones planteadas en que dichos socios en condiciones de votar,
‘fueron incorporados por los usurpadores de la asociacién en forma arbitraria e ilegal
mas de 500 socios registrados en el Libro N°3, Registro de Asociados, de dicha
entidad’. A estas impugnaciones planteadas por el presentante, corresponde sefialar lo
siguiente: ...[Que] debemos tener en cuenta que este organismo ya ha resuelto este tema
a través de la Resolucion de la Junta Electoral, obrante a fs. 480/482 de fecha 1 de
noviembre que fuera notificada a las [partes].

Nowhere is there any engagement with Cahuana’s (now) explicit red flag that the IGJ’s official
roll does not contain the members entered in Registro de Asociados N°2—i.e. those members
whose status and eligibility to vote were validated by Resolution 0628. Though Cahuana does
not bring the heightened attention to this matter that he could have in claiming that Gonzélez’s
originally proposed roll (which became the one the IGJ has authorized) slyly substituted those
rightfully numbered 560 — 796 with new members similarly numbered, the 1GJ should have
made this realization by a simple comparison of each side’s submissions. One should also note,
as mentioned above, that the IGJ actually has the CBE’s rightfully issued administrative books in

their power, since Cahuana had turned them in to be attached to the proceedings.

IGJ Resolution 1264 (26 December 2002)

Cahuana’s red flag from 17 December 2002 was also patently ignored in the IGJ’s Resolution
1264, which was issued the day prior to the scheduled election. Even though Cahuana’s contest
was formulated within the timeframe stipulated by the 1GJ for contesting the roll of eligible
voters—meaning it should have received attention in the dictamen above and ultimately an
official response in the present Resolution—it looks as though the Inspector General was not
made aware of it. This casts serious doubt on the conscientiousness of the Electoral Committee,

and reflects poorly on the Inspector General, under whose eye the Committee ultimately
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operates. Thus, rather than engaging and resolving this crucial matter—one which would
completely mar the election, and thus the entire process laid out by Resolution 0628—the present
Resolution simply made official the rejection of Cahuana’s earlier attempt (from 10 December
2002) to re-lodge an appeal of the Electoral Committee—a rejection that was already operative

in the dictamens from 17 and 23 December 2002.

Que las constancias existentes y la conducta seguida por esta 1GJ en la especia, conllevan
a rechazar tales imputaciones y reafirmar la decision que se adopta en este particular. Por
ello...

EL INSPECTOR GENERAL DE JUSTICIA
RESUELVE:

Articulo 1° - Rechazar la recusacion interpuesta por el Sr. Teodoro Cahuana a fs. 528 y
vta. por extemporanea.

Moreover, this official rejection of Cahuana’s prior ‘appeal’ (recusacion) as “inadmissible” not
only ignores his recent (and completely valid) challenge of the roll, it tacitly and wrongly ratifies
(once again) this same roll as vetted by the Electoral Committee in their original dictamen from
November 1, 2002. Thus, as far as the 1GJ was concerned, the election scheduled for 27
December 2002 was to happen without the participation of members numbering 560 — 796 as
contained in the properly issued Registro de Asociados N°2. This would be in violation of their
rights as CBE members and in contradiction to what they had already declared in Resolution
0628.

It is ironic that while Cahuana’s red flag was being ignored, the Inspector General
continued to defend the Inspectors under his watch. Their work in preparing the election, he
states, was in all instances a model of objectivity and consonant with both the CBE’s own

statutes and the norms governing civil associations.

Que en efecto, en todo momento e instancia y tal como surge de estos actuados, esta
Inspeccion General de Justicia procurd y realiz6 los mayores esfuerzos tendientes a
superar todas y cada una de las cuestiones que se presentaban conforme a pautas y
principios de objetividad y ajustados a las normas legales y reglamentarias de aplicacion
y cefiidos a un proceso preelectoral, que conto con la conformidad de los representantes
de las Listas presentadas.
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Whatever the IGJ’s shortcomings were on this crucial issue of the exclusion of those comprising
Registro de Asociados N°2 (i.e. whether the issue concerned merely bureaucratic oversight, or
indeed some kind of partiality as Cahuana and Moyano alleged), the Inspector General
nevertheless defended the Electoral Committee on the premise that the antagonisms between the
sides in the conflict, which he believed ultimately reconcilable before more fundamental,
collective identifications, justified the approach the Committee had taken throughout the

proceedings.

Mas aln, en la Resolucién 1.G.J. N° 0628 de fecha 22 de julio de 2002, expresamente
este Organismo sefnalaba que las ‘diferencias advertibles entre los socios de la
Institucibn—todos ellos vinculados a la colectividad boliviana en la Argentina y unidos
por afectos superadores—amerita la necesidad de realizar los mayores esfuerzos para
alcanzar su pronta solucion y en cuya procura se orientan las medidas que se adoptan
por la presente’, 10 cual ratifica el ideario que primo por parte del Organismo, en la
consideracion y resolucion de las cuestiones que se suscitaron durante esta etapa, previa
al comicio.

The implication of the Inspector’s reference to the antagonisms and overarching attachments
(afectos superadores) is that the issues gripping the CBE are fundamentally, thoroughly, and
idiosyncratically Bolivian. That is, on his tacit estimation, the IGJ’s Electoral Committee cannot
be expected to resolve such issues without Bolivian cooperation, let alone be considered partial
in their attempts to do so. This very sentiment would be echoed years later by the third
Ministerially-appointed Interventor for the CBE, who stated in a CBE meeting: “yo no puedo

solucionar los amores y odios entre ustedes”.

Cahuana Applies for Constitutional Protection (26 December 2002)

Upon receiving Resolution 1264 on December 26, 2002 and seeing that the exclusion of those
members comprising Registro de Asociados N°2 had not been addressed, Cahuana appealed
directly to the Judiciary. His appeal, brought before the Camara Nacional de Apelaciones en lo
Civil—specifically its Juzgado Nacional de Primera Instancia en lo Civil N°45—was formulated
in terms of amparo—i.e. protection for his individual rights as guaranteed by the Constitution.

For Cahuana alleged that these rights had been compromised by the 1GJ’s “partiality’ throughout
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the proceedings—the same prejudice he had alleged before the IGJ on December 10, 2002. As a
‘cautionary measure’ (medida cautelar), Judge Renato Alvarez of the aforementioned tribunal

ordered the 1GJ to suspend the election scheduled for the following day.

Al Sr. Inspector General de Justicia:

En los autos caratulados ‘Cahuana, Teodoro c¢/Estado Nacional y Otro s/Amparo’,
Expediente N° 116.456/2002...

RESUELVO: 1.- Decretar la suspension del proceso electoral de la Colectividad
Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil, y de los plazos establecidos en dicho
cronograma electoral. A fin de comunicar la medida, librese Oficio, previa caucion
juratoria que debera prestar el peticionante.

Fdo. Renato Alvarez —Juez.

Eso dado a los 26 de diciembre de dos mil dos en mi Publico despacho.

Unfortunately for Cahuana, his appeal for Constitutional amparo would be denied a year and a
half later—specifically on May 5, 2004. The Court would rule against him for lack of evidence
substantiating his claim that the 1GJ had patently violated his rights. However, Cahuana no
doubt saw the present suspension of the election (taken as the aforementioned medida cautelar)
as a temporary victory. It would allow him room to lobby on behalf of those excluded from the
IGJ’s roll, and to continue fighting to restore the CBE in service of the public good. With regard
to the status of those in Registro de Asociados N°2, however, the Court’s stay on the election had
the result of causing the 1GJ to disband the Electoral Committee it had created and reassign those
Inspectors to other cases. Indeed, where no election could take place until Cahuana’s amparo
had been attended to judicially, there was no need to configure a roll of eligible voters—
especially since those at the helm of the CBE could continually change its membership through
associating what would amount to new ‘clients’. By the time Cahuana would receive the Court’s
decision on his amparo, the ‘usurpation’ had progressed so far that any hope of having the matter
resolved by “the CBE” as a corporate entity—i.e. in its “esfera interna”, as the IGJ would say—
had been lost. Indeed, by July 2004, the IGJ would deem the antagonisms in the heart of the
CBE “insuperable”, and grounds for a formal Intervention.

What would also justify formal Intervention by the 1GJ were transgressions made by

those at the helm of the CBE (whom critics have called the “usurpers’, and who by now have
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earned the moniker). Two of those transgressions were elections held in defiance of the Court’s

stay, and thus also without 1GJ authorization. Let us have a look.

Koprivec and Huari Hold CBE Elections in Defiance of Court Order (27 Dec. 2003, 2004)

A full year later, toward the end of December 2003, Cahuana made a startling discovery, which

he communicated to the 1GJ shortly thereafter on 4 February 2004.

Teodoro Cahuana, en calidad de Presidente de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, en
el Expte. No. 32.160/1.520.370, a V.S. con respeto expongo y digo:

Que vengo a acompafar copia de tres publicaciones efectuadas en El Diario de Escobar,
Provincia de Buenos Aires, de fecha 23, 24, y 26 de diciembre de 2003, en el que se
anuncia la realizacion de un acto eleccionario, para la renovacion de la Comision
Directiva de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, acto que evidentemente, no ha sido
autorizado por el Juzgado Civil No. 45 y tampoco por esta Inspeccion General de
Justicia.

Published in the local newspaper El Diario de Escobar were articles and other pieces announcing
the election for CBE authorities for the upcoming 2004 term. This election was to take place on
December 27, 2003, exactly one year after the one scheduled for December 27, 2002 would have
taken place, had it not been suspended by Judge Renato Alvarez’s medida cautelar. The most
telling article, dated December 23, 2003 and titled “The Coming 27th of December”, quoted the
then “current President” of the CBE, Bonifacio Corihuanca, as saying that all the pre-election
controls had been carried out in proper form; that is, that the 1GJ had been duly notified (which
was patently false) and that election monitors from FACBOL ™ and the Bolivian Embassy would

be on hand to guarantee a legitimate, transparent, and fair election.

El Diario de Escobar

‘El proximo 27 de diciembre’
23 diciembre 2003

8 EACBOL, or the Federacion de Asociaciones Civiles Bolivianas, is a Federation of the major Bolivian
Associations in and around Buenos Aires (see Calcagno y Fourcade 1999 for a discussion of the legal regime and
political structure of Federations in Argentina).
http://www.comunidadboliviana.com.ar/shop/otraspaginas.asp?pagina=20
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Finalmente y a pesar de las polémicas suscitadas, el dia 27 de diciembre [de 2003] la
Colectividad Boliviana procedera a elegir nuevas autoridades para el periodo 2004.

Consultada la actual Comisidn Directiva nos expresaron que: ‘el proceso electoral se ha
iniciado normalmente con la publicacién de padrones en tiempo y forma y la eleccion de
una junta electoral compuesta por ex directivos’...

El presidente de la entidad, Sr. Bonifacio Corihuanca, expresoé en el noticiero ...
‘solicitamos que se nombre un veedor por parte del juzgado, con el objeto de evitar
posteriores denuncias y garantizar los derechos que se encuentran en los estatutos
sociales’, y agreg6: ‘Hemos notificado a la Inspeccion General de Justicia y en la
semana...se ingresara el pedido de veedores a la misma y se solicitara lo propio a la
Embajada de Bolivia y a las Federaciones de las que somos miembros, a fin de que se
garantice la transparencia del proceso electoral.’

There are three things that must have shocked Cahuana upon discovering this article. The first
would have been that there was an election scheduled for 27 December 2003, when the electoral
proceedings from 27 December 2002 had been suspended by the Court. No Executive
Commission could call elections for the 2004 term if there was no legitimate Commission voted
into power for 2003.

Second, Cahuana must have been shocked to learn that the then “current President” was
Bonifacio Corihuanca, the opponent he would have faced had the election of 27 December 2002
not been suspended. Indeed, what soon became apparent is that Gonzalez’s counsel Koprivec,
while duly notified by the 1GJ that the election of December 26, 2002 had been suspended,
nevertheless held the election on December 27, 2002 in violation of Judge Alvarez’s stay and
without 1GJ consent. This was an election that obviously did not include the participation of
Cahuana’s Red List or those members properly numbering 560 — 796. It had been a complete
sham, and revealed that the CBE’s Market’s operators had simply fallen into line with the
‘usurpers’, who had co-opted the CBE and its revenues.

Third, Cahuana must have been shocked to learn that the election scheduled for
December 27, 2003 was to count election monitors from FACBOL, when Koprivec was
FACBOL’s own legal advisor for the year of 2003. Where the election was not authorized, the
monitors would not be impartial. Thus, not only was the election from 2002 illegitimate and in

violation of the Court order, so would be the one from 2003.
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As if the violation of the Court’s stay and the false claims of IGJ authorization and
fairness were not enough, Corihuanca also claimed that Moyano and Cahuana were guilty of

fraud—Moyano for falsifying public documents and Cahuana for embezzlement.

Con respecto a la linea opositora oportunamente representada por el Sr. Jenaro Moyano
con innumerables denuncias a los medios de prensa, Corihuanca manifesto: °...Es
importante que sepan que al Sr. Moyano se lo ha denunciado por usurpacion y ha estado
privado de su libertad por falsificacion de documento publico, asimismo se ha iniciado
una accién ante la justicia por fraude en los padrones, que se encuentra tramitada en la
UFI N°9 de Campana.’

En cuanto al Sr. Teodoro Cahuana las expresiones de Bonifacio Corihuanca fueron aun
mas categoricas y contundentes: °...a este sefior, que se hace pasar como presidente de la
colectividad, hay que recordarle que aun debe cumplimentar la rendicién de cuentas hasta
el dia de hoy por U$D 500,000.

Cahuana not only brought this and other pieces from EI Diario de Escobar to the attention of the
IGJ, but another one as well—one which left little doubt about the ‘usurpers’’ transgressions.
Published in early January 2004 was an article from El Vocero Boliviano entitled
“Cipriano Gonzalez Wins the Election”. This was the aforementioned election, carried out on
December 27 2003, that installed the Executive Commission for the 2004 term. It was a contest
between a new White List (Lista Blanca) and the traditional Green List (Lista Verde). Yet the
latter was no longer topped by Bonifacio Corihuanca, who had just served a year as the de facto
President. Rather, it was led by Cipriano Gonzélez, Ceferino and Teyo Gonzélez’s relative.
Ceferino, while still figuring as the principal litigant opposing Cahuana in the IGJ’s
administrative proceedings, continued to abstain from formal CBE politics (one should note that

he did not serve as Internal Regulator under Bonifacio Corihuanca’s de facto tenure of 2003).

El Vocero Boliviano
‘Cipriano Gonzélez gano las elecciones’
January 2004

El pasado 27 de diciembre [de 2003] se llevaron a cabo las elecciones en la Colectividad
Boliviana de Escobar. Los comicios se desarrollaron con toda normalidad, se presentaron
dos listas, la Lista Blanca que encabezaba Victoriano Achuta, y la Lista Verde que
postulaba como presidente, al sefior Cipriano Gonzalez, que a la postre resultaria
ganadora...

93



Finalizada las elecciones con los resultados en la mano el sefior Gonzalez accedia a una
charla y decia, ‘me siento muy orgulloso por el apoyo que me dio la base’, al ser
consultado sobre cudles iban a ser los primeros pasos ‘es trabajar por la unidad de la
Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar’.

Yet more important than the Green List’s particular and continual hold on the CBE—and more
important than their claim of having a mandate from the ‘base’—is their claim that the election
was legitimate. In this article, Koprivec—once again claiming the role of legal advisor to the
entire CBE—is quoted as saying that the election of December 27, 2003 was “completely valid”.
Indeed, he claimed to have had an exchange with the 1GJ in which they told him that to avoid
any potential contest, the CBE should follow all statutory form in the election proceedings.
Toward this end, Koprivec claimed to have filed all the required pre-electoral documentation to
the IGJ on December 3, 2003. Both of these acts suggest that the 1GJ had authorized the

proceedings, when clearly they had not.

Ante los conflictos que habia atrapado a la institucion en los ultimos dos afios se consultd
al doctor Koprivec, sobre la validez de estos comicios, el asesor juridico respondio que
las elecciones eran totalmente validas... También aclaré que ante la disyuntiva,
consultaron a la Inspeccion General de Justicia (IGJ) y, ‘ellos mismos nos informaron
que debiamos respetar los estatutos, entonces para evitar inconvenientes presentamos
toda la documentacion el dia 3 de diciembre para que no nos tome por sorpresa’.

All of these claims would prove to be false, for the IGJ later affirmed that it had no knowledge of
any election. Moreover, even if it had, it could not authorize one given that the Court had issued

a stay in all such proceedings (see Resolution 0837 from 13 July 2004 below).

Cahuana Alleges Wrongful 1GJ Issuance of CBE Administrative Books (12 Feb. 2004)

Yet elections held in violation of the Court’s stay and lacking IGJ authorization were not the
only transgressions committed by those holding de facto power in the CBE. At the same time
that Cahuana was discovering the existence of the unauthorized elections, he and his advisors
were putting together their case that the ‘usurpers’ had been operating in the CBE with a set of
books that was both requested illegitimately by them and issued wrongfully by the 1GJ.
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On February 12, 2004, Cahuana approached the 1GJ with an official receipt from its own
Area de Intervencion y Ribrica de Libros listing all the books the 1GJ had issued to the CBE
over the course of its lifetime. The receipt began with the first set of books issued to the CBE

shortly after its authorization in 1991

Book Issued to the CBE on:
Actas de Asambleas N°1 5 February 1992
Actas de Comision Directiva N°1 5 February 1992
Registro de Asociados N°1 5 February 1992

When through the course of an entity’s political life, books become filled 75% of the way, the
ruling Executive Commission is permitted to ask the 1GJ for the second book in each series. For
this request to be granted, the 1GJ requires that the Executive Commission present the reigning
book for verification.

In 2000, Cahuana, who was serving his fifth term as President, requested the second book
of the Registro de Asociados in precisely this way. It was duly issued to him on behalf of the
CBE.

Book Issued to the CBE on:
Registro de Asociados N°2 22 June 2000

(Note that this second book of the Registro de Asociados was that in which members 560 — 796
were officially documented. As noted above, these were those members whose status and
eligibility to vote were challenged by Gonzalez in his initial impugnation of the election of 22
December 2001, confirmed by Resolution 0628, and then subsequently excluded from the IGJ’s
official roll.)

In 2002, specifically during February and March, when the CBE was in acute crisis
following the impugnation of the December 22, 2001 election, the 1GJ issued the next in line for

all of the aforementioned books:

Book Issued to the CBE on:
Actas de Asambleas N°2 26 February 2002
Actas de Comision Directiva N°2 26 February 2002
Registro de Asociados N°3 20 March 2002
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Yet to whom were these books issued if the CBE was in full crisis and without an officially
recognized Executive Commission to carry out the task? Moreover, how could the IGJ issue any
books when its own internal briefings noted this condition of acephaly?*® Did not such a request
for new books during such a crisis raise any red flags concerning its propriety? Did the officials
in the Area de Intervencion y Rubrica de Libros even know that the CBE was in a crisis? In
other words, why were they—and the Inspectors handling the CBE’s case—not aware of each
other’s actions in the proceedings? As we’ll see, these questions were just the tip of the iceberg.
With the above information (and Area printout) in hand, Cahuana brought his formal
charge before the 1GJ. He argued that the three most recently issued books (i.e. the Actas de
Asambleas N°2, Actas de Comision Directiva N°2, and the Registro de Asociados N°3) were not

only requested illegitimately by the ‘usurpers’, but also issued wrongfully by the 1GJ.

12 Febrero 2004
Sres. Inspeccion General de Justicia:

Teodoro Cahuana por la Colectividad Boliviana De Escobar, Asociacion Civil, a V.S. con
respeto expongo Yy digo:

Que atento al estado de autos, vengo a acompafiar a \V.S. certificacion expedida por Area
Intervencion y Rubrica de Libros de la Inspeccion General de Justicia por la irregular
rubrica de los libros Actas de Asambleas N°2, Rubrica 805202, Actas de Comision
Directiva N°2, Rubrica 805502, ambos rubricados en fecha 26-Feb-02 y el Registro de
Asociados N°3, Rubrica 1178102, de fecha 20-Mar-02.

Knowing from his own prior request of Registro de Asociados N°2 in 2000 that to receive a
subsequent book in any series, one needs to present the 1GJ with the reigning book filled 75% of
the way, Cahuana states that whoever made the request for the aforementioned three books did
so under false pretenses. For he reminds the 1GJ that he had the reigning books in his sole
possession as the outgoing President until 26 April 2002—the date upon which he submitted
them to the 1GJ in defense of his claims and in favor of righting the entity (fs. 418 of Cuerpo N°2
of the proceedings). This means that whoever requested the succeeding books on 26 February
2002 and 20 March 2002 could not have presented the reigning books before the 1GJ, or

otherwise have a Notary Public witness them to make a proper request. Finally, he states that

19 See for example the Dictamen from 23 January 2002 in which the Inspectors handling the CBE’s case stated that
because the form of the 22 December 2001 election was infelicitous there would be no legitimate Executive
Commission until a new election was held.
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because only he had the entity’s statutes and registration of juridical personhood—
documentation controlled only by the elected President of the institution—no one else could

have legitimately made such a request in the first place.

Sr. Inspector, la Certificacién acompafiada, acredita fehacientemente, que las rabricas de
los libros mencionados precedentemente, como la inscripcién de los asociados a los
mismos, es absolutamente irregular e ilegal, y tiene responsabilidad directa en dichas
maniobras dolosas, no sélo quien se presenté como apoderado o representante de la
Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, sino también la Escribana que habilitd con su firma
dicha presentacion en base a documentacion apdcrifa, ya que el suscrito y el Secretario
General de la Institucidn, teniamos toda la documentacion de la Institucién en nuestro
poder, de modo que jamas pudo haberse presentado, quién haya sido, con el Estatuto
original de la institucion, la Resolucion que acredita la personeria, el acta de convocatoria
a elecciones, acta de asamblea y acta de posesion de la comisidn directiva, toda esta
documentacidn original se encontraba en posesion de la comision directiva que presido, y
después fue presentada la 1.G.J., obrando en autos dicha presentacion, con caracter previo
a la Resolucion que dictd este Organismo del Estado en fecha 22-Jul-02.

Having faulted whoever made the wrongful request in the first place, Cahuana moved to fault the
IGJ. Though not yet arguing that the 1GJ was in error for failing to realize that its own Area was
issuing new books while its Inspectors were preparing to declare a vacancy in the Presidency (as
he would in a submission later on 17 May 2004), Cahuana charged that it was in one of these
illegitimately requested and wrongfully issued books—i.e. the Registro de Asociados N°3—that
listed members who the IGJ was willing to allow to vote through invocations of ‘mandato
aparente’ and ‘buena fe’, neither of which, he suggested, could be sustained in these

circumstances.

Pero lo mas grave V.S., que tanto [Inspector General] Francisco Andriacchi, y los otros
funcionarios designados por €l para instruir el expediente, sabiendo la situacion de
irregularidad total que se vivia en la Institucion porque ésta habia sido literalmente
tomada, y siendo la Comision Directiva que presido la Unica legitimada y reconocida
legalmente, haya admitido la inscripcidn irregular e ilegal de mas de 500 asociados,
invocando ciertos criterios jurisprudenciales, absolutamente insostenibles para el caso en
cuestion o que al menos dichos criterios son muy minoritarios y en modo alguno
aplicable al caso que estamos analizando.

Cahuana states (rhetorically) that not only could the Inspector General be unaware of such

circumstances—especially throughout the process of configuring a rightful roll of eligible voters
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(a process Cahuana continually contested)—but that such perpetual failure by the 1GJ has forced

him to seek Constitutional protection (amparo).

V.S. esta parte sostiene y por este motivo ha promovido el amparo constitucional,
actualmente en tramite, que la inscripcion de los 500 asociados registrados por los
usurpadores es absolutamente irregular, y esta irregularidad jamas pudo haber sido
desconocida por el Inspector General De Justicia de esa época (el Dr. Andriacchi), ya que
tuvo en su poder los libros que acompafie en su momento, seglin constancias de autos y
porque tuvo también los libros rubricados y presentados por los usurpadores, que no los
eligio nadie y que por dicho motivo no podian en absoluto registrar o asociar a hinguna
persona.

For all of this, Cahuana petitions the Inspector General to declare the recently issued books null
and void, and to require that they be surrendered to the 1GJ by those holding the CBE.

Enrazon a lo sefialado, solicito a V.S. decrete la nulidad de las rubricas de los libros
rubricados en fecha 26 de febrero de 2002, y 20 de marzo de 2002, tal como se acredita
con la certificacion acompariada, debiendo ademas intimar a los usurpadores a hacer
entrega de dicha documental a la autoridad de aplicacion hasta la regularizacion de la

Institucién.
Proveer de Conformidad

SERA JUSTICIA-

IGJ Initiates Internal Review (1 March 2004)

After Cahuana’s joint allegations of elections held in violation of the Court’s stay and of
wrongfully requested and issued books, the 1GJ was forced to launch an official inquiry into
these matters (visita de inspeccion). A dictamen from February 23, 2004 set up that inquiry,
which began on March 1, 2004 and which was directed by Inspector Silvio Bagnara. Indeed, the
IGJ had much to find out: Who had the books in question (i.e. the Actas de Asambleas N°2,
Actas de Comision Directiva N°2, and the Registro de Asociados N°3)? Under what
circumstances and pretenses had they been issued? And did these books document unsanctioned

actions such as holding elections in violation of Court orders?
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IGJ Dictamen (8 March 2004)

As per this inquiry, Cipriano Gonzélez and other members of his recently installed cabinet were
summoned by the 1GJ to present these books. Silvio Bagnara transcribed the contents of this
meeting into a dictamen dating to March 8, 2004. In it, he recounts that Cipriano Gonzalez
appeared only with the book Actas de Asambleas N°2, whose last documented administrative act
was the election of December 27, 2003. This was evidence from the “CBE” itself that the

election had in fact taken place in violation of the Court’s orders.

En la Ciudad de Bs.As. a los 08 dias del mes de marzo de 2004 se presentan los Sres.
Gonzalez, Ceferino, en su carécter de Presidente de la entidad, el Sr. Copani, Evaristo, en
su caracter de Secretario, y el Sr. Barrillos, Fabian en su caracter de contador-auditor, de
la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar...quienes se presentan en cumplimiento a la
requisitoria realizada oportunamente por el Organismo. A esos efectos exhiben Libro de
Actas de Asambleas N°2, rubricado el 26 de febrero de 2002, bajo el N° 8052-02, de 200
paginas, utilizado hasta la pagina 51, Gltima acta de fecha 27 de diciembre de 2003,
obrante a fs. 28/51. El sefior Gonzalez, Cipriano manifiesta que en esta ltima asamblea
se procedio a elegir a los actuales miembros de Comision Directiva siendo él, designado
Presidente.

This same book also documented the election assembly from the previous year (December 27,
2002) in which Bonifacio Corihuanca was elected President. This entry was proof that the prior

year’s election had also been held in violation of the Court’s order.

Asimismo, manifiesta que la anterior Comision Directiva, presidida por el sefior
Bonifacio Corihuanca fue elegida en los comicios realizados el 27 de diciembre de 2002,
acta obrante a fs. 34/37 del libro que acompafan.

When asked about the other books, which the dictamen generically names Actas de Comision
Directiva and Registro de Asociados without specifying any number in either series, Gonzalez
states that these were not given to him by the preceding Commission led by Corihuanca (who
was none other than a fellow collaborator). This is hard to believe, given that all those in power
since Cahuana’s ousting (i.e. Freddy Galan, Ceferino Gonzalez, Bonifacio Corihuanca and
finally Cipriano Gonzalez) were all consistently advised by the same counsel—Koprivec—and

always operated as a singular political bloc, i.e. the “Green List”. That Cipriano Gonzalez did
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not appear with the other books (specifically Actas de Comision Directiva N°2 and Registro de

Asociados N°3) is thus suggestive of stalling and/or maneuvering.

Informa que el Gnico libro que poseen y recibido de la Comision Directiva anterior, es el
que presentan en este acto. Los restantes libros de la sociedad: Actas de Comision
Directiva, Registro de Asociados, Inventario y Balances y Diario no le fueron entregados
por las autoridades que le precedieron.

Yet what is perhaps equally damning, though here for the 1GJ, is Silvio Bagnara’s request that
the “CBE” (which can here only mean Cipriano Gonzalez) produce the following books—Actas
de Comision Directiva N°1, Actas de Asambleas N°1, and Registro de Asociados N°2 and N°3.
How could Cipriano Gonzalez be asked to produce these books when the 1GJ has had the first
three of these (in addition to Registro de Asociados N°1) in its power since Cahuana submitted
them on April 26, 2002?

Cipriano Gonzalez Responds to IGJ’s Request for Books (15 March 2004)

Gonzalez, in a formal response dated March 15, 2004, informs the IGJ that these very books—
Actas de Comision Directiva N°1, Actas de Asambleas N°1, and Registro de Asociados N°2 and
N°3—were in fact in the possession of the IGJ. One should note that there is no record in the

proceedings of the IGJ having ever received Registro de Asociados N°3.

De mi mayor consideracion:

Tengo el agrado de dirigirme a Ud. en mi caracter de Presidente de la Colectividad
Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil, a los expresos fines de dar cumplimiento con lo
requerido en fecha 8 de marzo de 2004. A tales fines, manifiesto que nos hemos
constituido en autoridades...

Segun lo requerido nos han informado las autoridades de la anterior gestion 2003, que el
Libro de Actas de Comision Directiva N°1, Libro de Actas de Asambleas N°1 y N°2 se
encuentran en poder de la 1.G.J., y de igual modo el Libro Registro de Asociados N°2 y
N°3.

As for the book Actas de Comisidn Directiva N°2, Gonzalez claims that he has solicited it from

the Commission that preceded him (i.e. Corihuanca’s), but that it is currently undergoing a
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process of transcription. For that reason, he asks the IGJ to grant him a 30-day extension to

submit it.

Manifiesto expresamente que hemos requerido a las autoridades de la gestion de 2003 se
nos entregue el Libro Actas de Comision Directiva N°2, habiéndonos informado que el
citado libro se encuentra en etapa de transcripcion, razén por la cual solicitamos se
conceda un plazo de 30 dias para efectuar la debida presentacion, y de igual modo se
proceda para cualquier otro tipo de documental que se requiera por este organismo.

On the surface, Cipriano Gonzélez’s statements appear to construct a separation between his and
his predecessor’s (Bonifacio Corihuanca’s) regimes—ypainting them as separate political bodies
when in fact, as mentioned above, they were simply different incarnations of the same political
bloc. One is only left to wonder if such a subtle construction was not a tactic employed to delay
having to submit a book containing incriminating evidence—or otherwise an effort to buy time
so as to effect a ‘transcription’ that would be to the Green List’s advantage as other events came
to light. For indeed, it is not clear at this point whether Cipriano Gonzalez and his counsel
Koprivec knew of Cahuana’s allegations about the unsanctioned elections or the wrongfully
obtained books. One can imagine that they wanted to tread carefully.

Though Cipriano Gonzalez eventually turned in the book Actas de Comision Directiva
N°2 on April 1, 2004, he was nevertheless forced to admit in the present submission that
elections did in fact happen, and that he bore the title President of the CBE. However, his
statement, “manifiesto que nos hemos constituido en autoridades”, should not be read as a
confession of guilt for having violated the Court’s orders. Rather, it should be read as a
confession—sent on behalf of all the CBE’s socios—of having had no other choice but to govern
themselves given a situation of political acephaly. On this reading, Gonzalez’s suggestion was
that no entity could exist long without proper leadership; and because this was the very situation
forced upon them by Cahuana’s continual appeals and the Court’s stay, they had no other choice
but to elect their own authorities.

As we have seen, this was certainly not the case. And as will become apparent, the 1GJ
did not see things this way. However, before getting to the dictamens and Resolutions that
condemned these elections and acts, let us first address the issue of the books. Not surprisingly,

Silvio Bagnara’s request for a visita led to an IGJ-internal inquiry that revealed that the Actas de
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Asambleas N°2, Actas de Comision Directiva N°2, and the Registro de Asociados N°3 were in

fact requested under false pretenses. Below, | show what these pretenses were.

IGJ Reconciles Its Internal Practices (12 May 2004)

Silvio Bagnara’s official inquiry had prompted the head of the Departamento de Asociaciones
Civiles y Fundaciones to have those at the Area Intervencion y Rubrica de Libros report on the

issuance of the questioned books, which were once again the following:

Book Issued to the CBE on:
Actas de Asambleas N°2 26 February 2002
Actas de Comision Directiva N°2 26 February 2002
Registro de Asociados N°3 20 March 2002

On 12 May 2004, the Area’s Ana Maria Bomparola sent her report back to the Head of the
Department. It included the original request for the books (itself an IGJ form), which was
submitted by Freddy Galan and which bore the signature of the Notary Public Maria Cristina
Aristizabal de Doldan. Galan was of course the head of the CBE’s Interim Commission that was
supervised by Ceferino Gonzalez and advised by Koprivec—the same Interim Commission that
Cahuana had contested and which the 1GJ eventually ruled as lacking regular authority in its
Resolution 0628.

There are a number of things to note in Galan’s submission. First, Galan requested the
second book in each of the following series: Actas de Asambleas, Actas de Comision Directiva,
and Registro de Asociados. For each, and not having the reigning books in his possession, he
filed Code 001 to make and justify the request. Code 001 is used to request a subsequent book in
any series on the grounds that the reigning book has been filled 75% and witnessed by a N otary
Public. This is where the Notary Aristizabal de Doldan came in. With her signature on the form,
she had sworn that she had witnessed the reigning Actas de Asambleas N°1, Actas de Comision
Directiva N°1, and Registro de Asociados N°1. We know that this was impossible because
Cahuana had these books (as well as Registro de Asociados N°2) in his possession until 26 April
2002, the date upon which he submitted them to the 1GJ to become part of the proceedings. All

of this is dutifully explained in Bomparola’s official report.
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La Sra. Escribana interveniente al solicitar en primera instancia la rubrica de los libros
mencionados anteriormente, pide los N°2 de cada uno de ellos, consignando en la foja,
cddigo 001, en la Ref. Codigo de Informe sobre libros antecedentes, apartado C, lo cual
corresponde segun lo establece la Resolucién General 7/95, Anexo V, a libro antecedente
utilizado al 75% exhibido ante el escribano solicitante.

The Area, not knowing otherwise, went ahead and issued Actas de Asambleas N°2 and Actas de

Comisidn Directiva N°2 on 26 February 2002 under what were thus false pretenses.

Se emiten en primera instancia los libros Actas de Asambleas N°2 y Actas de Comision
Directiva N°2.

As regareds Galan’s request for Registro de Asociados N°2, we must first remember that the
entire conflict gripping the CBE was initially one of who had the right to vote, itself a function of
just who enjoyed membership in the first place. Indeed, the conflict was none other than a war
over the membership. This war revealed the great extent to which everything hinged upon what
the Registro de Asociados (in all its books) officially contained. Second, we must remember that
the proceedings contains evidence that Ceferino Gonzalez, his counsel Koprivec, and by
extension the Interim Commission under their watch knew that Registro de Asociados N°2
already existed®. Indeed, these were the members that the Green List reluctantly allowed to vote
in Urna N°2 and which became the object of their original impugnation. One can thus conclude
that, in this war of members, Galan’s attempt to ask the IGJ for a ‘new’ Registro de Asociados
N°2 was likely an attempt to replace this very book. Certainly, we saw this tactic of ‘replacing’
members was employed later that year by Gonzalez and Koprivec in their submission of their
roll of eligible voters which the 1GJ wrongly ratified.

Yet the tactic failed: the IGJ informed Galéan that Registro de Asociados N°2 already
existed. Nearly a month later, on March 20, 2002, Galan and the Notary Aristizabal de Doldan
returned to the 1GJ and changed the code of their request from 001 to 002. Code 002 is used to
request a subsequent book (i.e. what is essentially a replacement book) when it has been
confirmed that the reigning book has been lost (extraviado). To substantiate this request,

whoever makes it must provide an official police report affirming that he who seeks it claims—

2 See “Nota de la Comisién Directiva a la Junta Electoral” from December 20, 2001, in which it states: “debera
utilizarse el padron completo asociados, es decir, el libro N°1 que incluye a los asociados del nimero 1 — 559 y su
continuador, el libro N°2 que incluye los asociados del numero 560 al 796 inclusive”.
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under oath—that this is in fact the case. Galan and the Notary conveniently produced a police

report to this effect, and were issued Registro de Asociados N°3.

Dado que la asociacién poseia rubricado el Registro de Asociados N°2, 22 de junio de
2000, rabrica 48647-00, se le observa el pedido de dicho libro indicandole esta situacion.

La Escribana, en contestacion de vista el 20 de marzo de 2002, menciona que el libro N°2
se encuentra extraviado, modifica el Cadigo de Informe de Libro Antecedente,
consignando 02, el cual corresponde a denuncia policial/judicial por extravio, segin Res.
Gral. 7/95, anteriormente mencionada.

Como consecuencia de esta vista se emite la oblea correspondiente al libro Registro de
Asociados N°3, rubrica 11781-02 de fecha 20 de marzo de 2002.

However, based on the police report they submitted, things do not add up—either for the
pretenses under which the first two books were issued, or for the pretense under which this third
book was requested.

First of all, the police report, which dates to February 7, 2002, was filed the day before
Ceferino Gonzalez sent certified requests to Cahuana for the same books (which happened on
February 8, 2002, and which is evidence that the ‘usurpers’ knew Cahuana had them all along).
This casts original doubt on the veracity of the claim that the books were lost, and on which the
police report was secured.

Second, the police report claims the loss of three books, which one takes to be the
originals: Actas de Asambleas N°1, Actas de Comisidn Directiva N°1, and Registro de

Asociados N°1.

Buenos Aires, 7 Febrero 2002
Certificado de Denuncia de Extravio

La Comisaria de la seccional 102 certifica que en el dia de la fecha se ha presentado
Koprivec, Norman, que para acreditar su identidad exhibio DNI... con domicilio en
Uruguay 385 Capital Federal denunciando el extravio de un libro de Comisién Directiva,
un libro de Actas de Asambleas, y un libro Registro de Asociados, todos estos
pertenecientes a la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil, Reg. 1.G.J.
1.520.370.

That this submission claims the loss of all three books retroactively undermines the credibility of

the pretenses under which the second books in each series were originally issued. In other
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words, how, if all the books had been verified lost by the early date of February 7, 2002, so the
report goes, could the Notary have witnessed each filled 75% of the way and initially claim Code
001 for their respective successors? Certainly one cannot witness a book that is not there to be
witnessed®’. Did this police report not raise any red flags within the IGJ’s Area about its prior
issuances?

Third, we must ask how, if this police report claimed the loss of “Registro de Asociados”
(which we must take to be Registro de Asociados N°1), can this same report be used to claim the
loss of Registro de Asociados N°2? Certainly, for the IGJ’s Area to issue Registro de Asociados
N°3, it should have required a police report that specified the loss of its direct predecessor,
Registro de Asociados N°2. Of course, all of this is moot, given that Cahuana had the books in
his power and any claim of having witnessed them or their loss was patently fabricated.

In all this the 1GJ must bear its share of the guilt. Although the 1GJ cannot be expected to
see through fraudulent claims made by Galan and the Notary Public (e.g. of having witnessed all
three books filled 75% of the way), those at the IGJ’s Area should have realized what was at
work when Galan and the Notary changed their Code from 001 to 002 and submitted a police
report that did not square with the facts. Moreover, as Cahuana claimed in his denuncia above,
the 1GJ should never have issued the CBE—which was in complete crisis—new books in the
first place. The Inspectors handling the case (i.e. those who were already filing as early as 23
January 2002 that the 1GJ would not recognize any official President given the irregularities
marring the election December 22, 2001) should have been in touch with those at the Area, and
vice versa. Indeed, as Cahuana and his counsel Mufioz would argue shortly thereafter on May
17, 2004, the 1GJ must be functionally integrated. Their complaint, which they ground in the

State’s own code, is that the State is a singular entity with a singular teleology.

Sefior Inspector General de Justicia,

21 One is wont to ask why, if Koprivec had a police report in hand affirming all three books had been lost, did Galan
not simply request replacements for all three under the premise of ‘extravio’ (Code 002)? In other words, why
complicate the proceedings with a Notary’s fabrications? To this question, one can imagine that if Galan and
Koprivec had claimed that all three books had been lost, the 1IGJ—Dby then already intervening in the case—would
have likely been given to launch an inquiry. In such an inquiry, one can imagine that Cahuana would have been the
first person they asked—an event that would have produced the original books and therefore frustrated any request
for new ones. This is likely the reason why Galan and Koprivec sought to obtain their own books through the
normal, default channel of filing Code 001. Indeed, such a ‘normal’ request would not raise any eyebrows. And
indeed, as we just saw, it did not.
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Teodoro Cahuana, en calidad de presidente de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar ...a
V.S. con respeto expongo y digo:

... pareciera ser que [los inspectores] desconocen totalmente que la 1.G.J. es un todo y
que si bien esta dividida o subdividida, en tanto es un organismo del Estado Nacional,
debe responder y resolver coherentemente los cuestiones que se plantean, el estado
nacional y la IGJ en particular, ‘constituye una unidad juridica teleologica y etica’
segun dictamenes 190: 103, 193, 56, entre muchos otros, esto no deberia ser necesario
que el suscrito se lo recuerde a [los inspectores]...

Finally, the 1GJ, and in particular the Election Committee it designated, must also be faulted for
letting the CBE’s legal proceedings carry on with what were essentially two sets of books for
two full years. Let us remember that Cahuana turned in his original, legitimate set of books to
the 1GJ on 26 April 2002. The discovery of this second, illegitimate set of books (which
happened not by the IGJ’s hand, but by Cahuana’s) did not come about until after the 1GJ
allowed new memberships based on their ‘good faith’, and the virtue of the Interim Commission
that admitted them. This discovery also did not happen until after the 1GJ had ratified a roll of
eligible voters based on these admittances. And the discovery did not happen until after two
elections had been held in violation of the Court’s stay and without the IGJ’s authorization.

Nevertheless, as we’ll see below, the IGJ interpreted these failures, not as evidence of its
own shortcomings, but rather as the product of “irreconcilable antagonisms in the CBE”. On the
IGJ’s reckoning, because the CBE had been given every chance to rectify itself and failed—that
is, because all attempts to get the CBE’s own parties to re-establish their own institutional

integrity had failed—there was only one recourse left: formal Intervention.

IGJ Resolution 0837 (13 July 2004)

In Resolution 0837, the Inspector General formally petitions the Minister of Justice to grant a
formal Intervention of the CBE. Hisrationale is that all other measures taken by the 1GJ to
engender cooperation between the sides have failed. Despite the fact that the burden of good
governance has always fallen on the CBE, itself taken as a corporate entity that enjoys functional
autonomy as a private juridical person, Argentine administrative law states that where

‘antagonized factions’ in its heart cannot be reconciled, and where this conflict jeopardizes the

106



entity’s mission, the State reserves the right to formally intervene. State-Intervention in a private
entity given a liberal regime should thus be understood as a last resort made on behalf of the
members of the entity and on behalf of the public good generally. Indeed, it is conceived as an
altima ratio by the Argentine State. Yet where the State understands its own mission as ensuring
and promoting the public good (i.e. that set of conditions that enables not only community but
citizens the ability to achieve their own perfection?), it will fight to salvage any entity it has
authorized to pursue this good.

Where Intervention is granted by the Minister, such a measure would entail the
appointment of a third-party Regulator (Interventor Normalizador) to ‘normalize’ the CBE’s
institutional practices®®. Such a charge would entail that the Interventor physically replace any
and all leadership within the entity, and thus work directly on-site in Escobar. His ultimate task
would be to coordinate and oversee legitimate elections through which the CBE’s members
could choose rightful leaders. This, however, would depend upon the normalization of more
immediate institutional practices, a task for which any Interventor is granted wide-ranging
powers.

While this request for formal Intervention is ultimately granted, and while neither the first
Interventor, nor his successor, accomplished their task given the work of the “usurpers’, it is
nevertheless important here to illuminate the IGJ’s justification for the measure. For not only do
we see the IGJ formally pronounce on the issues surrounding the unsanctioned elections of 2002
and 2003 and the wrongfully issued books, we also find a summary of the CBE’s proceedings
since the beginning of the conflict. This summary is helpful for further fleshing out the
expectations the IGJ had of the CBE, as well as those the CBE’s founders had of the IGJ.

Resolution 0837 begins by recounting the original complaint (denuncia) submitted by Ceferino
Gonzélez in which he impugned the election of December 22, 2001. Without mentioning the

presentation by Cahuana that countered this, the Resolution moves directly to cite the various

%2 This is that definition of the public good supplied by the Argentine Supreme Court (Fallos, 295: 157) mentioned
earlier on.

2 As seen later in the dissertation, the fact that this third-party is chosen by the public state to regulate a private
entity is itself curious, and raises debate even within the IGJ itself as to what his status is. Indeed, where the CBE’s
first Interventor is corrupted by the “usurpers’, the Inspectors must themselves ask whether, in referring him to the
Judiciary for penal proceedings, he should be treated as a public official or a private citizen that has been given
charge of a private entity. Certainly, the Courts would resolve this matter and apply the relevant code in deciding
his innocence or guilt.
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Articles of Resolution 0628 from July 22, 2002: that Article (1) declared the election assembly of
December 22, 2001 irregular and inoperative (this decision, as we’ll recall, had nothing to do
with the legality of members voting in Urna N° 2, which was upheld, but rather with the fact that
the electoral roll was not exhibited 50 days prior to the election as required by the CBE’s
Statutes); that Article (2) resolved to call a new election for the entire slate of CBE authorities
within 70 days; and that Article (3) resolved to designate two Inspectors from the 1GJ to ensure
that all pre-election requirements were carried out as per the entity’s Statutes.

Next, the Resolution recounts how on August 7, 2002 the Inspectors called a meeting
between the two sides, represented by Teodoro Cahuana and Jenaro Moyano on the one hand,
and Ceferino Gonzélez and Freddy Galan on the other, to request that each submit their own list
of members deemed eligible to vote in order to configure an official roll. The Resolution
recounts how each side agreed to have the Inspectors serve as an Electoral Committee for the

proceedings.

Que a partir de lo resuelto por el Organismo, a efectos de dar cumplimiento con lo
establecido en el articulo 2° de la resolucion indicada, en cuanto a ‘... llevar a cabo los
controles preelectorales necesarios para la concrecién del acto comicial y hasta la
proclamacion de las autoridades electas’, los Inspectores de Justicia designados a dichos
efectos, emitieron dictamen ad hoc, en el que—entre otras cosas—sefalaron que °...debe
tenerse en cuenta para poder llevar a cabo el control preelectoral oportunamente
indicado que con fecha 7 de agosto de 2002 se celebr6 una reunidn en la sede de este
Organismo a la que comparecieron los Sres. Jenaro Moyano, Teodoro Cahuana por una
parte, y Freddy Galan y Ceferino Gonzalez por la otra, en la que estuvieron presentes el
entonces Inspector General de Justicia, Dr. Francisco Andriacchi, la entonces Jefe del
Departamento de Asociaciones Civiles y Fundaciones, y el Inspector del mismo
Departamento Dr. Adrian Covelli. En dicha reunion se requirio a las partes que, a
efectos de confeccionar el padron electoral, cada una acompafiase la documentacion o
listados de asociados en condiciones de votar (activos y vitalicios) el que deberia
contener nombre y apellido, nimero de documento, domicilio y categoria de socio.
Ademas de ello, en la misma reunion las partes acordaron que para poder votar, los
socios deberian pagar dichas cuotas hasta el dia de la celebracion del comicio y que los
funcionarios, inspectores designados por la Inspeccion General de Justicia actuarian
como Junta Electoral, atento a la falta de disposiciones estatutarias al respecto en la
entidad.’

The Resolution then states that as the Electoral Committee was configuring the official roll and
setting the schedule for elections, ‘one side’ began to impede the proceedings with excessive

appeals (some which it states ere ‘unfounded’) that required the IGJ to formerly respond. There
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is no question that the Resolution here is referring to the ‘appeals’ made by Cahuana in response

to the dictamens from November 1 and 11, 2002.

Que no obstante este acuerdo inicial entre ambas partes de conformidad con las
autoridades de este Organismo, una de ellas—a medida que los funcionarios designados
comenzaron a conformar el cronograma electoral para el cual se los designara—comenzo
a trabar con sus presentaciones sucesivas—e infundadas en algunos casos—Ias distintas
etapas que debian ir cumpliéndose a los fines de normalizar el funcionamiento de la
entidad, lo que implicé que dichas presentaciones debieran ser respondidas por la
Inspeccion General de Justicia con el dictado de dos actos administrativos de alcance
particular, que es la forma como este Organismo administrativo con funciones
jurisdiccionales se debe manifestar en tales casos.

However, it is interesting to note that the Resolution fails to mention why Cahuana made these
appeals, even if he made some of them relatively late and/or less clearly than his case merited.
That is, the Resolution fails to state that Cahuana contested the IGJ’s official roll on the grounds
that it was none other than the list submitted by Ceferino Gonzalez—one which contained
members admitted by an Interim Commission whose ‘mandato aparente’ should have been
reconsidered given its nefarious acquisition of a duplicate set of books into which these members
were registered. Moreover, even though his specification came relatively late, Cahuana also
discovered that the IGJ’s official roll (because it was Gonzalez’s version) excluded members
legitimately numbered 560 — 796. These were of course those members whose membership and
right to vote were validated by Resolution 0628. Such an exclusion should never have happened,
even less so given that these were also those members rightfully documented in Registro de
Asociados N°2, a book which had been in the hands of the 1GJ while the official roll was being
configured. Thus it does not seem either accurate—or just—to claim, as this Resolution does,
that “one side” began to impede the proceedings with “excessive” appeals, when the ‘other side’
was committing acts that either lacked good faith or were patently fraudulent—acts which were
not only unheeded by the IGJ but which shaped their own Resolutions on behalf of the entity.

Despite this, the Resolution 0837 reviews the terms under which the 1GJ issued its
Resolutions numbering 1183 (dating to December 5, 2002), and 0379 (dating to April 9, 2003),
in which Cahuana’s attempts to lodge appeals of the IGJ’s conduct (recurso jerarquico) were

rejected.
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Que en tal sentido se dictaron la Resolucién 1.G.J. N° 1183, el 5 de diciembre de 2002,
que resolvio rechazar el recurso jerarquico y las solicitudes de suspension del
procedimiento eleccionario y separacion de los integrantes de la Junta Electoral
planteados a fs. 488/491 y la Resolucion 1.G.J. N° 0379, el 9 de abril de 2003 en la que
esta Inspeccidn General de Justicia resolvié rechazar por improcedente otro recurso
jerarquico planteado por el Sr. Teodoro Cahuana contra el dictamen suscripto el 13 de
febrero de 2003 por los Sres. Inspectores de este Organismo, los Dres. Elena Montet,
Adrian Covelli, Silvio Bagnara y Fabian VVandenbosch, obrante a fs. 588/591 en su
articulo 1°, mediante el cual se hizo saber al Sr. Teodoro Cahuana que es principio
general del derecho argentino que la ley se reputa conocida por todos desde el dia de su
publicacién, siendo este el principio al cual debera atenerse el Sr. Cahuana para fundar en
una norma juridica sus pretensiones como interponer recursos en un tramite ante un
Organismo de la Administracion Pablica Nacional.

With regard to the Resolution 0379, the present recounts how Cahuana was reminded that the
way to properly effectuate recurso jerarquico is by appealing directly to the Camara Nacional
de Apelaciones en lo Civil. Indeed, it states that Cahuana’s attempts at such appeals were not
made according to form. As we’ll remember, Cahuana had always directed his appeals to the
IGJ. The parameters for the appeal process, the 1GJ states, are clearly laid out in Article 16 of
Ley 22.315, itselfa function of the Supreme Court decision from 1960 ‘Fernandez Arias
c/Poggio’ (Fallos 247: 646). Indeed, it was this case that established the principle of ‘control
judicial suficiente’: i.e. that any administrative act (e.g. a Resolution made by the 1GJ, being
itself part of the Executive Branch) may be appealed before the appropriate court in the Judicial

Branch (in this case the aforementioned Camara Nacional de Apelaciones).

Que corresponde aclarar que estas resoluciones administrativas no fueron apeladas
mediante la interposicion del recurso de apelacion contemplando en el articulo 16 de la
Ley 22.315 ‘Ley Orgdnica de la Inspeccion General De Justicia’, recurso este que—tal
como tiene dicho este Organismo—Illamado de ‘apelacion directa’, refleja y recepta el
criterio adoptado por la Corte Suprema de Justicia de la Nacion, basicamente en el
precedente ‘Fernandez Arias ¢/Poggio’ dictado en el afio 1960 en el que se destaca el
voto del por entonces magistrado del mas alto Tribunal, el Dr. Julio Oyhanarte.

Although Cahuana has the right to appeal any Resolution made by the IGJ before the Camara
Nacional de Apelaciones, the 1GJ, as an administrative entity, nevertheless enjoys jurisdictional
faculties. That is, Fernandez Arias v. Poggio set the precedent that an Administrative apparatus
endowed with jurisdictional competence will be able to respond better—and in a more timely

fashion—to issues concerning the public interest. Indeed, given the proliferation of entities of
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civil society, the Judicial apparatus would soon be overrun with inquiries and appeals were not
bodies of the Executive Branch endowed with the capacity to decide matters of the public good
both swiftly and deftly (noting, however, that such decisions—i.e. ‘Resolutions’—are always

subject to formal ‘judicial control’ in the final instance).

En este verdadero ‘leading case’ (Ver Vanossi, Jorge R.: Los Ilamados tribunales
administrativos ante el derecho constitucional argentino, ED, 103-841) la Corte destac6
que el reconocimiento de facultades jurisdiccionales a 6rganos administrativos es uno de
los aspectos que en mayor grado atribuye fisonomia relativamente nueva al principio
atinente a la division de poderes. Constituye la amplia idea de que una administracion
agil, eficaz y dotada de extensa competencia, es instrumento apto para resguardar en
determinados aspectos fundamentales intereses colectivos de contenido econémico y
social. (Ver Resolucién I.G.J. N° 18/2000 dictada en el Expediente ‘ Alfredo Nieto ¢/
Asociacion Argentina de Squash Rackets s/Denuncia’, citada en Biagosch, Facundo
Alberto Asociaciones Civiles. Ed. Ad Hoc. Bs. As. 2000 en ‘Apéndice Normativo’ pags.
458/462.

Yet the Resolution states that Cahuana, who was at an impasse with the IGJ’s Electoral
Committee, did not appeal any specific IGJ Resolution before the Courts—thereby leaving them

all in effect as per Article 11 of Ley 19.549 (Ley de Procedimientos Administrativos).

Que tampoco se presento otro recurso administrativo, a lo que si agregamos el lapso de
tiempo transcurrido desde las notificaciones de las resoluciones antes citadas—efectuadas
a los recurrentes en los domicilios constituidos—Ilo que les vali6 adquirir la ‘eficacia’ a la
que hace referencia el articulo 11 de la Ley de Procedimientos Administrativos—Ilas
mismas han quedado firmes.

Instead, Cahuana alleged 1GJ prejudice (arbitrariedad, enemistad manifiesta) and sought
Constitutional Protection (amparo) for his individual rights. On December 26, 2002 he brought
this appeal (116.456/2002) before the Camara Nacional de Apelaciones en lo Civil, specifically
to its Juzgado Nacional de Primera Instancia en lo Civil N°45. That tribunal ruled to suspend the
election of December 27, 2002 as a cautionary measure (medida cautelar) until the question of

this amparo could be resolved.

Que con anterioridad a que pudiera celebrarse el acto asambleario ordenado por este
Organismo, el Juzgado Nacional de Primera Instancia en lo Civil N°45, a cargo del Sr.
Juez Renato Alvarez, con Secretaria Unica a cargo de la Dra. Maria Suarez, con fecha 26
de diciembre de 2002 resolvio “...Decretar la suspension del proceso electoral de la
Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil, y de los plazos establecidos en
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dicho cronograma electoral...’. Con otras palabras, en sede judicial se suspendié el acto
asambleario de eleccion de autoridades al que habia convocado esta Inspeccion General
de Justicia.

The case of Cahuana’s amparo, however, was not decided until May 5, 2004. The Camara’s

Tribunal N°45 ruled against Cahuana’s request for amparo.

Que a fs. 695/700 de estas actuaciones consta la copia de la resolucion judicial dictada en
autos caratulados: ‘Cahuana, Teodoro ¢/ Estado Nacional y otro s/amparo’, que tramita
ante el Juzgado Nacional de Primera Instancia en lo Civil N°45 bajo el nimero de
expediente 116.456/2002 en el cual—con fecha 5 de mayo de 2004—se resolvid
‘...Desestimar la presente accion de amparo, en razon de los fundamentos expuestos en
los considerandos. Con costas a la accionante...’

In that sentence, the Tribunal stated that the ‘arbitrariness’ that Cahuana alleged against the 1GJ
was neither patent nor unequivocal—nor was it clear which of Cahuana’s individual rights had
been compromised by the proceedings. Moreover, the Court stated that amparo cannot be
granted with relation to administrative proceedings unless the latter are patently and clearly

illegal.

El amparo no procede respecto a la actividad administrativa sino cuando ésta es
inequivoca y manifiestamente ilegal, porque la razon de la institucion de aquél, no es
someter a la supervision judicial el desempefio de los funcionarios y organismos
administrativos, sino proveer de remedio inmediato contra la arbitraria invasion palmaria
de derechos reconocidos por la Constitucion Nacional. Ni el control del acierto con que
la administracion desempefia las funciones que la ley le encomienda validamente, ni la
moderacion racional del ejercicio de las atribuciones propias de la administracion son via
de amparo...

Sentada la jurisprudencia que antecede ha de sefialarse que de las constancias
acompafiadas a la causa, especialmente de la documental en copia anexada por la
demandada en relacidn al expediente administrativo pertinente, cuanto a traves de los
argumentos que se exponen en el inicio, no se advierte en forma inmediata, clara, precisa
y contundente que exista arbitrariedad o ilegalidad manifiestas. Es mas, no sélo ello no
surge de forma clara e inequivoca sino que el suscripto advierte asimismo, que en
definitiva, la cuestion que ha sido introducida a través de la presente accion de amparo se
ha tornado abstracta.

In the next set of considerandos, Resolution 0837 holds the CBE up against certain ideals

for the purposes of justifying the ultimate call for a formal, ‘normalizing’ intervention. Its
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rationale for the latter is that the CBE (taken as a corporate body) has failed to resolve its own
conflicts—i.e. that the entity is marred by irreconcilable differences that have compromised its
ability to pursue the mission for which it was authorized. In laying the foundation for this call,
the Inspector General begins by citing that key part of Resolution 0628 that states that the CBE
must, by appealing to their own fundamental collective identifications—that is, afectos
superadores—transcend whatever differences are producing the conflict. That is, though the 1GJ
is there to guide the entity through proceedings designed to re-establish its institutional regularity
(issuing declarations with which the CBE must comply, lest it lose its charter), the burden of

setting things right is to be borne by the CBE’s member’s themselves.

Que resuelta del todo conducente a la resolucion de estas actuaciones, atender y
considerar que—tal como el Organismo sefiald en uno de los considerandos de la
Resolucion 1.G.J. N° 0628 de fecha 22 de julio de 2002, ‘las diferencias advertibles entre
los socios de la Institucion—todos ellos vinculados a la Colectividad Boliviana en la
Argentina y unidos por afectos superadores—amerita la necesidad de realizar los
mayores esfuerzos para alcanzar su pronta solucion y en cuya procura se orientan las
medidas que se adoptan por la presente, lo cual ratifica el ideario que primé por parte
del Organismo en la consideracion y resolucion de las cuestiones que se suscitaron
durante la etapa previa al comicio...’

Resolution 0837 then states that however much the CBE was implored to overcome the
antagonisms that gripped it, the parties to the conflict failed to reconcile their differences. The
“internal sphere” of the CBE—which should ideally be a site of peaceable relations and conjoint

activities vis-a-vis the public good—only revealed perpetual conflict®.

Que no obstante ello, bien puede afirmarse que aquellas cuestiones suscitadas antes del
comicio no pudieron ser resueltas en la esfera interna de la entidad Colectividad
Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil, el cual debiera ser ambito propio de convivencia
pacifica entre personas que—a partir del ejercicio efectivo del derecho de ‘asociarse con
fines tutiles’ contemplado en el articulo 14 de la Constitucion de la Nacion Argentina
‘para todos los hombres del mundo que quieran habitar el suelo argentino’, tal como
establece el Preambulo de nuestra Constitucion—deciden asociarse y constituir una
asociacion civil que, en este caso particular, cuenta ademas con autorizacién otorgada por
el Estado para funcionar con el caracter de persona juridica por lo que debe tener y
desarrollar durante toda su vida un objeto de bien comdn, tal como surge de los

? Regarding the ‘internal sphere’: In a Dictamen from June 4, 2004—i.e. that which sets up Resolution 0837, the
author (Fabian Vandenbosch) states: “en el entendimiento de que es en la esfera interna y con la participacion y
voluntad de los propios socios expresada en asamblea, lo que habria de posibilitar una resolucién de las
controversias planteadas.”
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elementos y requisitos esenciales de este tipo de personas juridicas, establecidos en el
articulo 33, 1° inciso de la segunda parte del Codigo Civil.

Delving deeper, the Resolution states that the pursuits benefitting the public good for which any
civil association is granted juridical personhood depend both on an ‘objective’ element and a
‘subjective’ one. That is, on the Inspector General’s view, what must obtain ‘objectively’ for the
functioning of a civil association is a structural conjunction of human capital: members must be
articulated in a way that allows proposals and projects benefitting the public good to be brought
to fruition. Yet a ‘subjective’ element must obtain as well. Suffusing this objective alignment of
human capital must be a will (voluntad). That is, there must be a fundamental and shared sense
of purpose that continually reproduces the cohesion of the entity’s members and orients their

actions toward a common end. In other words, there must be an affectio societatis.

Pero tal objetivo solamente puede lograrse a partir de una equilibrada articulacion y
combinacion de dos aspectos de esta cuestion a resolver: a) En primer término se
requiere de un elemento de tipo objetivo que estara dado por la efectiva interrelacion
comun de los socios en procura de la realizacion de finalidades comunes que tengan por
principal objeto el bien comun y b) En segundo término, requiere de un elemento ubicado
en el plano subjetivo que estard dado por la voluntad de hacerlo en forma duradera con
continuidad y sentido de perdurabilidad, respetando y haciendo respetar entre los
consocios las normas estatutarias de las que surgiran sus derechos y obligaciones, tal
como establece el articulo 40 del Caodigo Civil, de modo que se manifieste un verdadero e
indudable estado de affectio societatis general permanente.

Upon reviewing the CBE’s proceedings, the Inspector General concludes that the conflict over
the roll of eligible voters and the appeal before the Tribunal demonstrate the total inexistence of
any commonly shared will to conjointly pursue work on behalf of the public good. These
political conflicts, he states, exceed the bounds of what could be considered institutionally

normal.

Todo lo expuesto constituye, sin el menor margen de dudas, una clara manifestacion de
inexistencia del necesario &nimo de convivencia pacifica dirigida hacia una finalidad en
comun. Es desde todo punto de vista evidente que las constancias obrantes en las
actuaciones que demuestran que los desacuerdos con respecto al padron de socios en
condiciones de votar en la eleccion que culminaron con las resoluciones dictadas por este
organismo sefialadas supra y la solicitud en sede judicial de una medida cautelar para
suspender dicho acto, trascienden largamente lo que puede considerarse el natural disenso
politico institucional.
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Indeed, the Inspector General states that where the 1GJ had hoped to find a willingness among
the parties to resolve the conflict, it found no evidence of reciprocity or mutuality. Rather, the
IGJ found one side acting unilaterally—not to mention in violation of the Court’s stay—to elect
(its own) authorities for the whole of the CBE. Curiously, the Resolution does not name who

this is.

Del mismo modo, surge claramente de lo actuado que las intenciones y finalidad
buscadas en todo momento por esta Inspeccion General de Justicia no encontrd
reciprocidad ni coincidencia en el &mbito interno de la entidad Colectividad Boliviana de
Escobar, Asociacion Civil; es mas, triste recordar que incluso una de las partes,
desobedeciendo el mandato judicial cautelar antes indicado, resolvi6 por su exclusiva
cuenta—mucho antes que se resolviera el amparo y con la gravedad que esta
desobediencia implica en nuestro sistema juridico—seguir adelante con la convocatoria a
elecciones en el seno de la entidad.

Evidence of all of this (i.e. of the unauthorized elections and the intractable antagonism they

reflect) is found in entries in the entity’s administrative books.

Que asi también dicho acto electoral surge del libro de actas que corre con las presentes.
Su tratamiento ha sido consignado a partir del acta 110 y siguientes del mencionado
libro—fundamentalmente la 111—donde se determind la fecha y el cronograma electoral.
Dicho registro refleja la celebracion de actuaciones societarias en franca desobediencia
de la medida cautelar dictada en sede judicial y sin conocimiento ni autorizacion de este
Organismo, de desde luego, obvio es recordarlo, jamas podria convalidarlo.

As we have seen, the situation of the entity’s books was itself irregular. The Inspector General
states that the irreconcilable differences at the heart of the CBE had resulted in two sets of books
among the litigants, with the duplicate set being acquired through false pretenses. (Note
however that the Inspector General states that this second set was acquired through the notarized
claim that the first set had been lost. Let us remember that only Registro de Asociados N°3 had
been requested on this premise; the other two books were requested through the claim that the

Notary had witnessed their predecessors filled 75% of the way).

Que dicho antagonismo, segun surge de los presentes actuados, ha llevado a que cada
grupo tuviera su propio juego de libros rubricados por este Organismo, obtenida la
duplicacion mediante la falsa denuncia de extravio, lo que amerita el dictado de otra
Resolucion en el dia de la fecha, declarando la irregularidad e ineficacia a efectos
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administrativos de tal acto de duplicidad de rubricas correspondientes a los libros de la
entidad.

That this second set of books was acquired through false pretenses required the 1GJ to issue a
separate Resolution addressing the issue. To this effect, Resolution 0857 was issued shortly after
the present on July 19, 2004. In it, Article 1° duly declared ‘irregular and inoperative’ three
books: Actas de Asambleas N°2, Actas de Comision Directiva N°2 and Registro de Asociados
N°3. One should note that while these books have been declared ‘inoperative’, the IGJ never (as
far as one can see) pronounces on the validity of the members registered in them. Having
reviewed above the IGJ’s precedent on the matter (i.e. its finding in favor of those who seek to
join a civil association in good faith) one can suspect that the IGJ would not disallow them.

For the Inspector General, all of this—i.e. the disputes concerning the configuration of
the roll of eligible voters, the appeal for Constitutional Protection, the elections held without 1GJ
authorization, and the duplicate set of books (not to mention the lack of reciprocity and mutuality
motivating them)—reveals the extent to which the CBE has been paralyzed by its internal
conflict. This paralysis, on the Inspector General estimation, has made the CBE unable to pursue

the mission for which it was granted juridical personhood.

Que de todo ello bien puede interpretarse como corolario manifiesto e inequivoco, el
irreconciliable enfrentamiento interno que paraliza la Institucion, el cual imposibilita el
cumplimiento de las finalidades que el Estado tuvo en cuenta al momento de autorizar su
funcionamiento como persona juridica.

The Inspector General then states that the existence of protracted, irreconcilable differences in
the heart of a civil association constitutes grounds for the revocation of its juridical
personhood—i.e. its authorization to function as such. This, he states, is specified in Article 99

of the Normas de la Inspeccion General de Justicia.

Que no puede soslayarse, en consecuencia, la probada existencia de irreconciliables
nucleos antagonicos que comprometen la unidad de la agrupacién, situacion ésta
expresamente contemplada como causal de denegatoria de la autorizacién para funcionar
con el caracter de persona juridica a las asociaciones civiles, en el articulo 99 inc. a) de
las Normas de la Inspeccion General de Justicia Resolucion (G) 1.G. P.J. N° 6/80.
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A revocation of authorization, however, is performed only when all other options have been
exhausted. Before that might happen, the 1GJ is endowed with the capacity to formally intervene
in an entity in the hopes of resolving the issues producing the conflict. This faculty is granted by
Article 10 of the Ley Organica de la Inspeccion General de Justica, and is admissible upon
verifying any of the following: that acts have been performed in violation of the law or the
entity’s statutes, that an entity is plagued by irremediable antagonisms, that the entity cannot

perform the mission for which it was authorized, and/or that the public interest merits it.

Que en consecuencia, y para resolver las cuestiones de fondo que se han dado en estas
actuaciones no puede dejarse de sefialar que la ley 22.315 contempla en el articulo 10,
inc. j) la atribucion a este Organismo de solicitar al Ministerio de Justicia de la Nacion la
intervencion de las asociaciones civiles si verifica la existencia de actos graves que
importan violacion de la ley, del estatuto o del reglamento; si la medida resulta necesaria
en resguardo del interés publico, si existen irregularidades no subsanables o si la entidad
no puede cumplir su objeto.

Upon analyzing the CBE’s proceedings vis-a-vis the legal regime supporting it, the Inspector
General concludes that all efforts made by the 1GJ to get the litigants to resolve the conflict in the
CBE’s ‘internal sphere’ have failed. Indeed, he concludes that there are in fact irreconcilable
antagonisms, that violations of court decisions have occurred, and that the entity is no longer
able to pursue its mission. There is thus sufficient cause to petition the Minister of Justice for a

‘normalizing intervention’.

Realizada esta sistematizacion y andlisis ‘normativo-finalista’, se concluye que asiste
razén objetiva para solicitar la intervencion de la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar,
Asociacion Civil, toda vez que, a pesar del esfuerzo realizado en procura de encontrar
vias internas societarias para lograr la finalizacién del estado de conflicto en dicha
entidad, se ha verificado la imposibilidad de conciliar a los grupos enfrentados, hasta tal
punto que se ha desobedecido una decision judicial, todo lo cual conlleva a una situacion
actual que impide el desarrollo institucional; antes bien, lo paraliza.

For the Inspector General, such a normalizing intervention is not only in the interest of the public
good, itis a duty of the IGJ. Indeed, the IGJ, as part of the State, authorizes and regulates civil
associations because these entities perform work that the State sees as comparable to its own. In
other words, the State has an interest in preserving these entities because they, like the State

itself, pursue the good of the political community.
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La Inspeccion General de Justicia debe fiscalizar permanentemente el funcionamiento de
las entidades a las que autoriza para funcionar como persona juridica, velando por su
perdurabilidad por tratarse de instituciones cuya existencia interesa al Estado, como
responsable del bienestar de la comunidad que rige. En consecuencia debe, en
situaciones como la descripta en la Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar, Asociacion Civil,
solicitar al Sr. Ministro de Justicia la intervencion.

For all of the above, and as per Articles 6 and 10 of the Ley Orgéanica de la Inspeccion General
de Justica and Articles 99 and 117 of the Normas de la Inspeccion General de Justicia, the

Inspector General resolves to:

Article 1: Request that the Minister of Justice declare a formal intervention and designate an

Interventor for the Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar for a period of 180 days.

Article 2: Elevate the present to the Minister for the purpose of carrying out the former.

Por todo ello, lo establecido en los Arts. 6° inc. f) y 10° inc. f) de la ley N° 22.315; los
articulos 99, 117 y siguientes de las Normas de la Inspeccién General de Justicia y lo
dictaminado por el Departamento de Asociaciones Civiles y Fundaciones a fs. 703/709,

EL INSPECTOR GENERAL DE JUSTICIA DE LA NACION
RESUELVE:

Articulo 1° - Solicitar al Sr. Ministro de Justicia, Seguridad y Derechos Humanos la
intervencion y designacion de interventor normalizador de la Colectividad Boliviana de
Escobar por un plazo de ciento ochenta (180) dias.

Articulo 2° - Elevar las presentes actuaciones mediante nota de estilo al Sr. Ministro, a
los fines indicados en el articulo anterior.

Conclusion

There are a number of things to conclude from exploring the legal dimensions of the CBE. As
seen through the exegesis above, one can see how the legal regime surrounding civil associations

has allowed the CBE’s ‘usurpers’ to become entrenched. The proceedings reveal that the respect
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the liberal Argentine State has for the functional autonomy of civil associations (themselves
authorized to operate as private juridical persons), coupled with the expectation that overarching
attachments (afectos superadores) will unite the members therein, create a kind of conjuncture
that can be exploited by nefarious interests. Indeed, the very means by which the IGJ’s
regulatory pronouncements are binding reflects this. Because the 1GJ, as part of the Executive
Branch, can only declare CBE administrative acts ‘irregular’ and ‘inoperative’, all it really does
is change the CBE’s juridical status. That is, while maintaining a position of not recognizing the
CBE as juridically felicitous (i.e. a status that could ultimately lead to the revocation of its
authorization to function as such) is meant to ‘force’ the CBE back in line in accordance with its
own Statutes and national law, the burden of restoring institutional regularity falls immediately
upon the CBE itself. As just mentioned, this is a tall order when the entity is only ever addressed
juridically as a corporate body, and when nefarious interests manipulate “CBE” efforts under the
guise of good faith. As seen over the two years of proceedings analyzed above, exploitations of
this conjuncture can endure so long as the IGJ is not pushed to revoke the entity’s charter and
reassign its patrimonies. One should note that this is all at the expense of the public good, which
the Argentine State sees itself as ensuring and cultivating. As | suggest in the Introduction to this
dissertation, the entrenchment of the CBE’s ‘usurpation’ can be read as a structural issue caused
by the uneasy relationship between right and virtue in liberal polities. Where the system of right
is meant to ensure individual freedoms, it must ultimately be suffused with a communitarian
virtue. As critics of liberalism have pointed out, right is simply not enough for a just political
community. As defenders of liberalism have countered, virtue was always part of the original
formulation. What this balance, or more precisely, configuration, looks like given variation in

liberal polities warrants investigation.

This is certainly a question about ethics. But it is not the only one, and one that | cannot attend
to fully in this dissertation. What | hope this chapter has also accomplished, beyond letting the
litigants present themselves and their interests in their own words, is to raise a set of questions
about ethics regarding the Bolivians of Escobar that can be attended to ethnographically.
Working through the legal proceedings on the CBE’s crisis we have seen that the 1GJ has
concluded two things about the Bolivians, both of which are gleaned through this last Resolution.

The first is that it believes the CBE’s members to be united by overarching attachments (afectos
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superadores). The second is that, despite this, there are irreconcilable differences between
antagonized factions in the heart of the CBE. With the CBE poised for a formal Intervention—a
process | illuminate in a return to the proceedings in Chapter 9—we are in a position to ask the
following questions. First, are the Bolivians of Escobar actually united by such overarching
attachments? Can this be presumed? Certainly, in looking at the CBE’s dossier, the Inspector
General sees the entity’s Statutes stating that ‘solidarity between Bolivian brothers’ is one of its
principal objectives. But what does it mean to be a Bolivian? And what does it mean to be a
Bolivian in Escobar, Argentina? As suggested in the Introduction to the foregoing exegesis,
there are many kinds of Bolivians that complicate such questions. Second, and related to the
first, where Cahuana has argued that the “usurpers’ desire to control the CBE and its patrimony
in order to expand their own revenue-generating enterprises in the CBE’s Market, we must ask
whether this is all they’re doing. That is, we must ask: Is the crisis over the CBE simply about
money and greed? Or is there a deeper story—one that might be traced back through the
immigration to the highlands of Potosi? What might we find on this journey? Finally, if we
assent to the Inspector General’s belief that afectos superadores are required to make the CBE as
an entity of the public good function as such, we are in a position to ask whether such
identifications are possible. Indeed, where we see that they currently do not obtain, we might

ask whether the crisis of the CBE might paradoxically produce them.

All of these questions are the subjects treated in the ethnographic chapters that follow.
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Chapter 2:

Bolivian Economy of Otherness

Introduction

In the last chapter I presented a ‘legal’ picture of the crisis of the CBE. Taking the proceedings
as a line of evidence, one sees both the machinations by the ‘usurpers’ and a limited—and often
ineffective—regulatory apparatus playing the major roles. While many critics of the
‘usurpation’ have in fact blamed those behind it and the Argentine State for the failure of the
CBE to serve the public good, many with whom | worked read the matter in more complex ways.
While they grant that the ‘usurpation’ and the co-optation of the State (a matter | explore in
Chapter 9) are very much about money and greed, they argue that the crisis of the CBE sits on a
deeper ‘human’ crisis—one stemming from the excesses of envy and pride.

Thus, to tell the story of the CBE’s crisis from the point of view of those caught in its
wake—i.e. ‘ethnographically’—one must tell the story of envy. Indeed, envy is implicated in the
motivations behind the “usurpation’, in the manner in which it was orchestrated, and in the
manner in which it became productive as a regime of the ‘private’ good. Given this, one of the
central questions I ask in this dissertation is: If envy caused the take-over of the CBE, likely the
largest organization of Bolivians outside of Bolivia, how did it become such a force? From
where did it come? | argue that while envy was significant in the highlands of Potosi, i.e. the
home of most of the CBE’s members, it ‘exploded’ as a function of the social and economic
changes wrought through their emigration to Argentina, and to Escobar specifically. | also argue
that because the CBE shaped and in some instances created these changes, particularly through
its creation of the Market, it contributed to this explosion. Where the Market concentrated

economic relations, accelerated differentiation, and put this differentiation on public display,
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envy undergirded the very ‘usurpation’ of the CBE. Because the latter changed access to capital,
envy also undergirded widespread complicity in it.

Telling the story of envy, and through it the CBE’s crisis, means much more than
charting its emergence through the structural changes entailed through the emigration to in
Escobar. One must also illuminate the dynamics of envy—or, as mentioned in the Introduction,
the envy ‘complex’. By ‘complex’ I mean the multiple ways that envy is expressed, referenced,
and engaged. Envy can be read through pride, just as it can be read through stinginess. It can be
felt both as a desire and an anxiety. It has a ‘discourse’, but it is also about the ‘events’ that both
give rise to and become recursively shaped by this discourse. No matter what, envy is always
about relationships, and the ways that people—and groups (most often ethnic groups)—
understand themselves in relational perspective.

What one finds in illuminating this complex is that envy happens over ‘progress’, from
the Spanish progresar. Many in Escobar define envy as a situation in which one does not want
another to progress. This of course begs the question of what progress is, a question that
comprises one of the main objectives in this dissertation. As will become evident in the
following chapters, progress for the Bolivians in Escobar is itself complex. It is an ideology
shaping, and a set of practices comprising, both individual and collective pursuits of
capitalization, economic independence, and codes that are considered ‘modern’. The latter can
be linguistic, technological, religious, or aesthetic. As suggested by the term itself, progress has
much to do with modernity. Ethnographically, one finds that progress is understood and
expressed through terms of backwardness and civilization. Backwardness is most often
communicated through ascriptions like ‘atrasado’ (backward) and ‘ignorante’ (ignorant), while
civilization is often heard through others like ‘despierto’ (awake) and ‘evolucionado’ (evolved).
The idea, or logic, of progress is that someone having roots in backwardness can separate
himself from (or otherwise overcome) them and attain the attributes of civilization. In this way,
progress is about movement. As we’ll see in Chapter 4, progress is also a status, and is thus
relational. When seen in extension, one finds a social configuration in which movements and
negotiations are zero-sum: one’s progress means another’s being left behind (quedarse atras).
The “gaps’ created by progress are those over which envy is felt, expressed, and consequential.

This is not to say that achievements and negotiations of progress are mechanical or

simple, or that the master binary of backwardness and civilization that informs them is always
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stable—even if it is somewhat hegemonic. Achievements and inherited traits undergo constant
re-signification as people claim progress or deny it in another, often playing with dominant
discourses in the process. The ‘things’ of progress range from one’s place of origin to the
language he speaks, from the way one makes his living to the truck he drives, and from one’s
physical characteristics to the sports team he supports. That is, they span race, class, geography,
and culture.

Thus we come upon the purpose of this chapter and the next. By exploring face to face
interactions, | work inductively to illuminate this master trope of civilization and backwardness
and the ways that race, class, culture, and geography are signified through it. In this way |
illuminate the nature and dimensions of the semiotic field through which otherness is configured.
| do this for two reasons. The first concerns laying the groundwork for understanding what
ultimately becomes known as envy. By illuminating the terms through which otherness is
configured, | can show how markers of backwardness are things of shame, and how they can be
fingered by others to provoke humiliation. Indeed, much of the social interaction in Escobar is
agonistic. Illuminating this agonism is crucial for understanding motivations to progress, i.e. to
shed those things over which one feels shame or is humiliated. It isalso crucial for
understanding the ways one desires and chooses to progress. Indeed, one of the principal
arguments of this dissertation is that many in Escobar seek to negotiate their racial, ethnic, or
class status by capitalizing. To wit, the purchase of a new or bigger truck, or the acquisition of a
greenhouse on one’s farm, gives an individual or a family new material with which to ‘work on’
their ascribed status. Wealth and economic independence allow one to escape the pain (dolor) of
ethnic and economic discrimination. As we will see, what often happens through capitalizations
and the status they afford is that those who have ‘progressed’ come to discriminate others
through the very ethnic and class terms through which they experienced shame or humiliation.
Lording one’s progress over another in this way is experienced and known as ‘pride’ (orgullo)—
a cultural construction which is frequently rendered as envy. Thus, where | am ultimately
interested in illuminating the dynamics of envy and their socio-political consequences—and
specifically the ways they have compromised the CBE as an entity of the public good—, it is
first necessary to illuminate the motivations and means of progress. As | hope to demonstrate in

this chapter and the next, these motivations cannot themselves be understood without exploring
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the ways that otherness is not only constructed, but is itself a source of pain that is culturally
constructive.

Beyond tracing out the beginnings of what amounts to a visceral economy, there is a
second need for illuminating the nature and dimensions of the semiotic field through which
otherness is configured. This has to do with corporate identifications, and specifically with kinds
of Bolivians. Seeing how race, class, culture and geography are signified with respect to the
master binary of civilization and backwardness is necessary for understanding the identities of—
and relationships between—the ethnic nationalities and lower level groups that are indexed by
such markers. Indeed, what it means to be a Qolla (from Potosi), a Chapaco (from
Cochabamba), or a Chapaco (from Tarija) often hinges on indexical and iconic relationships
with racial, class-based, cultural and geographical characteristics. For example, one knows a
“potoco” (someone from Potosi) by the way he looks and speaks, and by the way he does politics
and works. The Potosino, relative to other Bolivians, thus has a set of defining characteristics.
These characteristics not only define the Potosino as such, they also shape his relationship with
other Bolivians. For example, because the Potosino is known for his rural birth and
monolingualism in Quechua, and because these are less esteemed (and often index
backwardness) given the dominant discursive formation, the Potosino stands behind the
Cochabambino, who is more urban and who speaks ‘better’ Spanish. For this reason, Potosinos
sometimes publically conceal or deny competence in Quechua and rural birth, though they may
recognize them privately depending on the context. Thus, illuminating which racial, class,
cultural or geographic characteristics are esteemed and which ones are sources of shame is
important for understanding not only what Potosinos, Cochabambinos, and Tarijefios are relative
to each other, but also for understanding how they regard and engage one another.

While this is an important dimension to the politics of progress, so much so that envy and
pride become thoroughly ethnic and racial phenomena, it is also important for horizontal and
inclusive constructions of Bolivian-ness. Indeed, understanding the terms through which
Bolivians construct difference between themselves is crucial to understanding the fate of a
political entity—i.e. the CBE—that is not only based on the premise of “Bolivian brotherhood”,
but is meant to cultivate “Bolivian solidarity”. Where the CBE has failed to pursue its mission
on behalf of the public good (which many conceptualize as the Bolivian ‘community’),

illuminating the social ecology of Bolivian-ness—and the ways that it is agonistic—is thus a
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necessary step. Where we see the extent to which Bolivians are not always already Bolivians,
and where afectos superadores cannot be presumed but must rather be seen as a project begging
realization, we see how the IGJ’s demands on the “‘usurped’ CBE cannot be met, and how, if
afectos superadores must to be attained such that the CBE can be healed (and simultaneously

become the ‘community’ it is meant to represent), we see what must be overcome.

Ethnic Banter

The best way to illuminate the regime of meaning through which otherness is both configured
and made consequential is to begin with actual practice. Indeed, it is through face to face
interactions that we can see how semiotic assemblages, mappings, and projections made by
individuals in specific contexts draw upon, negotiate, and reproduce macro-planar categories to
perform their work in (and on) the world. While perhaps all kinds of face to face interaction
reveal such engagements, and thus provide purchase on macro-planar categories and valuations,
ethnic banter is particularly productive for this. For not only is ethnic banter precisely about
groups and what they (are made to) stand for, banter is itself play with these constructs and
associations. Indeed, because banter in many cases amounts to a kind of performance in which
some proposition about these constructs or associations is ratified or contested, it becomes good
site through which to apprehend the ‘traditional’ or default ways that groups are indexed by, or
viewed as coterminous with, some attribute or practice. Because of the propositional nature of
banter, which begs the evaluation of the valuations themselves, the larger regime of value
through which this work is performed drawn into the fray. Whether the humor succeeds or fails,
noting that results hinge on the immediate context, will thus have implications for whether this
larger regime of value is reproduced or reformulated, if even momentarily. None of this is to
discount that the propositions about groups and the ways they are said to be known are
themselves patterned, such that we might see such propositions as tokens of a type. Nor should
we overlook the fact that ethnic banter, being itself a popular form of engagement, is itself telling
as a practice. Indeed, where much of the social interaction in the barrio is agonistic, such banter,
which often requires certain degrees of social intimacy, might be said to be a means of managing

this between diverse Bolivians who are on good terms.
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The Exchange

The following instance of ethnic banter occurred one night in 2006 at the CBE’s Market’s grill
(parrilla). The parrilla is usually a place where changarines (freight-handlers), fleteros (truck
drivers), and those involved in the buying and selling of produce go for a quick choripan
(chorizo and bread sandwich) and a beer in the middle of their work. It is sometimes a raucous
spot and is often a place for getting drunk, especially late at night. Indeed, as the night wears on,
it becomes increasingly tough, and if anything is going to go down, it goes down then.

On this occasion, it was early, and being a Wednesday (the slow night of the CBE’s
Market) I was not working. | had spent the afternoon with my friends Orlin, Fermina, and
Charly, and we decided to go for an asado and a few beers before it got too late. This was a rare
occasion for me, being that it was one of the few times I had gone to the CBE’s Market not ready
for a shift of unloading freight that would take me into the dawn. The exchange below is still
one of my favorite moments of fieldwork. Yet | have not chosen to illuminate it for that reason
only. Rather, it is one of the best examples by which we might know what | have called the
Bolivian economy of otherness. Indeed, it involves individuals from the two ethnic nationalities
that dominate the barrio and the CBE—i.e. the Qollas (Potosinos) and Chapacos (Tarijefios).
This is not to say that the Qochalos (Cochabambinos)— an important group, not for their
numbers, but for what they represent, i.e. urban living, good Spanish, and commercial acumen
(all the attributes of ‘civilization”)—were not present, even if none was there physically. They
are invoked as well, which is not rare given that any instance of ethnic banter usually draws on
former events, such that it forms part of an on-going inter-event semiosis that links people and
ideas about them in ever-changing configurations. | have also chosen this exchange because it
involves a range of things and practices that index the ethnic nationalities involved, as well as
play over the dominant regime of value through which such linkages themselves are taken as
evidence of backwardness or civilization. Finally, | have chosen this particular exchange
because the propositions made (e.g. alleging discrimination, concealing one’s roots, and claiming
Argentine birth) are all common practices in the barrio, so much so that they are themselves

alleged against interlocutors, as in this case.
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The exchange begins when the concessionaire, Vicente, who is from Tarija, puts on one

of his popular folkloric videos celebrating Chapaco culture. Set to Chapaco music, the video

featured the cueca dance and horsemanship. Such videos exist for all of the regional ‘cultures’

in the Andes, and are a fixture on tour buses and in little bars throughout the region. Along with

Steven Seagal and Sylvester Stallone action movies, they populate the screens of Bolivian bars in

Escobar’s barrio as well. Seeing Vicente’s choice of video as a reflection of his pride in

Chapaco ethnic nationality, Orlin alleged discrimination, and the exchange took on a life of its

own:

Orlin (Qolla):

Charly (Chapaco):

Fermina (Qolla):

Charly (Chapaco):

Fermina (Qolla):

Charly (Chapaco):

Orlin (Qolla):

Charly (Chapaco):

Fermina (Qolla):

Charly (Chapaco):

Che, Vicente, jbasta con la discriminacién! ¢Por qué no pones
algo lindo?

Hey, Vicente, enough with the discrimination! Why don’t you put
something beautiful on?

Pero si es éste el verdadero boliviano...
But if this is the true Bolivian...

Dale, no te hagas el tarijefio. jDejate de negar tu sangre!
C’mon, don’t try to pass as a Tarijefio. Stop denying your blood!

¢ Coémo como?
What?

...abuelita potosina quien te ensefio el Quechua.
...grandmother from Potosi that taught you Quechua.

jEstas loca!
You’re crazy!

No pard, es chapaco de verdad...jtoma leche de burra!
Wait, no, he really is a Chapaco...he drinks donkey’s milk!

Para, ustedes son los ‘come-ch’uiios’!
But you guys are the ‘ch ‘unio-eaters’!

¢ Y ddénde te veo comiendo siempre?
And where do | always see you eating?

Pero ustedes son los Mamani.
But you guys are the Mamani.
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Fermina (Qolla): iDecilo con la frente alta!
Say it with pride!

Charly (Chapaco): jEso te ensefiaron en Po-to-si!
That’s what they taught you in Po-to-si!

Fermina (Qolla): jCallate! Yo naci en Jujuy.
Shut up! 1 was born in Jujuy.

Charly (Chapaco): Ahaa haa—ijte mintieron!
Haa haa—they lied to you!

Analysis

By working through this banter on a line by line basis, one can see how the participants engage
the dominant trope of civilization and backwardness to ‘other’ one another ethnically. This
includes the ways they attempt to manage their own otherness.

Beginning with Orlin and his opening remark to Vicente, let us note that Orlin is, like
many Bolivians in Escobar, competent in both Bolivian and Argentine cultural codes. He was
born in the interior of Potosi but, having emigrated with his parents as a child, has spent many
years in Escobar. Because of this, he has grown up as much Bolivian as Argentine. He speaks
Quechua well, but seldom does. One should also note that Orlin is on good terms with Vicente.
Part of this is because Orlin, being the barrio’s prominent welder, had just installed a metal
staircase for Vicente. Because of their familiarity, he could jokingly charge that Vicente’s

choice of video was a deliberate expression of ethnic nationalism.

Orlin (Qolla): Che, Vicente, jbasta con la discriminacion! ¢Por qué no pones
algo lindo?
Hey, Vicente, enough with the discrimination! Why don’t you put
something beautiful on?

With Orlin’s simple use of the word ‘discrimination’ he opens up a world of mappings,
imaginaries, and histories of otherness in Bolivia and in the Andes generally. Indeed, it invokes
the discourse of civilization and backwardness by which those of Indian descent have historically

been treated as racially and culturally inferior by those of European descent. One should note,
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however, that the politics of identity in the Andes are far more complex than any binary
construction of Indian vs. European can capture. Indeed, in Bolivia, as in the Andes generally,
one finds that the social ecology of criollo — mestizo — cholo — indio is a complex system
informed by racial, class-based, cultural and geographical elements. In Bolivia specifically,
these formulations are themselves complicated and informed by ethnic-national sentiments of the
kind we illuminate here: i.e., who is Qolla (culturally Potosino), Qochalo (culturally
Cochabambino), and Chapaco (culturally Tarijefio)?®, who thus also bear the former out. As
regards the Bolivians in Escobar specifically, one should also note that while terms like criollo
and indio are sometimes heard (noting that cholo and mestizo are not), they are used far less than
these ethno-national designations. Some of the reasons why this is the case will become clearer
as one comes to understand how the Bolivian economy of otherness is reconciled with the
Argentine one, and what kind of load the prejudicial category bolita takes on, and takes away
from more Andean terms like cholo.

For the moment, however, let us note that Orlin’s charge of discrimination references this
complex world of othering by which Chapacos and their culture, because of their roots in the
Hispanic tradition (if not in blood) are associated with ideas of civilization, while Qollas and
their culture, because of their native Andean heritage (if not in blood) are associated with ideas
of backwardness. Yet Orlin’s charge does not merely reference this time-worn formulation by
which the Qolla has been discriminated. His social commentary, made through humor, suggests
‘basta’—i.e. ‘enough already’. Yet Orlin is not really claiming victimhood. Rather, his public
cry of foul is an invitation—one certainly directed at Vicente, but nevertheless open to all
present—to engage in the negotiation of ethno-racial hierarchies. That is, it is an invitation to
engage in a commonly recognized frame in which individuals bring their own subjectivities and
talents to bear on each other, and on these social categories and hierarchies in the process.

Does Vicente have what it takes to defend the Chapaco claim of superiority? If he takes
up Orlin’s challenge, which is a public one, what does he risk? What is at stake for him as a
Chapaco, as a man, and as the concessionaire? Certainly, Orlin was not one to, as others

sometimes do, internalize a lower esteem as a native Potosino (see the section on ethnic bullying

% Despite their importance in Bolivian identity politics, the Cambas, i.e. those who are from Santa Cruz and
culturally ‘Crucefio’, do not factor into this dissertation. This is for the simple reason that there are practically none
(so far I could discern) in Escobar or in the CBE. This is not to say that there are not some Crucefios involved in the
CBE’s politics. Indeed, there are. Cahuana’s lead counsel and advisor are both proud Cambas, and both reside in
Liniers in the Capital Federal.
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below). Indeed, Orlin was often wont to vindicate Qolla-ness where others sometimes hid it.
Moreover, he was no stranger to ethnic banter, and had been victorious in previous duels.
Vicente likely figured that because of this, Orlin already had an arsenal of parries and counter-
insults at the ready. And why wouldn’t he? One in the barrio grows up tough—having been
socialized into a street culture of discriminatory ascriptions that finger one’s phenotype, origins,
and ethnic baggage. One had to suspect—as Vicente no doubt did—that Orlin was already
preparing his own rendering of the dominant narrative, and planned to one-up the Chapacos
publically.

Yet Vicente chooses not to engage. He merely nods, smiles, and returns to his clients at
the bar, leaving Orlin’s invitation to duel hanging—and his reprise foreclosed. Vicente’s
measured response is an intelligent one. Through his nod and grin he suggests that the video
speaks for itself—i.e. that Chapaco culture is more esteemed—and avoids the risks incurred in a
reply. Beyond exposing himself in a high-stakes game of public humiliation, an explicit
engagement (or escalation) also poses a risk to his business. With his response calibrated as
carefully as a knowing nod, Vicente—here as concessionaire—wisely stays above the fray and
preserves his favor with the Qolla patrons. Indeed, the Qollas are the majority in the barrio and
those who control the CBE which has leased him this lucrative parrilla. Yet before concluding
what Vicente’s priorities might have been, Charly, also a Chapaco, takes up Orlin’s challenge to

negotiate ethnic superiority. Referring to the content of the video, Charly retorts:

Charly (Chapaco): Pero si es éste el verdadero boliviano...
But if this is the true Bolivian...

One familiar with the local banter might suspect that Charly’s claim—i.e. that Chapaco
culture is a correct representation of Bolivian culture—would set up a slam dunk by which
Fermina could respond with the popular retort that Charly and the Chapacos were merely “fake
Bolivians” (bolivianos truchos). Such an insult, levied by a Qolla, would charge that because
the Chapacos lacked Inca heritage and the Quechua language, they were not ‘real’ Bolivians.
After all, what is Bolivia today was once Qollasuyu—the southern quarter of the Inca Empire,
Tawantinsuyu.

Rather, Fermina, who is Orlin’s wife and the daughter of Potosinos, took a more complex

tack that questioned, not the authenticity of the Chapacos, but rather Charly’s very claim to
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Chapaco-ness. That is, instead of saying that Charly is a “fake” Bolivian, which would concede
that he is a full-fledged Chapaco, she questions whether Charly is truly the Chapaco he purports
to be. By implication, she questions whether he can rightfully wear Chapaco pride (legitimate or

not) on his sleeve.

Fermina (Qolla): Dale, no te hagas el tarijefio. jDejate de negar tu sangre!
C’mon, don’t try to pass as a Tarijefio. Stop denying your blood!

Charly (Chapaco): ¢C6mo como?
What?

Fermina (Qolla): ...abuelita potosina quien te ensefi6 el Quechua.
...grandmother from Potosi that taught you Quechua.

Specifically, Fermina charged that Charly, who claims Tarijefio birth, was denying what
were really Qolla roots. Before getting into the valuations of the ethnic groups and individual
practices that this charge carries, let us first note that such a charge of denying one’s roots (negar
raices) is not rare. Indeed, charges that what one projects in social interaction is not what one is
underneath is a commonplace in the barrio. Because ethnic banter hones in on common (if not
stereotypical) practices, and is itself an agonistic frame, invocations or accusations of such
practice figure heavily in it. Indeed, jocular questioning of whether there is consistency between
one’s ‘exterior’ presentation of self (what in many instances amounts to cultural affect) and one’s
‘interior’ truth (which is known through blood and/or place of birth) is a conventional way that
Bolivians negotiate commonality and difference, and thus hierarchies in Escobar. As we’ll see in
the case of ethnic bullying that follows, addressing the question of ‘interiors and exteriors’ is
often purposefully used to invoke shame or provoke humiliation to establish interpersonal and
inter-ethnic hierarchy.

As regards the ethnic structuring of such practices in Escobar, the roots that are most
often concealed are Qolla roots. This is because the rural birth and upbringing, competence in
Quechua, highland cultural attributes, and ‘Indian’ phenotype that comprise Qolla-ness are
historically devalued and objects of discrimination. Because they are associated with
backwardness, they become sources of shame or objects over which one can be humiliated. As

such, they are heavily guarded. What they are always managed against are those attributes that,
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again on the dominant valuation, index civilization: urban birth and upbringing, competence in
Spanish, and European cultural attributes and phenotype. For this reason, one often hears “Don’t
try to pass as a Tarijefio” (no te hagas el tarijefio) charged against someone from (or with roots
in) Potosi, rather than the other way around. Interestingly, while I have heard this charge levied
by Cochabambinos, it is more frequently levied by Potosinos themselves. In this way, one can
see that within the Potosinos there is an ethic by which they keep each other’s pretentions in
check.

What is of note about the exchange at hand is that we have the reverse: Fermina, a
Potosina, levies this charge against Charly, who is from Tarija. Indeed, banter is play, and play
is propositional. Fermina proposes that Charly is really a Qolla underneath, and has been
concealing this. By assuming the language and tone of reprimand, Fermina jokes that Charly is
just another poor, Quechua-speaking indiocito who has taken on Chapaco affect to conceal a
Qolla lineage traced to a hidden grandmother (abuelita) whom he is ashamed to reveal. In the
end, and despite Charly’s protests, Fermina suggests Charly cannot escape his true self; for it’s a
question of blood.

Before considering Charly’s further protests, we should note that Fermina has taken the
banter, which began with impersonal invocations of historical discrimination between ethnic
nations (i.e. what amounted to categorical relations between Chapacos and Qollas) and
channeled it to the level of specific persons. On trial is no longer just a ‘what’, but now also a
‘who’—namely Charly as an individual. Indeed, this is a choice she has made. One of the
consequences of this, however, is that she has left intact the macro-regime of value by which
ethnic nationalities are othered and hierarchized, and through which Qollas are made inferior. In
other words, instead of invoking this regime to question its foundations and ‘cultural argument’
(i.e. to contest the legitimacy of the historical discrimination of the Qollas at the hands of
Bolivian mestizos, Chapacos included), Fermina instead relies on it in order to claim that the
ethno-national badge of Chapaco pride Charly wears cannot be borne legitimately because he is
just another humble Qolla.

This of course Charly protests, denying that he is anything other than a real Chapaco:

Charly (Chapaco): jEstas loca!
You're crazy!
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However, before Charly can muster a solid reply, he is interrupted by Orlin, who is not just the

owner of the welding shop in which Charly works, but who is also his friend.

Orlin (Qolla): No par4, es chapaco de verdad...jtoma leche de burra!
Wait, no, he really is a Chapaco...he drinks donkey’s milk!

It first appears that Orlin, in a change of tack, comes to the aid of who is here a Chapaco
companion—one who is suffering at the hands of his wife’s acerbic wit. Indeed, where in the
barrio machismo is strong, it is common for men to defend each another when confronted by the
wife of one or another in the group. Here, Orlin defends Charly as a true Chapaco (i.e. ‘puro’ in
blood and in origin). But he does so, not out of male solidarity, but only to turn the tables on
him. Indeed, he feigns solidarity only to proclaim that the Chapacos are so rude and uncultured
that they drink the milk of donkeys. Such a practice, as one might guess, is said to represent the
most impoverished and unsophisticated in the land. It is backwardness par excellence. (All of
this, however, is still a far cry from how far Qolla estimations of Chapacos can go. Where
exchanges between non-intimates take on a truly antagonistic tone, it is not uncommon to hear
epithets like “pigs” (cochinos) levied against the Chapacos by certain Qollas. In this way,
relations range from uneventful to uneasy to openly ‘racist’, as both sides are wont to
characterize them).

There are two things to note about Orlin’s statement. The first is that where Fermina had
earlier harnessed the banter, which had begun on the level of ethno-national ascriptions, and
channeled it to the level of individual persons (i.e. to focus on Charly as a construction himself),
Orlin does not relinquish his earlier agenda of ‘sticking it to the Chapacos—as a pueblo—on the
most inclusive level. That is, by claiming that Charly is a Chapaco de verdad, he does not
pursue Fermina’s agenda of deconstructing Charly to reveal a hidden, inner truth, but rather re-
establishes the earlier footing of treating macro-level categories. In this way he channels the
banter ‘back up’ to the parameters he originally set with Vicente. Orlin uses Charly the
individual only to claim that the Chapacos are an uncivilized people as a whole, reputedly
known to all through their uncivilized consumption of donkey’s milk. Nevertheless, this charge
levied against the Chapacos writ large repercusses all the way down to the individual level such

that Charly, as an individual representative (token) of the Chapacos (type), must personally bear
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the discrimination levied against ‘his’ pueblo. In this way, Charly is made guilty of
backwardness by association.

The second thing to note is what is happening with the overarching regime of value.
Note that while Fermina above relied on the conventional claim that Chapaco’s enjoy superiority
over the Qollas in order to question the validity of Charly’s claim on Chapaco heritage, Orlin
here inverts this same regime of value through a counter-hegemonic discourse. What could be
interpreted as an indigenista rendering vindicates the Qollas as having the rightful claim on
superiority because they bear the Inca legacy. On this alternative reading, the Hispanic
Chapacos are inferior because they have a shallow and imported history, lack Inca ancestry and
heritage, and are entirely ignorant of the Quechua language. This lack of authenticity as
originarios not only makes them ‘fake Bolivians’ (bolivianos truchos), but entirely uncivilized:
they are nothing but a provincial and uncultivated people so rude that they drink the milk of
donkeys. The brutishness and ‘ignorance’ often ascribed to the Qolla for a presumed lack of

modernity is here levied against the Chapaco for a lack of original civilization.

Charly (Chapaco): jPara, ustedes son los ‘come-ch’uiios’!
But you guys are the ‘ch ‘urio-eaters’!

Charly, however, will not stand for such a charge against ‘his people’ or against him
individually, and so responds in kind. ‘You guys’, he states, ‘are the freeze-dried potato
caters’—here referencing the Qollas. Thus while Orlin and Fermina are Charly’s immediate
target, they are, as he had just been, taken as representatives of the Qollas writ large. But what
does it mean to be a freeze-dried potato eater? What is Charly suggesting about the Qollas?
Potatoes are a crop grown only in the higher ranges of the Andean highlands, a zone that is
‘marginal’ from the point of view of ‘civilization’. This is the home of the Qollas. Asan
ecosystem, this ‘floor’ in the vertical economy is an austere and challenging one, such that
hunger is not uncommon (see Chapter 6). Because of this, highlanders have developed
techniques of preserving potatoes through freeze-drying for times of want. Potato-eating is thus
not only associated with Qollas, but, in the form of ¢/ urio, associated with bare subsistence and

relative poverty—both of which come to mark Qolla-ness?®. Charly’s suggestion that Orlin and

% Murra, in his "Rite and Crop in the Inca State," discusses evidence from as far back as the seventeenth-century
that indicates that the potato, while an Andean staple for centuries, has in certain registers signaled poverty. Indeed,

134



Fermina are the ch 'uiio-eaters thus highlights the geographical marginality and relative poverty
of the Qollas with respect to his Chapacos, the latter occupying lower-lying and ideologically
‘central’ valleys in which sumptuous crops like corn can be grown.

Yet Fermina will not relinquish her agenda of deconstructing Charly as an individual, and

takes up where she left off:

Fermina (Qolla): ¢ Y ddénde te veo comiendo siempre?
And where do | always see you eating?

Fermina points out, here without having to be explicit because Charly’s friends know this well,
that Charly’s favorite place to have lunch is the Pacefio, a bar run by one of the few families
from La Paz. The Pacefios do not of course serve the Tarijefio favorites of saice or ranga ranga,
but rather altiplanic dishes that are often accompanied by heaps of ¢/ ‘usio. Though it is true that
Charly eats there frequently, it is perhaps not the ck 'usio that attracts him, but rather the
interminable stream of action movies they show. No matter: Fermina sticks to her attempt to get
Charly to admit that he is really a Qolla underneath; that he is concealing a lineage that would
prevent him from claiming superiority as a full-fledged Chapaco. Once again, in her attempt to
position (ubicar) Charly, Fermina leaves intact the conventional regime by which the Qollas—as
indios—occupy the bottom rung of the ethnic hierarchy.

Yet Charly makes a conscious decision not to take up Fermina’s specific charge, for he
perhaps realizes that she has a point: he is in fact known by everyone present to frequent the
Pacefio and to eat ¢/ ‘urio, both of which compromise his purity as a Chapaco. For what self-
respecting Chapaco eats in a Pacefio establishment? Certainly, Jean Claude Van Damme from
the action movies he watches there will not come to hisaid. Without any other recourse, Charly
holds to his tack, but now follows Fermina in making it personal. Indeed, he realizes he must

fight fire with fire:

Charly (Chapaco): Pero ustedes son los Mamani.
But you guys are the Mamani.

in the legends from Huarochiri collected by Avila, potato-eating was considered evidence of low status; a raggedy
beggar was known as Huatyacuri, “potato-eater” (Murra 1960: 397).
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In response to Orlin’s charge of drinking donkey’s milk above, Charly had claimed that as

ch 'urio-eaters the Qollas were, among other things, uncivilized. Here, Charly follows this same
rhetorical strategy of using an index of Qolla-ness to invoke and ratify a hierarchical
relationship, but now changes the nature of the terms to take up Fermina’s tactic of making it
personal. Ina deft move, Charly makes the term that associates Fermina and Orlin with the
Qollas, and the Qollas with backwardness, not a practice, but rather Fermina’s last name:
Mamani. To begin with, ‘los Mamani’ certainly indexes the Qollas as a whole because it is a
common Qolla surname. Yet being Fermina’s surname, it obviously (and simultaneously)
targets her as an individual. In this way, Charly’s ‘ustedes’ is thus not principally about Fermina
(and Orlin by implication, noting that he has a different surname) as representatives of the
Qollas—a case in which the Qollas are the primary target—but rather about them as individuals.
Charly’s remark is thus effective in the same ways Fermina’s former remarks have been because
it targets her in the first instance, but does so in a way that also targets the ethnic formation she is
part of.

All of this hits Fermina right between the eyes. Why? First, let us note that Mamani is a
common indigenous surname of Aymara origin that means falcon. With this genealogy, it
indexes Indian-ness, and thus backwardness given the dominant regime of otherness. Calling
Fermina a Mamani is thus tantamount to calling her an Indian, which is a heavy pronouncement.
Second, it is totalizing. Where Fermina had been trying to get Charly to reveal an alleged part of
him that was Qolla (i.e. a hidden grandmother on his maternal line), and so problematize his
Chapaco pride, she left other parts of him intact, and thus legitimately Chapaco. Indeed,
everyone had to grant that Charly was born in Tarija; that he had a fairer and less Indian
phenotype; and that he had a Hispanic surname. Fermina had merely been trying to find chinks
in what was a complete and otherwise impenetrable Chapaco armor. She could only insinuate
that he had been concealing some part that was unrecognizable on the surface. In contrast,
Charly’s calling Fermina a Mamani is all-encompassing. Through his laying bare what everyone
already sees, he reaffirms her entire being, not just a part of it, as Indian. Fermina is backward
no matter what she does because it’s literally in her blood, as her surname indicates.

Whether through a stroke of genius or simply luck, Charly struck a victory in calling
Fermina a Mamani because it foreclosed nearly all wiggle room. Indeed, the charge of Mamani

is not the same as drinking donkey’s milk or eating c/ ‘urio—practices that can be dropped or
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traded for others that mark one as civilized. Rather, one’s surname is non-negotiable; it is
permanent and inescapable. Because of this Fermina’s options are truly limited. Her only
recourse is to try to invert the regime of value which equates Mamani (and by implication,
Qolla-ness) with backwardness. This is the same, dominant regime that Fermina has been
relying upon in her earlier attempts to deconstruct Charly. With her only move an attempt to
vindicate the Qollas as an ethnic nationality, she brings the banter back up to the level of

corporate groups, and exclaims:

Fermina (Qolla): iDecilo con la frente alta!
Say it with pride!

In her response, Fermina recontextualizes a stock phrase that Qollas have used to counter
discrimination many times before: “Say it with pride!” The very fact that such a saying is
available for recontextualization reveals the extent to which the Qollas (and others) have been
discriminated against in Bolivia. In this recontextualization, Fermina not only speaks directly to
this history of subordination, she does so through a counter-hegemonic discourse that exalts the
Qollas. This is that discourse that claims that the Qollas, rather than having much to be ashamed
of, should instead be proud given that they are heir to a millennial civilization that has
culminated in the Inca Empire. On this reading, what is in the blood is a kind of nobility. This is
the same indigenista discourse that her husband Orlin had invoked above when he charged
against the Chapacos.

Yet having been pegged so severely by Charly, Fermina made her last stand only half
seriously. Indeed, when she uttered it, she had straightened herself up and saluted, as if she were
in the Bolivian military. In this way, her recontextualization was thus also half parody. But it
was one that also masked certain resignation. For what would “saying it with pride” really
change? Could it overcome the centuries of exploitation and discrimination that the Qollas had
endured? Could it change the fact that most Qollas had historically lacked the things of
modernity (e.g. electricity, plumbing, a concrete floor?). In this way, “Say it with pride” was a
performative that was doomed to fail because certain material conditions could not be satisfied.
Fermina, who had grown up suffering discrimination for her Qolla-ness, knew the limitations,

and perhaps even the impossibility, of this riposte.
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Recognizing that she would fail to vindicate the Qollas, Fermina perhaps also realized
that she would fail to vindicate herself in the exchange. Seeing that Charly was gaining the
upper hand, Fermina’s parody was perhaps also one of herself. This is perhaps why she actually
performed the recontextualization by erecting her body and saluting. That is, in recognizing
certain defeat, she engaged in physical humor in an attempt to ingratiate herself with Charly,
who would be readying more acerbic charges. In so doing, Fermina had appealed to the very
ethic of banter, in which one does not usually go for the throat because the participants are
friends on good terms.

Yet where she had formerly enjoyed the upper hand and had been the first to take the
banter to a personal level, such self-deprecating physical humor did not save her from Charly,
whom she had dominated on other occasions. Inan instant, Charly seized upon what amounted

to her jocular and less than confident proclamation, and fully exploited the opportunity:

Charly (Chapaco): jEso te ensefiaron en Po-to-si!
That’s what they taught you in Po-to-si!

Having already cornered Fermina, leaving her with the only option of attempting to
vindicate the Qollas, Charly here relativizes that very effort. In a deft move, he provincializes
the counter-hegemonic discourse that exalts the Qollas by recurring to the dominant regime of
value and its geopolitical argument. That argument is that Potosi is a marginal hinterland with
respect to civilization. Where that civilization is also defined by Hispanic roots, Potosi is doubly
marked—i.e. geographically and culturally. By relegating the content of Fermina’s message to
such provinciality, a move he accomplishes poetically by pronouncing each of ‘Potosi’s’
syllables distinctly, Charly argues that it cannot have universal validity. Qolla esteem, on this
reading, can thus only ever exist among the Qollas themselves in their native territory—i.e.
where it doesn’t ‘count’. Stated otherwise, Qolla esteem can never exist in Bolivia proper—a
construct his own Chapaco heritage, being Hispanic and mestizo, best represents.

However, by relegating Fermina and her message to the margins, Charly nevertheless
opens up the door for her. By provincializing Potosi, Fermina now finds herself with a card she

hadn’t had the opportunity to play.

Fermina (Qolla): jCallate! Yo naci en Jujuy.
Shut up! I was born in Jujuy.
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Having been pegged as a Mamani and her shot at redemption relegated to provinciality, Fermina
tries in a last ditch effort to claim something individual that would counter the markings of
Indian-ness she bears, and which Charly has exposed. That is, she claims Argentine birth.
Where this claim effectively terminates the contest between dominant and counter-hegemonic
regimes of value, Fermina concedes the former as the reigning one and the footing in the
exchange. Yet this does not leave her defenseless. She does this only to claim a status that
would establish—in no uncertain terms—a distance from the alleged lack of civilization she
bears. She appeals to Argentine nationality, which so many Bolivians in Escobar (including
Charly) lack, to attenuate—and potentially even trump—the markings of cultural otherness she
bears. As an ‘Argentine’ this claim, had it held up, would give her ammunition against Charly,
who would now by comparison be ‘just’ a Bolivian. It would also retroactively resignify the
extent of her Indian-ness, as communicated by her surname. Yet where the truth is ever elusive,

Charly denies her this final appeal at redemption, and delivers the knock-out punch:

Charly (Chapaco): Ahaa haa—jte mintieron!
Haa haa—they lied to you!

In this final move in which Charly allegedly breaks an uncomfortable truth to her, Charly
does a number of things. First, he eliminates her claim on a highly meaningful resource that
would allow her to attenuate the cultural markings that make her less worthy in the dominant
economy of otherness. What he suggests is that whatever her parents might have told her in the
hopes of sparing her the shame of Bolivian birth—not that such birth would ever erase the
phenotypic characteristics that mark her, and potentially endanger her, as a Qolla in Argentina—,
she is really just another bolita. And while all Bolivians in Argentina are bolitas, she will always
be a Qolla. As such, and once again by the dominant regime of value, she’ll never have a leg up
on Charly. For on this reading, Indians are, by virtue of the Spanish Conquest, subordinate to
Hispanic mestizos.

Second, by saying “they lied to you”, Charly sutures up a few threads in the banter that
began with Fermina’s charge that Charly was hiding a Qolla underneath, and that because of this
he lacked a legitimate claim on Chapaco pride. Here, it is Fermina who has been the one

holding on to a false sense of self. It is Fermina that has been projecting an exterior (in the end
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just a facade) of Argentinidad. The fool, revealed by this lie (if indeed it is one), is Fermina. In
this way, and here again, the fool is the india. And so Indian-ness, and the historically dominant

regime of value become reified, as Charly beats Fermina at her own game.

The history of racial and ethnic relations in the Andes is a long and complex one. While the
Spanish invasion and control of the Andes created two republics in the political sense—the
Republic of Indians and the Republic of Spaniards—social realities were far from clear cut.
Colonial reorganizations, miscegenation, and internal migrations led to a host of intermediate
and often indeterminate categories that lay between Spanish and Indian. What emerged in the
Andes was a complex social ecology that came to be shaped by millennial and Independence
movements as well as by a host of cultural and economic factors. Despite these complexities, a
social and political ideology based on dualistic constructions of Andean realities has persisted,
and with great consequence. In the latter half of the nineteenth century, this imaginary was itself
colonized by racialized ideas of civilization and backwardness. What emerged, among other
things, was the “Indian problem”—i.e. an ideology that Indian-ness was holding back the tide of
progress. This is an ideology that persists across the Andes today. In Bolivia, as elsewhere in
the region, the range of categories, classes, and identifications that exist have all been informed
by—and indeed hierarchized through—this racialized antimony between civilization and
backwardness. As | hope to have showed through this stretch of ethnic banter, the terms by
which Bolivians in Escobar create difference owe much to this master binary.

As we have seen, while this master binary has had a great structuring force on
significations, it can cut both ways. The exchange reveals that there are two regimes of value,
one historically ‘dominant’ (in which the Indian is disparaged for being backward) and one
‘counter-hegemonic’ (in which the Indian, or rather the image of the Indian, is exalted for
bearing the Inca legacy). These valuations have implications for how otherness and hierarchy
are configured among the ethnic-nationalities—i.e. who is civilized and who ‘drinks donkey’s
milk’. We have also seen how Orlin, Charly, and Fermina have engaged these valuations to
establish status differences between them as individuals. In this, we should note that their
significations have pragmatic force only because they draw upon or otherwise conjure up real,
lived experiences of esteem and subordination. Without these lived and embodied histories in

place, there is nothing to invoke or index in attempting to negotiate the terms of social being, or
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make new claims with regard to it. We thus see that the banter between them as individuals
cannot take place without there already being certain structures of esteem and shame in place—
structures which are in many ways shared as an order of things. As we have seen, the banter, in
micro, comes to contest—but ultimately (at least in this case) to reaffirm—these structures and

histories. The master binary of civilization and backwardness dies hard.

Ethnic Bullying

Having worked through the ethnic banter above, we see that in the first instance, the Bolivian
economy of otherness consists of differences made between ethnic nationalities (e.g. Qollas,
Qochalos, Chapacos, etc.). These differences, which are made through the racial, ethnic, and
geographical attributes that index them, are made hierarchical when signified through the master
discourse of civilization and backwardness. Yet there are other dimensions to the Bolivian
economy of otherness that need to be illuminated. As mentioned in the Introduction, there are
corporate groups on lower levels that engage and are referenced in the production of otherness.
While lower level groups likely exist for all of the ethnic nationalities in Bolivia (in one sense or
another), in Escobar, such groups exist only for the Qollas, who are here limited to the Potosinos.
This is because of the nature of the Potosino emigration to Escobar. While this will be taken up
in Chapter 6, let us note here that, while whole communities from Potosi have not been
transplanted directly to Escobar, large factions of them have been. As will become apparent
throughout the dissertation, these communities are themselves made ethnic. Speaking of the
differences between the Pancochefios and Saropalkefios, two of the most prominent ethnic
groups of Potosinos in the area, many claim that they are as different as ‘black and white’.
Indeed, what will become apparent is how otherness constructed on the level of ethnic
nationalities fractally recurs (see Irvine and Gal, 2000) on the lower level between ethnic groups.
Where the Qollas are the most Indian of the ethnic nationalities, the Pancochefios are the most
Indian of the Qollas. Indeed, | have heard a few Potosinos in the barrio literally rank the

comunidades from the most enlightened (despiertos, avanzados) to the most backward
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(ignorantes, salvajes). That formulation typically lists the Saropalkefios in the enlightened
category, and has the Pancochefios rooted in the latter, though not at the very bottom.

Yet the Bolivian economy of otherness is not simply about groups—i.e. ethnic
nationalities and any constituent ethnic groups. It is also about the practices through which they
act and are made meaningful. Indeed, there are many ways through which otherness can be
created, negotiated and reproduced. Where | investigated an exchange of ethnic banter above,
here I investigate a case of ethnic bullying. What the latter illuminates about the Bolivian
economy of otherness is manifold.

First, it shows how lower-level ethnic groups frequently engage in, and come to be
represented in, the creation of otherness. Indeed, where ethnic nationalities are seldom organized
as such in the barrio and the CBE, often because of the rivalries that exist between constituent
ethnic groups prevents this (e.g. those between individual communities of Potosinos), the
creation of others in hierarchical arrangements often happens through exchanges in which
numbers of one or another group are present. This is precisely what we see between a handful of
powerful Pancochefos and a lone Chuquisaquefio (one from Sucre) in the case below. In this
case, one can appreciate how solidarities between members of an ethnic group affect a dynamic,
and how a lack of support from a group opens one up for abuse.

Second, this case of bullying shows that social relations in the barrio, at least as far as
othering is concerned, can range from agonistic (as in the case of banter above) to openly
antagonistic (as in the case here). The barrio is a tough place. And while a great deal of
interaction happens between friends in which othering is competitive but humorous, and usually
held within limits, there are other situations in which rivals seek to settle scores through direct
domination. Indeed, where humiliation might be a byproduct of banter, it is often the purpose of
bullying. In these cases, as with Gualter’s pursuit of Naelio below, one often looks to invoke
another’s shame (e.g. over his Indian-ness) specifically to humiliate him.

Certainly, as will become clear throughout the analysis, there are also many parallels in
the ways otherness is constructed between the above case of banter and the present case of
bullying. I will not belabor them here, as they are better discussed once the exchange has itself

been presented.
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The Exchange

The case of ethnic bullying I recount below has two parts that occurred on separate days in
2005—one on a Sunday and one the Wednesday that followed. For each, there was a separate
target. The first event, which may stand alone, provides the foundation and context for the
second. Indeed, the second amounted to a kind of retribution for injury caused in the first.
Where the first was a short-lived scuffle with few words exchanged, | illuminate it through my
own narrative. Where the second was more fully linguistically mediated, | reproduce the
exchange so as to provide an analysis in the style used with the banter above.

At the Feria one Sunday in Spring of 2005, Gualter was bullied. As mentioned
previously, the Feria is the barrio’s market for finished textiles, many of which are black market
knock-offs. While the Feria grew out of a collection of families who had begun meeting socially
on Sundays (this being one of the roots of the CBE itself), it was later incorporated and
formalized by the CBE. Indeed, the CBE had financed the building of its market structure,
which included a roof and concrete floor, and added an adjacent food court (patio de comidas) to
honor the social spirit of the original encounter. As we have seen in Chapter 1, the revenues
from the Feria’s stalls and eateries were significant for the CBE and its projects; in the one day a
week it operated they rivaled those taken in by the Horticultural Market in the entire week.

On this particular Sunday it was already late, and many at the patio were drunk after a
day of revelry. The Feria was one of two options people had for social engagement on
Sundays—the only day they were not hunched over in the fields, toiling at a sewing machine,
laying bricks or recovering from nights spend handling freight or selling produce in the
Horticultural Market. The other option for social engagement Sundays offered was attending
one of the Evangelical Cultos in the barrio. Where the latter provided a reprieve from the
violence, drunkenness, and other kinds of vice that made life in the barrio a struggle, the Feria
was the place where these things often found their expression. Like many, | also had a choice as
to how I would spend my Sundays. Where one could not do right by the participants in both, 1
always chose the Feria. Indeed, while Salvation could be a momentous event, the Feria was
where things in this world happened. And so, like many, I continued ‘tropezando’ from Sunday

to Sunday—i.e., “stumbling” physically, and perhaps also spiritually.
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As on any other Sunday, things would get sticky as the night wore on and the families
retreated, leaving the space dominated by single men. Where the Feria did not itself become the
site of an altercation, one could trust that some beating or robbery would happen around the
corner, as intoxicated Feria-goers would wander into the cross-hairs of the barrio’s vagos
(thugs), who often lay in wait. | had been drinking and conversing with a bunch of Potosinos
(Qollas) at Jorgito’s parrilla, when Gualter walked in. Gualter was from Sucre (and was thus a
Chuquisaquefio). He was looking to continue a bender of his own that had begun elsewhere.
Being a friend, | had already known him to disappear for a few days at a time, only to reappear
disheveled, and ultimately having lost one or another job in the construction sector.

Upon seeing Gualter enter the adjacent door, those at Jorgito’s parrilla closed in on him.
All T could make out before they grabbed him and shoved him back out was “¢Sos un boliviano?
Sos una mierda.” (Are you a Bolivian? You piece of shit). The proximate cause of the
altercation was not clear, but one of the Potosinos sought to fill me in by mouthing ‘suwa’ (thief)
in Quechua, and made the well-known hand gesture indicating the same. Whether Gualter had
been guilty of some transgression would never be known. Whatever the case, tension between
him and these particular Potosinos was already known. Gualter was a proud Chuquisaquefio—
confident and outspoken, and educated. Before trying his luck in Argentina and falling on hard
times, he had spent some years studying law in Sucre. This was itself a lettered city, being the
site of the Bolivian Supreme Court and having been the Spanish colonial seat. As for other
Chuquisaquerios in Escobar, there were few. Most lived enclaved in a few compounds that they
rented from the resident Cochabambinos (Qochalos) not far from the Feria. Having much in
common with them—namely more urban upbringing, higher levels of education, and reputedly
better Spanish (said to help them in commercial settings)—they were also on good terms with
them, surrounded as both were by the Potosino majority.

As for his rivals, they were not just any Potosinos (Qollas). They were from the
community of Pancochi and were, moreover, players in the CBE’s ‘usurpation’. While Gualter
had been publically critical of the ‘take-over’ for the violence and embezzlement that
characterized it, his critiques were known to be ethnically shaped as well. Indeed, he referred to
the CBE as a “Colectividad Pancochefia” that had, through its greed and “ignorance”
(ignorancia), ruined the image of the Bolivian in Argentina. Indeed, where the Bolivians in

Escobar had been known for their hard work, humble disposition, and respect for the rule of law,
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the “Pancochefios” had—as many, both Potosinos and non-Potosinos would say—tuined this
through their ‘usurpation’. Moreover, these were ‘those people’ that had lacked formal
schooling and were simply not prepared (capacitados) to lead and represent the ‘Comunidad
Boliviana’ in its entirety.

Thus even while Gualter was economically poor given both his vices and lack of kin with
whom to collaborate in pursuits of ‘progress’, he was nevertheless (or at least thought himself)
rich given that he was ‘capacitado’ (read: ‘civilized’) before these ‘ignorant’ Pancochefios—
many of whom had become wealthy through the CBE and its “‘usurpation’. What was at play
here was thus only immediately about the allegations of theft (i.e. that Gualter was a suwaq) or
usurpation (i.e. that the Pancochefios had ruined the CBE and the Bolivian image). This and
other altercations were about the cultural politics of civilization and backwardness, and the
consequences these had for one or another’s human dignity. Unlike the ethnic banter explored
above (which nevertheless bore no uncertain agonism), this exchange was violent and full of
open contempt. Nevertheless, what undergirded that banter, this exchange, and the event that |
illuminate below is the fundamental question that simmers across the barrio: ¢Quién te crees?

Who do you think you are?

On Wednesday, three days later, I ran into Gualter on my way home from visiting a friend. This
was the first time that | had seen him since that Sunday night, and both of us wanted to discuss
the matter. We decided to buy a few liters of Quilmes and take them to his room, which was a
humble place: the only piece of furniture other than his bed was a gas canister hooked up to a
small two-burner stove. Gualter sensed that | had felt bad about not being able to intervene more
in the altercation. While I had, along with Jorgito, attempted to break the scuffle up, the group
present was numerous, strong, and connected. It would have been unwise to cross them, and
Gualter knew that. As we lit into our first beer | sensed that Gualter wanted to have an
opportunity to explain things to me, and to set the record straight.

As we began to get into the particulars, Jorgito’s brother Naelio ambled by. Seeing us
talking—with beer in hand—he stumbled in. Like many in the barrio, Naelio and Gualter were
regular acquaintances and sometimes got drunk together. But like many, including Naelio’s own
brothers, Gualter pitied Naelio. For Naelio was a mess: he was a borracho and was always

broke. This night was no different. But it was more than this. Because of his drinking—but also
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because of his Indian face and small stature—Naelio had been the victim of many assaults.
Indeed, his face bore multiple scars that had accumulated from fists, and perhaps also boots, over
time. His nose had been flattened and pushed to one side.

Where throwing oneself into hard work might have been a reprieve from the vice and
violence of the barrio—noting too that such work just as often funded the borracheras that
caused one problems—Naelio found no such solace. For some years ago, his arm was almost
wrenched off in attempting to repair a piece of jammed machinery. While the trauma left his
arm terribly scared, it also rendered his elbow useless. It was locked in place, frustrating efforts
at further employment and forcing him to do most things—including drinking—with his left
hand. This condition likely exacerbated the beatings. For where one was weak, one was also
easily abused. It was for this reason—»but also for shame—that Naelio hid his injured arm, so
much so that he always wore long sleeves, even during the 100 degree days of summer when the
humidity was unbearable.

Naelio’s shame, however, was not confined to his exterior—i.e. to his scared, mangled
arm. Naelio was ashamed of his insides as well. He continually repressed an internal struggle.
Besides being very poor, Naelio was—on his own account—an indio from the hinterlands of
Caiza, which were not far from Pancochi in Potosi. And he felt the sting of this condition,
whether it be from Argentines whose fists reminded him of it; from the ‘civilized’ Bolivians who
pitied him for being rural, poor, and Indian; and even from fellow Potosinos who had escaped the
same conditions that defined his existence. Indeed, on many occasions, Naelio hid more than his
mangled arm. He hid his insides and his past as well. Yet these were things that he couldn’t
escape, and sometimes things he didn’t want to.

Naelio’s internal struggle would manifest itself while he drank, as if the state of
inebriation provided a ritual frame through which he negotiated the terms of himself. Not a few
weeks prior, | had been to Jorgito’s parrilla at the Feria and saw the knots in him. That day
some of us were joking around in Quechua (I had learned all the dirty words years before up in
Cuzco) and Naelio, seeing that I knew some of his native tongue, cornered me. Wavering under
the number of Quilmes he had drunk, he pleaded to me in Spanish, not in Quechua: “Hablame en
Quechua” (Speak to me in Quechua), with tears streaming down his face. Not yet knowing, all |

could think to say was “Wayqgey, imarayku llagisqa kasanki?” (My brother, why are you sad?).
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Perhaps in this moment, in seeing that I could speak Quechua, the terms by which he was
so often made to feel ashamed of his Indian-ness were suspended, and he could remember a time,
perhaps one at home in rural Potosi, where he could be himself without conflict and pain.
Inadvertently, we had up-ended the regime of value by which he had been continually
marginalized by publically valorizing Quechua and the world it indexed—undoing the terms of
the backwardness he had been made to feel.

On that Sunday, he begged me to continue, in tears. He wanted to remember his past. He
wanted to be the person he always was but was never allowed to be with dignity. 1 saw him
struggle to understand that alternate realities were also possible. And so he continued to drink,
as if alcohol were the means to find meaning. And he continued to struggle, uttering at one point
(again in Spanish): “Quiero desaparecer de la [sic] mapa” (I want to disappear from the map).

Yet despite his otherness, and despite the shame he has always been made to feel for it,
Valentin was part of the Pancochefio majority in the barrio—the same majority whose numbers
dominated the CBE and its ‘usurpation.” This was the same majority who, at the hands of some
of their most connected, had just bullied Gualter out of the Feria, suggesting that he couldn’t
claim the superiority he had been known to claim.

As Gualter, Naelio, and I began to drink in Gualter’s room—with Valentin already so
drunk that he was hardly able to participate in our conversation—Gualter began to broach what
had happened that Sunday at the Feria. For Gualter felt that he had lost face, not just in front of
others that were present, but in front of me as well. Indeed, having been overrun in public,
Gualter felt he had been humiliated by the Pancochefios—an ‘ignorant’ group whose haughtiness
could never be justified. He felt there was a score to settle, and wanted to set things right. And
so, casting me in the role of both witness and arbiter of justice (perhaps because | was both an
impartial outsider and a social scientist), Gualter embarked on a project to vindicate himself. He
sought to re-establish the ‘world’ as he thought it should be. This meant revealing—and

revealing to me specifically—what the Pancochenos were ‘really’ made of.

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio):  Tus parientes me discriminan.
Your relatives discriminate against me.

Naelio (Qolla): Ellos...
They...
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Gualter (Chuquisaquefio):  Es ‘lla’ con elle no con sha!
It’s ‘1la” with L not with shal

[turning to me, in an aside]

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): Es probable que ni sabe leer.
It is most likely that [Naelio] doesn’t even know how to
read.

[back to Naelio]
Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): ¢ De dénde sos?
Where are you [Arg.] from?

Naelio (Qolla): Soy indio...
I am an Indian...

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): ¢ iDe donde sos Naelio!?
Where are you [Arg.] from Naelio!?

Naelio (Qolla): Soy indio campesino, soy bolita.
I am an Indian peasant, | am a bolita.

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): jYo soy de Sucre! ¢jDe donde eres!?
I am from Sucre! Where are you [Bol.] from?!

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio):  jTodos tenemos identidad! ¢jMaymantan kanki
carajo?!
Everyone has an identity! Where the fuck are you from?!

Naelio (Qolla): Caiza.
Caiza.

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): ¢ Ves?
Do you see?

Analysis

By working through this exchange, one can see how in seeking retribution for his being bullied
by the Pancochefios, Gualter engages Naelio through the same master binary of civilization and
backwardness. Making Naelio stand for the Pancochefios as an ethnic group (here within the

Qolla ethnic nation), Gualter specifically looks to humiliate him over his Indian-ness. Through

this humiliation he seeks to reveal that the Pancochefios are, underneath the pretentions of their
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most powerful, irrevocably ‘backward’. As we’ll see, what is interesting about Gualter’s project
is that what is taken as Indian-ness, and hence backwardness, is not necessarily rural upbringing
or the Quechua language, but rather shame over them. That is, Gualter’s project hinges upon his
ability to show that it is shame over one’s origins—not the origins themselves—that marks one
asan indio. Thisis the case in great part because as a Chuquisaquefio, Gualter also speaks
Quechua and can, on counter-hegemonic terms, celebrate the legacy of the Inca. The means by
which he ‘others’ and ‘places’ Naelio are thus somewhat different from those he might employ
were he a Hispanic Tarijefio (Chapaco). Nevertheless, they ultimately depend upon the
dominant signification of Indian-ness as backwardness we have seen above; for this is precisely
what Naelio has internalized.

With his agenda clear, Gualter spared no time:

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio):  Tus parientes me discriminan.
Your relatives discriminate against me.

Gualter’s charge to Valentin was as much an attempt to recount a reality as it was an invitation to
spar on the terms through which the world is constructed and inhabited. That Gualter frames his
challenge through the idiom of relatedness (parentesco) shows both of these dimensions. In the
first instance, it reveals the great extent to which social interaction in the barrio—and specifically
antagonisms—are shaped by group-level solidarities and distinctions. Though distinctions made
on the ethnic-national level (e.g. between Qollas, Qochalos, Chapacos, and here
Chuquisaquerios) are frequently explicit, if not always ultimately indexed in any interaction,
solidarities and distinctions expressed on lower levels involving individual Qolla communities
(e.g. Pancochefios, Saropalkefios, and Yurefios) are, wherever present, often more meaningful.
This is not only because these communities are ethnically differentiated, but because ethnicity
for them has historically been underwritten by kinship and endogamy given native Andean
modes of social organization. It is therefore no mistake that such communities are referred to as
groups of relatives (parientes) that are socially ‘closed’ (cerrados).

On the estimation of all other groups in the barrio, the Pancochefios are the most vivid

example of this. Yet more than this, the Pancochefios are believed to come from a more
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‘original’ condition of geographical and social ‘isolation’ in rural Potosi®’. This has not only
earned them the reputation for being ‘always united’ (siempre unidos) but, given the pragmatics
of their solidarity, more pejorative designations as a ‘band’ (banda) or even a ‘pack of wolves’
(jaula de lobos). For all of these reasons, they are believed to figure in antagonisms more than
any other community in the barrio. Indeed, one might point to Gualter’s ouster from the Feria as
coming at the hand of the Pancocheiio’s as pack of wolves.

Gualter’s charge that Naelio’s relatives had discriminated against him was thus meant to
highlight the corporate aspect of the aggression; it was meant to reference the Pancochefios’
original ‘closed-ness’—a characteristic that he would mention elsewhere was everything but
cosmopolitan and modern. Through this idiom he thus makes it clear that he wants to spar and
seek retribution on group-level terms. Yet as a direct challenge to Naelio, i.e. that it was his
relatives that committed this bullying, Gualter also makes it clear that he wants to engage Naelio
personally, as both a member and a representative of the Pancochefios. Indeed, his formulation
makes it clear that he wants to engage Naelio on a personal level so as to have purchase on the
group level.

In response to this charge, Naelio, who was mumbling drunk and perhaps unaware of
what had transpired in the Feria, hedged with something unintelligible about ‘ellos’ (they/them).
This was almost certainly an effort to distance himself from them, and an attempt to avoid
implication by association. Technically, Naelio (like his brother Jorgito) was from a hamlet near
Caiza, which lies just north of Pancochi. Yet where all from that section of the Linares Province
are considered to be relatives (parientes), and noting that there are many kin relations that span
the hamlets near Pancochi and Caiza, Naelio was—here very much inconveniently—a
Pancochefio. Indeed, he was most certainly not a Saropalkefio or Yurefio, the two other

prominent communities (groups of parientes) of Potosinos in the barrio.

2 As an example of this ‘isolation’, the Pancochefios are known to have avoided both the mining economy and the
compulsory Bolivian military service. Each of these institutions is, on the local reading, thought to be a ‘socializing
and ‘civilizing’ force. Participation in the mining economy is thought to articulate peasants with more
encompassing social imaginaries as a function of nationalist or leftist politico-economic ideology—an articulation
typified by priBetty education in mining settlements and by mining radio. Participation in the military is thought to
properly ‘socialize’ one—i.e. that is to teach him to bathe, to speak Spanish, etc. Where the Pancochefios are said to
have not needed to engage in the mining sector owing to better lands upon which to secure their subsistence, they
are said to have escaped up into the hills when Army officials went looking for conscripts. Evidence of this is the
fact that they do not bear the tattoos of the barracks (cuartel) that many Saropalkefio and Yurefio men bear.
Conceived as articulating networks, the mining economy and the military are thought to open and expose people
from the campo; they are thought to introduce them to Bolivians from other regions and ethnic backgrounds, as well
as Bolivian national culture.

£}
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Yet Naelio’s meager response was inadequate to Gualter’s charge. Gualter, who was
bent on retribution wherever he might find it, seized upon what Valentin did give him: an
incongruity between his exterior presentation of self, and what everyone knew to be his inner
self. That is, Naelio revealed a chink in what was never a credible armor to begin with. Perhaps
abetted by the constant internal conflict he bore over how to manage his own Indian roots and
impoverished condition, and over how to mark himself less as a result (as if this were even
possible given the bundles of features that belied his origins and condition), Naelio had taken on
a specifically Argentine speech. Thisincluded the full panoply of Argentine phonological
features. To wit, Naelio’s pronounciation of ‘ellos’ in his hedge, was [é-sho-s], not [e-llo-S], as it
would traditionally be in Bolivia. As a proud Bolivian (perhaps because his Chuquisaquefio
roots enabled this where others’ roots did not), Gualter took this phonological claim as an

obvious and inappropriate affect, and laid into him fiercely:

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): Es ‘lla’ con elle no con sha!
It’s ‘lla” with L not with shal

The suggestion was that Naelio was negating his roots (negando sus raices) while trying to pass
for something he was not. Though ‘roots’ here certainly meant ‘Bolivian’ roots in a general way
(indeed, the phonological shift was to the ‘Argentine’ [sha], where [lla (con elle)] indexes a
‘Bolivian” Spanish) ‘roots’ is hardly ever (or fully) an issue of nationality. As we saw in the case
of ethnic banter above, what is really at stake in the negotiation of roots is one’s ethnic
background and status. Moreover, what is negated more often than not are specifically Qolla
roots and the world of cultural and material lack (carencia) that, on the dominant construal, is
said to define them. It was this ethnic aspect that Gualter seized upon. And indeed, fully aware
that Naelio might hear him—if not taking full advantage of his inability to defend himself given
his inebriation—Gualter turned to me in a not-so-concealed aside and suggested that Naelio was

most likely illiterate:

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): Es probable que ni sabe leer.
It is most likely that [Naelio] doesn’t even know how to
read.
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What Gualter suggested through this charge of illiteracy was that the flip side to Naelio’s
affected phonological exterior was a fundamental, internal ignorance (ignorancia). Certainly, on
the dominant estimation, illiteracy indexes the lack and backwardness that is said to characterize
the Qolla, and within the Qolla, the Pancochefio, for which Naelio is made to stand. For Gualter,
Naelio’s [sha] was a pathetic and doomed attempt to conceal an internal and undeniable
condition of backwardness he was ashamed to own.

Looking not only to expose this incommensurability between Naelio’s exterior projection
of self and his internal reality, but looking also to exploit the mis-match to make an individual-
cum-collective example of him as a ‘Pancochefio’, Gualter levied the ultimate in challenges

against him. Once again with me as the witness:

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): ¢De donde sos?
Where are you [Arg.] from?

Gualter is an astute man. He knows what Naelio’s past is, and he knows what continually
eats at him. Not entirely insensitive to his plight, but recently humiliated by those he takes to be
his consociates, Gualter knows that in offering Naelio this challenge, he will be unable to
respond to it with any degree of pride or self esteem—certainly not with the same self-
aggrandizement and haughtiness that characterized the Pancochefio mob that bullied him out of
the Feria. On Gualter’s assessment, this is for a few different reasons. First, Gualter suspects
that Naelio will be unable to ‘own’ his roots because of the general shame he feels for them and
for the culture of lack and backwardness so often imputed to them. Certainly, the prevalence of
attempts to escape admitting to being born in rural Potosi by claiming birth in the northern
Argentine provinces of Salta or Jujuy are a testament to this. Such attempts are typified in the
exchange between Fermina and Charly in the case of ethnic banter above. Second, with this
shame as a ground, Gualter suspects that Naelio, who he just effectively ‘exposed’, will not want
to own up to his truthful origins because doing so will contradict the affected self he had just
been caught presenting. As if Gualter’s invocation of Naelio’s original shame were not enough,
a direct confession by Naelio would no doubt produce an added level of humiliation for him.
And third, Gualter suspects that Naelio will not own his roots because doing so would mean
confronting him directly. Certainly, Gualter knows he has the upper hand in the contest he is

creating, not just as an urban and educated Chuquisaquefio, but as a physically imposing and
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outspoken one. As Gualter feels his own anger from being ousted from the Feria piquing, he
must know that Naelio can sense he is looking for confrontation. For all these reasons, Gualter
knows how the exchange will likely unfold. He knows that in asking this particular question, he
will have multiple ways to reduce and humiliate Naelio. He knows he will have certain
retribution.

Naelio, looking down and mumbling “no, no” in full recognition that Gualter’s question

is a motivated one, hedges in a barely audible voice:

Naelio (Qolla): Soy indio...
I am an Indian...

Naelio refuses to state his birthplace and answer the question directly for many reasons. In the
immediate sense, Naelio does not want to be associated with the Pancochefios and therefore
responsible to Gualter for what happened at the Feria. Certainly, Naelio has been bullied enough
in life to want to avoid confrontation—his scars and twisted nose being a testament to this. Yet
Naelio is also reluctant to admit to being from his hamlet in Caiza because Gualter’s foregoing
assessment of his ‘ignorance’—i.e. that which was revealed through his pathetic attempts to
conceal it—would be painfully confirmed. Certainly, Caiza is a rural, Indian hinterland in Potosi
that lacks the traits of ‘civilization’ that Bolivia’s urban centers possess; one is more often than
not embarrassed to admit having been born in such a place, especially when confronted by a
Chuquisaquefio or Qochalo—i.e. one from Sucre or Cochabamba, respectively.

Thus to avoid both confrontation with Gualter and humiliation at his hand, Valentin
meets him half-way by calling himself an indio, a condition he has also internalized over time.
Certainly, this move is not just a strategy; Naelio feels this condition just as much as he might
mobilize it pragmatically. Without admitting to being from Caiza, but by humiliating himself as
an indio, Naelio’s hope is to diffuse the antagonism by anticipating Gualter’s conclusions about
him. Naelio seeks to give Gualter at least part of what he is looking for without having to go
through the painful humiliation of being picked apart by him directly.

Yet Gualter is not satisfied with Naelio’s hedge, which smacks of evasion. Having been
aggrieved and with a score that can only be settled by his own hand, Gualter fires back with

added emphasis, further specifying his target:
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Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): ¢ jDe donde sos Naelio!?
Where are you [Arg.] from Naelio!?

Yet Valentin hedges further, denying Gualter his prize:

Naelio (Qolla): Soy indio campesino, soy bolita.
I am an Indian peasant, | am a bolita.

Again, in an attempt to avoid any responsibility to Gualter for what happened at the Feria, and to
avoid being humiliated by him directly, Valentin continues to refuse to confess his origins,
hoping that debasing himself further will provide reprieve. Indeed, Naelio’s tack of calling
himself indio campesino and bolita®® is as much evasion through humiliation as it is a plea for
pathos and mercy.

Yet Gualter, who has yet to swallow his own humiliation from being ousted at the Feria,
is hardly finished with Naelio, however much he might also pity him. Not only intent on
showing me, as both witness and jury, what the ‘Pancochefios’ are really made of (i.e. cowardice
on the one hand, and hypocrisy and shame on the other), but also intent on exacting revenge

against them by humiliating one of their own, Gualter stands up, beats his chest, and exclaims:

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio):  jYo soy de Sucre! ¢jDe donde eres!?
I am from Sucre! Where are you [Bol.] from?!

Continuing to press Naelio on own his origins, Gualter ups the ante. In an attempt to force the
issue, Gualter switches to a Bolivian conjugation of the verb ser (to be): ¢De donde eres!?
Certainly, to elicit another’s origins, one must speak in the idiom of home. ‘Eres’is what is
spoken in Bolivia (noting however, that many Tarijefios have adopted the ‘vos’ of Argentine
Spanish to the chagrin of many). Yet ‘eres’ is also what was everyone spoke before migrating to
Argentina. Gualter’s deployment of Bolivian Spanish thus also evokes a temporality and a

history. ‘Eres’is thus a pragmatic move not only to connect Naelio with his home in Potosi (as a

%8 Though we will address the meaning of the term bolita in the next chapter, let us remark that referentially
speaking, Naelio’s use of it here has nothing to do with ‘Bolivian-ness’ as compared to anything Argentine. Rather,
it has everything to do with marginality in general (note that Naelio is a poor Bolivian in Argentina) and the
humility of Indian-ness in particular. Indeed, it reinforces his denomination of himself as an ‘indio campesino’, a
phrase common in highland Bolivia to refer to poor Indian peasants (i.e. as an unpoliticized, submissive, pre-modern
mass on the margins). Yet the principal function of Naelio’s deployment of bolita and indio campesino here is not
the conveyance of referential meaning. Rather, it is pragmatic.
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place), but also to connect him with the person he always was underneath (as a function of time).
Certainly, where one returns home, one also returns to his youth. For Naelio, that youth was
unquestionably Indian.

Naelio, however, is silent before Gualter’s challenge to him to confront his home, his
past, and himself—a challenge that is becoming increasingly intimate. Perhaps he is silent
because the evocation of home and the past only serves to cast his life and trajectory in a more
critical—and painful—relief; it may only evoke more forcefully the shame he carries with him
on a day to day basis—a shame he feels seeing and wearning the scars on his face.

Frustrated by Naelio’s silence, Gualter pushes to reveal—again by his own hand—what
Naelio is on the inside, ultimately to show what the Pancochefios are beneath their numbers,
newfound wealth, and affected projections of self. Unrelenting, he blasts Naelio, only to then

call him out in Quechua:

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio):  jTodos tenemos identidad! ¢jMaymantan kanki
carajo?!
Everyone has an identity! Where the fuck are you from?!

Gualter’s shift into Quechua is a heightened attempt to connect Naelio with home—to speak in
its idiom. Yet more than this, Gualter’s employment of Quechua is a direct challenge to Naelio
to confront his Indian roots of which he is so ashamed. For the Quechua language represents and
indexes these roots in all their manifestations: ethnic, historical, and geographical. Where
Gualter challenges Naelio to speak back to him in Quechua, he challenges him to ‘own’ a
language and by extension aculture that, despite being disparaged, is nevertheless his. This is the
identity he dis-owns. Gualter’s challenge to Naelio is for him to own his past and identity.

Yet this is something that Naelio, despondent, crumbling, and drunk, cannot do. With
nowhere else to go, and having already humiliated himself through his attempts to avoid
committing to his past and its entailments, Naelio can only muster a pathetic, single-word

response:

Naelio (Qolla): Caiza.
Caiza.
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Paralyzed by his internal struggle over what he wishes he might shed (or transcend), and over
what he must ultimately embrace, Naelio commits to neither Spanish nor Quechua. Indeed, he
attempts to escape all markings by avoiding the declinations “Soy de Caiza” (Spanish) and
“Caizamantan kani” (Quechua). Yet he is still pinned to the mat. With all other options
exhausted, he caves in to what Gualter has been seeking all along: an admission—itself a kind of
confession—of where he is from. And Naelio utters this confession in a most defeated way.
Certainly, he does not, as Gualter does (because he can), stand and beat his chest to proudly
proclaim his origins in Sucre (Chuquisaca). Rather, in uttering “Caiza”, Naelio’s head is bowed,
hanging nearly between his knees, his voice weak.

To this, Gualter, who is still frustrated by Naelio’s lack of engagement, but now

somewhat vindicated and smug, turns to me to say simply:

Gualter (Chuquisaquefio): ¢ Ves?
Do you see?

Though Gualter exacts what he has been pressing for all along—confession by Naelio at his own
hand—the moment is so pathetic that it is anticlimactic. There is no climax because there is no
fight—no fight because there is nothing left to fight with. Naelio, not strong to begin with, is left
in a heap.

By pushing for and finally exacting this confession, Gualter has humiliated Naelio in a
number of ways. In each instance, the humiliation he effects hinges on an invocation of Naelio’s
own shame over his origins. Beginning with the final confession, Gualter achieves this in two
related ways. First, Naelio’s admission to being from Caiza reveals that Naelio is from what
residents in the barrio call the ‘campo campo’ of Potosi (the most interior part of the interior).

As previously mentioned, this indexes what is believed to be a world of material and cultural
lack (carencia). Thisadmission, elicited by an aggrevied Gualter who already knows Naelio’s
origins, is itself humiliating for Naelio. Second, and based on this original shame, Naelio’s
confession at Gualter’s hand reveals that he was indeed putting on airs to conceal these roots—
i.e., by having assumed an Argentine speech. As Gualter was intent on showing, Naelio’s
exterior projection of self did not match his internal reality. That this duplicity was ultimately
confirmed and laid bare was further humiliating for Naelio. Yet Gualter’s humiliation of Naelio

was not just achieved in this final confession of origins. Naelio is also humiliated during the
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process of this entire exchange. In a first instance, and in an attempt to evade this final
confession, Naelio humiliated himself by calling himself an indio campesino and a bolita. By
themselves, these identifications are denigrating. Yet such self-denominations were also a
strategy to evade confessing his origins. This very process of hedging and evading this
confession is humiliating. For only a pathetic (read ‘ignorant’) individual would not own his
origins. Thus by asking the key question ¢De donde sos?, Gualter knowingly created a Strait of
Messina for the hapless Naelio —the Scylla being an evasion of his origins and the Charybdis
the confession itself. For Naelio, both would lead to a humiliating reification of his own
indianness. All Gualter had to do was push him down this strait. And by continually
hammering him, Naelio was made to ratify his own lowly, shameful condition.

Yet let us not forget what Gualter’s interest was in all of this. In the first instance,
Gualter was looking to reduce Naelio out of revenge for the humiliation he himself had felt in
being ousted from the Feria. Yet Gualter was perhaps more interested in using his ‘exposure’ of
Naelio—and Naelio’s own ratification of his indianness—to make a more further reaching
comment on what he believed to be the Pancochefios’ underlying truth (esencia, idiosincracia).
That is, Gualter felt the need, not just to seek retribution for his own personal violation, but to set
the record—and the world— straight.

Using Naelio as an example, Gualter makes two implicit arguments about the
Pancochefios, both of which hinge on deconstructing and reducing Naelio. The first is that,
beneath their numbers, the Pancocherfios are individually weak (sumisos). That is, when they are
not assembled as a ‘pack of wolves’, they are mere indios who have paralyzing identity
complexes. Indeed, these complexes are believed to be the source of their overcompensation,
whether this be in the form of affected speech patterns or in unjustified haughtiness towards
others. Gualter’s invocation of Valentin’s shame about his origins, and the humiliation he effects
by virtue of it, is thus meant to expose these characteristic truths about the Pancochefios as a
pueblo.

Building on this exposure of Pancochefio idiosyncrasy (idiosincracia), Gualter makes a
related and further reaching argument. Having used Naelio as an individual-cum-collective
example, Gualter implies that this mob of weak and backward indios is not only what bullied
him out of the Feria; it is what has usurped the CBE. Indeed, he has been outspoken that the

Pancochefios have appropriated what should be an inclusive and cosmopolitan Colectividad
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Boliviana, and turned it into a self-serving ‘Colectividad Pancochena’—one that has ceased to
function in service of the community and one that has, through its illegality, tarnished the name
of the Bolivian Community writ large. More than this, as Gualter and many others have pointed
out, this “usurpation” has resulted in multiple exclusions. Not only have the Qochalos and the
few Chuquisaquefios and Pacefios been excluded, but key Potosinos such as the Saropalkefios, to

whom many attribute the founding of the CBE, have also been over-run and forced out.

Conclusion

The story of how the Colectividad Boliviana de Escobar (CBE) became known as a
‘Colectividad Potosina’, and within this, as a ‘Colectividad Pancochefia’, such that it failed in its
mission of cultivating solidarity between Bolivian ‘brothers’, is a complex one. As I have stated
in the Introduction to this chapter and earlier in the thesis, telling this story means telling the
story of envy and pride—i.e. how these practical formations, as part of a larger ‘envy complex’
grew and evolved as a function of the changes wrought through the emigration from Bolivia to
Argentina. Yet telling this story requires a prior elucidation of the notion of progress which, in
its most fundamental formulation, means escaping or otherwise separating oneself from a
condition of ‘backwardness’. This often means shedding, concealing, or otherwise managing
those attributes that mark one as ‘backward.’

By exploring face to face engagements between different kinds of Bolivians in Escobar,
this chapter has worked inductively to identify what kinds of attributes are marked as
‘backward’, and how these markings both stem from, and are negotiated with respect to, a master
binary of civilization and backwardness. This regime of power and signification, while a
function of the social and political worlds created through the Spanish invasion, has as much to
do with nineteenth-century discourses of race and social evolution. While I lack the space to
explore this regime in its fullest dimensions, | have attempted to show that the ‘economy of
otherness’ that obtains between Bolivians in Escobar is derived from this larger regime and is,
like its local manifestations in the Andes, a complex one in which racial, ethnic, linguistic, and
geographic characteristics are signified. As | hope to have showed, this regime provides both

bearings and material with which social actors in particular settings negotiate their own statuses
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and those of others. In fact, the banter and bullying I have explored here would be impossible in
their present forms without this larger regime of signification. At the same time, this larger
regime, while dominant, and often hegemonic, is not entirely hegemonic. As seen in both
ethnographic cases, it can be inverted and contested; there are counter-hegemonic constructions
that look to counter the tide of discrimination and disenfranchisement. In this way, one must see
any dominant, default significations as phenomena that are contingent on their being harnessed,
deployed, and negotiated in particular instances.

These questions, while interesting, are perhaps abstract with regard to my more
immediate task—i.e. that of preparing the foundations for a discussion of progress and ultimately
of the envy complex that emerges through it. Toward this end, | have chosen the above cases of
banter and bullying because they illuminate a number of important dimensions to the practices of
othering. First, group-level significations are crucial. Whether on the level of ethnic nationality
(e.g. Qolla, Qochalo, Chapaco, Chuquisaquefio) or, within this (e.g. Pancochefio, Saropalkefio,
etc. for the Qollas), individuals are taken as both members of groups and representations of what
they are (e.g. Qolla-ness, Pancochefio-ness, etc.). As such, they can be held responsible for the
actions of their groups or, because of their resemblance to them (real or imagined), they can
become a vehicle through which action and signification have purchase on groups and the larger
order of things.

Second, the corporate nature of, or dimension to, practices of othering produces rivalries
that exist between both ethnic nationalities and lower level ethnic groups, the latter often
coterminous with individual communities (e.g. Pancochefios, Saropalkefios). As I argue later in
this dissertation, these rivalries, signified through the politics of progress, shape the very coup of
the CBE and the ethnic exclusions that followed. For the moment, let us note that these group-
level rivalries, informed by the discourse of civilization and backwardness, are often fodder for
practices of othering on the individual level. The latter frequently reproduce and perpetuate the
former. As seen through both the banter and the bullying, practices of othering, and relations
between others generally, range from agonism to antagonism. What emerges when will depend
on a range of factors that includes group-membership, kinds of solidarity, kinds of intimacy, and
perhaps above all, kinds of desire. Though it perhaps goes without saying, practices of othering
do not simply produce relational difference; they do so in ways that depend upon and produce

hierarchy and domination.
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Finally, as | hope to have suggested through the examples of banter and bullying above,
no engagement exists by itself. Rather, the view of social relations I present is one of inter-event
semiosis in which ‘otherings’ made in one engagement depend upon and create ‘otherings’ made
elsewhere. This process is ongoing precisely because engagements are agonistic, if not
antagonistic. Scores are always being settled. What is negotiated from moment to moment is
one or another’s human dignity as all are caught in a process of becoming. What emerges
through engagements in this politics of recognition is a visceral economy of esteem and shame.
Using the analytic ‘economy’ here is not random: where there are winners and losers in banter
and bullying, one’s esteem is another’s humiliation. This has consequences as people come to
negotiate ‘progress’ which, as we will see in Chapter 4, takes the form of a zero-sum
configuration. (As we will see by the end of the thesis, what emerges through the corruption of
the CBE is a movement to progress together, versus at one another’s expense).

Before moving on to the discussion of progress, which as | have stated is that attempt to
escape or otherwise manage one’s ‘backwardness’, there is yet more to elucidate with regard to
how backwardness is figured in Escobar. Let us not forget that while we are interested in
relations between Bolivians, given that the ultimate project is to understand the rise, corruption,
and attempted restoration of the CBE, these Bolivians are in Argentina. Indeed, many of the
Bolivians in Escobar are Argentines. And the situation is truly complex. Many that were born in
Bolivia have grown up in Argentina. Some have been nationalized. Others have married
Argentines. And this is not to deny that many Argentines (even without any Bolivian blood or
relations) are called bolivianos. Thus, while I have elucidated the Bolivian economy of
otherness, there is yet a need to elucidate the Argentine economy of otherness. The next chapter
is dedicated to this endeavor, and specifically to the ways that Bolivian and Argentine terms of
otherness are reconciled, and the ways these reconciliations both shape and are shaped by face to

face engagements.
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Chapter 3:

Argentine Economy of Otherness

Introduction

Through the foregoing analyses of ethnic banter and ethnic bullying, I illuminated particular
formulations of otherness that are thoroughly ‘Bolivian’. In both cases, otherness was grounded
in Indian-ness. As we saw, Indian-ness is not simply about ethnic markers and what are often
taken to be underlying racial attributes. That is, Indian-ness is not simply about indigenous
cultural practices, the Quechua language, and the biological differences thought to hang with
them. Indian-ness is also a condition of class. Indeed, what marks the Indian in Bolivia, as
elsewhere in the Andes®, is a certain material poverty that is often framed as ‘lack’ (carencia).
Finally, to race, culture, and class one must also add geography: Indians are imagined through
rurality and provinciality. As an imaginary, indian-ness is thus a cluster of attributes that co-
index and inflect one another. They are opposed to what is whiter, more European, and urban in
what amounts to a master binary, itself an imaginary stemming from the Spanish invasion and
reorganization. Where the latter cluster of attributes is, on the dominant estimation, imagined as
‘civilized’, the former is regarded as ‘backward’—i.e. as something that should be overcome. In
this way, Indian-ness is something that is traditionally disparaged. While this is not to say there
are not counter-hegemonic movements to vindicate ‘lo originario’, those of indigenous descent
are frequently made to feel shame over their origins and are often humiliated for them. In what |
have called the ‘Bolivian economy of otherness,’ these are the terms through which Bolivians
‘other’ themselves.

Parsing this economy of otherness is a necessary step in the endeavor to understand

whether and how Bolivian immigrants and their Argentine-born children can relate to each other

# See De la Cadena (2000)
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in horizontal ways—i.e. whether they can transcend their differences, both ethnic and socio-
economic, and establish a Bolivian ‘community’. For indeed this is what the CBE set out to do.
Yet Bolivian community does not hinge on Bolivian terms alone. Let us not forget that these
immigrants and their children reside in Escobar, Argentina. Another fundamental step towards
understanding Bolivian relations is to parse the ‘ Argentine economy of otherness’. Indeed, the
ways that Bolivians are ‘othered’ by Argentines plays into Bolivian relations, and in multiple
ways.

In this vein, this chapter addresses a number of questions. Principal among them are:
How are Bolivians ‘othered’ in Argentina? And how might Bolivians come to ‘other’ each other
in ways that stem from their collective treatment in Argentina? Yet these questions depend on
others, namely: What are the terms of otherness in Argentina? If in the Bolivian economy of
otherness, ‘otherness’ is most frequently ‘Indianness’, what is otherness in Argentina? As we’ll
see below, otherness in Argentina is ‘blackness’, and blackness is signified through the same
master binary of ‘backwardness’ and ‘civilization’ that has given Indianness its meanings.

The chapter thus begins with a set of discussions that outlines what the regime of
blackness is in Argentina, and in historical perspective. Part of this is to illuminate what
Argentina’s internal others are (i.e. cabecitas negras and villeros). Based on this | show how
Bolivians are received and treated as ‘negros’ (blacks) in Argentina, and yet differentiated from
them. Ultimately, | show that the Bolivian and Argentine economies of otherness intersect in the
epithet bolita. While this term was created by Argentines to discriminate against Bolivians, it
has since been ‘indigenized’ by Bolivians to ‘other’ themselves. I argue that the Bolivian uses of
bolita reproduce the valuations of the indio in the Bolivian economy of otherness. That is, that
the regime of value by which Qolla-ness is disdained among Bolivian ethnic nationalities gets
reproduced, with attendant consequences for Qolla esteem. Indeed, Qollas come to bear the
brunt of discrimination not just through the Bolivian economy of otherness, but the Argentine
economy as well.

Where | have shown through both the Bolivian and Argentine economies of otherness
that Bolivians consistently undergo assaults on their human dignity (perpetrated by themselves
and by others), I can then illuminate what ‘progress’ is all about. As mentioned earlier on,
progress is a number of things: while it is about overcoming the condition of Indianness in a

material sense—i.e. leaving the rural hinterland for the urban areas to have better access to work,
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electricity, education, health care, and material goods—it is more than this. Progress is about
being able to transcend or otherwise manage the markers of Indianness over which one can be
humiliated, beaten, or killed. It is about escaping the pain of being called an indio, negro, and
bolita. As | will argue, one of the ways Bolivians seek to achieve this is through capitalizing and
achieving economic independence. Indeed, one that drives a pickup truck or buys his own farm
has placed (or tries to place) distance between himself and that condition of Indianness. Yetas I
also show, these wills to power also generate great envy and pride that not only reproduce social

divisions, but have political consequences as well.

The Regime of Blackness in Argentina
¢Por qué tenemos que venir acé para poder vivir? Acé tenemos que ser los negros, los
bolitas—tenemos que comer eso todos los dias. No nos queda otra.

Why do we have to come here just to be able to live? Here (in Argentina) we have to be the
‘blacks’; the bolitas—we have to eat that every single day. We have no other choice.

—Tio Norberto, Potosino

Cabecitas Negras

Perhaps the best point of entrée into the contemporary construction of otherness-as-blackness in
Argentina is to begin with the figure of the cabecita negra, i.c. the “little black head”. The
cabecitas negras were the dark-sinned, rural Argentine masses that migrated to Buenos Aires in
the 1930s and 1940s, and came to occupy the marginal, make-shift settlements known as villas
de emergencia (see Ratier 1971a, 1971b). Their migration was the result of two macro-
economic phenomena that affected Argentina’s economy—specifically its exportation of raw
goods and its importation of finished products. The first was the world agricultural crisis of the
early 1930s that stemmed from the Great Depression. Where global demand for agricultural
products collapsed, the export-led producers of the Argentine Provinces collapsed as well,

creating a surplus of rural labor (see Barsky and Gelman 2001). The second was Argentina’s
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industrialization through import substitution and the growth of manufacturing jobs it generated in
Buenos Aires. While also tied to the Global downturn of the 1930s and the scarcity it created,
Argentine import substitution owed more to scarcity created by World War 1. By the 1940s, this
model of domestic industrialization featured heavily in Peron’s populism and became a mainstay
in his rule (see Rock 1985, Chasteen 2001). The combination of these forces thus created one of
the most significant demographic shifts in Argentine history: the agricultural crisis produced a
‘push’ while import substitution created a ‘pull” as thousands of provincianos migrated to
Buenos Aires in search of a better future (see also Germani 1973).

The influx of cabecitas negras into the metropole was not just significant economically;
it was a major change to the Capital’s social and political ecology. In the first instance, one
should note that the term itself was a construction of otherness created by those of European
origin in the Capital. Indeed, from the perspective of the middle and upper classes in Buenos
Aires, the Argentine Republic had by the turn of the century achieved its explicit goal of
becoming a predominantly European nation. Despite the erasures this entailed for the Provinces
of the interior, the ‘Europeanization” of Buenos Aires had in fact occurred. This was achieved
through massive immigration from Italy, Spain, Russia, Germany, and Poland—an immigration
that was itself sanctioned in the Argentine Constitution, and remains so to this day. Indeed, at
the beginning of the twentieth century, roughly 60% of Buenos Aires was foreign, and most of
these immigrants were of European stock. All were phenotypically white and thought to have
been the bearers of ‘civilization’ (see Ratier 1971a). While there had been some of African
descent in the Capital, most appear to have been absorbed by this tide of European immigration,
though there is some debate on this (see Andrews 1980, 2004, Frigerio 2006). The fate of many
indigenous tribes on the nearby pampa is less controversial: many had been eradicated in
campaigns of extermination, allowing the metropole to imagine the indigenous ‘episode’ of
Argentina as one that was ‘happily overcome’ (Ratier 1971a: 9).

In the inter-war period then, while Buenos Aires and its surroundings prided itself as
European in origin, the Argentine interior told a different story. In the Northern Provinces
bordering Bolivia and Paraguay the mestizo—i.e. the darker-skinned and more phenotypically
Indian—predominated. These were the rural to urban migrants that would become the ‘new
workers’ (nuevos obreros) in the burgeoning factories in the 1930s and 40s. Their arrival to

Buenos Aires challenged—and indeed threatened—the portefio image of Argentina as a
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European nation. Where the cabecitas negras were a new economic class, they were also a new
social class, one that was racially and culturally undesirable. Their desire to leave their marginal
villas and experience the city center resulted in racialized epithets such as aluvion zool6gico
(zoological flood). Where ‘flood’ conveyed the sense that the cabecitas had intruded upon, if
not invaded, the City, ‘zoological’ connoted the bourgeois attitude that these rural migrants were
so rude that they bordered on animals.

As Ratier (1971a) argues, the “shock” of the eruption of the cabecitas in the Capital was
not simply social and cultural, it was ultimately political. Indeed, the conservative liberals and
the traditional left came to revile this aluvidn zooldgico because they were politicized and
galvanized by Perdn in his populist domination of national politics (see also Guber 2002: 361).
Peron accomplished this, not by engaging the prevailing political question of the time—i.e. the
debate over democracy versus dictatorship—but rather by re-framing the debate to concern the
question of social justice or injustice. Indeed, Peron’s nationalism and totalitarianism did not
matter to the disenfranchised cabecitas as it did to the liberal intellectuals and bourgeois sectors,
who sought to lose certain holdings, freedoms, and privileges. What mattered to the cabecitas,
especially as they began to form the core of the labor movement, was the question of how wealth
and participation would be managed in what had always been an oligarchic country. What
would the share be between the white ‘European’ elite and the descamisado®, who desired rights
and a place in this new order? In this way, Peronism and his new masses shook the very
political-economic foundations of the Argentine establishment. What threatened the bourgeois
portefio was not that the provincial and undesirable ‘blacks’ had become a new shanty-dwelling
class, but rather that they had become allied with the Peronist revolution. The former
engendered racial and cultural disdain; the latter engendered fear.

Nowhere were these attitudes more apparent than in the event that characterized the
symbolic birth of Peronism. Certainly, Perdn’s rise was a contentious one. Having been jailed
in October 1945, the masses of descamisados/cabecitas marched on the Plaza de Mayo to

demand his release. This event was later characterized by the anti-peronist writer Ezequiel

% Referring to the same figure, the descamisado (‘unshirted’ or “shirtless’) was typically a positive denomination—
i.e. a “calicativo orgulloso” (Ratier 1971a: 9)—when held against the epithet cabecita negra. Often featuring into
Peron’s populist discourse, the term descamisado alludes to the body of the humble worker from the interior. In
Perén’s populism, it was a term through which such rural to urban migrants could be affectively, and
revolutionarily, included into a social order that was exclusionary and hostile (Margulis 1998c: 146).
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Martinez Estrada, who in his Habitantes del sétano (1956)* [The Inhabitants of the Cellar
(perhaps a euphemism for ‘bottom-dwellers’], captured the symbolic shock and the effects this

had on the dominant construal of the nation:

We have spoken much about our nation. Our National Anthem recognizes it, and yet we
do not know it. Perdn revealed to us, not the nation, but a part of it that had seemed
strange and foreign to us. On October 17th he let into the streets of Buenos Aires a social
sediment that no-one would have recognized. It seemed an invasion of people from
another country, who spoke another language, who wore exotic dress, but who were,
nevertheless, part of the Argentine nation of our Anthem. For it had occurred that, up
until that moment, we had been strangers to a part of the family who were this low and
miserable people. Even the revolutionaries had displaced or forgotten them, and Perén
had not simply the generosity and intelligence, but the ability, to bring them up to the
surface and to, without shame, show them, not in the capacity of a people, but in the
capacity of a tremendous and aggressive force that shook the very foundations of a
society constituted with just one part of humanity...This was a people that we had not
taken into account, but who existed...This was living people, one that was on the
march...They were our ragged brethren, our miserable brethren ... Those sinister devils
of the plains that Sarmiento described in his Facundo had not perished. They are alive in
this instant and doing the same work [i.e. of butchering cattle] but now under a roof in
operations much greater than those of [their nineteenth-century bosses—the meat drying
tycoons turned strongmen]. On October 17 they came out to ask for an explanation for
their captivity, to demand a place in the sun, and they appeared with their butcher’s
blades in their belts—a threat to the affluent neighborhoods of Barrio Norte. We felt
chills seeing them parade as a silent horde with signs that threatened to take a terrible
revenge. (Martinez 2005 [1956]: 55-56, my translation)

In these ‘black’ Peronist masses, the bourgeois portefio saw the incarnation of the unexorcised
ghost of barbarism. They were viewed as an historical residue, a kind of inextinguishable
substratum that had resurfaced and erupted upon the civilized City, demanding recognition and
representation. In the process they exploded the traditional symbolic order that had relegated
them to the periphery, both geographically and temporally, as something that should have been
superseded in history, either through forced extinction or some progressive dialectic (see Svampa
2006: 322). Martinez’s characterization of this Peronist march reveals the extent to which this
internal ‘other’—this lowly, miserable, and dark-skinned figure—had been forgotten, if not

written out of, History (see also Margulis 1998c: 145).

%! T am familiar with this particular passage through Maristella Svampa’s (2006 [1994]) ;Civilizacion o barbarie?

166



Villeros

This encounter—and indeed collision—between the ‘two Argentinas’, frequently cast in the
idiom of civilization and backwardness, continued with persistent tension through the first
decade of Peron’s rule (1945-1955). As the ‘barbaric hordes’ of cabecitas negras became the
protagonists in a reformist political project, both the radical left (communists and socialists) and
the oligarchic liberals formed an anti-Peronist alliance (Guber 2004: 116). Indeed, the latter saw
Perdn as having vitiated democracy and ushered in a totalitarian rule. The political polarity
between the Peronists and the anti-Personists only sharpened the disdain toward the cabecitas
negras, who enjoyed not only political but economic mobilization. Indeed, as Ratier states,
when the cabecitas saw themselves as protagonists in national politics their disposition was not
one of confinement to the villas, but rather one of open engagement with the City, through which
they also enjoyed economic participation (1971a: 110).

Yet while the Peronist masses exercised their might for a time, Peron’s economic policies
began to fail toward the mid 1950s, ultimately foreclosing their opportunities for mobility. After
the fall of his second government in 1955, the cabecita, having become entrenched in poverty
and now politically dissmpowered, came to be known more simply as the villero. Indeed,
through these political-economic shifts, the villas de emergencia had ceased to provide a
transitional step on the way to economic progress, and came to be known simply by their
poverty—i.e. as villas miseria. As the only option for hundreds of thousands of people,
including new migrants, the villa was a condition of life that came to represent the unrealized
goals, if not failures, of Peronist modernization. Where the cabecita had represented a new
social actor on the rise, his disesmpowered heir, the villero, represented one that fell behind. He
once again became socially, politically, and economically marginal, and now became confined to
the space of the villa itself. That the villas were believed to be worlds unto themselves was an
index of the cabecita’s very disempowerment (Guber 2002: 362-364).

What one sees in the bourgeois construction of the cabecita negra and the villero he
became is how a range of traits and attributes co-index each other. Indeed, as an ‘other’, the
cabecita negra was at once originally rural, economically poor, phenotypically darker, culturally
rude, and politically Peronist. Any of these traits, which on their own indexed backwardness,

conjured up all the others. What came to define the villero as such, however, was a more explicit
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moral loading to this co-indexicality. Indeed, the (im)moral imputations to the villero are what
allowed the bourgeois sectors to have a causal explanation for him and his backwardness.

What have—and continue to be—the imputations to the villero’s moral being? As Guber
has argued, the villero in Buenos Aires and its surroundings has been known both for his anomie
and his apathy—i.e. he has been known to lack moral conduct and an interest in his own material
and spiritual development, including that of his children. Seen as dirty, promiscuous, and
indigent, the villero is known to embrace idleness and to prefer to engage in delinquency than to
look for honest work. Where he does work, this is regarded as an effort to merely satisfy his
daily needs, if not satisfy some vice. Indeed, the villero is known to abuse alcohol and drugs
(Guber 2004: 117). On the dominant estimation by la gente—i.e. ‘the people’—the villero is the
object of moral condemnation.

Yet this condemnation has never existed alone. Indeed, it has always been associated
with material lack (carencia). The villero lacks a number of things. In the first instance, he
lacks a dignified dwelling, a title to any plot, and stable work. He often lacks running water, a
sewer, electricity, and basic sanitary conditions. He further lacks sufficient food, clothing, and
medicine. Finally, he often lacks access to a range of services, including health care and
education. Basic human security is frequently lacking (Guber 2004: 117-118; Margulis and
Lewin 1998: 208-211). As Guber has mentioned, lack in one necessity often produces lack in
another, and the entire configuration of need can generate, either recursively or through a
multiplying effect, further needs (ibid).

Crucial in the formulation of the social category of the villero was that class and culture
came to explain one another. On one reading, the material lack produced the lack of morality in
the villero: i.e. that the lack of material goods caused him to rob others; the lack of employment
caused him to be apathetic, the lack of a decent house caused him to be promiscuous. On an
opposite reading, it was the lack of morality—or other inherent qualities—that created the
material lack: i.e. a lack of proper education (incultura, ignorancia) caused the apathy to work,
the propensity toward crime, etc (see also Guber 1991). Certainly, both class (understood as
lack) and culture (understood as immorality) have in the popular imagination been taken to
reinforce each other in a cycle of material and moral poverty.

All of this is not to say that apathy, anomie, criminality, vice, promiscuity and poor

parenting do not exist in the villa. Certainly they do. But they also exist everywhere else—i.e.
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among the middle and upper classes of portefios—if in different forms. The difference is that for
those classes, these traits do not define them as such. Interrogating the dominant ideology of the
villero, one thus sees that there have been significant erasures (Irvine and Gal 2000). What has
been elided are not simply the socio-economic factors undergirding the formative migrations of
the early- to mid-twentieth century (i.e. the push and pull examined above) and the ways these
factors have been consequential for shaping the class (caste) system in Argentina. What has
also, and perhaps more importantly, been elided are the myriad ways that ‘villeros’ are also
human. Certainly, the discourses that brand villeros as ‘animals’ (i.e. an aluvion zoologico) have
ignored the ways that people in the villas cooperate, express affect, create opportunities, adapt to
challenging circumstances, develop political representation and fight for their dignity on a daily
basis (see Auyero 2001). In this way, the figure of the villero in the popular bourgeois imaginary
has undergone great reductionism and homogenization in which only certain attributes have been
selected (if not also projected upon them) so as to represent ‘those people’, while others have
been suppressed. At the same time, and through similar mechanisms, the villa is frequently
taken as a world unto itself—a world that is seen as impenetrable and inscrutable from the
‘outside’ (i.e. the City). While there are of course cultural codes that are unique to life in the
villas (see also Alarcon 2003), what are erased are the multiple ways that life there articulates

with life in ‘the City’, socially, economically, politically, culturally, etc.

Negros

What one sees in the historical construction of otherness in Buenos Aires is that it is frequently
understood through, and cast in the idiom of, ‘blackness’. Indeed, the epithet cabecita negra
(little black head) captured this well. What happened through that denomination, and what
carried over into the characterization of the villero, was that a range of attributes and markers
came to co-index each other. Indeed, the phenotypic darkness of the rural to urban migrant
indexed a set of cultural features and vice versa. These, in turn, became amalgamated with
poverty and economic marginality. What has happened over time is that blackness has come to
pervade the entire ensemble of associations. In this way, one can speak of the racialization of

both class and culture (see Margulis and Belvedere 1998, Margulis 1998a). Nowhere is this
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more apparent than in the current term negro (black), which is used by those in Buenos Aires and
its surroundings to reference anyone who is deemed marginal and undesirable. As perhaps the
most inclusive epithet, the negro includes the villero.

Historically then, where the ‘other’ in the metropole was often phenotypically darker
because he came from the Northern Provinces of Argentina (i.e. those that border Bolivia and
Paraguay, who have darker, more indigenous populations), the cultural attributes he bore, and
those they gave rise to, have become understood as ‘negro’, as has his class position. Where
blackness has come to characterize this entire life-world, someone that has European (i.e. white)
features, a phenomenon that is increasingly common as neoliberal reforms have eroded the
middle class and swollen the villas, he may be a ‘negro’. This is especially if he is seen to bear
the apathy, anomie, vices, and penchant for delinquency the villas are known for. In these ways,
blackness is an inclusive explanatory idiom that references class, culture, (urban) geography, and
still in many instances, phenotype.

What is interesting about this is that the denomination of negro has become somewhat
unmoored from phenotype in the popular imaginary. Indeed, many in Buenos Aires will affirm
that a negro de mierda does not have to be phenotypically darker. And they are right. However,
what this affirmation elides is the fact that many that are called negros are phenotypically darker
(or descend from these populations), which in turn elides the role that race, as a function of geo-

political phenomena, has played in the construction of blackness throughout history.

Reconciling Bolivian-ness and Blackness

What emerges through an investigation of the construction of otherness as blackness in Buenos
Aires is a regime of discrimination that bundles together racial, cultural, economic, and
geographic traits in ways similar to the construction of otherness as indian-ness in Bolivia. As |
hope to have demonstrated, the precise terms of each regime and the ways that variables are
signified through them can ultimately be traced to ideas about civilization and backwardness.
Indeed, both the indio in Bolivia and the negro in Argentina have been cited as unwanted,
internal others that must be managed, if not overcome, on the march toward progress. While an

interesting project, me task in this chapter is much more modest.
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Having illuminated the regime of blackness for Buenos Aires and its surroundings, | can
now raise that key question of how the Bolivian immigrant is signified through it, and thus
positioned socially and culturally both in the metropole and in its construction of the Argentine
nation. Indeed, one must ask: if Buenos Aires has its negros, how does it receive and regard the
Bolivian immigrant? How are indian-ness and blackness reconciled in practice? And how does
Bolivian-ness fit into and help comprise the terms of the Argentine economy of otherness?

In this section, | explore the ways that Bolivians are both regarded as negros and as
different from them. Doing both means investigating the construction of the bolita—the
prejudicial term that is both levied against Bolivian immigrants and their Argentine-born
descendants. Through the discussions I attempt to illuminate different perspectives both from
‘above’ and ‘outside’—as well as ‘within’—the Argentine class system. | also begin to show
how the bolita is not simply a discursive construction; that it is also a condition of being that is
made through the body of a Bolivian or his Argentine children. Building these discussions is
necessary for the third section of the chapter—that which deals with face to face encounters

between Bolivians who engage one another as bolitas.

The Bolita is Just Another Negro

Certainly, not all from the Capital city or the Province of Buenos Aires carry prejudice. | know
many Argentines who are tolerant and embrace tolerance as a politics. Coming from all social
positions, many are reflective on matters of class and culture, and race and creed, and will tell
you that the challenges facing their society are complex and merit critical reflection. Many will
point to the range of media that are dedicated to deconstructing the Argentine and his habits,
both good and bad (see Lanata 2004). Yet like any nation, and here I include my own, there are
numbers that do carry prejudice, and for a range of reasons. Unfortunately for Bolivian
immigrants and their Argentine-born children, they are frequently made into objects of
discrimination, along with other ‘native’ sectors of Argentine society.

One of the common prejudicial stances taken by middle and upper class portefios, i.e.
those who claim the authority to hold such a position, is that any of the undesirables in Argentina

is simply a negro. The poor are negros. The unemployed are negros. Those with a provincial
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look are negros. Those that live in the villas are negros. The uneducated are negros. Lumped in
with them are the Paraguayans and the Bolivians. Thus the paraguas and the bolitas—their
prejudicial denominations, respectively—are negros.

Let us look here at how the bolita is just another negro—i.e. what he and the
undifferentiated negro have in common as regards their discrimination and social
marginalization. In the first instance, and as mentioned above, negro is an inclusive and
homogenizing social category. As just another negro, the bolita is not seen to bear any of the
native particularities that distinguish him from any other Bolivian—for these do not matter ‘from
above’. Indeed, he is discriminated against for other markers.

First among them is class. Beginning with residence patters, Bolivian immigrants most
often reside in the fields they work, or, if in construction, textile production, or some other kind
of factory work, in working class or poorer neighborhoods (barrios humildes). Many, like their
Argentine counterparts, live in villas. That is, in both the Capital and in its surroundings
(conurbano), Bolivians typically inhabit the marginal areas that are said to be populated by
negros. In Escobar for example, many Bolivians reside in the surrounding fields; others reside in
the Barrio Lambertuchi. This Barrio, accessible on one end by the Avenida de los Inmigrantes,
lays the ‘other’ side of the Panamerican Highway. Indeed, some in the Center of Escobar will
refer to ‘that side’ of their city as “Bolivia”, lumping its Argentine residents in with the ‘bolitas’.
Within the Barrio Lambertuchi, Argentines will typically refer to the side where many Bolivians
reside (and where the CBE is located) as “the end” (al fondo) of the barrio. While in a sense this
is true, being that beyond the CBE the settlement gives way to the fields, and it was from these
fields that that side of the barrio was cut, it is a way that those who might be called negros by the
local bourgeoisie create social distance and separation from the ‘bolitas’.

While Bolivians may come to achieve certain economic mobility (progress) through
years of hard work and sacrifice, they have always come from a life characterized by material
lack (carencia). Asimmigrants in Argentina, they continue to live with such lack for years—
often decades—as they attempt to accumulate savings in order to capitalize—i.e. to purchase a
truck, build a workshop—with which to make a fit livelihood. As immigrants then, most
Bolivians tend to live in unplanned or new settlements, and often in informal or makeshift
dwellings. It is not uncommon to find recent immigrants or temporary migrants sharing a few

mattresses on the floor of a single room as they work to find economic security and a more
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permanent dwelling—both of which often prove elusive. If they live in the fields, it is often in
precarious shacks (chozas) made of loose boards and metal chapa.

The unpredictable nature of the informal economy in which Bolivians and other migrants
work often dictates the terms of their transient and precarious residence pattern. Low wages and
a need to migrate for seasonal work are among two factors that challenge the attainment of a
dignified dwelling in the short term, though a willingness to work through these conditions may
translate into progress over time. Even where Bolivians do attain economic progress, changing
residence is not always easy, for their marginalization as bolitas tends to keep them marginalized
in the barrios humildes. Indeed, even when economically mobile, their racial and cultural
profiles will still mark them as negros—i.e. undesirables—from the point of view of the ‘people’
(la gente), as I show below.

Tied to residence patterns is another class-based attribute that marks bolitas as negros.
This is the belief that they “usurp’ state or privately owned resources without contributing
anything in return. To begin with, the villero, whether Bolivian or Paraguayan or Argentine, is
most often occupying municipal or privately owned lands illegally. As Margulis notes, the villa
begins in illegality; it is a settlement that emerges through an invasive spatial occupation (1998a:
25). This is most often the case because rural to urban migrants following economic
opportunities initially lack the resources to rent or construct a ‘proper’ dwelling in a settled
neighborhood—which is not to say that, had they these economic resources, they would be
welcomed because of their ‘black’ cultural characteristics. Where their residence pattern is
characterized as a invasion, there is the concomitant belief that these invasores come to usurp
services provided by the City or local municipality at the cost of those who do contribute to
society. Indeed, the common criticism of the negros in general is: “Where are they getting their
water from?” “Why am I, as a law-abiding citizen, paying for state hand-outs (like Plan
Familiar) when these negros won’t work?” “Who is paying the costs to educate these negros,
and provide them health care?”

Though we’ll see below that within the class of negros, the bolitas are seen to be
usurping ‘Argentine’ resources, the point here is that, seen from outside and above, all negros
(and specifically the villeros) are seen to usurp resources, both public and private. At the same
time, the matter is complex. On the one hand, while the negros are those employed in the

informal economy, and therefore do not pay taxes to fund services and infrastructure, one should
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note that more than half of the Argentine workforce is similarly working ‘en negro’. This
includes a significant portion of the middle class. These are often the very populations that
classify the underclass pejoratively as negros. Moreover, some of largest tax evaders are the
rich. In this way, those that ‘don’t contribute anything in return’ span the entire class hierarchy,
making the claim that only negros ‘take advantage of the people’ a problematic one. On the
other hand, much of the state’s largess stems from Peronism, a modality in which those
controlling national and local politics do so only because they have created and cultivated
clienteles, and often conspicuously so. In this way, dependence on the state, to the extent it
exists, isas much a creation of the state as it is a safety net demanded by the poor. What is often
forgotten in this is that the current class system in Buenos Aires and the ills associated with it are
very much a function of state-led economic policies, whether those be the policies of import
substitution in the 1930s and 40s or the neoliberal reforms of the 1990s. Thus where the
dominant view of the negros is that they are to blame for what ails Buenos Aires and Argentina,
one must not forget that the state has played a major role in the order of things.

Yet the bolita is a negro for reasons other than those traditionally viewed through the
analytic of class. He is just another of the undesired for racial and cultural reasons as well. With
regard to the former, what marks a bolita as a negro in the ‘European’ City, and thus serves as a
means for his discrimination, is his darker skin, eyes, and hair, his shorter stature, and his facial
features. Certainly, Andean or ‘nortefio’ features figured heavily into what was originally the
cabecita negra. Much of that rural to urban migration originated in the Northern Provinces
where the border between Argentina and Bolivia is porous. This phenotypic ‘blackness’, which
as mentioned above operates in conjunction with a distinctive ‘class’ and ‘cultural’ aspect,
certainly serves to exclude all negros from certain kinds of jobs and spaces (see Margulis and
Urresti 1998). While there may be a particular ecology to this exclusion in the City, in which the
bolita has an even lesser chance of becoming a bus or taxi driver, kiosk employee, doorman, or
any other occupation that mixes with the ‘people’ (la gente) because of his phenotypic Bolivian-
ness and what this indexes, the bolita is nevertheless part of the negros in being denied
opportunity and access across a range of settings.

Finally, the bolita is subsumed into the inclusive category of negro for cultural reasons.
As we have seen, one of the defining characteristics of the negro is that he is defined through

lack. In addition to lacking a range of material things, the negro also lacks ‘culture’ and
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‘education’, the latter understood as socialization itself. What he does not have is thus the
culture of the City. The bolita is also seen to be lacking; he also lacks competence in
cosmopolitan codes. This lack can be seen as a function of rural origins. Indeed, like the
cabecita negra that gave rise to the villero, and to the negro generally, the bolita is most often
from rural areas in Bolivia. Were he from a Bolivian city like Cochabamba, he still wouldn’t
enjoy esteem in the bourgeois portefio estimation because ‘civilization’ in Bolivia is not the same
‘civilization’ in Argentina—Tlet alone that of ‘European’ Buenos Aires.

Where the lack of culture (incultura) is not seen as a function of rural origins, the bolita
IS seen as just another negro because he has often adopted the contemporary cultural traits of the
‘native’ Argentine negros. Young Bolivian immigrants or the Argentine-born children of
Bolivians may, depending on the context, adopt cultural codes that are popular among the
Argentine underclass. Styles of speech and dress, tastes in music, and preferences of soccer club
are all ways that bolitas can be negros. Because of rampant discrimination against Bolivians and
their children, the adoption of these codes in certain settings can be a way of securing oneself
against violence. Such efforts, however, are not always successful, as one’s racial profile may
belie Bolivian origins and provide a key means for discrimination.

A final cultural reason that bolitas are incorporated into the category of negros is because
they are, like negros generally (and villeros specifically), believed to commit crime. However,
because of nationalistic and xenophobic attitudes, both among the Argentine citizenry and within
the upper echelons of government, Bolivians have been said to commit even more crime than
Argentines. This attitude differentiates the bolita from the negro in a negative way. Such
beliefs, however, have been shown to be false based on empirical evidence. Argentine
sociologists have further deconstructed them to show that they reveal a common practice of
blaming the immigrant for the woes of Argentina so as to displace public furor from the
underlying issues, namely how economic crises and increasing poverty have been a function of
federal policy (see Grimson and Kessler 2005).

To conclude, the bolita is seen to be just another negro (un negro mas) from outside and
above for reasons that have to do with class, race, and culture. As mentioned above, in the
Argentine economy of otherness, all of these markers co-index one another, such that one
conjures up all the others. A negro is simultaneously poor, dark, and retrograde. Where many

Argentines deny that Argentina is a racist country (often citing that there are no phenotypically
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black people through which racist attitudes might arise), what one sees living in the humble
districts are the contours of a caste system in which class and culture are racialized and where
race connotes both poverty and cultural degeneracy. Being a negro—i.e. one of the undesired
and disdained—the bolita suffers the same discrimination.

At the same time, the Bolivian is often differentiated from the negros in a number of
ways, most of them cultural at root. As | show below, this differentiation can both redeem the

‘bolita’ and discriminate him further.

The Bolita is Different from the Negro

Los bolitas no son negros; son bolitas nomas
The bolitas are not negros; they are simply bolitas.

—Ivana, young working-class woman in Escobar

There are many ways in which Bolivian immigrants and their Argentine-born children are
distinguished from the general class of negros. These distinctions can be made along a number
of lines that include racial features, cultural attributes, and country of origin. All of them focus
on their specific ‘Bolivian-ness’. Let us begin with racial features. While Bolivians are often
considered negros because of their darker phenotype, one sees that there are finer points of
distinction made between those that comprise the underclass. Bolivian immigrants often have a
greater degree of phenotypic darkness, which is often accompanied by distinctly Andean (i.e.
altiplanic) features. Of course, not all Bolivians bear these features. Indeed, where some
Qochalos (from Cochabamba) and Chapacos (from Tarija) may “pass” as just another negro
because of their lighter skin, taller stature, or blue or green eyes, a Qolla (from Potosi) almost
never can®’. As | argue below, there is an argument to be made that Qollas become the targets of
xenophobic attacks and robberies—i.e. made bolitas—more than any other kind of Bolivian

because their altiplanic features are those for which the bolita is most known. This is just one of

%2 The Bolivian writer from Cochabamba, Edmundo Paz Soldén, recounts his experience in Buenos Aires, noting
that when he mentioned he was from Bolivia he was most often met with surprise: “;Boliviano? ;Pero si no
parecés!”. (Bolivian? But you don’t look it!) Where this surprise was something of a compliment, it shows that
altiplanic features are those that most mark the bolita, and are something that are viewed as undesirable.
http://www.elboomeran.com/blog-post/117/4976/edmundo-paz-soldan/dejen-de-molestar-bolivianos/
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the ways in which the content of the social category of bolita is particularly Qolla in nature. As |
argue below, the bolita is often Qolla not just phenotypically, but culturally as well.

Beyond racial characteristics, Bolivian immigrants and their children are distinguished
from those that are called negro for certain social and cultural attributes. To begin with, there
are the popular folkloric displays that differentiate the Bolivian culturally from the rest of the
underclass. Where the negro is typically thought to listen to cumbia villera, Bolivian immigrants
and their children often enjoy the music and dances brought from their regions of origin (see
Carmona 2008). Some of their festivals dedicated to celebrating Bolivian national culture in
Buenos Aires are truly enormous, with the Fiesta de Charria thought to attract over 40,000
spectators yearly. Tastes in music and food thus mark the bolita as different from the negro, and
often do not engender the same disdain.

Apart from their national culture, there are stereotypic characterizations of Bolivians that
differentiate them from Argentines generally. According to dominant estimations that span the
class hierarchy, Bolivians are believed to keep unto themselves or otherwise enclave themselves
(i.e. to be cerrados). Linked to this is the popular belief that Bolivians are naturally untrusting
(desconfiados). While there is some truth to these beliefs, noting that histories of exploitation in
Bolivia have encouraged solidarities based on lines of ethnicity and kinship, one should note that
in Argentina, both openness and trust are less a function of their cultural ‘essence’ (esencia) and
more a function of the fact that Bolivians are frequent targets of xenophobic violence (see
Caggiano [2005], Grimson [1999] and Szulik and Valiente [1998]). Such beliefs that the
‘bolitas’ are socially withdrawn and untrusting are often used to justify Argentine frustrations at
their lack of integration (integracion), which in turn may undergird more prejudicial beliefs that
Bolivians have migrated to ‘usurp’ Argentine jobs (or other national resources) without
contributing anything back to ‘society’. In these ways, the bolita who takes advantage of the
people (la gente) is different than the negro who does so.

There is one final cultural difference that distinguishes Bolivians from the Argentines
known as negros. Where the negro villero is known to be unemployed and not interested in
obtaining a job, allegedly preferring to feed his vice through delinquency, the Bolivian in
contrast is famous for his work ethic. Indeed, many Bolivians are often preferred by Argentine
bosses, whether in construction, horticulture, or textile manufacture, because they will work long

hours and forego days off (see Vargas 2005). In the CBE’s Market, the Bolivian work ethic is
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clear: many involved in production will have spent the entire day in the fields; those in the
commercialization of its produce will stay up all night. Others, who will have come in with
purchased products at Buenos Aires Central Market will have spent hours making the trip down
and back up to Escobar, and then work through the night handling the freight. Thus, there isa
great deal of truth in the differences between the Bolivian and Argentine work ethic.

While this Bolivian attribute is, from the point of view of employers, something that
differentiates them from working class Argentines in a positive way, it also fuels discrimination
against the bolita. For the Bolivian, as most will affirm—and is in often the case—will not
simply work longer hours; he will often work for a lower wage. As many state, he will work for
a plate of food. Because of this cultural difference in work ethic, the bolita is believed to be
immigrating en masse to Argentina to take away Argentine jobs—underselling the local labor
force. This has engendered a great deal of nationalistic and xenophobic discourse against the
bolita. Yetas Grimson and Kessler (2005) have noted, immigration from bordering countries
has remained constant over the last century, despite political claims to the contrary. What is thus
happening is not that bolitas are taking jobs away from Argentines, but rather that Argentines are
now having to compete for jobs that they used to disdain (ibid: 128). Indeed, what has changed
is the very structure of wealth in Argentina.

For all of these reasons, the Bolivian, as a bolita, is distinguished from those that are
called negros, and often by these ‘negros’ themselves. Indeed, one of the ways that the
Argentine underclass attenuates their own discrimination by the middle and upper classes is to
create both difference and distance between themselves and those who are deemed (and who
they also deem) to be the most inferior. On most accounts, these are the Bolivians. In this way,
Bolivians are made into bolitas. Bolivian-ness, whether it be phenotypic or cultural markers, or
simply through their foreign birth, provides a set of tangible features through which to make such
distinctions. What often aids this ‘othering’ of the bolita both from and by the negro is the
familiar discourse that the immigrant is the root of the country’s ills. As many have noted, the
idiom of the scapegoat (chivo expiatorio) is a means through which this often occurs (see
Margulis 1998a: 29-31; Szulik and Valiente 1998: 237). Where the immigrant is targeted,
whether from above or by the ‘negros’ themselves, it is most often the bolita—long before the

Peruvian, Paraguayan, and Chilean—that bears the brunt of the xenophobia.
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Displacing Discrimination

In the foregoing discussions, I have showed how the Bolivian is made an ‘other’ in Argentina.
Given the dominant discriminatory logic, | have showed how, in the first instance, the Bolivian is
lumped in with the rest of the Argentine underclass, and thus classified as an undesirable negro.
I have also just showed how the Bolivian, as a function of his Bolivian-ness, is differentiated
from the negro, and made into a bolita. My overall argument has been that one cannot
understand the social situation of the Bolivian in Buenos Aires without understanding the
historical construction of blackness in Argentina. That is, that one cannot understand the bolita
as an ‘other’ without understanding what it means to be a negro in Argentina.

Yet the discussion has so far been limited to showing how the bolita is similar and
different from the negro. What remains to be illuminated is the semiotic mechanism by which
the construction of the bolita, and thus the discrimination that flows from this, often depends
upon that of the negro. The semiotic process that both relates the bolita to, and differentiates
him from, the negro is one that Margulis and Urresti (1998) have called ‘desplazamiento’
(displacement) and that Irvine and Gal (2000) would term fractal recursivity. Stating that this
phenomenon is just one of many modalities of social differentiation, Gal and Irvine have defined
this phenomenon as “the projection of an opposition, salient at some level of relationship, onto
some other level.” Let us explore how this works, at least in the abstract.

As noted above, lower class Argentines who have been called cabecita negra, villero, and
negro, and thus endured great injury to their human dignity, often look to attenuate their own
discrimination and marginalization from above by creating distance between themselves and an
‘other’ who can be made to occupy the very bottom of the hierarchy (see Margulis and Urresti
1998: 11, Margulis and Lewin 1998: 206). Thus, where one can argue that, as per the logics of
relational difference and hierarchization, the bourgeois portefio has created the ‘black’ so as to
differentiate and exalt himself, this negro has in turn created an ‘other’ (one that is also created
from above) to do the same. This ‘other’ is most often the immigrant, and within the class of
immigrants, most often the Bolivian.

There are specific discourses that are harnessed in this ‘recursive’ work of othering and
discrimination. First off, where the negro villero is impoverished, one of the ways he

discriminates against the bolita (who often enjoys greater economic mobility because of his work
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ethic and willingness to sacrifice), is to mobilize the bourgeois portefio discourse of racial
superiority and refocus it on this specifically Bolivian other. That is, while the negro may be
seen to be racially marked with regard to ‘white’ and ‘European’ Buenos Aires, he can in turn
claim racial superiority to the Bolivian, who is often phenotypically darker and with specifically
Andean features. In this way, the negro not only creates a new bottom dweller through racial
means, he simultaneously aligns himself with whiter society, perhaps appealing to common
nationality in the process. One should note that there are in fact variants to racial discourse that
may be employed to specifically create the bolita. Where the bourgeois portefio typically views
the negro (villero) as filthy, being that he lives in makeshift settlements, often without adequate
water and sewer systems, the negro may harness this ‘othering” and refocus it on the Bolivian.
That is, where the negro is often called a villero sucio (dirty shanty-dweller), the negro may in
turn harness claims that it is the bolita that is responsible for a cholera outbreak, or the bolita that
doesn’t bathe. Indeed, living in humble districts, one notes the degree to which lower class
Argentines use deodorants and perfumes. Such hygienic ‘tastes’ (Bourdieu 1994) are certainly
motivated given the nature of the political-economic field.

A final example of this recursive projection of ‘otherness’—and the displacement of
discrimination it entails—is the way that lower class Argentines have harnessed historical
notions of the ‘new migrant’ as a threat to the political-economic establishment and focused it on
the Bolivian as the ‘new immigrant’. This phenomenon of secing the newcomer (recién llegado)
as a threat to the ‘nation’ stems from a number of factors. Let us remember that the cabecita
negra was the original newcomer that, through the Peronist movement, threatened the very
foundations of the political economic order. The negros that have descended from this former
‘new worker’ (nuevo obrero) have become the protagonists in the ‘othering’ of new immigrants
(and particularly of the Bolivian) through a similar discourse that now comes from within
Peronism (here as a specifically nationalistic movement) just as much as it comes from
conservative parties who similarly (and wrongly) point to a foreign phenomenon to explain the
woes of the Argentine economy. In this way, the negros, who were once the ‘usurpers’ of
Buenos Aires, have found new ‘usurpers’ in the bolitas. By making the bolitas the destabilizing
force, the negros align themselves with the establishment. Certainly, this is a complex

phenomenon, given that this xenophobic politics is spawned by the national parties in efforts to
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shore up their voting bases, revealing that the recursive projection of the bolita as usurper is co-

produced by both upper and lower Argentine classes.

In the Argentine economy of otherness, it is the Bolivian who is most frequently made to occupy
the most inferior position. Indeed, one of the most forceful insults, either from above or within
the lower class, is to call another a boliviano. On the dominant, prejudicial estimation,
‘Bolivian’ is in itself an epithet that connotes someone undesirable for reasons that comprehend
race, class, and culture (see also Szulik and Valiente 1998: 240). Yet in portefio politics of
discrimination, many do not stop there, and frequently level “boliviano de mierda” (shitty
Bolivian) or “bolita” at another that may be, like him, called negro or villero by another.
Nowhere is this more apparent than in Argentine soccer culture. Indeed, there are few
practices that Argentines say define them more than their soccer. Public, national recognition
that there is no position more disdained than that of the Bolivian is crystallized in one of the
chants (canticos) that the fans (barra brava) of River Plate levy against their cross-town rivals in
La Boca. Indeed, where the Barrio de la Boca was once paradigmatic of European immigration
to the port city of Buenos Aires, it has since been known to have become ‘overrun’ by
immigrants from neighboring countries—namely Bolivia. Thus, the greatest insult to levy

against this Argentine club is to call them ‘Bolivians’, and by extension, filthy slum-dwellers.

Son la mitad més uno / son de Bolivia y Paraguay / yo a veces me pregunto / che negro
sucio / si te bafias. Son todos unos putos bolivianos / que en una villa tienen que vivir / tu
hermana rebolea la cartera / tu vieja chupa pijas por ahi. All& por la ribera viven todos
bolivianos / que cagan en la vereda / y se limpian con la mano. El sdbado a la bailanta /
se van a poner en pedo / y se van de vacaciones/ a la playa del Riachuelo (ctd. in
Edelstein 1998: 265-266).

To conclude, one might note that where a negro makes a Bolivian into a bolita, he reproduces

the entire regime of blackness that others him as well.
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How Negros Make Bolitas in Escobar

Having illuminated the regime of blackness in Argentina and the ways that Bolivian-ness is
signified through it, we may now turn to the ways in which Bolivians and their Argentine-born
children are made bolitas in Escobar. The following ethnographic examples show how this
process of being ‘othered’ as Bolivians—most often at the hands of those that are considered
negros by the middle and upper classes—is both violent and dehumanizing. Each of the events |
discuss below reveals not simply the way Bolivians are made into bolitas, but also how this
feels—i.e. how the violation of one’s basic dignity because of his Bolivian-ness is not simply
humiliating and a challenge to one’s self-esteem, but something that engenders anger, sadness,
and frustration. As we’ll see, it is the Qollas that often bear the brunt of Argentine
discrimination, being that Qolla characteristics (whether racial, linguistic or cultural) are those

that are most emblematic of Bolivian-ness.

The Beating of Braulio Perca

There are many ways that Bolivians are made into bolitas. While the most quotidian involve
discrimination in institutions like schools and health clinics, in which epithets like “bolita sucia”
(dirty bolita) are levied, one cannot overlook the frequency with which violence is not symbolic
but physical. (This is, of course, not to deny that symbolic violence is not registered by the body
and spirit). Indeed, in the barrio, Bolivians and their Argentine-born children are frequently
robbed and beaten, or simply beaten. Where such assaults are not economically motivated,
seeing that the Bolivian is known to always be carrying some kind of money given his work
ethic, they are more straightforwardly xenophobic. Bolivians are targeted for beatings just
because they are Bolivian—and one of the ways this is discerned is by the color of their skin.
Indeed, one of the sayings I heard repeated was “The darker you are, the more they’ll beat you.”
(Cuanto mas negro sos, mas te pegan.) While the phenotypically darker are most often the
Qollas, I know of Chapacos that will wear hooded sweatshirts at night to conceal their Bolivian
features, lest these tempt the local thugs (vagos, chorros) into jumping them. Victims of routine

beatings are not always the darker Bolivians, however. The beating | recount here was of an
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Argentine-born Qolla, whose phenotype was much lighter—similar to the typical Qochalo’s.
Braulio was said to enjoy better occupational options because he ‘didn’t look so Bolivian’, and
indeed had a service job attending to the ‘people’ in the Center of Escobar. His attack was at the
hands of Argentine negros that couldn’t get such a job, which is not to say that these vagos ever
tried. They jumped Braulio not just because he had money and a better status through his
dignified work, they jumped him because he was a Bolivian with money and better social status.
To ‘locate’ him (ubicarlo), they made him a bolita by knocking his front teeth out™.

Juan had been seventeen years old**. Coming home one Saturday night, he was attacked
by a group of thieves (chorros). Orlin said that although they demanded his wallet, meaning the
pretense was a robbery, they simply began to beat him. He recalled how they quickly
overwhelmed him with their numbers, knocking him to the ground. They began to kick him,
yelling out out “dale, jbolita de mierda!” One of the vagos kicked Braulio in the face, knocking
his front teeth out. Braulio went home, showed his parents and went straight into his room.
Orlin said that Braulio did not come out for an entire week. He did not want to face the barrio,
his friends, or his girlfriend with a face that had been so marked. For he was ashamed of himself
(tenia una vergiienza terrible). That is, he was ashamed of his face, of his inability to defend
himself, of being victimized so severely. Such victimization was no doubt an affront to his
masculinity, something | have also endured being jumped, punched, and robbed. Confronting
the world again—or even just looking in the mirror—must have been humiliating. Braulio no
doubt felt his Bolivian-ness (his phenotype, his background, his associations, his people) in ways
that he never had before; indeed, he now wore it on his face in ways he never had before. He
had been made a bolita; his ‘otherness’ had been inscribed on his face—a face he had to

eventually show the barrio.

% While today the negros beat Bolivians, often because of their economic progress, their forebears had earlier
encountered the same treatment by the ‘people’. Ratier explains how violence against the economically mobile
newcomer has a long history in Buenos Aires, noting that cabecitas negras who had progressed economically were
often jumped by local ‘whites’, seeing their positions threatened. This was not just a class war, but a “color war”
(Ratier 1971a: 13-14).

* Juan’s beating, which had happened a year before the start of my fieldwork, was told to me by his older brother,
Orlin. Inever asked Juan about it directly because I knew how painful the memory was for him, and I didn’t want to
make himre-live it. As | saw it, my Bolivian friends suffered such hurtful depredations so often that direct
questioning for the sake of making their situation known to broader audiences was sometimes not worth it (other
times | thought it was). For doing so would cause people dear to me to re-live in painful ways how they had been
dehumanized. Where I had never been dehumanized in the ways they had been, I often felt that formal
anthropological inquiry was at odds with my desire to honor them, which is not to say that such respect could not be
had precisely through asking them to share their experiences with me. When violence occurred, it always presented
challenges to know how best to ‘be’ with those caught in its wake.
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Orlin had been beaten before by local vagos as well, though not as badly. He tells me
that he remembers exactly who the three perpetrators were, and that he holds a terrible rage over
it, and is waiting for the moment that he’ll settle the scores. Indeed, Orlin never forgot this
affront to his human dignity. | can only imagine what he felt seeing his younger brother—whom
he loved dearly—qet his teeth knocked out; the visceral blow he must have felt to see his brother
return home with broken ribs, with a swollen face, and with a bloody gap where his front teeth
had been. Seeing this would remind him of the racial epithets his mother had received—~bolita
sucia—or those levied against his father—boliviano de mierda. Had they not been forced to

abandon their home in Potosi because their fields had dried up?

The Killing of Norberta Quispe and Ernesto Yanaje

Early one Saturday morning in January 2007, Norberta Quispe and her husband Ernesto Yanaje
left their four children at home to sell fruits and vegetables out of the back of their pickup truck.
Like others in the barrio, their truck carried the typical wood-paneled cargo hold over the bed
(cajon de madera) to increase their payload, and they would have stocked it at the CBE’s market
that dawn (al mayor) to sell to various clients throughout the day (al menor). They had worked
out a routine of sales in nearby locales in the poor and violent sprawl of Buenos Aires—Ilocales
which did not have easy access to the concentrating markets such as the CBE’s. For Norberta
and Ernesto, the hope was that the sale of their produce would, as on any other day of the lucha
(struggle), feed their children at home and the one that neighbors said they had on the way.
Everyone knew their family as a quiet, hard-working, and respectful one, and it was not
uncommon to see their kids playing in the unpaved street in front of their house.

That Saturday Norberta and Ernesto had gone over to Bella Vista, a criss-crossing of
streets in Buenos Aires’ sprawl (conurbano) not far from Merlo and Moreno, two locales heavily
populated by Bolivians. By 1pm, they were both dead, having been shot behind their truck. The
exact details of their killing were unclear, and would remain so. The Bonaerense—the Police of
the Province of Buenos Aires—were known to be understaffed for the level of violence in the
already impoverished conurbano, where Argentina’s economic crisis was perhaps felt most

acutely. Murders in the urban sprawl, as in the Capital, would thus often go unresolved, leaving
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the families of the victims to suffer a further injustice that would never be done. This was
believed to be particularly true of the murder of Bolivians, over whom the police are said to be
indifferent. As many would ask rhetorically: What did it matter to the Argentines and their
police force that another pair of undocumented, unwanted, bolitas never made it back home?
What did it matter if they bled to death at 1pm on a Saturday afternoon, thinking of their children
whom they would never see again? Indeed, it took great courage and often considerable risk for
Bolivians to even file police reports for the beatings, robberies, and homicides they endured for
fear of incarceration for their illegal residence or, worse yet, some kind of retribution. To this
day it is not apparent that there was ever more than a cursory inquiry into the killing of Norberta
and Ernesto, as is true of many homicides in the sprawl. Outside of the barrio, Norberta and
Ernesto are likely only statistics.

Inside the barrio, however, Norberta and Ernesto were people; they were family. Indeed,
they were human beings who were loved and appreciated by friends and neighbors, and for
whom the sadness and pain of their loss were terribly raw. As Norberta and Ernesto were
Evangelicals (creyentes), their church whose culto they attended remembered them in their
Sunday services with hymns and citations from the Bible. Norberta’s and Ernesto’s bodies were
retrieved from the morgue the next day, and a wake (velorio) was held to allow everyone from
the community, both creyentes and Catholics (mundanos), to pay their respects. An event such
as this was reason enough for the creyentes and mundanos to set aside the rifts that often
separated them and to mourn the loss of one that belonged to neither, but rather to the whole
Bolivian family.

At the wake, people crowded around Norberta’s and Ernesto’s open caskets in the
sweltering heat of mid-day. The lights were off yet the room was half-lit; the strength of the sun
outside was more than enough to illuminate the tragedy. There was a prevailing silence unusual
for such numbers of people. Norberta’s and Ernesto’s children were held to one side. They
looked down, the eldest still silent from the shock; the younger perhaps trying to understand
what it all meant. Indeed, this night, and for some nights to come, they would be fed by others. |
looked over at Orlin, whose family lived next to Norberta and Ernesto. Our eyes locked, and |
saw a profound sadness in him that | had never seen in anyone before. It was a look of utter loss.

As | looked around, others had it too—and it was mixed with rage and frustration. Many knew
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that it could just as easily have been them, for who hadn’t sold produce out of the back of their
truck?

From the church we set out en masse for the Municipal Cemetery of Escobar. We
traveled in a motorcade of pickup trucks, each with its own cajon de madera, and just like the
one Ernesto and Norberta left behind. These vehicles typified the Bolivians. They were a badge
of identity for those that worked the fields (quinteros); they indexed their struggle (lucha), their
work ethic, and their ‘progress’. On this occasion, however, they would not be a source of envy,
or something to be lorded over a neighbor. Rather these meanings would be suspended. Taken
together in our motorcade, and organized like box cars in an interminable train, the trucks spoke
of a level of solidarity so often muted in the barrio. For here, the cargo was not crates of squash
or sacks of carrots that might bring families differential fortunes. Rather, the cargo was the
Bolivians themselves: friends, neighbors, and paisanos of all ethnic backgrounds, all riding
together—all sitting on crates that were empty. This time, the trucks symbolized not difference
but commonality. This time, as we wove along the Avenida de Inmigrantes toward the
Cemetery, the trucks lined up to make a claim about human dignity. This was a claim that had
been made many times before in Argentina. And it needed to be made over and over again; it
would be made that day over the bodies of Norberta and Ernesto.

At the cemetery, Norberta’s and Ernesto’s caskets were lowered into graves that had been
dug that morning. People crowded around, standing on top of the mounded dirt to witness the
moment. I’ll never forget the sound of the clods of earth hitting their wooden caskets. It was
like thunder. It was final. And it triggered a wail not just from a number of the old Potosina
women who were relatives of the deceased, but from their children, whom | hadn’t heard make a
single sound until that moment. Their collective wailing reminded me that | was far from home
as well, for I had never heard anything of the kind.

After everyone threw bunches of flowers onto the caskets, creating great piles, two of the
pastors from the Evangelical church began to speak. They situated death within the Christian
universe as they understood it through the Evangelical gospel. They barely even mentioned
Norberta, her pregnancy, Ernesto, and their four children. Nor did they mention the way they
were shot dead on a Saturday afternoon. Rather, it was an absolutizing and other-worldly

rhetoric meant to place human life, suffering, and the pain of death within an encompassing
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sleeve of meaning that began and ended with God. They insisted that we don’t control what

happens on this earth. God does. He decides when it is our time. All is ordained by Him.

Dios ama el creyente. Dios ama el pecador. Lo que Dios odia es el pecado.
God loves the believer. God loves the sinner. What God hates is sin itself.

| was furious. Norberta and Ernesto had been murdered in cold blood, their children had just
been orphaned, and their Killers, not only symbolically exonerated here, were likely free to kill
again out there. Would their next victims be bolitas as well? This seemed not to matter to the
pastors, who were hell-bent on other-worldly salvation.

| wondered if | was the only one who thought their rhetoric failed to do justice to
Norberta and Ernesto, and to all Bolivians in Argentina. As Norberta and Ernesto lay motionless
under shovels of dirt and flowers, a man—a mundano—qgot up and forcefully stitched the

moment back into the fabric of this world:

Nosotros somos trabajadores. Nosotros somos humildes. Pero no somos animales!!
We are a working people. We are a humble people. But we are not animals!!

In three deft and terse moves, the mundano hit everyone between the eyes. Poetically paralleling
the pastor’s attempt to reduce the chaos of human existence into a simple, single truth, the
mundano challenged him and his other-worldly appeal. The issue before us was not how human
beings should behave before God, with an eye toward entrance into His heavenly Kingdom.
Rather, the question before us concerned human being itself, on this earth, beyond God. In the
Evangelical universe, everyone is a human being—Bolivians and Argentines, bolitas and negros.
All are loved. Yet in this world—in the slums and sprawl of the conurbano, not to mention in
the villas of the Capital—not everyone is allowed to be human. Some, often the Bolivians more
than any other, are consistently denied their humanity. These are the ones who are kicked in the
teeth, shot dead, and pushed from trains; these are the ones made into bolitas. And not only are
they treated like animals, they—and by extension, their community—are made to feel like

animals.
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Catalyzing a movement, others began to speak. Another man, in a very distinct potoco®

speech reiterated:

No somos animales—un perro tirado alli. jTenemos derechos!
We are not animals—a dog thrown here or there. We have rights!

“We are not animals”—as if this were a point in doubt. Yet the ‘Potoco’ needed to claim it once
more—imbuing his words with an almost performative, world-building quality—Ilest anyone
begin to naturalize the condition of dehumanization. Echoing the mundano before him, life for
Bolivians in Argentina was not ordained; their situation was not immutable. “We have rights” he
demanded, invoking a quotidian discourse of protest and recognition that echoed throughout the
Republic, indeed throughout the continent. These were not animal rights, but human rights. We
are human beings, not animals—not “a dog thrown here or there”. This was a clarification he
felt he needed to add. And the imagery he conjured up was intense. For when was a dog—
which was by itself both ‘other’ and inferior vis-a-vis humanity—ever simply thrown here or
there? Only when that dog was dead, and when that dog was unwanted. Certainly, all in the
barrio had seen the corpse of a street dog thrown onto a pile of garbage and begin to rot in the
heat, begging a neighbor’s match to would spare it this final indignity. We are not dogs—
inferior, unwanted things—to be cast here or there. And yet Norberta and Ernesto had been left
dead in a heap just two days before on the dirt streets of Bella Vista.

Before Norberta’s and Ernesto’s funeral rites morphed into a protest march on Escobar’s
City Hall, what the rites themselves revealed was a shared experience of dehumanization. In
seeing Norberta’s and Ernesto’s corpses at the wake, and in seeing them entombed, all were
forced to reflect upon and emotionally manage both their individual and collective histories of
dehumanization in Argentina. That is, seeing Norberta and Ernesto made into bolitas had to
conjure up all the times one had been made a bolita—all those times that another had been
kicked in the teeth, called a boliviano de mierda, pushed from a moving train, or tortured with a
hot iron (see Chapter 6). Norberta and Ernesto became part of this web of dehumanizing events

through which Bolivians came to recognize each other as such.

% From Potosi
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How Bolivians Make Bolitas in Escobar

As mentioned above, there are many ways that Argentines discriminate against the Bolivian and
make her into a bolita—i.e. dehumanize her. Through the cases of discrimination above, | have
argued that even gross forms of violence are as much an everyday occurrence as epithets levied
on the street or social marginalization effectuated through schools, government offices, and
hospitals. Yet while the Argentine often dehumanizes or humiliates the Bolivian, we have seen
in the previous chapter that Bolivians both dehumanize and humiliate each other. In this section
I show how this is done, not with the terms of the Bolivian economy of otherness, but rather
through the terms of the Argentine economy of otherness. That is, I show how Bolivians ‘other’
Bolivians by making them bolitas.

Where Bolivians ‘other’ each other by calling them bolitas, they can be said to have
‘indigenized’ this Argentine term of discrimination. Indeed, I will argue that Bolivians mobilize
this term to reference in a pejorative way one’s ‘ignorance’ (ignorancia) on a first order, and
one’s ‘cultural idiosyncrasy’ (idiosincrasia) on a second order. Yet before getting to these
formulations, which I argue allow one to reproduce the terms of the Bolivian economy of
otherness through those of the Argentine economy of otherness, let us first look at how the
category of bolita already has a semantic load that extends beyond undifferentiated ‘Bolivian-
ness’.

Eariler in this chapter | stated that the bolita is different from the negro because of
phenotypic, cultural, and national differences (and perhaps even incipient class differences). On
one level, bolita as a derogatory term is meant to characterize all Bolivians, and in this way, it
becomes homogenizing (just as negro can be homogenizing when levied from ‘above’). At the
same time, | have argued that there is an Argentine tendency to imagine the bolita through the
idea of the Qolla. That is, that the Argentine fills the social category of bolita with the notion of
Qolla-ness. This, | suggest, is because the Qolla is most different from the Argentine in terms of
phenotypic and cultural characteristics, and makes distinction possible on a basic level.
Certainly, the Qolla’s darker skin, highland Andean features, and linguistic profile mark him
even with respect to other Bolivians—namely the Qochalos and Chapacos. Where the latter can
sometimes ‘pass’ as an Argentine (indeed, the Chapacos are said to ‘copy’ Argentine speech and

codes, a trait that has helped garner them the reputation of being ‘fake Bolivians’), the Qolla—

189



even his Argentine-born children—often cannot. Where from the ‘outside’, the bolita is
impleted with the image of Qolla-ness, Argentines of all classes, but especially Argentine
negros, have a more palpable means of creating social distance between themselves and an
undesirable ‘other’. Indeed, in an economy of esteem, difference cannot be collapsed or erased.

What | argue here is that the Bolivian use of the term bolita also imagines the bolita
through the idea of the Qolla, and that, for this reason, one can see in the bolita the intersection
between the Bolivian and Argentine economies of otherness. This means that the Qolla bears the
brunt of discrimination from both the Argentine and the Bolivian. As | mentioned above,
Bolivians most frequently use the term bolita to pejoratively reference one’s ‘ignorance’
(ignorancia) or ‘cultural idiosyncrasy’ (idiosincrasia)—precise meanings the term does not
typically carry when deployed from ‘outside’ by Argentines. (This is not to say that some
Argentines in the barrio will not be familiar with these uses.) Before moving to actual face to
face engagements through which to demonstrate these Bolivian impletions of the term, let me
argue up front that these two meanings are related, and that they both reference traits that are
believed to be emblematic of the Qollas.

Where Bolivians in the barrio most often use the term bolita to claim that another is, at
root, ‘backward’, this can take the two aforementioned forms. On what we might call a first (or
at least lower) order, bolita is used to convey that another is ‘ignorant’ (ignorante). As we’ll see,
ignorancia can generally be reduced to one or another kind of lack when compared to attributes
considered modern, whether these be social, cultural, geographical, or economic. In the example
I illuminate below, one calls another bolita to reference his lack of competence in a technological
code (i.e. auto-mechanical knowledge) that is associated with “civilization’. One should note
that the one who is called bolita in this case is a Qolla from the rural hinterland of Potosi; his
lack of auto-mechanical savvy is, on this dominant view, taken to be natural, and he is critiqued
for it.

Yet bolita is used in formulations that extend beyond the meaning of ignorancia, but yet
rely on and incorporate it. Thus, on what we might take to be a second (or at least higher) order,
bolita is used to convey that another is ‘culturally idiosyncratic’ (idiosincratico). That is, where
bolita is not used explicitly to mean ignorante, it is used to mean that one is culturally different
or marked with regard to what is modern and ‘civilized’. As a higher-order rendering, what is

viewed as ‘idiosyncratic’ is also taken to be ‘ignorant’ at root. Cultural practices are different
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precisely because there is some original lack. Moreover, one should note that those cultural
practices or attributes that are labeled ‘idiosyncratic’ are most often Qolla practices and
attributes—a prime example of this being the way that Qollas have been said to have run and
corrupted the CBE (these specifics are dealt with in Chapter 8). Their ‘idiosyncrasies’—i.e.
what is said to be their belief that ‘tribal’ practices can be reconciled with the rule of law—are
believed to be a function of a lack of exposure to modern forms of governance.

Thus whether through an explicit labeling of ‘ignorance’ or suggesting it through the

label of ‘idiosyncratic’, all uses of the form bolita reference backwardness.

Bolita as Ignorante

On one Friday afternoon in 2006, a mixed group had congregated at the mouth of Orlin’s
workshop. It sat on the barrio’s most busy street, and it seemed that everything about the barrio
could be seen from inside. Passersby were jokingly heckled. If it was a young girl, she was
oogled. Ifit was her brother, he’d be called “cufiado” (i.e. brother in law, the implication being
obvious). In the afternoons it was not uncommon to end up there for an impromptu beer,
purchased through the kiosk next door. Sometimes the drinking went into the night, and if one
wasn’t outside when the metal doors came down, he’d be locked in to sleep head-to-toe on a few
dirty mattresses that were there for just that purpose. Lying there in a stupor, and smelling the
rank odor of feet next to my head, I still remember seeing the remnants of the ¢/ 'alla we had
when it opened—the streamers still swirling.

The workshop was itself split in two, with each side housing a separate business. The
first was Orlin’s. Orlin was a welder, and he installed everything from metal staircases, to
railings, to the metal frames for the cajones that sat atop the horticulturists’ pickups. The second
was Chapi’s.*® Chapi ran the barrio’s only body shop. It was where paisanos brought their
vehicles for a range of work: to get a new alternator, to get a dent hammered out, to get a new
paint job. The latter was always done without aerators, such that those doing the work, and

anyone else present, would get high off the fumes and blow their nose that color for the

% Chapi is the short version of chapista, who is someone who works with metal paneling (chapas) in the automotive
sector.
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remainder of the day. Chapi was one of the few Qochalos in the barrio, and after a few years of
lucrative work he returned to the Chapare to try his fortunes in coca.

This particular Friday had been a busy one. Orlin was finishing up a cajén for one truck,
and Chapi and Orlin’s brother, Luis, were deep into the engine of another. There was always a
great amount of curiosity surrounding whose vehicle was having what work done on it. Indeed,
where one’s vehicle was a reflection of his owner’s progress, passersby would drop by to ‘say
hello’—i.e. to see who would be parading around in a refinished truck.

Luis was putting a couple of finishing touches on the truck he and Chapi had been
working on, and needed a hand. With Chapi engaged with the owner and enjoying a beer the
latter had invited to celebrate the job well done (and thus his own new look), Luis asked Héctor
to grab him a tool. Héctor, another Potosino who had stopped by, was not at all familiar with the
material culture of body-work, and gave Luis a blank look. Seeing that it would be easier to go
for the tool himself, Luis asked Héctor to take his place under the hood, and to hold some part.
Héctor still did not know what to do. This caused Luis no uncertain frustration, and he
reprimanded Héctor in front of all who had assembled for the beer. Making an example of him,
and making those present into an audience for the performance of his own expertise, he blurted

out:

iMira qué bolita! jNo sabe nada!
Look at this bolita! He doesn’t know anything!

One should note that Luis, an Argentine-born son of Potosino parents, had left school at an early
age. He chose to pursue a line of work that could afford progress and esteem over the frequent
humiliation he would suffer in school. There is no question that he had been called a bolita
there—for all had. The point here that other than his apprenticeship in body work, there was
really little that separated him from Héctor, whom he made into a bolita.

As deployed by Luis, bolita is meant to make a public example of Héctor as ‘ignorant’
(ignorante)—i.e. as lacking competence in the code of auto-mechanics. This isa domain of
knowledge that is traditionally associated with the urban, modern, and whiter world. Itisalso a
domain of knowledge that those from Potosi traditionally do not have, being that the purchase of
trucks has most often out of their reach economically speaking. Indeed, where the poorest in

Potosi are almost always of indigenous descent, truck owners are typically the local mestizo
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elites®’. However, as those from the interior of Potosi have made new lives in Argentina, and
begun to ‘progress’—i.e. achieve economic independence and, through capitalizations like
trucks, acquired competence in codes associated with modernity—they have put distance
between themselves and their ‘Indian’ roots. This is a distance many try to show off.
Competence in auto-mechanics, as in truck-ownership generally, is thus a sign that one has
‘progressed’, and left what is often a humiliating condition of ‘indian-ness’ behind*®. Luis’s
calling Héctor a bolita thus pins him to the rural hinterlands of Potosi, a world of material lack
that is, on the dominant estimation, said to be culturally lacking as well. In a word, Luis pins
Héctor to what is regarded as backward. In reinscribing Héctor’s indian-ness through the
category of bolita, one which comes from a center that proclaims itself to be whiter, urban, and
modern, he simultaneously aligns himself with these things, and thus puts distance between
himself and his own roots.

As we can see through this example, calling another a bolita is a way Bolivians—and
here specifically those of Qolla descent—create difference between each other. This difference,
precisely because it focuses on the undesirable attributes of indian-ness, is often humiliating.
Certainly Héctor lost face in this encounter; he was objectified in front of people who, while
sharing his roots, have also managed them in ways more successful than him. While I do not
have space to address the issue here, one might well argue that this ‘othering’ and the
humiliation it produces are gendered. Where in the Andes indigeneity (seen for example through
greater competence in Quechua) is often associated with femininity, Héctor is effeminized by
essentially being called an ‘indio’. Not only is he aligned with that world, this is performed in a
highly masculine space in which most of the participants had acquired the things of men, and

men in urban, whiter settings: i.e. trucks.

%" Truck ownership and knowledge of auto-mechanics has been traditionally structured by a social ecology whose
axes are rural-urban, poor-rich, and Indian-mestizo. Wealth and esteem, however, have always been points of
negotiation (see Rasnake 1988), and the dynamics are only becoming more complex (see Frias 2002).

% The dynamics of this are complex indeed (see De la Cadena 2000 and Colloredo-Mansfeld 1999).
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Bolita as Idiosincratico

There are two things to note with this first example that have bearing for higher-order renderings
of the term bolita. The first is that any deployment of the term does not simply ‘other’ an
individual. While it is specifically Héctor who is called ignorante and ultimately indio through
the use of the term bolita, we must not forget that Héctor is a token of a type; the type here being
the Qolla. In this way, Luis’s remark makes the Qollas (his own forebears) into bolitas. Thus,
in any leveling of the term bolita, there is a commentary that is truly social in which groups in a
relational ecology are referenced. Where bolita is a discriminatory term, this ecology can be
nothing else if not hierarchical; groups are ranked with relation to each other. This groupness is
seen more clearly in the higher-order uses of bolita that mark cultural idiosyncrasy
(idiosincrasia).

The second thing to note for such uses is that the charge of idiosincrasia indexes (and in
a way incorporates) the ‘lack’ that is signified by ignorancia on the first-order. Indeed, the way
of life (and the people that live it) characterized as ‘ignorant’, whether for lack of competence in
Spanish, literacy, auto-mechanical codes, tallying numbers, or modern forms of government,
comes to be viewed as ‘idiosyncratic’ for whatever modality is employed in its absence. To use
an example: in the CBE’s meetings, participants are often criticized for not speaking up. They
are said to ‘swallow their tongues’ (se comen la lengua) or are otherwise labeled as ‘inhibited’
(cohibido). These are cultural idiosyncrasies over which those that display them earn the
designation ‘bolita’. (One might note as well that they are regarded as defining Qolla
characteristics.) That this is the case is believed to stem from a ‘lack’ of socialization, itself
believed to be a function of not participating in the Bolivian military or mining sector. These are
two national institutions that are said to ‘open’ one up to ‘the world’. Not participating in them
makes one ignorante (or keeps him in what is believed to be a more original ‘ignorance’). In this
way, one cannot ‘get’ to the idiosincrasia without ‘passing through’ ignorancia. Stated

otherwise: idiosincrasia is a meaning that is built up from ignorancia.

% Indeed, one of the skills that Bolivian immigrants confess to acquiring through their immigration to Escobar—
which often includes greater inclusion in monetized commerce—is to ‘learn their numbers’ (aprender los nimeros).
This is true of sales in horticultural produce and textiles. Where someone is not adept at this skill, which often
means using a calculator, he may easily be called a bolita (ignorante).
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Bolita for Vergonzoso and Aparentar

An example of how Bolivians use bolita to expose a perceived cultural idiosyncrasy and critique
it as ‘backward’ is when someone attempts to conceal their roots. As we saw in the Bolivian
economy of otherness, the practice of concealing one’s origins most often stems from shame
(vergtienza) or a history of being humiliated over them. As we also saw, where Qolla roots are
those most often disdained, they frequently become the object of concealment. Indeed, those
who are most often called bolita for attempting to pass as something else in Escobar are
Potosinos. What is interesting about this is that those who ‘call out’ Potosinos for this practice
are most often Potosinos themselves. Below I illuminate this very dynamic—i.e., how one with
Potosino roots calls another a bolita for attempting to conceal a commonly held competence in
Quechua. As we’ll see, what bolita highlights is not simply the idiosyncratic shame many
Qolla’s have over their roots, but the equally idiosyncratic practice of attempting to dissemble or

pass as something else (aparentar) because of them.

One evening | had gone looking for Don Quico, a Yurefio who had not only spent many years in
the mines of Potosi, but who had, along with his brother and a few others, formed a band that
would play all the fiestas potosinas. I was interested in Don Quico’s stories of mining and in the
strong musical tradition for which the Yuras were known*. But Quico was not to be found that
day, and in walking home I ran into Wilber, Rubén, and Isaias. Wilber, with whom | unloaded
trucks at the market, and Isaias were both born in Potosi; Rubén a proud Chapaco. Everyone in
the barrio knew that | was interested in learning more Quechua—and understood why | would
have wanted to speak with Don Quelka. Indeed, he was what many would call a potosino neto
(native Potosino). Using my interest in Quechua , and my failed meeting with Don Quico, as a
pretext, Isaias, himself always looking to mess with someone (cargarle a alguien), turned to

Wilson and asked him how he was in Quechua:

Imayna kasanki
How are you?

%0 See the work of Michelle Bigenho.

195



Certainly, Isaias was not interested in how Wilber was doing. Rather, he was interested in
getting Wilber to reveal his true origins in Potosi—his inner Qolla self. Wilber was a prime
target because he had actively taken on foreign cultural tastes, principal among them being his
enthusiasm for North American hip-hop and his dressing the part. Through his question, Isaias
looked to ‘expose’ Wilber by forcing him to respond in Quechua and thus ‘own’ his Qolla
roots—suggesting (if not revealing) that his hip-hop persona was not just an affected one, but a
motivated one as well. The implication was that Wilber did not want to be associated with the
world that both had come from, and over which Isaias did not have the same reservations.

Yet Wilber, through a mix of befuddlement, uneasiness, and dissimulation, looked at
Isaias and, pretending to be unsure of what Isaias had actually asked him, put the question back

to him in Spanish as he had ‘understood’ it.

¢ Qué estas haciendo?
What are you doing?

Wilber’s response was not an attempt to answer the question but rather to ask if ‘what are you
doing?’ was indeed the question Isaias had put to him. Wilber’s dissimulation and code shift
was thus a move to ‘pass’ as lacking competence in Quechua and thereby to escape all the
cultural attributes this knowledge would conjure up. It was very likely that my own presence
(and what I represented) helped structure Wilber’s uneasiness and response, just as it had been a
pretext through which Isaias could openly expose Wilber’s tastes as affected.

Seeing Wilber’s response as a motivated attempt to conceal what everyone knew were his

Qolla roots, Isaias, openly perturbed, blurted out:

iQué bolita!
What a bolita!

We should not imagine that Isaias was critiquing Wilber for not knowing Quechua.
Rather, what lay behind Isaias’s charge of bolita was a judgment of Wilber’s inability to own up
to his Qolla origins with pride. By calling him a bolita, Isaias was exposing Wilber as one of
those Qollas who was ashamed to be who he truly was (vergonzoso), and who put on airs and

pretended to be something else (aparentar). These were Bolivian, and specifically Qolla,
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idiosyncrasies; on Isaias’s estimation, they were cultural traits that merited critique. For at root,
they were practices that revealed a certain ‘backwardness’, if not ‘ignorance’. On the one hand,
only an indio would be ‘bolita’ enough to think that he could pull the wool over the eyes of
someone who knew him so well. Certainly, one who tried to do this was not despierto (awake,
discerning). Someone that was despierto would see the shortcomings of this. On the other hand,
only an indio would fail to see the constructedness of the discourses that disparaged him. Only a
bolita would fail to see that he could be honest with his Qolla origins—origins that were not by
necessity ‘backward’. What was truly ‘backward’ was being an unquestioning victim of

domination. On this reading, ‘backward’ is as ‘backward’ does.

Bolita for Burro and Vivo

Another telling case of how bolita is used by Bolivians to critique a perceived cultural
idiosyncrasy for its ‘backwardness’ occurred while I was talking with friends about the crisis of
the CBE. The immediate group consisted of a handful of Potosinos and one Tarijefio, who was
named Lelio. Most of them, including Lelio, had grown up in Argentina, and saw themselves as
different from the generation of their Bolivian-born parents. After discussing how the two
groups fighting for control over the CBE had resulted in the entity’s failure to serve the larger
Bolivian community, and after debating whether the two groups fighting for control over the
CBE were really just jockeying for control over the entity’s revenues, Lelio, exasperated, and

wanting to wash his hands of everything, simply dismissed both sides as bolitas.

iSon todos bolitas!
They’re all bolitas!

While seemingly very simple, Lelio’s pronouncement spoke volumes. I believe he was
drawing on—and stitching together—two distinct, though fundamentally related meanings, each
being a familiar critique of the first-generation Qollas. With regard to the first, Lelio’s calling
the CBE’s founders and their adversaries ‘bolitas’ was another way of referring to both groups as
‘burros’ (literally ‘donkeys”). This is an epithet that the Potosinos, and within them, the sides in

the CBE’s conflict, have received with some frequency. This epithet is levied to reference a
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reputed (or imputed) ‘ignorance’—a failure to know how to do something. Where a common
critique of the ‘usurpers’ is that, although they have accumulated great sums of money and
power, they still do not know how to read or write, Lelio here speaks to the lack of Potosino
ability to govern the CBE with the methods required of a proper civil association. The
implication is that those ‘leading’ the CBE are not ‘prepared’ (capacitados) to lead. As for the
Potosino operator in the CBE’s Market, many of whom are tacitly complicit in the ‘usurpation’,
they are ‘burros’ as well. As the dominant characterization goes, they are beasts of burden who
work with their heads down. As such, they lack any kind of social or political vision.

Yet burro is also used to charge that one is stubborn, unyielding, or refuses to learn
something, often with the idea that one will not adapt to changing circumstances. This refusal to
change is also often levied against the Qollas, who are believed to cling (often irrationally) to
practices that are said to be ‘backward’ or lacking proper vision. With regard to the CBE, where
paralyzing intra-Potosino rivalries have been regarded as one of these ‘idiosyncratic’, and hence
‘backward’, practices, their refusal to let go of them is seen as equally ‘idiosyncratic’, and
similarly ‘backward’. What is seen as their refusal to modernize—i.e. to engage in a more open,
cosmopolitan politics—is taken to be part of their cultural ‘essence’ (esencia). What Lelio’s use
of bolita thus implies is that the Potosinos fighting over the CBE are both stuck in, and sticking
to, ‘backward’ ways.*

This use of bolita here was most certainly a critique. As he would state on other
occasions, Lelio believed that what was lost to petty rivalry and a desire for a ‘share’ of the
CBE’s revenues that by law could not be shared out, was the community itself. What everyone
was losing out on were the benefits the CBE had formerly provided because these ‘bolitas” were
unable to put aside their traditional ethnic politics and engage others on more cosmopolitan
terms.

I would argue, however, that the meanings contained in Lelio’s use of bolita to
characterize those fighting over control of the CBE are not limited to those that are conjured up
by the epithet burro that bolita indexes. Where bolita made a claim for their ‘ignorance’ in

government and their unwillingness to adapt to their situation in Argentina—i.e. their being

*! This is a sentiment shared not just among Bolivian critics of the CBE. One official selected to be part of the IG)’s
Intervention (see Chapter 8) stated to me that “these Bolivians” (here meaning those fighting over control of the
CBE) “just don’t get the fact that they have to abide by the rules” (meaning Argentine law). “They are hard headed”
(son cabezas duras). “This is not Bolivia!” Indeed, the official was exasperated that these Bolivians kept insisting
on doing things in their own, idiosyncratic way.
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stuck in, and sticking to, ‘backward’ ways—it also made a claim that these first-generation
Potosinos were taking advantage of others. Indeed, Lelio’s deployment of bolita was meant to
convey that these Potosinos were not only burros, but that they were vivos as well.

What is vivo? Despite meaning sharp and perspicacious in a general way, vivo connotes a
certain cunning, as in ‘one will take advantage of every angle he can’. Indeed, on other
occasions, bolita was explained to me as somebody that ‘plays you’ (que te juega). This
cunning-cum-manipulation is often deceptive, and I saw this borne out in other examples*.
Where Lelio levied bolita against those fighting over the communal CBE and its ‘communal’
revenues, this aspect of deception for one’s own advantage was clear®. Indeed, many critics of
the ‘usurped’ CBE saw how projects benefitting the public good had ceased while those
operating in its Market emerged, one after another, with new trucks. The idea that circulated
around the barrio (and among those who had been ousted from the CBE and its commerce) was
that the ‘usurpers’ and those complicit in their racket were profiting individually from new
configurations of capital that had become possible through the ‘usurpation’ (see Chapters 6 and
8), if not directly from embezzlement. What the “usurpers’ had done, so many said, was wall
themselves in and defraud the public good. The idiosyncrasy that is conveyed by bolita is that of
viveza, i.e. that those running the racket were ‘playing’ (manipulating, defrauding) everyone else.
Those running this racket were mostly Potosinos.

Indeed, while being vivo (clever, manipulative) is something that both Bolivians and
Argentines believe characterizes Bolivians generally, many Bolivians would claim that viveza is
a trait that characterizes the Qollas specifically. This is not surprising seeing that the Qollas are
often said to be the most ‘untrusting’ (desconfiados) and ‘insular’ (cerrados) of the ethnic
nationalities. This is likely because they are more endogamous and prefer to deal with lower-
level kin groups, i.e. social options that are often unavailable to Chapacos and Qochalos given
the dynamics of their emigrations (see Chapter 7). That the Qollas are experienced socially as

‘closed’ and somewhat secretive has added to belief that they are inscrutable in their pursuits.

*2 One such example was at Pablo’s pool hall, where a relative had tried to cheat another in billiards—earning the
designation of bolita from the latter.

*% Being vivo is not the same as being despierto (awake, enlightened) or capacitado (educated, trained)—two
adjectives that describe one who is engaged with modern thought and practice, and one who has a social and
communal vision. Those that founded the CBE and continue to fight to restore it in service of the public good,
among whom factor prominent Saropalkefios, are still regarded by many to be both despiertos and capacitados. On
these valuations, they are exalted over others (e.g. the ‘usurpers’) who are labeled as more self-serving and
manipulative—i.e. as vivos.
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This inscrutability is of course compounded by more indigenous cultural practices and their
ability to communicate in Quechua, a language that Chapacos do not traditionally speak. For the
Chapacos, as perhaps for Lelio here, Qolla viveza is thus difficult to discern and parse. Where
he levies the epithet bolita at those fighting to control what, through its crisis, has become known
as a “Colectividad Potosina” , he is claiming that the Qollas ‘inside’ are running a private and
inscrutable racket from which those on the ‘outside’ are excluded.

Does this claim of viveza (here taken as a cultural idiosyncrasy) index ideas of
‘backwardness’? When the referent is Qolla, | believe it does. On the dominant estimation, the
Qolla is regarded as ignorante, i.e. as lacking competence in modern codes. One can imagine
that Qolla culture has been viewed to be lacking ‘rationality’ in the sense that European-
descendant culture is imagined to be ‘rational’. Viveza thus becomes a kind of rationality—a
cultural idiosyncrasy—that is precisely non-modern. Being ‘other’ it can be imagined as

‘backward’ with respect to modernity.

Conclusion

The argument through these discussions has been that it is in the category of the bolita—itself a
symbolic figure, an object of relational difference, and a means of critique—that the Bolivian
and Argentine economies of otherness intersect. Regarding the latter, bolita is a special kind of
negro: it references the unwanted, foreign other that often serves as the scapegoat for
Argentina’s politico-economic problems. There are two things of note in this. First, the bolita is
at the very bottom of the racial hierarchy—Ilower than the Chilean (chilote), lower than the
Paraguayan (paragua). The Bolivian endures a disproportionate amount of the xenophobic
discrimination and violence directed at foreigners in general. Moreover, the epithet bolita is the
ultimate insult, not just for Bolivians: Argentine negros levy it against themselves to hierarchize
their own ranks, and they levy it against any non-Argentine. All of these uses reveal a great deal
about the Argentine racial hierarchy and about the Argentine national imaginary—i.e. its claims
of whiteness, European descendancy, modernity, first-worldness, etc. The second thing to note
is that Argentines (negros and otherwise) see in the bolita the image of the Qolla more than any

other ethnic nationality (e.g. Qochalo, Chapaco, Camba, etc.). | have argued that they see the
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bolita as Qolla so as to create more distance between themselves and the Bolivian. This
distance, on the Argentine reckoning, is made both racially and culturally, especially when class
differences cannot be felt or when Bolivians overtake Argentines economically. The distance
Argentines create is thus an index of their own ethnic, racial, and class anxieties. In this way, the
category of bolita reveals a great deal about argentinidad.

Yet bolita, through its indigenization by Bolivians, reveals a great deal about the Bolivian
economy of otherness as well. Specifically, it reveals the values of the Bolivian ethnic hierarchy
and the terms by which these values are figured. As used between Bolivians in the barrio,
bolita—once again, as simultaneously a construction and critique of difference—is most
frequently used to claim that another is ‘backward’. As we have seen, such backwardness is
most often framed as ignorancia or idiosincrasia. Yet ignorance and idiosyncrasy are
themselves most often viewed as specifically Qolla characteristics. Qolla-ness thus comes to be
marked in Bolivian usage of bolita just as it does in Argentine usage.

What we see in Bolivian deployments of the epithet bolita is an ecology of usage that is
consonant with the historically dominant discourses of otherness in the Andes. That is, the
Qolla—as indio—has become the de facto referent for bolita because historically, and on the
dominant rendering of things, the Qolla is viewed as one the most backward and idiosyncratic
ethnic nationalities. This is of course a relative difference with regard to the Qochalos (who are
known as more urban and educated) and to the Chapacos (who, while often rural themselves, are
nevertheless Hispanic—noting that they have historically shared linguistic similarities with the
Argentines). Indeed, it is of no small significance that | never witnessed any Qochalo being
called a bolita by a Qolla or a Chapaco. Indeed, as a friend said regarding at least the Qolla end
of this dynamic: los Qollas tienen miedo a los Qochalos (the Qollas are intimidated by the
Qochalos). This is for their linguistic abilities, their phenotypic characteristics, and their
economic vision. Similarly, in the local logic of the barrio, a Chapaco would not call a Qochalo
a bolita because the barrio’s Qochalos are more urbane, commercially oriented, educated, etc.

The means by which bolita has come to designate the Qolla (as indio) is not due to
historical factors alone. In Bolivian usage in the barrio, and perhaps elsewhere in Buenos Aires,
the identification of bolita with Qolla is potentially ‘motivated’. I think this is so for a few
different reasons, all of which reinforce each other. First, let us remember that on a higher level

of abstraction, all Bolivians in Argentina are bolitas; they are homogenized as undesired,
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uncultured others. Bolivians are forced to be bolitas and inhabit this category; they cannot
control this vis-a-vis the Argentine. Among themselves however, and as we have seen in the
previous chapter, they can claim Argentine birth or lack of indigenous ancestry to negotiate their
status—that is, among themselves, these are resources they can control. | would argue that,
among themselves, the referent of bolita is another resource they can control for pragmatic ends.
That is, if all Bolivians are bolitas in the eyes of the Argentine, the Chapaco can create distance
from himself and the very bottom by mobilizing bolita to signify Qolla-ness. That is, where all
bolitas are, in the eyes of the Argentine, ignorantes and idiosincraticos, the Chapaco can appeal
to his own Hispanic heritage, his own ‘ Argentine speech,’ etc. (all the things that make him a
‘fake Bolivian’) to levy the charge of ignorantes and idiosincraticos against the Qollas to create
distance between himself and this internal other he himself has helped (re)create (noting that the
Bolivian ethno-racial hierarchy is never absent in all of this; indeed, it confirms this marking of
the Qolla). None of this is dissimilar from the ways that the Argentine negro, homogenized and
discriminated against from outside and above by the middle and upper classes, creates distance
between himself and the very bottom by mobilizing the same discourses of otherness against his
own ranks. We saw above how he creates his own villero, and so comes to attenuate his own
‘blackness’. In other words, this Chapaco redirection of bolita toward the Qolla is the same
process of ‘displacement’ (recursivity) we saw above. It no doubt helps Chapacos feel less
othered, less shameful, and less of a potential object for humiliation.

Additionally, the underlying ethnic rivalries and hierarchies that exist between ethnic
nationalities in Bolivia, and which are brought to Argentina, shape the symbolic struggle over
just who and what a bolita is. Chapacos certainly have no qualms about othering the Qollas,
with whom they share many ethnic, racial, and linguistic tensions. Finally, on a lower level of
abstraction, we must remember that xenophobic Argentines often target Qollas as the
quintessential bolita. The violence they perpetrate reinforces, in Bolivian minds, that the true
bolita is the Qolla. The argument, in the end, is that bolita comes to be identified with Qolla
according to both Bolivian and Argentine practical logics; both reinforce each other. Thisis how

we can see bolita as a site where the Argentine and Bolivian racial economies intersect.

202



Chapter 4.

Progress

Introduction

One of the main arguments of this dissertation is that one cannot understand the corruption of the
CBE, or efforts to restore it and the ‘community’ it is meant to serve, without understanding the
politics of envy. Yet envy is itself a complex of ideas, practices, and experiences. What lies at
the heart of this complex, I argue, is progress.

This chapter analyzes the ways that Bolivians in Escobar conceptualize, experience, and
perform progress. As | will argue below, progress is much more than overcoming hardship in
the sense of satisfying material needs, or otherwise becoming economically independent.
Progress is, more fundamentally, about overcoming the sting of both poverty and discrimination.
At the heart of progress are thus experiences of shame and humiliation given conditions of
material lack and ascribed cultural ‘backwardness’. As we have seen in the foregoing chapters,
both kinds of hardship tend to converge in the lives of the Potosinos (Qollas). We have also seen
that there are different ways that Bolivians of all stripes attempt to attenuate their ‘dolores
profundos’ (agonies) by attempting to create distance or separation from the conditions or
experiences that cause these agonies. Progress can be conceptualized as efforts to do this, and as
status gained in the process. I argue that one of the principal ways people ‘progress’ in the
barrio—and through the CBE—is by capitalizing. Indeed, capitalization is the register of
progress with the most ‘purchase’ on the sources of shame and ‘agony’. Because capitalizations
(e.g. acquiring a truck) can respond directly to histories of material lack and experiences of
ethnic discrimination, I suggest that they can ‘trump’ statuses that are otherwise ascribed. As I

will show later in the dissertation, this politics of socio-economic, if not also ethnic, mobility is
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shaped by the CBE and with great social consequences for the ‘community’ it is meant to
cultivate. Indeed, I suggest that the CBE has become the engine of social antagonism.

The discussions here are more limited. They begin with an entrée into, of all things, the
semiotics of a popular Bolivian dance. It is through a charge that one “walks as if he were
dancing a caporal” that we can see what progress is and what it signifies on a basic level for
those in Escobar. Having set the ‘logic’ of progress, the ethnographic sections that follow delve
deeper into what is being overcome in pursuits of it. These are in turn followed by sections
dedicated to illuminating the ways capitalizations fit into this logic, as well as what can be
claimed or achieved through them. The chapter concludes with observations that progress is
most frequently a zero-sum configuration of esteem that encourages competition and a logic of
domination. All of this, I will argue, plays directly into the politics of envy that mars Bolivian

moral community.

Walking like a Caporal (Stomping, Leaping, Forgetting)

It was July 20, 2006 and we were celebrating Friend’s Day in the barrio. After beginning with
beers in a friend’s patio, we went looking for ‘Los Cesario’ to continue socializing. The latter
were a group of Qochalo brothers who were so nick-named after their most charismatic brother,
Cesario. They had all come to Argentina in their childhood, and had followed in their father’s
footsteps by establishing themselves in Argentina’s textile trade.

We had been at their textile workshop for a few hours since sunset, and it had gotten
cold. It was the middle of winter, and temperatures were reaching freezing. We were all seated
on the tile floor which was raised relative to the street. It made a perfect, though not fully
comfortable, bench from which to view life in the barrio. One source of this action was an
Argentine run kiosk, which attracted clients late and which most of the time provided us with an
endless supply of beer, lest the intoxication become excessive. Next to it was a Qochalo-owned
comedor and pool hall—engagements in the latter often turning rough. Los Cesario had lowered
the corrugated metal cortina half of the way down in an attempt to separate the public from the
private, and to help insulate our backs. The cold had kept us tightly packed together in a row, the

heat we gained from one another helped take the edge off of the chill. We occasionally passed a
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Philip Morris (these were cheaper than Camels, but far less satisfying) and circulated a couple
Quilmes. The rhythm of the liter-sized bottles was broken only by the need to ‘recharge’, which
was not difficult, being that our source was on the other side of the street. That we were drinking
beer (versus totin) and on such a cold night, likely kept this from becoming a full on ‘bender’
(descontrol), as gatherings at one or another’s taller often became.

This was my first time meeting Juan who, like Los Cesario, was also a Qochalo. We
were equally curious to know one another’s past and background—not to mention take on life.
Indeed, people were often curious what people from the US (norteamericanos) were really like,
and local curiosity was often piqued given my reputation as a changarin, and a solid beer-
drinking one. Our conversation had tacked between life in the barrio and the US, and was
consistently interrupted by banter of all kinds. Juan and | had glossed over the theme of pride
(orgullo), something | was interested in, but it had gotten lost in the intoxication and chill of the
night. Then, out of the blue, Juan gave me a lesson in the ways of the barrio—ways that were
specifically Bolivian. Taking advantage of a fortuitous, though not uncommon, performance,
Juan nudged me in the ribs, and then pursed his lips to direct my attention toward a man coming

our way. Leaning into me, and speaking discreetly, Juan said:

Juan (Qochalo): Este tipo...
This guy...

Juan was calling my attention to a Qolla, who | later came to learn had recently purchased a new
truck—i.e. who had ‘progressed’. As I learned, he was an increasingly powerful player in the
CBE’s Market, and was happy to let people see his newfound position. To Juan, his desire for

recognition was obvious; indeed, one could see it in the way he was strutting.

Mira como viene caminando—como si estuviera bailando un
caporal.
Look at how he’s walking—as if he were dancing a caporal.

The man was on his way to the pool hall to meet some of his socios. As he strode by, he nodded
nonchalantly to us. He didn’t recognize us as a grounded or humble person might—i.e. by

saying Buenas noches or engaging in some other kind of pleasantry. Rather, he was dismissive
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of us; the sense being that we were not worth his effort. While it wasn’t expected he would
come over to us, he had denied us a basic human courtesy.

Juan’s comment to me was thus a critique—and a trenchant one. What did he mean by
likening this Qolla to a caporales dancer? What were the implications? And how did this relate
to the man’s newfound position—one in which he suddenly felt himself ‘important’
(importante)? As we’ll see in the following discussion, the caporales is a dance that is urban,
flashy, and haughty; it is about domination. What Juan was thus suggesting was that this man,
having come from a humble and rural background, was now overcompensating for his success:
that while he sought to be ‘important’, he had become agrandado (self-important). In the
process, he was seen as having become imperious—*stomping’ on those who enjoyed the status
he had just transcended. Yet the critique was more than this: in his will to power he was also
seen to have forgotten, if not betrayed, his roots. These roots were not just his; in a way, they
were everyone’s roots.

To appreciate the depth of Juan’s metaphorical critique, let us examine the way that the
caporal leaps (saltar), stomps (pisar), and forgets (olivdar), both literally and figuratively. As |

will argue, these are the very dynamics of ‘progress’.

The Caporales: Popular Forms and Popular Meanings

The caporal is a contemporary Bolivian dance that is accompanied by brass-band music. Like
other dances (e.g. the morenada, diablada, negrito, etc.), the caporal has been made popular by
the commercial mestizo classes of La Paz and Oruro in their Fiesta del Gran Poder and
Carnaval, respectively. The caporal is one of the most widely performed dances in Bolivia,
second only to the “heavy” (i.e. more costly) morenada (see Barragan 2009, Carmona 2009).
Collectively, these popular dances are not indigenous, pre-Columbian forms. Rather, they are
contemporary, urban elaborations that draw on and interpret elements of the colonial encounter.
They have taken on a modern telos in which values of mobility, commerciality, and Bolivian
nationality are both paramount and hegemonic (see Abercrombie 1992, Guss 2006, Barragan
20009 [see also Goldstein 1998a, 1998b]).
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Among the mestizo participants and spectators, the dominant conception of the caporales
is that it symbolizes power and prestige. These qualities are both expressed by, and embodied in,
the caporal himself. Who was this figure? On the dominant reading, the caporal emerged in the
tropical valleys of La Paz during the Colonial encounter. He is said to have been the mixed-race
son of a Spanish patron and an African slave. Slaves are said to have been brought to this region
to work the citrus and coca estates when they could not survive the cold and cruel conditions of
the highland mines. Asthe patrén’s son, the caporal was allowed to dress the part. He wore a
master’s pants, vest, and ruffled shirt; he also wore riding boots and a broad sombrero to shield
himself from the sun. Yet the caporal also carried a menacing whip. Indeed, loyal to his
Spanish father, the caporal is said to have been raised to keep order among the slaves, in essence
preventing uprisings among his mother’s—and his own—Xkin. In this way he is regarded as
having been a traitor to his kind. This cruel and domineering betrayal is captured in a pamphlet

describing the dance for the Argentine public at Buenos Aires’s La Festividad de Charrta*:

[The caporal] represents the mulato who directs the slaves in the citrus and coca zones of
the tropical Yungas. As the patron’s preferred hand, he is nevertheless resentful, and
ultimately becomes the executioner (verdugo) of his own kind. With whip in hand, he
causes great torment and agony (martirio) among his shackled charges, the latter yoked
in heavy chains that produce rhythmic and weary sounds. Immune to pain, and with an
arrogant disposition, this unfeeling repressor of insubordination is the haughty and
contemptible caporal.”® (my translation)

Although it is said that the caporal ‘belongs’ (pertenece) to the Afro-Bolivian saya®, its

aesthetic features hardly resemble it. In the first instance, the caporales is danced by young

* La Festividad de Charrla is Argentina’s version of La Paz’s Gran Poder or Oruro’s Carnaval.

% Taken from Renacer’s “Suplemento Charraa 2006” (unnamed author). Renacer is the principal publication
dedicated to the Bolivian Community in Buenos Aires, and in Argentina more broadly.

“ saya is an Afro-Bolivian genre of music, dance, and verse (the latter sung in a call and response form) that black
Bolivians have traditionally used as a vehicle for the transmission of their oral history and as a musical dance for
their village celebrations (Templeman 1998: 426). Where saya traditionally depicted and lyrically critiqued the
experience of black Bolivians as peones and slaves on the haciendas of the Yungas (Busdiecker 2006: 173), saya
has since been revitalized by Afro-Bolivians to counter the dominant logics of mestizaje and blanqueamiento that
erase or otherwise mock their history and their ethno-racial and political position in Bolivia (Templeman 1996,
1998; Busdiecker 2006, 2009).

Although indigenous-mestizo Bolivians commonly refer to the music of the caporales as ‘saya’, and to its
rhythm as ‘el ritmo negro’ (the black rhythm), the caporal is not related melodically or rhythmically to the music of
the saya (Templeman 1998: 440, see also Bigenho 2002: 41-43 for a discussion of the ‘saya-caporal debate’).
Where the traditional and ‘legitimate’ saya performed by Afro-Bolivians contains a completely different
instrumentation, beat, and step (see Templeman 1996, 1998; Busdiecker 2006), the dance of the caporales was
nonetheless inspired by the dance of the saya insofar as the figure of the caporal exists in the saya. In the
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urban mestizos (not Afro-Bolivians) in the popular expressions of Bolivian national folklore*.
Secondly, the urban-mestizo caporales began with all the dancers performing the role of caporal
themselves in which their protagonist was a re-signified and exaggerated version of the singular
caporal present in the saya. Moreover, over the last few decades, new roles have been added to
the caporales as it has undergone its own expansion and elaboration. The cholita (feminine part)
is perhaps the most notable, followed by the achachi (slave trader), which is also present in the
morenada. There is also the machota, which is a female that dances the male part of caporal and
wears his costume. Configurations of these new roles vis-a-vis the traditional caporal will vary
depending on the particular fraternity. Finally, the dress, music, and choreography of the urban-
mestizo caporales are truly unique with regard to the saya. Where the latter has come to critique
the ideology and politics of mestizaje (see Busdiecker 2006), the caporales champion mobility,

power, and status through its idiom.

symbolism of the saya, the figure of the caporal is played by a dancer who represents the overseer, or capataz, on
the hacienda. Other dancers, drummers, and singers represent the peones or slaves he orders. In the performance of
the saya, this caporal is one of two male dancers (the other being the guia) that helps set the beat and order the male
and female dancers. Where the guia does this rhythmically with cascabeles (bells) worn around his calves
(themselves said to be a reminder of the chains and shackles worn by their enslaved African ancestors [Templeman
1998: 436], the caporal—here as the capitan de baile—maintains the overall form with a whip (Busdiecker 2006:
172-173).

It was thus from a combination of the actions of the guia (with his bells) and the caporal (with his whip)—
and indeed the symbolic role of slave overseer the corporal represented—that the contemporary caporales dance
was invented. Sources trace this invention to the Estrada brothers of La Paz, who in the early 1970s had observed a
traditional saya (or perhaps an emergent tundiqui, which also bore the caporal). The Estradas’ elaboration of their
own caporales came within their own urban-mestizo dance troupe, the ‘Urus del Gran Poder’ (Maidana Rodriguez
2000). It was from this appropriation, and the new ethnic, socio-economic, and political contexts of its urban
performance, that the dominant aymara-mestizo reading (and re-signification) of the figure of the caporal became
elaborated.

It should be noted that the urban, aymara/quechua-mestizo dances inspired directly by the saya, such the
caporales and the black-faced negritos (both frequently misinterpreted as ‘saya’), as well as other dances
independent of the saya but which nevertheless depict blackness in the colonial encounter (e.g. the morenada), are
seen by Afro-Bolivians as reductive and stereotypical mockeries of their history and position in Bolivia (Templeman
1998: 441). To take one example, mislabeling the black-faced negritos ‘saya’, where negrito is a pejorative term for
blacks and where saya is central to black identity in Bolivia, only reflects the symbolic and political position
afforded Afro-Bolivians throughout the colonial and republican periods. Fighting against these popular
(mis)representations of Afro-Bolivian culture and experience, and the national logics of mestizaje and
blanqueamiento that underpin them, has become the raison d étre of the Afro-Bolivian ‘Movimiento Negro’ (ibid).
*" Alicia Carmona (2008): “Urban popular fiestas were among the events that underwent a reorientation with their
inclusion in the corpus of practices that could signify the nation. Large-scale religious and folkloric events formerly
repudiated as ‘lower’ class, anti-modern, and/or ‘Indio” were increasingly—albeit unevenly—dominated by middle
and upper-class (mestizo-criollo) participants, while the spectacles themselves were largely re-signified as
representative of an authentic national past (see Abercrombie 2004).” For a discussion of the festival in Charraa see
Renacer 2002 (Edicion 47) and Alicia Carmona’s (2008) dissertation Bailaremos: Participation in Morenada Dance
Fraternities among Bolivian Immigrants in Argentina.
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The Aesthetics of Power and Prestige

In October of 2005 I had gone to Charrta in Buenos Aires to observe the annual Bolivian
Festividad. There were tens of thousands of people—spectators and participants alike. The
Festividad not only featured the hundreds of dance fraternities formed by Bolivian immigrants in
Argentina (if not their Argentine-born children), but also the most popular fraternities in Bolivia
that traveled to perform and compete (see Carmona 2008). Among the few hundred fraternities
that danced the morenada, the diablada, and tinku (to name just the most popular), there were
dozens that danced the caporales. Indeed, it has become one of the most widely celebrated in
both Bolivia and Argentina.

In contrast to the more middle-aged ‘cholas’ who danced the morenadas, the caporales
were danced almost exclusively danced by young men and women who wanted to strut their
stuff. Indeed, as Wara Céspedes (1993) notes, the caporales allows men to show off as men, and
the women as women. Everything about the costumes (trajes) and movements (pasos) were
ostentatious. The men wore either brilliantly blue or shiny black suits on whose chests, backs,
and thighs were embroidered elaborately patterned (often serpentine) and colorful designs. Satin
and velvet were abundant throughout, as were sequins. In addition to a raised collar, the
shoulders of the jacket (hombreras abollonadas), themselves also adorned, were exaggerated to
accentuate the forceful and youthful aesthetic of the dancers. Heightening this athletic form,
which celebrated masculinity and virility, was a matching faja that narrowed the dancer’s
midsection to help accentuate his broad shoulders and billowing pants (pantalones
abombachados). Matching their suits were riding boots which reached their knees and upon
which hung ten or a dozen bells (cascabeles). If not porting a decorated brimmed hat
(lieutenant-style), the dancers carried a coiled raw-hide whip (latigo). Some, usually those
leading the troupe (bloque), commanded a whistle to mark the beginning of each segment.

In its contemporary and elaborated form, the caporales is nothing without its female
dancers—famed for their sensuality. The cholita’s traje complements that of her male
counterparts in terms of style and color. The tight-fitting body is velvet, most often with

billowed shoulders and satin sleeves. Like the caporal’s traje, hers is embroidered with
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matching designs of contrasting colors, most often studded with sequins. On her head, she wears
a matching bowler-style hat similar in form to those worn in the morenada, with the exception
that it may have embroidered trim and long ribbons. The latter cascade down her back alongside
her long braids. Adorned with tassles, the latter are often extensions themselves. On her feet,
the cholita wears matching heels (de medio taco). Perhaps the most notable aspect of the cholita
dress is the multi-layered—and multi-colored—mini-pollera, which reveals the entire length of
her legs®. Under this, a sensual enagua (satin bikini bottom, which covers less and less as the
years go on) becomes visible in the twists and turns of the dance itself.

Choreographically, the young cholita flirts and provokes (coquetea). Organized into
bloques, she moves in step with the music, advancing and retreating, and advancing once again.
Swiveling on the balls of her heeled shoes, she twists and turns to force her ruffled, brightly
colored pollera from side to side. This has the effect of raising it to reveal her upper thighs, hips,
and colita;) Countering her hips, she moves her shoulders (said to be a sign of sensuality in the
Andes: see Busdiecker 2006) with her arms either extended or bent at the elbow. The latter
enables her to occasionally clap in time with the beat. Where the provocative movements of the
cholita are meant to symbolize femininity and sensuality—if not create desire directly—the
choreography of the male caporales communicates power, status, and haughtiness, which are
themselves masculinized.

Similarly organized into bloques, the male caporales also advance in time with the
music. Yet their choreography is incredibly more energetic, forceful, and violent. It isin great
part composed of alternating and paired stomps which create a bouncing, almost skipping, step.
These stomps, performed either directly underfoot, or with one leg extended in front of the body,
are themselves coordinated with alternating shakes of the shoulders and thrusts of the arms.
Having little actual contact with the ground, he who dances the caporal is as much leaping
(saltar) as he is stomping (pisar). With this tremendous energy, the caporal performs a great
number of half and full turns, always accentuating the shoulders as he works forward. These
turns are often the basis for acrobatic leaps and martial arts-style kicks that contain force. At
every step, the great number of bells on each boot calls attention to the troupe, brightly marking

the tightly syncopated movements. At specific moments throughout this elaborate choreography,

*8 See Rey Gonzalez (2000) for a brief discussion of the re-signification of the traditional Andean pollera in the
caporales dance.
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the caporales emit ebullient shouts (gritos) which further accentuate their status, power, and
masculinity—all of which are on display.

Colorful conceptualizations of this choreography are found throughout the scholarly
literature on the caporales. Sanchez Patzy, for example, states: “The dance is energetic and
haughty...it incorporates extravagance and pretense (refinamiento) (1999: 138).” For their part,
Albo and Preiswerk have characterized it as a dance not just with “athletic contortions”, but with
“threatening poses” (1986: 66-67). Finally, Maidana Rodriguez states that “from the very
beginning, the choreography of the caporales seeks to demonstrate force and domination through
its acrobatic movements”; integral to its “expression of power” is a “violent rhythm” and a

“threatening stance” (2000: 140).

Performance in Context

We have just seen how the forms of the caporales both represent and portray ostentation, power,
and domination. Yet to fully understand the meaning of Juan’s critique above, we must also
understand the indexical properties of the dance given its contexts of performance. That is, we
must delve into the socio-economic and ethno-racial meanings that are attached to, and read
through, these aesthetic forms. We must also delve into what one achieves (or seeks to achieve)
by being a member of a dance fraternity and participating in the festivals themselves. Let us
begin with the following characterization of the dance—one which specifically ties it to a

broader cultural dynamics:

The caporales is a highly stylized dance with an agile and lively rhythm. It highlights the
wielding of power by the caporal—i.e. he who, with whip in-hand, subordinates his
charges by instilling fear and demanding respect. The caporales represents desire,
power, and arrogance—and so represents the very traits championed by urban and
mestizo life. (Jiwaki Il Gran Poder 2006, emphasis added)

Indeed, the dance does not just represent ostentation and domination in the abstract. Where the
Gran Poder and the Carnaval de Oruro serve as a frame for the production of the urban and
mestizo subject, membership in a caporales fraternity and participation in the entradas has been

a way to express one’s upward mobility. This has characterized the longer running morenada as
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well. Of the latter, David Guss notes that fraternity membership and festival performance have
appealed to the ‘new urban Indian’—i.e.“a more prosperous and independent entrepreneur with
middle-class aspirations (2006: 316).” Guss argues that with its costly membership and lavish
costumes, the morenada has become a principal way to display one’s new economic status in the
urban context. As La Razon (Bolivia’s national newspaper) has stated: “the popular
bourgeoisie”, here referring to the participants in the morenada, “show themselves off in the
festival” (La Razon 2005 ctd. in Guss 2006: 317). Yet this is not restricted to the ‘morenos’ only.
“The popular class with the most economic power distinguishes itself from those with less
resources through the opulence of their costumes and activities. In the Gran Poder, economic
and social differences run deep. Some fraternities are elitist, reflecting a new bourgeoisie, while
other groups, in particular the older ones, try to survive amidst the excess of wealth (ibid).”

Taking a momentary step back to consider this larger context, Albé and Preiswerk (1986)
have explored how socio-economic differences, particularly in terms of residential and
occupational statuses, have long dictated who dances what. They provide what participants see
as a prestige hierarchy of dances, itself a function of the very costs of participating in them.
When their work was published, the morenada enjoyed the greatest prestige, as perhaps it still
does. Indeed, it has always been known as a ‘heavy dance’ (danza pesada) for its cost*® (see
Carmona 2009). Next in line were the diabladas (also ‘heavy’), and then those dances
considered ‘light’ (livianas). While the status of the caporales has only recently grown—such
that it is now one of the most popular dances—one should note that there has always been status
differentials and competition. Indeed, stratification has always been fractal, occurring between
types of fraternities (morenadas vs. diabladas), and, within these, between fraternities.
Stratification even occurs within fraternities, seeing that there is a hierarchy of who performs
what role (Albo and Prieswerk 1986: 104-105).

This competitive aspect to membership and performance has led to a re-signification of
the forms themselves. As Albd and Prieswerk note, where participation in dances like the
morenada and diablada once privileged socio-political critique and religious devotion, they now
both address and extol social hierarchy and mobility. This has, they argue, engendered a new

and specific ‘purpose’ to membership and performance. Indeed, while the diablada and the

* One should note the popular saying: “Si quieres bailar morenada, tienes que tener platita.” (If you want to dance
the morenada, you’ve got to have [a good amount of] money.)
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morenada seem to have originated in mining culture and protests against slavery, they have
become something quite different in the Gran Poder. Today they are elaborations on a creative
form that is specifically tied to a higher socio-economic status. As Albé and Preiswerk argue,

(133

these expressive forms have become dominated by a “‘telos’ of being on top of and dominating
[or overwhelming] everyone else (Albo and Preiswerk 1986: 231)”.

Where the progressive re-signification of the dances is complex and not total (ibid), the
issue of mobility is also complex. With regard to the morenada, Guss suggests that participation
and performance is as much about ethnic mobility as it is about socio-economic mobility. This,
he argues, has as much to do with the symbolic representations in the dance itself (i.e. how,
because of polysemic elements, they can mediate shifting identities) as it does with rural to urban
migrations and the reconfigurations of the socio-economic ecology this engenders. Certainly, the
‘ethnic question’ has always been related to social mobility in the Andes, as both historical and
contemporary studies have shown (see for example Stern 1993 [1982], Bourricaud 1970,
Colloredo-Mansfeld 1999, see also Abercrombie 1998: 450, fn 10).

To fully appreciate how these symbolic forms may mediate ethnic and/or economic
mobility, one should note that the urban contexts of fraternity membership and dance
performance are ‘officially” mestizo (i.e. neither criollo nor indio), whereas the rural areas from
which the members and performers typically come are ‘officially’ Indian. We saw these
ascriptions borne out in the f